

Control of M-G1 phase-specific expression in fission yeast

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Glasgow

Kyriaki Papadopoulou

Division of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Institute of Biomedical and Life Sciences University of Glasgow G12 8QQ UK



Declaration

The research reported in this work is my own work except where otherwise stated, and has not been submitted for any other degree.

Kyriaki Papadopoulou

Acknowledgements

Although a few words do not do justice to their contribution, I would like to thank all the people who supported me through my years as a PhD student, firstly my family and my beloved fiancé Lefteris, the light of my life, for their continual support, carrying and unconditional love throughout these last few years that were not the easiest to say the least.

I would like to especially thank my supervisor Dr. Christopher J. McInerny for his constant support and guidance, especially over the very tough periods. Thank you deeply indeed.

I would like with all my heart to thank Professor William Cushley for his precious support and help throughout my years spent in Glasgow University, but mostly during the time of my illness. There are no words to express my gratitude.

Many many thanks to my beloved godfather, Aimilios, whose invaluable help I will never forget.

Thanks also to all my very good friends back home in Greece, for being there for me.

Finally, a word of thanks to all the people in the Goldberg lab, past and present members, for their camaraderie and friendship.

Abstract

The mitotic cell cycle underlies propagation of eukaryotic cells, continually duplicating and dividing. The past few years have seen major advances in understanding of the regulatory mechanisms that impose on the cell cycle to tightly co-ordinate progression through its individual phases, safeguarding the timing and integrity of its hallmark events, DNA synthesis and mitosis. Transcription is prominent among these processes, manifesting its importance for cell cycle controls by the large number of eukaryotic genes that are expressed at specific cell cycle times. Certain genes are cell cycle regulated in a number of organisms, suggesting that their phase-specific transcription is important for all eukaryotic cells.

The budding and fission yeasts, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, have been used extensively as model organisms for the study of the eukaryotic cell cycle and cell cycle-regulated transcription, because the cell cycle machinery is conserved among eukaryotes and they are experimentally tractable. Recent microarray analyses have shown that cell cycle-specific expression is a frequent theme in the two yeasts, identifying consecutive, inter-dependent, waves of transcriptional activity, coinciding with the four main cell cycle transitions; G1-S, S, G2-M and M-G1 phases. Each phase-specific transcriptional wave corresponds to at least one group of co-regulated genes, sharing common *cis*- and *trans*- acting elements.

The work presented in this thesis delves into the regulatory network that drives phasespecific gene expression during late mitosis-early G1 phase in fission yeast. During this late cell cycle stage, fission yeast and, indeed, every eukaryotic cell, undergo major changes; each completes mitosis and cytokinesis, partitioning its duplicated genetic and cytoplasmic material into two progeny cells, which then themselves prepare for a new round of mitotic cell division. Consistent with their periodic pattern of expression, most of the genes transcribed during the M-G1 interval in *S. pombe* encode proteins that execute important functions during late mitosis and cytokinesis.

A DNA sequence promoter motif, the PCB (<u>P</u>ombe cell <u>cycle box</u>), has been identified in fission yeast that confers M-G1 specific transcription, and is bound by the PBF (<u>PCB binding factor</u>) transcription factor complex. PCB promoter motifs are present in several M-G1 transcribed genes, including *cdc15*⁺, *spo12*⁺, *sid2*⁺, *fin1*⁺, *slp1*⁺, *ace2*⁺, *mid1*⁺/*dmf1*⁺ and *plo1*⁺, the latter encoding a Polo-like kinase that also regulates M-G1 gene expression and influences the PCB-dependent binding properties of PBF. Three transcription factors, Sep1p and Fkh2p, both forkhead-like transcription factors, and Mbx1p, a MADS-box protein, have been implicated in M-G1 specific gene expression and are thought to be components of PBF. Consistent with Fkh2p and Sep1p regulating

M-G1 specific transcription, forkhead-related sequences are present in the genes' promoters. Notably, *fkh2*⁺ contains both PCB and forkhead promoter sequences and is transcribed during the M-G1 interval, implying that Fkh2p and Plo1p regulate gene transcription during late mitosis and ensuing passage through cytokinesis via feedback loops.

This study provides further evidence about transcriptional regulation late in the fission yeast cell cycle, revealing that the PCB sequence is crucial for M-G1 specific transcription, with forkhead-associated DNA motifs playing a parallel but smaller regulatory role. Consistent with this hypothesis, work here and elsewhere shows that both Fkh2p and Sep1p control phase-specific expression of their co-regulated genes through the PCB and forkhead sequences. Notably, data in this thesis reveal that these two forkhead transcription factors associate with each other *in vitro* and *in vivo* and bind *in vivo* to the PCB promoter regions of M-G1 transcribed genes, including *cdc15*⁺ and *plo1*⁺, in a cell cycle specific manner, consistent with Fkh2p repressing and Sep1p activating transcription. Furthermore, Fkh2p contacts its own promoter, suggesting that it regulates its own expression via a negative feedback mechanism.

The Plo1p kinase is shown here to bind *in vivo* to Mbx1p throughout the cell cycle and in a manner that requires both its kinase and polo-box domains. In agreement with this observation, Plo1p can phosphorylate *in vitro* Mbx1p, itself known to become phosphorylated during late mitosis. This is the first time that a Polo-like kinase has been shown to bind and phosphorylate a MADS-box protein in any organism. Moreover, in concert with Plo1p binding and phosphorylating Mbx1p, ChIP assays here reveal that this kinase interacts *in vivo* with the PCB promoter DNA of M-G1 expressed genes, including *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺, in a cell cycle-dependent manner with a timing that coincides with low levels of expression, but follows promoter binding by Fkh2p. Given that Plo1p has previously been shown to positively influence M-G1 dependent transcription, its cell cycle pattern of promoter contact suggests that this Polo-like kinase functions at the genes' promoters, most-likely via binding and phosphorylation of Mbx1p, to re-stimulate transcription, following repression by Fkh2p. In parallel, these findings suggest that Plo1p regulates its own expression via a positive feedback loop.

Overall, the work presented in this thesis unravels crucial regulatory aspects of the transcriptional network that drives M-G1 specific transcription in *S. pombe*: it suggests an important role for the PCB promoter motif in transcriptional regulation; it proposes that Fkh2p acts as a repressor while Sep1p as an activator of late mitotic transcription; it reveals and proposes novel functions for Plo1p, a conserved Polo-like kinase family member, involving its association with Mbx1p, a MADS box protein, and its cell cycle specific recruitment to PCB promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes.

As transcriptional systems, encompassing homologues of most of the components of this *S*. *pombe* M-G1 specific transcriptional network operate both in *S. cerevisiae* and humans, this demonstrates their importance for mitotic cell cycle progression. Thus this work potentially offers new insights into M-G1 specific gene expression in all eukaryotes.

Contents

Declaration	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract	iv
Contents	vii
Index of figures	xv
Index of Tables	xviii
Supporting publications	xix
Abbreviations	XX

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Introduction	25
1.2 The budding and fission yeasts: powerful models for biological studies	27
1.2.1 S. pombe and S. cerevisiae life cycles	29
1.2.2 Yeasts as models for the study of the eukaryotic cell cycle: a historical overview	33
1.3 The eukaryotic cell division cycle	35
1.3.1 Mechanisms of eukaryotic cell cycle control	40
1.3.2 Cell cycle control in fission yeast	43
1.3.2.1 G1-S transition	43
1.3.2.2 Onset of S phase	45
1.3.2.2.1 Replication origins	45
1.3.2.2.2 Pre-RC assembly and regulation of licensing at origins	46
1.3.2.2.3 Initiation of DNA replication	48
1.3.2.3 Onset of mitosis (G2-M transition)	50
1.3.2.4 M phase	56
1.3.2.4.1 Mitotic functions of Cdc2p-Cdc13p	57
1.3.2.4.2 Mitotic functions of Plks: regulatory roles of Plo1p and its human homolog,	
Plk1p, in cell division	58
1.3.2.4.3 Mitotic functions of Fin1p	64

1.3.2.4.4 Mitotic functions of Ark1p	65
1.3.2.5 Mitotic exit and cytokinesis	66
1.3.2.5.1 Timing, positioning and assembly of the actomyosin ring	68
1.3.2.5.2 Regulation of cytokinesis- <u>S</u> eptation <u>I</u> nitiation <u>N</u> etwork (SIN)	71
1.3.3 Cell cycle control in budding yeast: an overview	74
1.3.3.1 Mitotic exit network (MEN)	77
1.4 Eukaryotic transcription	81
1.4.1 Transcription by RNA polymerase II (Pol II)	81
1.4.1.1 Initiation of transcription- <u>preinitiation complex</u> (PIC) assembly	82
1.4.1.2 Regulation of transcription initiation	84
1.4.1.2.1 Srb/Mediator	86
1.4.1.2.2 Specific transcription factors: activators and repressors	86
1.4.1.2.3 MADS-box transcription factors	87
1.4.1.2.4 Forkhead/HNF-3 transcription factors	90
1 4 1 2 5 Mechanisms of transcriptional activation and repression	
	• • • •
1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts	91
1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts	91 94
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation	91 94 94
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation	91 94 94 94
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation 1.5.1.1 M-G1 specific gene clusters	91 94 94 94 95
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation 1.5.1.1 M-G1 specific gene clusters	91 94 94 94 95 95
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation 1.5.1.1 M-G1 specific gene clusters	91 94 94 95 95 97
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation 1.5.1.1 M-G1 specific gene clusters	91 94 94 95 95 97 97
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation	91 94 94 95 95 97 97 97 98
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation	91 94 94 95 95 97 97 97 98 98
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts 1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation	91
 1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts	91 94 94 94 95 95 95 97 97 97 98 98 98 99 99

Chapter2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials	
2.1.1 Chemicals	
2.1.2 DNA	

2.1.3 Bacteria strains and plasmid vectors	106
2.1.4 S. pombe strains and plasmid vectors	106
2.1.5 Budding yeast strains and plasmid vectors	106
2.1.6 Bacterial media	107
2.1.7 Fission yeast media	107
2.1.8 Budding yeast media	107
2.1.9 Equipment	107
2.1.10 Computational databases	108
2.2 Methods	108
2.2.1 Manipulation of bacterial cells	108
2.2.2 Preparation of competent bacterial cells	108
2.2.3 Electro-transformation of bacteria	109
2.2.4 Heat-shock transformation of bacteria	109
2.2.5 Preparation of <i>S. pombe</i> competent cells	110
2.2.6 Electro-transformation of competent S. pombe cells	110
2.2.7 Preparation of competent S. cerevisiae cells	110
2.2.8 Lithium acetate transformation of competent S. cerevisiae cells	111
2.2.9 DNA Manipulation	111
2.2.9.1 Purification of plasmid DNA from bacterial cultures	111
2.2.9.2 Preparation of S. pombe genomic DNA	111
2.2.9.3 Quantification of nucleic acids by spectrophotometry	112
2.2.9.4 Polymerase chain reaction	112
2.2.9.4.1 PCR using Taq DNA polymerase	112
2.2.9.4.2 PCR using Vent _R DNA polymerase	113
2.2.9.4.3 PCR using Expand High Fidelity PCR system	113
2.2.9.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis	113
2.2.9.6 Restriction digestion and generation of blunt-ended DNA fragments	113
2.2.9.7 Dephosphorylation of digested plasmid	114
2.2.9.8 Annealing of single stranded oligonucleotides	114
2.2.9.9 Phosphorylation of DNA with 5' protruding ends	114
2.2.9.10 DNA fragment purification	115
2.2.9.11 Ligations	115
2.2.9.12 Cloning of PCR products into the pCR [®] 2.1 vector	116

2.2.9.13 RT-PCR and S. pombe cDNA synthesis	116
2.2.9.14 Preparation of radio-labelled DNA probe	117
2.2.10 RNA Manipulation	117
2.2.10.1 Preparation of total RNA	117
2.2.10.2 mRNA purification	118
2.2.10.3 Formaldehyde gel electrophoresis of RNA	118
2.2.10.4 Northern blot	119
2.2.10.4.1 RNA transfer by capillary action	119
2.2.10.4.2 RNA hybridisation with radio-labelled DNA probe	119
2.2.10.4.3 Quantification of Northern blots	120
2.2.11 Protein Manipulation in <i>E. coli</i>	120
2.2.11.1 Growth of bacterial cells for protein induction	120
2.2.11.2 Preparation of bacterial protein extracts	120
2.2.11.3 Column purification of GST-tagged proteins	121
2.2.11.4 Column purification of HIS-tagged proteins	122
2.2.11.5 Determination of protein concentration	122
2.2.11.6 SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	123
2.2.11.7 Dialysis of protein samples	123
2.2.11.8 Concentration of protein samples	124
2.2.11.9 GST pull-down	124
2.2.11.10 TCA (tri-chloroacetic acid) precipitation	124
2.2.11.11 Immunoblotting using Enhanced Chemiluminescence (ECL)	125
2.2.12 Protein Manipulation in S. pombe	125
2.2.12.1 Preparation of protein extracts for immunoprecipitation and Western blotting	125
2.2.12.2 Immunoprecipitation	126
2.2.12.3 Chromatin Immuno-Precipitation assay (ChIP)	127
2.2.12.3.1 Fixation of S. pombe cells	127
2.2.12.3.2 Preparation of S. pombe chromatin extracts	127
2.2.12.3.3 Immunoprecipitation of chromatin extracts	128
2.2.12.3.4 Cross-linking reversal and purification of DNA	129
2.2.13 Random Spore analysis in S. pombe	129
2.2.14 Tetrad analysis in S. pombe	130
2.2.15 Light and Microscopic Observations of S. pombe Cells	130
2.2.16 Yeast Two-Hybrid System	130

2.2.16.1 X-gal overlay assay	131
2.2.16.2 Quantitative β-galactosidase assay	131
Chapter 3: Analysis of the role of cis- and trans- acting element	s in
regulation of M-G1 specific transcription in fission yeast	
3.1 Introduction	133
3.1.1 M-G1 specific transcription in S. pombe	133
3.1.2 Regulation of M-G1 specific transcription	134
3.2 Role of the PCB sequence in M–G1 specific transcription in S. pombe	136
3.2.1 Construction of pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT and pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT2 report	ter plasmids
	137
3.2.1.1 The pSP Δ 178 reporter plasmid	137
3.2.1.2 pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT2 constructs	140
3.2.2 Requirement of the PCB sequence for M-G1 specific transcription in fissio	n yeast142
	specific
3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1	
3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 transcription in S. pombe	147
3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 transcription in S. pombe 3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcriptic	147 on in S. pombe
3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 transcription in S. pombe 3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcriptio	147 on in S. pombe 152
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe 3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcription 3.4.1 Construction of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 report 	147 on in S. pombe
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe 3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcription 3.4.1 Construction of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 report 	147 on in S. pombe 152 orter plasmids 154
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe	147 on in S. pombe 152 orter plasmids 154 c15 ⁺
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe 3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcription 3.4.1 Construction of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 repo 3.4.2 Requirement of TGTTTAC sequence for M-G1 specific transcription of cdd 3.4.3 Comparative analysis of <i>lacZ</i> mRNA levels upon mutation of the PCB, the 	147 on in S. pombe 152 orter plasmids 154 c15 ⁺ 156 TGTTTAC or
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe. 3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcription 3.4.1 Construction of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 reports 3.4.2 Requirement of TGTTTAC sequence for M-G1 specific transcription of cdd 3.4.3 Comparative analysis of <i>lacZ</i> mRNA levels upon mutation of the PCB, the both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequence. 	147 on in S. pombe 152 orter plasmids 154 c15 ⁺ 156 TGTTTAC or 159
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe 3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcription 3.4.1 Construction of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 report 3.4.2 Requirement of TGTTTAC sequence for M-G1 specific transcription of cdc 3.4.3 Comparative analysis of <i>lacZ</i> mRNA levels upon mutation of the PCB, the both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequence. 3.5 Summary. 	<i>on in</i> S. pombe
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe	
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe	
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe	
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe. 3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcription. 3.4.1 Construction of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 reports. 3.4.2 Requirement of TGTTTAC sequence for M-G1 specific transcription of cdd. 3.4.3 Comparative analysis of <i>lacZ</i> mRNA levels upon mutation of the PCB, the both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequence. 3.5 Summary. Chapter 4: In vivo and in vitro analysis of interactions between a components Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p 4.1 Introduction 	
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe	
 3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 stranscription in S. pombe	

4.2.1.1 The sep1-3HA fkh2-13 myc double tagged strain......167

4.2.1.2 The sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc double tagged strain	169
4.2.1.3 The fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc double tagged strain	170
4.2.2 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc protein extracts reveals a	an i <i>n</i>
<i>vivo</i> interaction between Sep1p and Fkh2p	171
4.2.3 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc protein extracts reveals	no in
<i>vivo</i> interaction between Mbx1p and Sep1p	173
4.2.4 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of <i>fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc</i> protein extracts reveals	no in
vivo interaction between Mbx1p and Fkh2p	175
4.3 GST pull down analysis of interactions between Sep1p, Mbx1p and Fkh2p	177
4.3.1 Cloning of sep1+, mbx1+ and fkh2+	177
4.3.2 Generation of GST-tagged versions of sep1+ and mbx1+	183
4.3.3 Generation of HIS-tagged versions of sep1 ⁺ and fkh2 ⁺	183
4.3.4 Bacterial overexpression of GST-fusion proteins	184
4.3.5 Bacterial overexpression of HIS-fusion proteins	186
4.3.6 Purification of GST-fusion proteins	189
4.3.7 Purification of HIS-fusion proteins	191
4.3.8 GST pull down unravels a direct in vitro interaction between Sep1p and Fkh2p	192
4.4 Summary	194

Chapter 5: In vivo analysis of interactions between Plo1p kinase and PBF components Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p

5.1 Introduction
5.1.1 Polo-like kinases
5.1.2 Plo1p: a regulator of mitotic events and M-G1 transcription
5.2 Two-Hybrid analysis of interactions between Plo1p and PBF components Mbx1p, Sep1p
and Fkh2p
5.2.1 Cloning of sep1+, fkh2+ and mbx1+ into the pACT2 prey vector
5.2.2 Plo1p interacts with Mbx1p but not Fkh2p or Sep1p in the Two-Hybrid assay
5.2.3 The Two-Hybrid interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p requires both the kinase and the
polo-box domains
5.3 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of the interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p
5.3.1 Mbx1p co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p from mbx1-13myc fission yeast extracts208

5.3.2 Mbx1p co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p throughout the mitotic cell cycle210
5.4 Summary
Chapter 6: In vivo analysis of Fkh2p, Sep1p, and Plo1p binding to the
promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes
6.1 Introduction
6.2 ChIP analysis of interactions of PBF components and Plo1p with the promoters of
genes transcribed during M-G1 phase215
6.2.1 Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p bind <i>in vivo</i> to the promoters of genes transcribed during M-G1 phase
6.2.2 Requirement of Plo1p, Mbx1p and Sep1p for Fkh2p promoter binding in vivo227
6.2.3 Cell-cycle-specific binding of Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p to the PCB promoter regions of M-
G1 transcribed genes
6.3 Summary240
Chapter 7: Discussion
7.1 General discussion243
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+ 249 7.2.2 Significance of plo1+ and fkh2+ M-G1 specific transcription in cell cycle controls 249 7.2.3 Identification of Plo1p phosphorylation site(s) in Mbx1p
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+ 249 7.2.2 Significance of plo1+ and fkh2+ M-G1 specific transcription in cell cycle controls 249 7.2.3 Identification of Plo1p phosphorylation site(s) in Mbx1p 250 7.2.4 Role of Mbx1p phosphorylation by Plo1p in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription252
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+ 249 7.2.2 Significance of plo1+ and fkh2+ M-G1 specific transcription in cell cycle controls 249 7.2.3 Identification of Plo1p phosphorylation site(s) in Mbx1p 250 7.2.4 Role of Mbx1p phosphorylation by Plo1p in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription 252 7.2.5 In vivo analysis of Sep1p and Plo1p promoter association dependencies
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+ 249 7.2.2 Significance of plo1+ and fkh2+ M-G1 specific transcription in cell cycle controls. 249 7.2.3 Identification of Plo1p phosphorylation site(s) in Mbx1p 250 7.2.4 Role of Mbx1p phosphorylation by Plo1p in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription252 7.2.5 In vivo analysis of Sep1p and Plo1p promoter association dependencies 253 7.2.6 Genome-wide analysis of Plo1p, Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p promoter binding sites
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+ 249 7.2.2 Significance of plo1+ and fkh2+ M-G1 specific transcription in cell cycle controls 249 7.2.3 Identification of Plo1p phosphorylation site(s) in Mbx1p 250 7.2.4 Role of Mbx1p phosphorylation by Plo1p in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription 252 7.2.6 Genome-wide analysis of Sep1p and Plo1p promoter association dependencies 253 7.2.6 Genome-wide analysis of Plo1p, Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p promoter binding sites 254 References 255 Appendix I: Oligonucleotides
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of <i>cdc15</i> +
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+ 249 7.2.2 Significance of plo1+ and fkh2+ M-G1 specific transcription in cell cycle controls 249 7.2.3 Identification of Plo1p phosphorylation site(s) in Mbx1p 250 7.2.4 Role of Mbx1p phosphorylation by Plo1p in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription 252 7.2.5 In vivo analysis of Sep1p and Plo1p promoter association dependencies 253 7.2.6 Genome-wide analysis of Plo1p, Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p promoter binding sites 254 References 255 Appendix I: Oligonucleotides 286 Appendix II: Strains 288 Appendix III: Media 290
7.1 General discussion 243 7.2 Future Work 249 7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15+ 249 7.2.2 Significance of plo1+ and fkh2+ M-G1 specific transcription in cell cycle controls 249 7.2.3 Identification of Plo1p phosphorylation site(s) in Mbx1p 250 7.2.4 Role of Mbx1p phosphorylation by Plo1p in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription 251 7.2.5 In vivo analysis of Sep1p and Plo1p promoter association dependencies 253 7.2.6 Genome-wide analysis of Plo1p, Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p promoter binding sites 255 Appendix I: Oligonucleotides 288 Appendix II: Strains 288 Appendix IV: Vectors 290 Appendix IV: Vectors

Appendix VI: Differential growth of $fkh2\Delta$ cells on rich and minimal media 297
Appendix VII: Positions of PCB and forkhead sequences in promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes
Appendix VIII: Antibodies

Index of figures

Chapter 1

transcription on the lacZ reporter

1.1: The life cycle of Schizosaccharomyces pombe	31
1.2: The life cycle of Saccharomyces cerevisiae	32
1.3: Schematic of mitosis in animal cells	37
1.4: S. cerevisiae and S. pombe mitotic cell cycle	39
1.5 : <u>Pre-replicative complex</u> (Pre-RC) assembly, licensing and initiation of DNA replication in S.	
pombe	49
1.6: Rearrangements in actin distribution and structure during the cell cycle in S. pombe	68
1.7: Actomyosin ring assembly and constriction to bring about septation and cytokinesis in S. por	nbe
	70
1.8: Activation of the septation initiation network (SIN) signalling cascade in S. pombe	73
1.9: The <u>m</u> itotic <u>e</u> xit <u>n</u> etwork (MEN) pathway in S. cerevisiae	80
1.10: Stepwise assembly of the eukaryotic basal Pol II machinery on TATA-containing promoters	84
1.11: Arrangement of cis-acting elements in S. cerevisiae and metazoan Pol II promoters	85
1.12: Schematic representation of type I and type II classes of MADS (Mcm1p, Agamous or Arg8	0р,
Deficiens and SRF)-box domains and the distinct types of adjacent C-terminal regions	89
1.13: Phase-specific gene clusters and their regulatory transcriptional networks in budding and	
fission yeasts	93
Chapter 2	
2.1: Sonication of S. pombe lysates from cells fixed with 1% FA	128
<u>Chapter 3</u>	
3.1: The fission yeast UAS reporter plasmid $pSP\Delta 178$	139
3.2: Verification of $pSP\Delta 178.15UAS.MUT$ and $pSP\Delta 178.15UAS.MUT2$ reporter constructs	141
3.3: A cdc15+ promoter fragment containing the PCB sequence (GCAACG) confers M-G1 specific	2

3.4: A cdc15⁺ promoter fragment containing AAGGTT instead of the PCB sequence (GCAACG) abolishes transcription of the lacZ reporter gene 145

144

3.5: A cdc15+ promoter fragment containing TTGGTT instead of the PCB sequence (GCAACG	i)
drastically affects the amplitude but not the cell cycle specific pattern of transcription of the lac	;Z
reporter gene	146
3.6: Loss of periodic transcription of lacZ in fkh2 Δ cells	150
3.7: Loss of periodic transcription of lacZ in sep1 Δ cells	151
3.8: Feature map of the positions of the PCB and forkhead motifs within the promoters of S. po	ombe
M-G1 transcribed genes	153
3.9: Verification of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 reporter constructs	155
3.10: Effect of mutating the TGTTTAC forkhead sequence on M–G1 specific transcription in fis	sion
yeast	157
3.11: Effect of mutating both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequences on M–G1 specific transcri	iption
in fission yeast	158
3.12: Northern blot analysis comparing the effects on lacZ transcription of changes in either the	e PCB
sequence, the TGTTTAC forkhead sequence or both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequence	160

<u>Chapter 4</u>

4.1: Generation of sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc double tagged strain	168
4.2: Generation of sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc double tagged strain	169
4.3: Generation of fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc double tagged strain	170
4.4: Fkh2p co-immunoprecipitates with Sep1p from sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc S. pombe prote	ein extracts
	172
4.5: Mbx1p does not co-immunoprecipitate with Sep1p and vice versa in sep1-3HA mbx1-	13myc S.
pombe protein extracts	174
4.6: Mbx1p does not co-immunoprecipitate with Fkh2p and vice versa in fkh2-3HA mbx1-	13myc S.
pombe protein extracts	176
4.7: Cloning of the S. pombe sep1 ⁺ gene	179
4.8: S. pombe mbx1+ cDNA	181
4.9: Cloning of S. pombe mbx1+ cDNA	181
4.10: Sequence of mbx1+ cDNA and inferred genomic structure	182
4.11: Cloning of the sep1+ and mbx1+ genes into the pGEX-KG expression vector	183
4.12: GST overexpression and solubility	185
4.13: GST-Mbx1p overexpression and solubility	185
4.14: GST-Sep1p overexpression and solubility	186

4.15: 6HIS-Fkh2p overexpression and solubility	187
4.16: 6HIS-Sep1p overexpression and solubility	188
4.17: Purification of GST-fusion proteins	190
4.18: Purification of HIS-fusion proteins	191
4.19: GST pull-down analysis reveals that Fkh2p and Sep1p directly interact with each other	in vitro,
while no interaction is detected between Mbx1p and either Fkh2p or Sep1p	193

<u>Chapter 5</u>

5.1: Model of yeast two hybrid-mediated transcriptional activation	201
5.2: Cloning of full-length sep1+ into pACT2 two-hybrid prey vector	202
5.3: Cloning of full-length mbx1+ into pACT2 two-hybrid prey vector	203
5.4: Cloning of full-length fkh2+ into pACT2 two-hybrid prey vector	203
5.5: Yeast two hybrid analysis reveals a specific in vivo interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p	205
5.6: Two-hybrid interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p requires both the kinase and the polo-box	,
domains	207
5.7: Mbx1p co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p from fission yeast protein extracts	209
5.8: Mbx1p binds to Plo1p throughout the mitotic cell cycle	211

<u>Chapter 6</u>

5.1: Schematic outline of the ChIP method				
5.2: DNA fragments amplified by PCR for ChIP analysis				
5.3: Fkh2p binds to the promoters of cdc15+, fkh2+ and plo1+ genes in vivo				
6.4: Fkh2p binds to the promoters of cdc15+, fkh2+ and plo1+ in vivo	222			
6.5: Sep1p binds to the promoters of cdc15+ and plo1+ in vivo	223			
6.6: ChIP analysis in (A) wild-type cells (GG 217) and (B) plo1-3HA cells (GG 1110) to detect P	'lo1p			
on the promoters of cdc15 ⁺ , fkh2 ⁺ and plo1 ⁺	224			
6.7: Plo1p binds to the promoters of cdc15+ and fkh2+ in vivo	225			
6.8: ChIP analysis in mbx1-13myc cells (GG 504) to detect Mbx1p on the promoters of cdc15+,	fkh2⁺			
and plo1+	226			
6.9: Requirement of Plo1p for Fkh2p promoter binding in vivo	229			
6.10: Requirement of Mbx1p for Fkh2p promoter binding in vivo	230			
6.11: Requirement of Sep1p for Fkh2p promoter binding in vivo	231			
6.12: Cell cycle specific binding of Fkh2p to PCB promoter regions of cdc15+, fkh2+ and plo1+	235			

6.13: Cell cycle specific binding of Plo1p to PCB promoter regions of cdc15+ and fkh2+	237
6.14: Cell cycle specific binding of Sep1p to PCB promoter regions of cdc15+ and plo1+	239

<u>Chapter 7</u>

7.1: Model of Plo1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p regulation of M-G1 gene expression in fission yeast	248
7.2: Potential Plo1p phosphorylation sites within the Mbx1p amino acid sequence	251

Index of Tables

<u>Chapter 2</u>

2.1. List of antibodies used in the current study	105
2.2. Gel Recipe for Bio-Rad 0.75 mm thick gels	123

Supporting publications

Papadopoulou, K., Ng, S.S., Ohkura, H., Geymonat, M., Sedgwick, S.G. and McInerny, C.J. (2008). Regulation of gene expression during M-G1-phase in fission yeast through Plo1p and forkhead transcription factors. *Journal of Cell Science* **121**, 38-47.

Ng, S.S., **Papadopoulou**, K. and McInerny, C.J. (2006). Regulation of gene expression and cell division by Polo-like kinases. *Current Genetics* **50**, 73-80.

Buck, V., Ng, S.S., Ruiz-Garcia, A.B., **Papadopoulou**, K., Bhatti, S., Samuel, J.M., Anderson, M., Millar, J.B. and McInerny, C.J. (2004). Fkh2p and Sep1p regulate mitotic gene transcription in fission yeast. *Journal of Cell Science* **117**, 5623-5632.

Abbreviations

Amp ^R	ampicillin resistant
APC/C	anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome
ARK	Aurora related kinase
ARS	autonomous replication sequence
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
ATM	ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATR	ATM-related
bp	base pair
CAK	Cdk-activating kinase
CAR	cytokinetic actomyosin ring
Cdc	cell division cycle
Cdk	cyclin dependent kinase
CTD	C-terminal domain
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
ChIP	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
СКІ	cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors
DDK	Dbf4p-dependent kinase
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DPE	downstream promoter element
DSC1	DNA synthesis control 1
DTT	dithiothreitol
E2F	E2A binding factor
ECB	Early cell cycle box
ECL	Enhanced Chemiluminescence
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EMM	Edinburgh minimal media
ETS	E twenty-six
g	gravity (relative centrifugal force; rcf)
GAP	GTPase activating protein
GEF	guanine-nucleotide-exchange factor

gr	grammes
GST	glutathione S-transferase
GTF	general transcription factor
h	hour
HA	hemagglutinin
Hepes buffer	N-(2-Hydroxyethyl) piperazine-N'-(2-ethanesulfonic acid) buffer
HIS	histidine
HNF	hepatocyte nuclear factor
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
lgG	immunoglobulin
Inr	initiator
IPTG	isopropyl β -thiogalactopyranoside
Kan ^R	kanamycin resistant
kb	kilo basepair
kDa	kilo Dalton
kV	kilo-Volt
I	litre
LB	Luria Broth
MADS-box	Mcm1p, Agamous, Deficiens SRF-box
MALDI-TOF	Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption-Ionization Time-of-Flight
MBF	Mlul cell cycle box binding factor complex
MCB	<i>Mlu</i> l cell cycle box
МСМ	minichromosome maintenance
MCP	morphogenesis checkpoint pathway
mcs	mitotic catastrophe suppressor
MEF2	myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2
MEN	mitotic-exit network
mg	milligram
min	minute
ml	millilitre
MNE	MOPS/NaOAc/EDTA
MOPS buffer	3-(N-Morpholino)-propanesulfonic acid buffer
mRNA	messenger RNA
MTOC	microtubule organising centre

N ₆	random hexanucleotide			
NETO	new end take off			
NIMA	never in mitosis A			
nmt	no message in thiamine			
NP-40	Nonidet P-40			
Nrk	NIMA-related kinase			
OD	optical density			
ONPG	o-Nitrophenyl β-D-galactopyranoside			
ORC	origin recognition complex			
ORF	open reading frame			
PBD	polo-box domain			
PBF	PCB-binding factor			
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline			
PCB	Pombe cell cycle box			
PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen			
PCR	polymerase chain reaction			
PEG	polyethylene glycol			
Plk	Polo-like kinase			
PMSF	phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride			
PNK	polynucleotide kinase			
Pol I	RNA polymerase I			
Pol II	RNA polymerase II			
Pol III	RNA polymerase III			
Post-RC	Post- replication complex			
Pre-IC	pre-initiation complex			
pre-RC	pre-replication complex			
psi	pounds per square inch			
Rb	Retinoblastoma			
RFC	replication factor C			
RNA	ribonucleic acid			
RNAi	RNA interference			
RNase	ribonuclease			
RPA	replication protein A			
rpm	revolution per minute			

rRNA	ribosomal RNA						
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction						
SBF	SCB binding factor						
SCB	Swi4/6 cell cycle box						
S-CDK	Cdk bound to S phase cyclins						
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate – polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis						
sec	second						
SFF	Swi five fact	or					
SIN	septation init	tiation network					
SPB	spindle pole	body					
SRF	serum respo	onse factor					
SWI/SNF	mating-type	switching/sucr	ose non-ferr	menting			
TAF	TBP-associa	ated factor					
TBE	Tris/Borate/B	EDTA buffer					
TBP	TATA-bindin	ng protein					
TE	Tris/EDTA						
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine						
THESIT	polyethylene glycol dodecyl ether						
Tris	2-Amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)-1,3-propanediol						
Triton X-100	Polyethylene glycol tert-octyl-phenyl ether						
ts	temperature sensitive						
U	units						
UAS	upstream activating sequence						
μCi	microcuries						
μg	microgram						
μΙ	microlitre						
μΜ	micromolar						
URS	upstream repressing sequence						
w/v	weight for volume						
YE	yeast extract						
YPD	yeast	extract	with	peptone	and	dextrose	

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Introduction

All eukaryotic cells, regardless of origin, ranging from unicellular yeasts to somatic human cells, are defined by their ability to grow and divide, culminating in their proliferation. The mitotic cell cycle, a highly coordinated sequence of events, is the process that the eukaryotic cell undergoes to accurately divide into two progeny, each with the same chromosomal and cytoplasmic content as the parent. DNA synthesis and mitosis are the hallmark events of the eukaryotic cell cycle. The former replicates the parental chromosomes and the latter partitions each copy of the duplicated hereditary material together with cytoplasm constituents and organelles, via the process of cytokinesis, into the two cell progeny.

A number of distinct regulatory networks operate within the cell to temporally separate DNA synthesis from mitosis and guarantee that chromosome segregation always follows chromosome duplication. Based on the temporal separation of the processes that copy and partition the duplicated genome during the lifespan of a eukaryotic cell, the mitotic cell cycle is conventionally perceived as a series of events that take place within four successive phases: G1, S, G2 and M phase, respectively. The S phase corresponds to the time when the chromosomes are replicated, while the M phase is the time when the two copies of each chromosome are allocated into the nuclei of the two progeny, which emerge as soon as cytokinesis is complete. G1 and G2 are the 'gap' phases that intervene between S and M phases. G1 commences after each M phase and precedes the onset of the next S phase, while the G2 phase follows completion of DNA synthesis (end of S phase) and paves the way to mitosis. The G1 and G2 phases provide the cell with sufficient time to grow and at the same time monitor its readiness for another round of DNA replication and division, respectively, thus maintaining its genetic identity and integrity in the ensuing generations of offspring.

Apart from asexual propagation through the process of mitotic cell division, a eukaryotic cell, depending on the organism and internal or external stimuli, can normally undergo distinct developmental fates. In multicellular eukaryotes, a somatic cell can stop dividing, exit the mitotic cell cycle and undergo differentiation into distinct cellular types, giving rise to different tissues and organs of the body. Alternatively, a eukaryotic cell can undergo meiosis, a modified type of cell division, generating haploid gametes, either eggs or sperm. During sexual reproduction, fusion of such germ cells from two different individuals yields a diploid zygote, which can then develop into a new individual. Meiosis, through the process of homologous recombination, greatly contributes to the generation of genetic variation within species, the driving force of evolution. The time when a eukaryotic cell decides whether to enter a mitotic cell cycle or pursue another developmental route, marks an irreversible point early in the cell cycle, during the G1 phase. This irreversible decision

point is termed 'START' in the budding and fission yeasts, or the 'Restriction point' in mammals. Once a cell progresses past the START/Restriction point, it becomes committed to the mitotic cell cycle and its successful completion.

Various interlocking mechanisms operate within the cell during the course of the mitotic cell cycle that co-ordinate DNA synthesis with mitosis and ensure that these events occur with high fidelity, in the correct order, and only after completion of the previous phase. Tight control of the mitotic cell cycle is of the utmost importance for proper growth and development for all living organisms. The significance of cell cycle control is exemplified most dramatically by the detrimental effects, for the survival of the cell, of errors in the execution of the regulatory processes that drive progression through the cell cycle. In multicellular organisms, such as humans, inactivation or abnormal behaviour of the regulatory networks for normal growth and division deregulates the mitotic cell cycle and results in genomic instability and the incidence of diseases, most prominently cancer.

The significance of the mitotic cell division cycle for the normal development and survival of eukaryotic organisms has prompted a vast amount of research over the past few decades to study the biological processes that constitute the mitotic cell cycle, and delineate the regulatory mechanisms that drive progression through S phase and mitosis. Genetic and biochemical studies in diverse species, including among others the budding and fission yeasts, sea urchin, *Drosophila, Xenopus* and, ultimately, humans, have shown most strikingly that the mitotic cell cycle operates in a similar way in all eukaryotes. Regulation of the cell cycle is exerted by mechanisms and networks that control the onset, execution and completion of DNA replication and mitosis. The activities of these modulatory processes converge on the master regulators of the cell cycle, the <u>cyclin-dependent kinases</u> (Cdks), which control S phase and mitosis by phosphorylating appropriate substrates and are themselves subject to tight regulation. Control of the activities of the cyclin-dependent kinases, and eventually the mitotic cell cycle, is brought about by the interplay between distinct molecular mechanisms, such as specific proteolytic degradation, changes in intracellular localisation and reversible phosphorylation (Nurse, 2000; Nasmyth, 2001; Nurse, 2002; Lodish *et al.*, 2003).

Cell cycle specific transcription, resulting in phase specific gene expression, also plays a major part in the regulation of the cell cycle. Global microarray analysis in the fission and budding yeasts, both of which are extensively used as models for the study of the eukaryotic cell cycle, has revealed a large number of genes that are transcribed in a cell cycle-specific manner. The mammalian homologues of a few of these genes are also transcribed and expressed at specific cell cycle times. For many of these genes, their ensuing phase-specific expression is essential for the

timing and completion of the key cell cycle events of DNA synthesis and mitosis, exemplifying the significance of transcription for normal cell cycle progression (McInerny, 2004; Ng *et al.*, 2006).

The regulatory mechanisms that govern cell cycle specific transcription during late mitosisearly G1 phase in the fission yeast are the research topic of this study. This introductory chapter describes the eukaryotic cell division cycle and its regulation, preceded by an outline of the life cycles, genetics and advantages of the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* and the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* as experimental systems for the analysis of cell cycle controls. Then, the focus turns to what is known about cell cycle specific transcription in the budding and fission yeasts, overviewing both the various groups of genes that are expressed in a cell cycle specific manner and the molecular components responsible for these patterns of periodic transcription. Finally, with relevance to this thesis, aspects of transcriptional control of eukaryotic gene expression are also discussed.

1.2 The budding and fission yeasts: powerful models for biological studies

The basic molecular processes that enable a eukaryotic cell to traverse through the mitotic cell cycle are conserved in organisms as diverse as fungi and mammals, exemplified by the ubiquity of the Cdks and many other components of the cell cycle machinery (Sections 1.3, 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6). The universality of the mitotic cell cycle has encouraged the use of different organisms, each with its own experimental benefits, as model systems for the elucidation of the regulatory mechanisms underlying normal cell cycle progression. Prominent among them are the budding yeast *S. cerevisiae* and the fission yeast *S. pombe*, largely due to their amenability to powerful genetics.

The budding and fission yeasts exist in nature as stable haploids, which make recessive mutations relatively straightforward to recognise. This aspect of yeast physiology is particularly useful for the isolation of conditional lethal cell cycle mutants that under restrictive conditions either accelerate or block progress past a specific cell cycle stage and define essential genes necessary for progression through cell cycle events, such as DNA synthesis and mitosis. Gene cloning in these organisms is greatly facilitated by complementation analysis. In this approach, mutants are transformed with plasmids carrying an appropriate gene library and screened for rescue of the mutant phenotype. *S. pombe* and *S. cerevisiae* are suitable for extragenic suppression analysis, unravelling the regulatory networks that underlie complex biological processes, such as the cell cycle. Extragenic suppressors define loss- or gain- of function mutants of a novel gene that rescue the mutant phenotype of the initial gene of interest. Extragenic suppression identifies genes whose encoded products interact directly or indirectly as part of a protein complex or are components of a

pathway, with the suppressor acting upstream of the original mutant in a positive or negative manner. Moreover, homologous recombination occurs in *S. cerevisiae* and in *S. pombe*, which has facilitated the development of gene disruption methods that generate null alleles of genes in their genomic loci. Such genetic techniques, combined with overexpression analyses and a broad spectrum of other molecular biology and biochemical applications, are powerful tools for the elucidation of gene function. The tractable genetics of the two yeasts combined with their ability to grow easily and promptly (completing a cell cycle within only a few hours) under laboratory conditions constitute them ideal experimental systems, not only for cell cycle studies but also for other biological processes (Hartwell *et al.*, 1974; Hartwell, 1978; Nurse *et al.*, 1976; Forsburg and Nurse, 1991; Hartwell, 1991; MacNeill and Nurse, 1997; Bähler *et al.*, 1998a; Nurse *et al.*, 1998; Forsburg, 1999; Nurse, 2002; Lodish *et al.*, 2003).

S. cerevisiae, the first eukaryote to enter the post-genomics era and have its genome sequenced, has extensively been used as model to address a wide range of biological phenomena, including, apart from the mitotic cell cycle, protein trafficking and transcriptional regulation. Relative to budding yeast, *S. pombe* has a shorter history as an experimental system. Nonetheless, fission yeast has become popular in the scientific community over recent years, culminating in the sequencing of its genome (Wood *et al.*, 2002). In parallel, the realisation that its genetic content is the smallest among eukaryotes and that it possesses features more characteristic of complex eukaryotes in various processes, including intron splicing, transcription initiation and protein modification, combined with its typical mitochondrial genome, has further boosted its use as a model organism (Russell and Nurse, 1986b; MacNeill and Nurse, 1997; Forsburg, 1999; Yanagida, 2002).

The budding and fission yeasts are free-living unicellular ascomycete fungi that, as their names denote, propagate by budding and medial fission, respectively. In terms of phylogenesis, *S. cerevisiae* and *S. pombe* appear to have diverged from each other very early during evolution and they are as distant from each other as either one is from higher eukaryotes (Forsburg, 1999; Sipiczki, 2000; Yanagida, 2002). This implies that cell cycle components and regulatory networks found in both yeasts are probably conserved between most eukaryotes, illustrating the importance of studying cell cycle control in both organisms (Russell and Nurse, 1986b; Forsburg, 1999; Yanagida, 2002).

The remote evolutionary relationship between *S. cerevisiae* and *S. pombe* accounts possibly for their distinct life styles and differences in the organisation of the genome, regulation of gene expression and in certain aspects of an otherwise conserved cell cycle (Forsburg and Nurse, 1991). Both yeasts contain a similar size genome (12-14 Mb), but *S. cerevisiae* partitions it into 16 relatively small chromosomes, while *S. pombe* contains only three larger chromosomes (Goffeau *et al.*, 1996; Wood *et al.*, 2002). This perhaps explains why the budding yeast possesses compact centromeres

and DNA replication origins with well defined sequences, as opposed to the large, disperse and lessdefined sequences of these chromosome structures in fission yeast (Forsburg, 1999; Yanagida, 2002).

1.2.1 S. pombe and S. cerevisiae life cycles

S. pombe is characterised by a life cycle that comprises both haploid and transient diploid nuclear phases (Figure 1.1). Haploid cells are of two opposite mating types, termed P (h^+) and M (h^-). S. pombe haploids of both mating types occur naturally in homothallic strains, in which switch of mating type takes place. Diploid cells (zygotes) are formed transiently during conjugation and nuclear fusion of two haploids of opposite mating types. Zygotes undergo meiosis immediately and sporulate to yield four-spored ascospores. Each ascospore is enclosed in an ascus wall with all four surrounded by a cell wall, originating from the two initial haploids. Rupture of the asci releases four haploid spores. Under favourable growth conditions, such as ample nutrients, haploid cells propagate asexually by mitotic cell division. During the mitotic cell cycle, the cells grow by elongation at their tips and then divide by septation and medial fission. Under poor growth conditions, such as limiting nutrients, and in the presence of only one mating type, cells withdraw from the cell cycle and enter a stationary phase. Alternatively, if both mating types are present nutrient deprivation triggers formation of zygotes, followed by meiosis and sporulation, enabling the survival of the organism in a dormant state, due to the endurance of haploid spores under stress conditions, such as heat. As mentioned, the diploid phase in fission yeast is transient. However, if diploid zygotes are transferred to nutrient-rich media before meiosis, they can remain in a diploid state and undergo mitotic cell division. Haploid and diploid cells that undergo meiosis and sporulation are morphologically distinct, the former forming "rod-shape" un-ruptured azygotic asci and the latter "banana-shape" zygotic asci (Egel, 1989; Munz et al., 1989; Forsburg and Nurse, 1991; Hayles and Nurse, 1992; Egel, 2003).

Unlike *S. pombe*, the life cycle of *S. cerevisiae* possesses both stable haploid and diploid cells (Figure 1.2). The two mating types in budding yeast are termed α and a. In the presence of only one mating type in the cell population, haploid cells undergo mitotic cell division. Early in the cell cycle, a bud forms in the dividing haploid which grows in size as the cell cycle progresses. Late during mitosis, the bud pinches off giving rise to a daughter cell, with the same genetic content but a smaller size than the mother cell (Forsburg and Nurse, 1991; Lew *et al.*, 1997). When both mating types are present in a cell population, haploids of opposite mating type fuse to form diploid cells (a/ α) which, as long as there are sufficient nutrients, continue to grow and mitotically divide.

However, once starved, diploids undergo meiosis and sporulation to yield four haploid ascospores, enclosed by a cell wall of the original diploid cell.

In both budding and fission yeasts, conjugation leading to the formation of a stable or unstable diploid, respectively, is mediated by the mating pheromones, diffusible extracellular peptides, secreted by haploids. Each cell produces a mating type-specific pheromone, targeting the cell surface of a haploid cell of the opposite mating type. As a result, cells of both mating types arrest early in the G1 phase, prior to the irreversible decision point of the mitotic cell cycle, when a cell still has the choice to follow an alternative developmental fate (Section 1.1). Then, conjugation and nuclear fusion follows, leading to the formation of diploid zygote which, depending on the yeast species and availability of nutrients, undergoes either meiotic or mitotic cell division (Zaborowska *et al.*, 1975; Pringle and Hartwell, 1981; Miyata *et al.*, 1997).



Figure 1.1: The life cycle of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe.* Fission yeast cells grow stably as haploids, multiplying by mitotic cell division. Upon nutrient deprivation cells exit from the mitotic cell cycle and enter into stationary phase. Nonetheless, if cells of both mating types (h⁺ and h⁻) are present, they conjugate to form a diploid zygote, which undergoes meiosis, yielding a zygotic ascus with four haploid ascospores. Upon re-supply of nutrients the haploid spores re-enter the mitotic cell cycle. Under certain conditions, including immediate re-supply of nutrients the diploid zygote can grow vegetatively by mitotic cell division until nutrients become limiting, where the diploid cells undergo meiosis and generate an azygotic ascus, morphologically distinct from the zygotic ascus.



Figure 1.2: The life cycle of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Budding yeast cells grow stably both as haploids and diploids. Upon nutrient deprivation, cells exit from the mitotic cell division cycle and enter into stationary phase. Nonetheless, if cells of opposite mating type (a and α) are present they conjugate to form a diploid zygote. In the presence of nutrients, diploid zygotes grow vegetatively by mitotic cycle division but when starved undergo meiosis and sporulation forming four haploid cells, which re-enter the mitotic cell cycle once nutrients are once more available.

1.2.2 Yeasts as models for the study of the eukaryotic cell cycle: a historical overview

A breakthrough in cell cycle research came from a combination of biochemical studies in *Xenopus* and marine invertebrates and genetic studies in the budding and fission yeasts. In the latter case, genetic dissection of the cell cycle machinery was greatly aided by the isolation of *S. pombe* and *S. cerevisiae* conditional lethal, temperature sensitive, mutants that are defective in normal cell cycle progression. Two distinct classes of cell cycle mutants were isolated; the <u>cell division cycle (cdc)</u> mutants, identified initially in budding and then in fission yeast, and the wee mutants in fission yeast (Hartwell, 1971; Nurse, 1975; Nurse *et al.*, 1976; Nurse and Thuriaux, 1980).

The temperature sensitive *cdc* mutants blocked mitotic cell division at a specific cell cycle stage, irrespective of their stage in the cell cycle at the time of the shift from the permissive to the restrictive temperature. *S. pombe* and *S. cerevisiae cdc* mutants were easily recognised morphologically because they blocked cell cycle progression but, critically, not cellular growth. Thus, once arrested, they continued to grow without dividing, resulting in cells of either extreme length or with uniform buds, respectively. The behaviour of *cdc* mutants suggested that they define mutant versions of genes that are necessary for progression through specific cell cycle events, such as DNA replication and mitosis (Hartwell, 1974; Nurse, 1975; Nurse *et al.*, 1976; Hartwell, 1978; Pringle, 1978).

Unlike fission yeast *cdc* mutants, *wee* mutants are small, because once shifted to the restrictive temperature they go through the cell cycle faster than wild-type cells, such that at the time of division they are half their size at the permissive temperature. Thus, the behaviour of *wee* mutants suggested that they define genes whose encoded products are rate limiting for the initiation of mitosis and depending on the nature of the mutations, whether loss- or gain- of function, they either inhibit or induce progress through the cell cycle (Fantes and Nurse, 1977; Fantes and Nurse, 1978; Nurse and Thuriaux, 1980).

Complementation analysis of the *cdc* and *wee* mutants has allowed the isolation of many of the genes necessary for cell cycle progression, including among others *cdc2*⁺, *cdc25*⁺, *wee1*⁺ and *cdc13*⁺ in fission yeast, and *CDC28* in budding yeast (Beach *et al.*, 1982; Russell and Nurse, 1986a; Russell and Nurse, 1987; Hagan *et al.*, 1988). Early genetic work in *S. cerevisiae* with various temperature sensitive *cdc28* mutants that arrest at G1 at the restrictive temperature has shown that passage through START and entry into S phase requires the function of the *CDC28* gene and is coupled to cell growth, such that only cells with a critical cell mass can initiate DNA synthesis and go through mitotic cell division. Another important observation from these studies was the dependency of late cell cycle events on the completion of earlier events of the cell division cycle (Hartwell *et al.*,

1974). Subsequently, a novel *cdc28* mutant was isolated that arrested at a time after START, suggesting that the function of this gene is required twice during the cell cycle (Piggott *et al.*, 1982).

In S. pombe, elaborate genetic analysis of the cdc2 and wee1 recessive mutants and the wee2 dominant mutant, shown to map to the cdc2 locus, revealed that $cdc2^+$, like CDC28 in budding yeast, is required for the onset of both S phase and mitosis, while $wee1^+$ regulates the timing of mitosis and acts as an inhibitor of mitotic onset by acting upstream and negatively regulating $cdc2^+$ (Nurse and Thuriaux, 1980; Nurse and Bissett, 1981). In parallel, analysis of these mutants, as well as others, unravelled that, similar to the situation in budding yeast, progression past START and entry into mitosis rely both on the attainment of a critical cell size (Fantes and Nurse, 1977; Fantes and Nurse, 1978). Later genetic studies with cdc25 mutants, including suppression analysis with wee1 mutants, showed that $cdc25^+$ acts as a dosage-dependent inducer of mitosis that positively regulates $cdc2^+$ and counteracts the inhibitory function of $wee1^+$ (Fantes, 1979; Russell and Nurse, 1986a; Russell and Nurse, 1986b; Russell and Nurse, 1987). Finally, genetic work with cdc13 mutants showed that $cdc13^+$ is required for mitosis, while sophisticated suppression analyses, combined with overexpression studies, suggested that the encoded proteins of $cdc13^+$ and $cdc2^+$ physically interact with each other as part of a control mechanism that initiates mitosis (Nurse et al., 1976; Nasmyth and Nurse 1981; Fantes, 1982; Booher and Beach, 1987).

The similarities in behaviour of *cdc2*⁺ and *CDC28* in the regulation of the mitotic cell cycle suggested that these genes perform similar functions in the two yeasts, portraying an evolutionary conserved component of the eukaryotic cell cycle machinery. Confirming this hypothesis, complementation studies revealed that CDC28 could rescue the lethality of the cdc2-33 mutant at the restrictive temperature and, vice versa, a DNA fragment corresponding to cdc2⁺ cDNA could rescue the defective phenotype of the CDC28-4 mutant, showing that cdc2⁺ and CDC28 are functional homologues (Beach et al., 1982; Booher and Beach, 1986). Moreover, a clone from a human cDNA library, corresponding to the human cdc2⁺ homologue, was isolated that could also complement the cdc2-33 mutant (Lee and Nurse, 1987). Peptide sequence analysis revealed that the polypeptides encoded by *cdc2*⁺ and *CDC28* are 63% identical, while the proteins encoded by CDC28 and the human cdc2⁺ homologue share 58% sequence identity (Lörincz and Reed, 1984). Subsequently, *cdc2*⁺ homologues have been discovered in a variety of organisms and shown to encode further cyclin-dependent kinases (Nigg, 1995; Morgan, 1997). Apart from cdc2+, cdc13+, wee1⁺ and cdc25⁺ have also been shown to encode conserved cell cycle components, a mitotic cyclin, a kinase and a phosphatase, respectively, which modulate in concert the activity of cdc2+ (Section 1.3). These findings illustrate the value of S. pombe and S. cerevisiae as experimental systems for the study of the mitotic cell cycle.

1.3 The eukaryotic cell division cycle

Cell cycle studies with *cdc* mutants in both budding and fission yeasts have greatly contributed to the establishment of a basic scheme for the organisation and control of the mitotic cell cycle in eukaryotes. At the heart of cell cycle architecture lies the temporal separation of DNA synthesis from mitosis by the G1 and G2 gap phases (Nasmyth, 2001). Interphase defines the time that intervenes between the end of one mitosis and the onset of another, and encompasses the G1, S and G2 phases. During interphase the cell doubles both its DNA and mass content in preparation for the ensuing mitosis. DNA replication is restricted to S phase, while cellular growth, corresponding to RNA and protein synthesis, is more or less a continuous process during interphase.

The G1 phase encompasses the START/ Restriction point, during which the cell monitors whether the conditions are satisfactory to enter S phase and initiate a round of cell division. A number of different parameters, including internal stimuli, for instance growth rate and cell size, as well as external cues such as nutrients and mitogens, determine the cell's decision to commit to a cell division cycle. Upon favourable conditions for cell division, the cell progresses past the START/Restriction point and enters S phase. However, if the cell status is limiting for advancement into S phase and a consequent mitotic cell cycle, the cell withdraws from the cell cycle and arrests indefinitely at the so-called G0 phase in mammalian cells or at the stationary phase in yeasts, until conditions are once more favourable to re-enter the mitotic cell cycle (Lewin, 2000).

Once a cell progresses past the START/Restriction point it irreversibly commits to a round of mitotic division. Upon entry into S phase, DNA replication commences simultaneously at multiple replication origins. After initiation of DNA synthesis, the genome becomes refractory to re-replication until the G1 phase of the next cell cycle, when it is primed once again for replication. This process ensures that the genome replicates only once in the mitotic cell cycle. Following completion of S phase, the cell enters G2 phase, where it continues to increase its mass content until sufficient for mitosis (Moser and Russell, 2000). A crucial control point is exerted near the end of G2 where the cell monitors its readiness for division in terms of cell size and faithful replication of the genome. In the latter case, a number of checkpoints are superimposed on the pivotal components of the mitotic cell cycle machinery, the Cdks, to restrain the onset of mitosis in the presence of unreplicated or damaged DNA, preserving genome integrity. These checkpoints provide a means of linking initiation of cell cycle events to the achievement of previous ones (Russell, 1998).

After completion of DNA replication and attainment of the critical cell mass, the cell embarks on mitosis. During mitosis the cell reorganises its cytoskeleton dramatically to form the mitotic spindle, a microtubule-based structure designed to capture, align and separate the replicated chromosomes, each composed of two sister chromatids held along their lengths by multiple protein cross-links, the cohesins. Based on these events, leading to the partition of the duplicated genome into the daughter nuclei, mitosis is sub-divided into five stages, prophase, prometaphase, metaphase, anaphase and telophase, respectively (Figure 1.3) (Hagstrom and Meyer, 2003).

During prophase, the chromosomes begin to condense into highly compact structures, a process mediated by multi-protein complexes called condensins. In higher eukaryotes, unlike the budding and fission yeasts, the nuclear envelope breaks down during prometaphase (MacNeill and Nurse, 1997). Around this time a complex protein structure assembles at the centromere of each sister chromatid and mediates its tethering to the mitotic spindle. The two kinetochores of each chromosome attach to microtubules emanating from opposite poles of the spindle.

By metaphase chromosomes are condensed maximally and are strong enough to endure the tension, generated as a result of the forces that pull the sister chromatids toward opposite spindle poles counteracting the force from chromosome cohesion. This tension facilitates alignment of the chromosomes at the central region of the spindle, along the metaphase plate. A checkpoint operates within the cell that monitors chromosome alignment during metaphase and delays advancement into anaphase until all the chromosomes are attached to the spindle and under tension.

Once all the chromosomes are properly aligned at the metaphase plate, anaphase commences. During anaphase, activation of the <u>anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C)</u> triggers proteolytic degradation of securin, a protein that binds and sequesters separin. Separin is a protease that specifically cleaves cohesins. As a result, sister chromatids separate from each other and, as the spindle elongates, they move towards the opposite poles of the cell. During telophase, the newly separated chromosomes decondense, the mitotic spindle dissolves and the interphase cytoskeleton is re-established. In higher eukaryotes the nuclear envelop also reforms during this time. After mitosis, cytokinesis follows to physically separate the cytoplasm, giving rise to two daughter cells (Figure 1.3) (Hagstrom and Meyer, 2003).


Figure 1.3: Schematic of mitosis in animal cells. Following duplication of the cell's DNA content during interphase, mitosis ensues to separate the two copies of the genetic material into the two progeny. During prophase, chromatin condenses into chromosomes, each comprising two sister chromatids held together by cohesins. In prometaphase, the nuclear envelope breaks down. Meanwhile, the mitotic spindle begins to form and the sister chromatids are tethered to spindle microtubules emanating from opposite spindle poles. By metaphase chromosomes are condensed maximally and align along the equatorial plane. Then, anaphase takes place, where cohesins are cleaved to liberate the two sister chromatids from each other and allow them to move towards the opposite poles of the cell. In telophase, the chromosomes decondense, the mitotic spindle dissolves and the nuclear envelope reforms. Then, cytokinesis follows to physically separate the two daughter cells.

Variations in the fundamental format of the mitotic cell cycle are encountered in eukaryotes to accommodate their specific needs and include differences in the time a cell spends in either G1 or G2 phase (Forsburg and Nurse, 1991). Higher eukaryotes regulate their cell cycle primarily at the Restriction point and spend a major part of the cell division cycle in G1 phase (Lewin, 2000). Similarly, S. *cerevisiae* also controls its cell division cycle mainly at START (Hartwell, 1974; Forsburg and Nurse, 1991; Lew *et al.*, 1997). A round of mitotic cell division in budding yeast generates a daughter cell that is smaller in size than the mother cell (Figure 1.4A). A lengthy G1 phase provides the daughter cell with sufficient time to grow and acquire the critical size before START and advancement on another cell cycle (Rupeš, 2002). Unlike other eukaryotes, however, *S. cerevisiae* has an unusual cell cycle with less-defined S, G2 and M phases, mainly due to its budding mode of division (Figure 1.4A). In budding yeast, bud formation initiates as soon as the cell progresses past START. Then, DNA replication, duplication of the spindle pole body, the equivalent <u>microt</u>ubule <u>o</u>rganising <u>c</u>entre (MTOC) structure of the animal centrosome, as well as the ensuing rearrangement of the interphase microtubule array into a mitotic spindle, follow closely at an early time during the cell cycle (Forsburg and Nurse, 1991; Lew *et al.*, 1997).

In *S. pombe*, similar to higher eukaryotes, the cell cycle is well-defined with discrete G1, S, G2 and M phases. However, unlike other eukaryotes, fission yeast spends most of its cell cycle time, ~ 70%, in G2 and regulates its cell cycle predominantly at the G2-M control point. Attainment of the crucial size, as well as successful completion of S phase and repair of any DNA damage, is a prerequisite for progression past the G2-M transition and entry into mitosis, which takes place within an intact nuclear envelope. Typical of eukaryotes, during mitosis in *S. pombe* the chromosomes condense and the interphase cytoplasmic array of microtubules disassembles to form the mitotic spindle (Forsburg and Nurse, 1991; MacNeill and Nurse, 1997; McCully and Robinow, 1971; Robinow, 1977; Hagan and Hyams, 1988).

Under conditions of normal growth and ample nutrients, fission yeast cells spend only a very short time in the G1 and S phases, corresponding in each case to no more than 10% of the cell cycle. G1 phase commences immediately after separation of the daughter nuclei during mitosis and by the time of cytokinesis cells have already completed S phase and entered G2 phase, attributed to the attainment of the critical size much earlier than START, at a time during cell division (Figure 1.4B). As a result, fission yeast exists for the bulk of the cell cycle in the diploid state. This situation is advantageous for an organism that lives primarily as a haploid, since the possession of two copies of the genome offers fission yeast protection against DNA damage. The control point operating at START, although cryptic in rapidly growing fission yeast cells, becomes important under limiting growth conditions, such as nutrient deprivation, or in certain mutants, for example *wee1* cells. In

these cases, the G1 phase extends to allow small cells to increase their mass and acquire the critical cell size (Nurse, 1975; Nasmyth *et al.*, 1979; Nurse, 1990; Forsburg and Nurse, 1991; MacNeill and Nurse, 1997; Humphrey, 2000).



Figure 1.4: *S. cerevisiae* and *S. pombe* mitotic cell cycle. (A) Haploid *S. cerevisiae* cells at various stages of the mitotic cell cycle. SPB duplication and assembly of the mitotic spindle occur relatively early in the budding yeast cell cycle, resulting in less-defined individual S, G2 and M phases. Plum and blue circles represent the nucleus and spindle pole body, respectively. (B) Haploid *S. pombe* cells at various stages of the mitotic cell cycle. The fission yeast cell cycle is characterised by a lengthy G2 phase, occupying ~ 70% of the cell cycle, while G1 follows immediately after separation of the daughter nuclei, such that by the end of cytokinesis cells have already completed S phase and entered G2 phase. Arrows indicate the START and G2-M control cell cycle points. Aqua and blue circles represent the nucleus and spindle pole body, respectively.

1.3.1 Mechanisms of eukaryotic cell cycle control

The eukaryotic cell cycle is regulated by a highly complex but also fascinating network that at specific cell cycle times activates the Cdks, a special class of serine/threonine kinases, to trigger entry into S phase and mitosis (Nasmyth, 1996). The Cdks function as cell cycle regulators by phosphorylating their substrates in a cell cycle-dependent manner to elicit a variety of events including, among others, the initiation of DNA replication at replication origins, and at the same time the prevention of re-replication until the next S phase, as well as chromosome condensation, nuclear envelope breakdown and cytoskeletal reorganization during mitosis (Moser and Russell, 2000; Blow and Hodgson, 2002; Feng and Kipreos, 2003; Nielsen and Løbner-Olesen, 2008). The activity of Cdks varies greatly during the cell cycle, indicative of a high level of regulation. Cdk activity is controlled by various mechanisms, including reversible modification of the phosphorylation state of critical residues and cell cycle specific binding of regulatory subunits, either stimulatory, such as the cyclins, or inhibitory, the so-called <u>cyclin</u> dependent <u>kinase inhibitors</u> (CKIs) (Morgan, 1995b; Morgan, 1997; Nigg, 2001; Dorée and Hunt, 2002).

In *S. pombe* and *S. cerevisiae*, a unique Cdk, Cdc2p and Cdc28p respectively, drives entry into either S phase or mitosis. Unlike these yeasts, mammalian cells possess several stage specific Cdks, primarily Cdk1p, Cdk2p, Cdk4p and Cdk6p (Nigg, 1995; Morgan, 1997). Cdk1p is the mitosis specific Cdk, while Cdk2p is necessary for initiation and progress through S phase. Cdk4p and Cdk6p act early in G1 phase upon mitogen stimulation to promote a round of cell division by phosphorylating and inactivating Rb family members that repress expression of genes required for S-phase or by binding and sequestering CKIs (Sherr, 1996; Sherr and Roberts, 2004).

The Cdks are inactive as monomers. Activation of these kinases requires association with a cyclin to form a heterodimeric complex. Phosphorylation of Cdks reflects another crucial parameter controlling Cdk activation and involves changes in the phosphorylation status of either two (Tyr-15/Thr-167 in the fission yeast) or three (Tyr-15/Thr-14/Thr-161 in humans) amino acid residues, depending on the organism. Phosphorylation of Tyr-15 and Thr-14 near the N-terminus of the Cdk subunit is inhibitory and maintains the kinase in an inactive state, following its association with a cyclin subunit. Contrary to Tyr-15 and Thr-14, phosphorylation of Thr-161/Thr-167 is stimulatory and is necessary for complete activation of the kinase (Morgan, 1997).

Typically, eukaryotic cells contain various phase specific cyclins of distinct types. In contrast to the Cdks, the cyclins oscillate in protein levels during the cell cycle, hence the name. The periodic pattern of cyclin protein levels is predominantly the result of cell cycle dependent proteolysis, as well as of cell cycle specific expression. Cyclins are rate-limiting for cell cycle progression and together

with other regulatory mechanisms provide an elaborate means of regulating the timing of activation and ensuing inactivation of the associated Cdk (Morgan, 1997; Koepp *et al.*, 1999; Yamano *et al.*, 2000; Sullivan and Morgan, 2007).

Mammalian cells possess four distinct types of cyclins, A, B, D and E respectively. D- and Etype cyclins, the former associating with either Cdk4p or Cdk6p, and the latter with Cdk2p, are G1 specific cyclins and are required for entry and progression of G1 phase, as well as for initiation of DNA synthesis, in response to mitogenic stimulation. A-type cyclins associate with Cdk2p to promote progression through S and G2 phase, while B-type cyclins bind to Cdk1p and drive mitosis (Sherr, 1996; Sherr and Roberts, 2004).

In budding yeast, three G1 cyclins, Cln1p, Cln2p and Cln3p bind to Cdc28p in reverse order to accommodate progress past START and S phase entry by promoting among others early cell cycle events, such as bud formation, spindle pole body duplication and DNA replication (Nasmyth, 1996; Lew *et al.*, 1997; Rupeš, 2002). The G1 cyclins drive advancement past START and commencement of S phase by operating alongside the SBF and MBF transcription factor complexes, which regulate expression of many genes required for the G1-S phase transition, including among others *CLN1* and *CLN2* themselves (Nasmyth, 1996; Lew *et al.*, 1997; Rupeš, 2002; Bähler, 2005). SBF and MBF are in turn positively regulated by Cln3p associated with Cdc28p in an indirect manner, via inhibition of Whi5p, a negative regulator of G1-S specific transcription (Costanzo *et al.*, 2004; DeBruin *et al.*, 2004; Bähler, 2005). Following passage of START, Clb5p and Clb6p cyclins prompt DNA replication and advancement through S phase, while Clb1p, Clb2p, Clb3p and Clb4p are required for G2 and mitosis, Clb3-4p promoting mitotic spindle formation and Clb1-2p driving bud growth and nuclear division (Huberman, 1996; Nasmyth, 1996).

Following the G1 phase, Cdc28p-Cln1-2p complexes positively regulate the orderly and stable accumulation of the Clb1-6p cyclins and their ensuing association with Cdc28p by phosphorylating and targeting for proteolytic degradation Sic1p, a CKI that specifically inhibits Cdc28p-Clbp complexes. Clb1-2p cyclins bound to Cdc28p negatively regulate SBF and MBF transcription factors to turn off expression of Cln1-2p, terminate G1-S events and eventually progress cells through G2 phase and advance them into mitosis (Amon *et al.*, 1994; Morgan, 1995b; Futcher, 2002; Bähler, 2005). Moreover, Clb2p and Clb5p promote further the stable accumulation of the Clb1-2p mitotic cyclins via a sophisticated feedback loop, which activates transcription of *CLB1* and *CLB2* genes by the Mcm1p-Fkh2p-Ndd1p transcription factor complex, discussed in more detail in Sections 1.4, 1.5 and 3.1 (Koranda *et al.*, 2000; Darieva *et al.*, 2003; Reynolds *et al.*, 2003; Pic-Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Darieva *et al.*, 2006). Activated Cdc28p-Clb2p complexes drive entry and progression through mitosis. At the end of mitosis, the Clb2p mitotic cyclin is targeted for ubiquitin-

dependent proteolytic degradation, enabling the disruption and subsequent inactivation of the Cdc28p-Clb2p complex, a prerequisite for mitotic exit. Around the same time, the CKI inhibitor Sic1p re-accumulates and promotes further inactivation of Cdc28p-Clb2p (Futcher, 2002).

Fission yeast possesses four cyclins, namely Cdc13p, Cig1p, Cig2p and Puc1p, which associate with Cdc2p, a 34 kDa Cdk that is present at constant levels throughout the cell cycle. Cdc13p, Cig1p, Cig2p are B-type cyclins, while Puc1p is most similar to *S. cerevisiae* Cln1-3p cyclins (Forsburg and Nurse, 1991; Moser and Russell, 2000). All but Cdc13p are dispensable for the survival of the cell. Cdc13p associates with Cdc2p to drive mitosis and at the same time inhibit re-initiation of S phase (Hayles *et al.*, 1994). Consistent with its role as a mitotic cyclin, Cdc13p protein levels fluctuate in abundance during the cell cycle, increasing in mid-G2, peaking during mitosis and gradually decreasing as cells exit mitosis and enter G1 phase (Creanor and Mitchison, 1996). Similar to other B-type cyclins, Cdc13p contains near its N-terminus a nine amino acid sequence (RHALDDVSN), the so-called destruction box, which mediates ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis of Cdc13p near the end of mitosis to inactivate Cdc2p and allow the cell to exit mitosis (Yamano *et al.*, 1996).

Cig1p and Cig2p resemble S. cerevisiae cyclins Clb3p and Clb4p, and act early in the cell cycle, forming complexes with Cdc2p (Fisher and Nurse, 1995; Fisher and Nurse, 1996). In the absence of both Cig1p and Cig2p, the mitotic cyclin Cdc13p compensates for their roles in the G1-S transition. Cig2p is the most prominent S phase cyclin and promotes progression past START and entry into S phase, consistent with its levels and the activity of the associated Cdc2p kinase peaking during G1-S phase (Labib et al., 1995; Martin-Castellanos et al., 1996). A complex regulatory network underlies the periodic pattern of Cig2p protein levels. Cig2p contains a destruction box that mediates its ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis late in the cell cycle, during anaphase. Proteolytic degradation of Cig2p takes place also during the G2 phase via a distinct proteolytic pathway (Yamano et al., 2000). Moreover, cig2* mRNA levels oscillate during the cell cycle, peaking during the G1-S transition, subject to transcriptional control by the <u>Mlul cell-cycle-box binding factor/DNA</u> synthesis control 1(MBF/ DSC1) complex, which regulates the expression of many genes required for S phase (Lowndes et al., 1992; Kelly et al., 1993; McInerny et al., 1995; Whitehall et al., 1999; Ayte et al., 2001; White et al., 2001). Apart from stage-specific proteolysis and expression, Cig2p is subject to regulation by Rum1p, an S. pombe CKI, which inhibits the activities of Cdc2p-Cdc13p and Cdc2p-Cig2p complexes during G1 phase (Correa-Bordes and Nurse, 1997; Benito et al., 1998).

Puc1p is another *S. pombe* cyclin, acting during the G1 phase. Normally, the role of Puc1p is cryptic but it becomes apparent in the absence of both Cig1p and Cig2p, since only $cig1\Delta cig2\Delta puc1\Delta$ but not $cig1\Delta cig2\Delta$ cells display an extended G1 phase and an increase in cell

size, combined with an accumulation of Rum1p. Moreover, loss of $rum1^+$ drastically shortens the time that $cig1\Delta cig2\Delta puc1\Delta$ cells spend in G1, while Cdc2p associated with either Puc1p or Cig1p is refractory to Rum1p and at the same time phosphorylates this CKI late in G1 phase (Benito *et al.,* 1998; Martin-Castellanos *et al.,* 2000). Therefore, Puc1p and Cig1p act during G1 phase to couple S phase entry to the attainment of the critical cell size by promoting the G1-S transition indirectly through inhibition of Rum1p (Moser and Russell, 2000; Gould, 2003).

1.3.2 Cell cycle control in fission yeast

1.3.2.1 G1-S transition

In fission yeast advancement through START and S phase entry underlies the co-ordinated activities of the MBF/DSC1 transcription factor complex and Cdc2p. As the cells exit mitosis and enter G1 phase, Cdc2p mitotic activity is eliminated owing to Cdc13p proteolysis and CKI inhibition. Cdc13p proteolysis is carried out by the 26S proteasome, a large complex that degrades ubiquitinated proteins. Three components, E1, E2 and E3, mediate the addition of ubiquitin to a target protein. Ubiquitin is a protein that once added to its substrate, targets it for proteolytic degradation (Hochstrasser, 1996; Hershko, 1997). E1 is a ubiquitin-activating enzyme, E2 is a ubiquitinconjugating enzyme and E3 is a ubiquitin ligase. E3 acts as a specificity factor that determines both the type of substrate and the timing of degradation. The APC/C, a multi-subunit complex, is the E3 that targets for degradation, among others, B-type cyclins Cdc13p, Cig1p and Cig2p (Glotzer et al., 1991; King et al., 1996; Sudakin et al., 1995; Blanco et al., 2000; Yamano et al., 2000). The APC/C is activated during mitosis at the metaphase-anaphase transition and persists until the end of G1 (Blanco et al., 2000). Distinct proteins, members of the WD40 repeat family, associate with the APC/C at discrete cell cycle times and confer to it substrate specificity and stage-specific activation. S. pombe possesses various APC/C activators, including Slp1p and Ste9p. Slp1p fluctuates in abundance during the cell cycle, peaking around mid-mitosis, as a result of cell cycle specific transcription and proteolytic degradation (Yamada et al., 2000; Buck et al., 2004). Consistent with its periodicity, Slp1p interacts with the APC/C during mitosis to target for degradation Cut2p, the fission yeast securin, to promote sister chromatid separation during anaphase (Yanagida, 2000). Slp1p also mediates degradation of Cdc13p to bring about mitotic exit. Similar to Slp1p, Ste9p targets Cdc13p for APC/C-dependent proteolysis. Unlike Slp1p, however, Ste9p acts predominantly during the G1 phase to promote degradation of Cdc13p, remaining from the previous mitosis, as well as of Cig1p.

During S and G2 phase, Ste9p is phosphorylated in a Cdc2p-dependent manner, allowing its dissociation from the APC/C and ensuing degradation (Blanco *et al.*, 2000).

Apart from the activities of the APC/C, Rum1p also restrains mitotic Cdc2p activity during G1 phase by binding directly and inhibiting Cdc13p. Moreover, Rum1p binds to Cdc13p and targets it for ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis, thus preventing cells from undergoing mitosis before the initiation of S phase. Rum1p, the single CKI in *S. pombe*, oscillates in abundance during the cell cycle, starting to accumulate at anaphase, peaking in G1 phase and disappearing upon S phase entry, owing to regulation at the transcriptional and post-translational level (Correa-Bordes *et al.*, 1997; Benito *et al.*, 1998).

Many genes are periodically expressed during the G1-S interval, following transcriptional activation by the MBF/ DSC1 complex. These genes encode proteins required for S phase onset and progression, including among others the S phase cyclin Cig2p, the large subunit of ribonucleotide reductase Cdc22p, as well as Cdc18p and Cdt1p, both required for initiation of DNA replication. The MBF/DSC1 complex contains the encoded products of the *cdc10*⁺, *res1*⁺, *res2*⁺ and *rep2*⁺ genes, and binds to the <u>M</u>/ul cell cycle box (MCB) motif (5'-ACGCGT-3'), found in the genes' promoters (Lowndes *et al.*, 1992; Miyamoto *et al.*, 1994; Sugiyama *et al.*, 1994; Nakashima *et al.*, 1995; Whitehall *et al.*, 1999; Ayte *et al.*, 2001; White *et al.*, 2001; McInerny, 2004).

Although Cig2p starts to accumulate during G1 phase, the activity of Cdc2p-Cig2p complexes is inhibited during this time by Rum1p. The temporary inhibition of Cdc2p-Cig2p by Rum1p allows the cells to remain in the pre-START stage of the cell cycle until they acquire the critical size (Correa-Bordes and Nurse, 1995; Martin-Castellanos *et al.*, 1996; Benito *et al.*, 1998). In parallel, under conditions that promote mating, Rum1p inhibition of Cdc2p activity enables cells to arrest in G1 prior to START and conjugate (Moreno *et al.*, 1994).

As cells progress through G1 phase and reach the onset of S phase, Cig1p and Puc1p cyclins accumulate and associate with Cdc2p. As mentioned earlier, Cdc2p-Cig1p and Cdc2p-Puc1p complexes are resistant to Rum1p and can phosphorylate and target it for degradation. Ubiquitin dependent proteolysis of Rum1p is mediated by SCF, a distinct E3 ubiquitin ligase, following activation by Pop1p and Pop2p (Gould, 2003). Degradation of Rum1p is followed by a rise in Cdc2p-Cig2p activity, leading to the onset of S phase (Martin-Castellanos *et al.*, 1996, Monderset *et al.*, 1996; Benito *et al.*, 1998).

1.3.2.2 Onset of S phase

S phase is characterised by DNA synthesis to replicate the genome in preparation for the ensuing mitosis. Various regulatory mechanisms operate within the eukaryotic cell to ensure that the genome is replicated fully, accurately and only once per cell cycle, during S phase, maintaining genetic stability. DNA replication commences at multiple origins of replication, dispersed within intergenic chromosomal regions, forming replication forks that move along the DNA in both directions until they come across another replication fork, proceeding in the opposite direction.

The initiation of DNA replication, also called 'firing' at replication origins, involves cell cycle dependent and highly co-ordinated assembly and modification of multi-protein complexes at these genomic sites. These ordered series of events, collectively known as 'licensing', culminate in the formation of a pre-replicative complex (pre-RC) that mediates DNA replication during S phase and at the same time is unable to re-initiate replication ('re-fire') until the onset of the next S phase. This licensing system enables the cell to remember whether or not it has replicated its genome within each round of cell division (Wuarin and Nurse, 1996; Diffley, 2001; Lei and Tye, 2001; Nguyen *et al.*, 2001; Blow and Hodgson, 2002).

Many hundreds of replication origins exist in the genome of eukaryotes, such as *S. pombe* and humans. Surprisingly, however, only a subset of replication origins fires within each S phase. These replication origins tend not to initiate DNA synthesis simultaneously, but rather some of the origins fire earlier and others later during S phase. Indeed, passive replication is inevitable in eukaryotic DNA replication, since replication forks from early firing origins move along the DNA and replicate DNA regions that contain origins that have not yet fired, preventing them from firing until the onset of the next S phase. Therefore, in most eukaryotes, the mechanism that underlies selection of origins to initiate DNA replication and their time of firing appears to be more stochastic than deterministic in nature (Legouras *et al.*, 2006; Nielsen and Løbner-Olesen, 2008).

1.3.2.2.1 Replication origins

Depending on the organism, replication origins vary in their organisation, size and specificity. *S. cerevisiae* possesses relatively small replication origins, about 100 bp in length, consisting of a conserved 11 bp AT rich sequence, referred to as an <u>a</u>utonomous <u>replicating sequence</u> (ARS) because it confers autonomous replication in plasmids (Marahrens and Stillman, 1992; Rao *et al.*, 1994; Forsburg, 1999). Unlike budding yeast, *S. pombe* contains large replication origins (between 500-1500 bp) that are localised in intergenic regions and close to promoter sequences, are rich in AT

content and comprise several short, highly asymmetric, AT stretches, which lack conservation and appear to act synergistically in terms of origin activity (Clyne and Kelly, 1995; Dubey *et al.*, 1996; Kim and Huberman, 1998; Okuno *et al.*, 1999). Similar to fission yeast, metazoans are also characterised by large replication origins, enriched for asymmetric AT stretches that lack definition of a consensus and are often located upstream of genes (Forsburg, 1999; Masukata *et al.*, 2003; Legouras *et al.*, 2006).

1.3.2.2.2 Pre-RC assembly and regulation of licensing at origins

Despite the differences in organisation of eukaryotic replication origins, the components of the regulatory network that underlies the formation of an active pre-RC, able to initiate DNA replication during S phase, appear to be conserved among eukaryotes. The first step in pre-RC assembly involves association of the <u>o</u>rigin <u>r</u>ecognition <u>c</u>omplex (ORC) with replication origins. Similar to other eukaryotes, the ORC in fission yeast is a six-subunit complex, comprising Orc1p-Orc6p proteins (Muzi-Falconi and Kelly, 1995; Moon *et al.*, 1999; Chuang and Kelly, 1999; Kelly and Brown, 2000). In *S. pombe*, the ORC binds to replication origins via the Orc4p subunit and remains bound to them throughout the cell cycle. Orc4p, like other Orcps, possesses an AAA⁺ ATP-binding domain, while its N-terminus consists of several AT-hook motifs that bind to the AT-rich tracts of replication origins (Chuang and Kelly, 1999; Lygerou and Nurse, 1999; Kong and DePamphilis, 2002).

The ORC serves as a scaffold for the highly co-ordinated recruitment from late mitosis and through G1 phase of another hexameric complex, the <u>mini-chromosome maintenance</u> complex (MCM), containing the Mcm2p-Mcm7p proteins, and believed to act as the replicative helicase (Miyake *et al.*, 1993; Forsburg and Nurse, 1994; Lee and Hurwitz, 2000; Labib and Diffley, 2001; Diffley and Labib, 2002). The genes encoding MCM components were initially identified in budding yeast in a screen for mutants unable to maintain plasmids (Tye and Sawyer, 2000). All MCM proteins share conserved ATPase motifs although, as shown in *S. pombe*, humans and mouse, it is the dimeric form of the Mcm4p-Mcm6p-Mcm7p complex that possesses substantial ATPase, DNA binding and DNA helicase activities (Ishimi, 1997; Lee and Hurwitz, 2000). Interactions of MCM components with other crucial replication factors and/or their modification are the trigger for increased helicase that binds and unwinds the DNA at origins during replication initiation and perhaps ahead of replication forks during the elongation phase of replication (Labib *et al.*, 2000; Lee and Hurwitz, 2000; Labib and Diffley, 2001; Nielsen and Løbner-Olesen, 2008).

Loading of MCM onto replication origins is restricted to a time early in the cell cycle and is mediated by two crucial replication initiation factors, Cdc18p (the equivalent of *S. cerevisiae* Cdc6p) and Cdt1p. Cdc18p is recruited to replication origins via direct interaction with the ORC (Chuang *et al.,* 2002). Cdt1p directly associates and co-operates with Cdc18p to load the MCM complex onto replication origins, completing pre-RC assembly (Figure 1.5). Both Cdc18p and Cdt1p are under tight cell cycle control, licensing replication origins for initiation of DNA synthesis only once during the S phase of each cell cycle (Lygerou and Nurse, 2000; Nishitani *et al.,* 2000; Nishitani and Lygerou, 2004).

Similar to MCM proteins and Orc1p, Orc4p and Orc5p, Cdc18p is yet another member of the AAA* family of ATPases, while the exact biochemical role of Cdt1p is unclear (Kelly *et al.*, 1993; Nielsen and Løbner-Olesen, 2008). Both Cdc18p and Cdt1p are present in the cell's nucleus for only a short window of time, accumulating from late M phase and G1 and diminishing after the onset of S phase, as a result of cell cycle specific transcription and proteolysis. Both proteins are periodically transcribed, peaking during the G1-S transition, under the control of the MBF/DSC1 complex (Nishitani and Nurse, 1997; Baum *et al.*, 1998; Nishitani *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, following initiation of DNA replication, both Cdc18p and Cdt1p are targeted for proteolytic degradation. Cdt1p proteolysis in S phase involves a distinct E3 ubiquitin ligase, the Cul4p–Ddb1p complex, and requires Cdt2p, a WD40 repeat containing factor that confers substrate specificity. The Ddb1p/Cdt2p-dependent E3 pathway also mediates Cdt1p proteolysis in response to DNA damage (Ralph *et al.*, 2006). Unlike Cdt1p, Cdc18p is targeted for SCF-mediated proteolysis upon phosphorylation by Cdc2p-cyclin complexes, their activity rising as the cell enters S phase and progresses through the rest of the cell cycle (Jallepalli *et al.*, 1997; Dury *et al.*, 2000; Jallepalli *et al.*, 1998).

Apart from targeting Cdc18p for degradation, Cdc2p activity is believed to further contribute to prevention of DNA re-replication. Indeed, the Cdc2p-Cdc13p complex associates with the ORC during G2 and M phase and this interaction is mutually exclusive to that of the MCM complex (Wuarin *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, Orc2p becomes phosphorylated during S phase, G2 and mitosis, is dephosphorylated during G1 and has been shown to interact with Cdc2p (Leatherwood *et al.*, 1996; Vas *et al.*, 2001). These findings, in conjunction with the fact that *cdc13* Δ cells undergo multiple rounds of S phase without mitosis, show that mitotic Cdc2p activity is necessary both for promoting mitosis and preventing re-replication during the cell cycle (Hayles *et al.*, 1994; Nishitani and Lygerou, 2004).

1.3.2.2.3 Initiation of DNA replication

MCM recruitment heralds the formation of the pre-RC complex during late mitosis-G1 phase, conferring competence to replication origins ('licensing') to fire upon S phase onset. However, the actual firing during S phase awaits the loading of other replication factors at the pre-assembled pre-RCs, maturing into a pre-initiation complex (pre-IC). The pre-IC prompts local unwinding of the DNA, recruitment of DNA polymerases α , δ and ε (Pol α , Pol δ and Pol ε) and the establishment of replication forks at origins, leading to DNA synthesis (Figure 1.5). In eukaryotes, the forces that activate the pre-RCs and convert them into pre-ICs, driving S phase onset, are the activities of two kinases; <u>Cdk</u> bound to <u>S</u> phase cyclins (S-CDK) and the <u>D</u>bf4p-<u>d</u>ependent <u>k</u>inase (DDK), a member of the Cdc7 kinase family, initially identified in *S. cerevisiae* (Kelly and Brown, 2000; Lei and Tye, 2001; Bell and Dutta, 2002; Diffley and Labib, 2002; Kearsey and Cotterill, 2003; Nishitani and Lygerou, 2004; Legouras *et al.*, 2006; Nielsen and Løbner-Olesen, 2008).

Cdc2p and Hsk1p are the fission yeast S-CDK and DDK respectively, the former in complex with Cig2p and the latter with Dfp1p, accumulating during the G1-S transition, coincidentally with initiation of DNA replication, as a result of transcriptional and post-translational regulation (Brown and Kelly, 1998; Brown and Kelly, 1999). The activities of Cdc2p-Cig2p and Hsk1p-Dfp1p are required in S phase for a key event in the formation of the pre-IC; the loading to the pre-RC of Sna41p (the homologue of *S. cerevisiae* Cdc45p), via its association with the MCM complex. The interaction of Sna41p with MCM components is thought to promote unwinding of the DNA at origins and facilitate the recruitment of Polα, with which Sna41p has been shown to interact (Uchiyama *et al.,* 2001).

Several other factors associate with replication origins to promote DNA replication initiation, including among others Drc1p (the homologue of *S. cerevisiae* Sld2p), Cdc23p (the homologue of *S. cerevisiae* Mcm10p), Sld3p, and Cut5p (the homologue of *S. cerevisiae* Dpb11p) (Nishitani and Lygerou, 2004; Legouras *et al.*, 2006; Nielsen and Løbner-Olesen, 2008). Sld3p and Cdc23p are required for Sna41p origin binding, while Cut5p and Drc1p associate with each other in a Cdc2p-dependent manner (Nakajima and Masukata, 2002; Gregan *et al.*, 2003). Indeed, mutation of Cdk phosphorylation sites in Drc1p abolishes binding to Cut5p and prevents DNA replication (Noguchi *et al.*, 2002). Notably, Dpb11p, the *S. cerevisiae* homologue of Cut5p, is required to recruit Pole to replication origins, an important step in the establishment of replication forks (Masumoto *et al.*, 2000). Overall, loading of Sna41p onto a pre-assembled pre-RC is essential for its activation to form, upon association of additional replication initiation factors, a pre-IC complex that facilitates unwinding of the DNA at origins. After origin unwinding, the <u>replication protein A</u> (RPA) binds to the single

stranded DNA and recruitment of Pola, primase and Pola follows to initiate DNA synthesis (Takisawa *et al.*, 2000). Once short RNA-DNA primers are synthesised at the replication fork by the concerted actions of Pola and primase the highly processive elongation phase of DNA replication ensues by recruitment of other components of the replication machinery, including among others Polo, Pola, <u>proliferating cell nuclear antigen</u> (PCNA) and <u>replication factor C</u> (RFC). PCNA acts as a 'sliding clamp' that binds to Polo/Pola and prevents it from falling off the DNA, whereas RFC acts as the 'clamp loader' that loads PCNA on the DNA (Diffley and Labib, 2002).



Figure 1.5: <u>Pre-replicative complex (Pre-RC) assembly, licensing and initiation of DNA replication in *S. pombe.* <u>Origin replication complex (ORC) binds to replication origins (ARS) throughout the cell cycle.</u> During late M-early G1 phase, Cdc18p and Cdt1p associate via the ORC with origins to which Cdc23p is also bound. Then, the MCM complex is recruited at origins in a Cdc18p- and Cdt1p- dependent manner to form the pre-RC, thereby licensing the DNA for replication. The associated kinase activities of Cdc2p-Cig2p and Hsk1p-Dfp1p mediate the formation of the Pre-IC complex by promoting recruitment of Sna41p and ensuing unwinding of origin DNA. Meanwhile both Cdc18p and Cdt1p are targeted for proteolytic degradation, rendering replication origins refractory to re-initiation of DNA replication. Following recruitment of various replication factors, including DNA polymerase α, primase and RPA semi-conservative replication takes place.</u>

1.3.2.3 Onset of mitosis (G2-M transition)

After DNA replication is complete, fission yeast cells embark on a lengthy G2 period and then proceed to mitosis to partition the duplicated genome, generating two progeny. A high content of mitotic Cdc2p kinase activity drives progress through mitosis and activation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes at the G2-M transition is the rate-limiting step for mitotic onset (Nurse, 1990; MacNeill and Nurse, 1997; Moser and Russell, 2000). Cdc13p protein levels oscillate during the cell cycle, rising appreciably during mid-G2, peaking ahead of mitosis and declining gradually through G1 phase, as a result of proteolytic degradation (Creanor and Mitchison, 1996; Blanco *et al.*, 2000). Although the early presence of Cdc13p prompts the formation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes from S phase onwards throughout G2, they remain in an inactive state due to inhibitory phosphorylation at Tyr-15 of Cdc2p by two conserved kinases, Wee1p and Mik1p, with homologues in many eukaryotes (Russell and Nurse, 1987; Gould and Nurse, 1989; Igarashi *et al.*, 1991; Lundgren *et al.*, 1991; Morgan, 1995b; Morgan, 1997; Mueller *et al.*, 1995b; MacNeill and Nurse, 1997; Nurse, 2002; Gould, 2003). In multicellular organisms, phosphorylation of the adjacent Thr-14 of the mitotic Cdk is also inhibitory, and in humans is carried out by Myt1p, a membrane-associated kinase, phosphorylating both Tyr-15 and Thr-14 of Cdk1p (Booher *et al.*, 1997).

The Cdc25p phosphatase activates Cdc2p-Cdc13p at the G2-M transition by removing the inhibitory phosphate group at Tyr-15, thus counteracting the activities of Wee1p and Mik1p (Russell and Nurse, 1986a; Millar *et al.*, 1991). Similar to Cdc2p and Wee1p, the role of the Cdc25p phosphatase as the activator of Cdc2p is ubiquitous and Cdc25p homologues exist in many eukaryotes, ranging from budding yeast to humans and capable to dephosphorylate both Tyr-15 and Thr-14 (Russell *et al.*, 1989; Dunphy and Kumagai, 1991; Gautier *et al.*, 1991; Kumagai and Dunphy, 1991; Strausfeld *et al.*, 1991; Alphey *et al.*, 1992; Millar and Russell, 1992; Lee *et al.*, 1992; Mata *et al.*, 2000; Lemaire *et al.*, 2004). Fission yeast contains another phosphatase, Pyp3p, which, although non-essential, when overexpressed rescues the mutant phenotype of *cdc25-22* cells and can also dephosphorylate Tyr-15 of Cdc2p *in vitro*, suggesting that it contributes to Cdc2p activation at mitotic onset (Millar *et al.*, 1992; Mondesert *et al.*, 1994; MacNeill and Nurse, 1997).

Apart from Cdc13p binding and relief of the inhibitory phosphate at Tyr-15, full activity of Cdc2p at the G2-M boundary requires phosphorylation at Thr-167, thought to promote conformational changes in the kinase subunit, stabilising the interaction with the cyclin subunit and enhancing substrate binding (Gould *et al.*, 1991; Gould, 2003). Phosphorylation-dependent activation of Cdks is a conserved phenomenon among eukaryotes, although the exact position of the

conserved threonine residue within the T-loop of the kinase varies slightly between individual Cdks (Morgan, 1995b; Morgan, 1997).

Two distinct types of <u>C</u>dk-<u>a</u>ctivating <u>k</u>inases (CAKs) are involved in phosphorylation of the conserved threonine residue in different eukaryotes. Higher eukaryotes possess only one type of CAK, itself a Cdk that consists of kinase Cdk7p bound to cyclin H and performs two distinct functions; it is a CAK that phosphorylates and activates Cdks and concomitantly is a component of the TFIIH basal transcription factor that phosphorylates the <u>C-terminal domain</u> (CTD) of the largest subunit of RNA <u>Polymerase II</u> (Pol II), thus linking Cdk activity with the basal transcriptional apparatus (Nigg, 1996; Harper and Elledge, 1998; Liu and Kipreos, 2000; Fisher, 2005). In *S. cerevisiae*, Kin28p, the Cdk7p ortholog, is a Cdk that binds to Ccl1p, a cyclin H-related partner, but it only functions as a TFIIH component, capable of phosphorylating the CTD of Pol II, while another enzyme, Cak1p, a single-subunit kinase with no cyclin partner, is the actual CAK that phosphorylates Cdc28p, as well as Kin28p (Feaver *et al.*, 1994; Cismowski *et al.*, 1995; Valay *et al.*, 1995; Kaldis *et al.*, 1996; Espinoza *et al.*, 1998).

S. pombe contains both types of CAKs with overlapping but also distinct functions; a Cdk containing Cdk7p (Mcs6p) and cyclin H orthologs (Mcs2p), and Csk1p, a Cak1p homologue capable of phosphorylating both Cdc2p and Mcs6p. Both Csk1p and Mcs6p-Mcs2p have redundant CAK roles in activation of Cdc2p, while the latter is also involved in phosphorylation of the CTD of Pol II (Buck *et al.*, 1995; Hermand *et al.*, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 1999; Saiz and Fisher, 2002; Lee *et al.*, 2005a). Although essential for complete kinase activity, CAK-dependent activation of Cdks does not appear to be a rate-limiting step for cell cycle progression. This perhaps explains why CAK activity itself is not subject to cell cycle control (Nigg, 1996; Harper and Elledge, 1998; Fisher, 2005). Indeed, in higher eukaryotes, such as *Xenopus* and humans, Cdk7p-cyclin H complexes are constitutively active and present at constant levels throughout the cell cycle (Brown *et al.*, 1994; Tassan *et al.*, 1994).

Unlike CAK-dependent phosphorylation on Thr-167, the phosphorylation status of Tyr-15 is rate-limiting for cell cycle progression in *S. pombe*. Indeed, it is the balance between the antagonistic activities of the inhibitory kinases (Wee1p and Mik1p) and the activating phosphatases (predominantly Cdc25p) that determines the phosphorylation state of Tyr-15 and consequently the activity of Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes and entry into mitosis. As mentioned earlier, elaborate genetic analysis of *cdc25* and *wee1* mutants provided the first clues for the roles of Cdc25p and Wee1p as dose-dependent positive and negative regulators of mitosis, functioning through Cdc2p (Russell and Nurse, 1986a; Russell and Nurse, 1987; Section 1.2.2).

Distinct mechanisms tightly control the activities of Cdc25p, Wee1p and Mik1p during the cell cycle: at the G2-M transition these activate Cdc25p and simultaneously inactivate Wee1p and Mik1p to shift the balance towards activation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes, and advance the cell into mitosis (Gould and Nurse, 1989; MacNeill and Nurse, 1997; Gould, 2003). Wee1p inactivation at the onset of mitosis is the result of post-translational regulation, since the mRNA and protein levels of wee1⁺ remain relatively constant throughout the cell cycle (Aligue et al., 1997). Phosphorylation is the principal mechanism that modulates Wee1p function and two Ser/Thr kinases, Cdr1p/Nim1p and Cdr2p, have been shown to promote mitosis by negatively regulating Wee1p activity. Cdr1p/Nim1p acts as a mitotic inducer that directly phosphorylates and inactivates Wee1p on mitotic entry (Coleman et al., 1993; Parker et al., 1993; Wu and Russell, 1993). Cdr2p, a kinase closely related to Nim1p/Cdr1p, is also thought to act as a mitotic inducer by negatively regulating Wee1p, although it is not clear whether it acts directly on Wee1p. It appears that the role of Cdr2p in mitosis becomes important under limiting nutrient conditions, while experimental evidence reveals additional significant roles for this kinase in cytokinesis and cell separation, since cdr2⁺ overexpression is lethal and produces elongated, branched cells that possess multiple septa (Breeding et al., 1998; Kanoh and Russell, 1998; Morrell et al., 2004).

Mik1p is another kinase that functions as a mitotic inhibitor by phosphorylating Tyr-15 of Cdc2p. Unlike Wee1p, Mik1p oscillates in abundance during the cell cycle and peaks during S phase similar to the *mik1*⁺ mRNA levels, the latter due to transcriptional regulation by the MBF/DSC1 complex (Christensen et al., 2000; Ng et al., 2001). The accumulation of a mitotic inhibitor, such as Mik1p, in S phase is believed to be part of an intrinsic cell cycle control mechanism that inhibits the occurrence of mitosis during DNA replication. Once S phase is complete, Mik1p is most probably degraded and Wee1p assumes control, maintaining Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes in an inactive state during G2. Therefore, under normal conditions, Mik1p acts to ensure that the cell will not attempt to divide while it is still replicating the genome (Baber-Furnari et al., 2000; Christensen et al., 2000). Mik1p is also thought to be a target of checkpoint mechanisms that act through distinct signal transduction cascades to maintain the inhibitory phosphate at Tyr-15 of Cdc2p-Cdc13p and delay the onset of mitosis in the presence of either damaged or unreplicated DNA (Rhind and Russell, 1998; Rhind and Russell, 2001). The signal transduction cascades for both the DNA damage and the DNA replication checkpoints comprise a common group of proteins, encoded by the so-called "checkpoint rad genes", which sense and relay the damaged and unreplicated DNA signals to specific downstream effectors. Two protein kinases, Chk1p and Cds1p are the main effectors of the DNAdamage and DNA replication checkpoints, respectively (Rhind and Russell, 2000). Although the exact mechanisms are unclear. Chk1p and Cds1p up-regulate Mik1p activity and protein levels in response to DNA damage or perturbed DNA replication, thereby keeping Cdc2p-Cdc13p activity low and preventing entry into mitosis until repair of the DNA damage or completion of DNA replication (Baber-Furnari *et al.*, 2000; Christensen *et al.*, 2000; Rhind and Russell, 2001).

Cdc25p is the major phosphatase that reverses Wee1p/Mik1p-dependent phosphorylation of Tyr-15 of Cdc2p upon activation at the G2-M boundary. The increase in Cdc25p activity at the onset of mitosis is the result of the co-ordinated action of transcriptional, translational and post-translational regulatory mechanisms. The mRNA and protein levels of *cdc25*⁺ fluctuate during the cell cycle and peak once at the G2-M boundary (Moreno *et al.*, 1990). Cdc25p is also regulated at the level of translation initiation and this control is exerted via the translation initiation factor 4A (eIF4A). The translation initiation machinery is itself modulated in response to different nutritional and environmental conditions, and thus the susceptibility of *cdc25*⁺ to translational regulation provides a link between the mitotic apparatus and growth rate signals (Daga and Jimenez, 1999). Moreover, upon mitotic entry Cdc25p is hyperphosporylated and this leads to an increase in phosphatase activity and protein stability (Wolfe and Gould, 2004b).

Apart from activating phosphorylation of Cdc25p at mitotic onset, this mitotic inducer is also subject to checkpoint-induced inhibitory phosphorylation in response to DNA damage or incomplete DNA replication that is mediated by the Chk1p and Cds1p kinases, respectively (Rhind and Russell, 2000). Both Chk1p and Cds1p can phosphorylate Cdc25p directly and this phosphorylation inhibits its associated phosphatase activity (Furnari *et al.,* 1999). Chk1p-dependent phosphorylation of Cdc25p also promotes its association with Rad24, a 14-3-3 protein, which is thought to act as a nuclear export signal that leads to the export of Cdc25p from the nucleus, thereby sequestering this mitotic inducer away from the nuclear fraction of Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes (Lopez-Girona *et al.,* 1999). Inhibition of Cdc25p and concomitant up-regulation of Mik1p by the DNA damage and DNA replication checkpoints ensures that Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes are kept inactive, and so preventing entry into mitosis until DNA damage is repaired or replication is completed.

Studies in various eukaryotes, including humans, have shown that activating phosphorylation of Cdc25p-related phosphatases upon mitotic entry is mediated at least in part by a trigger level of activated mitotic Cdk complexes (Hoffmann *et al.*, 1993). At the same time, this 'primer' level of mitotic Cdk activity is also thought to phosphorylate (either directly or indirectly) and inactivate Wee1p homologues (Honda *et al.*, 1995; Mueller *et al.*, 1995a). This generates a positive feedback loop that promotes further mitotic Cdk activation and enables a rapid and irreversible advancement into mitosis (Lew and Kornbluth, 1996; Morgan, 1997; Ohi and Gould, 1999, Gould, 2003). Consistent with this, work in *S. pombe* shows that the increase in Cdc25p phosphorylation and activity observed at mitotic onset is dependent on Cdc2p activity and that the inhibitory

phosphorylation and inactivation of Wee1p at mitosis involves not only Cdr1p/Nim1p but another kinase, possibly Cdc2p (Kovelman and Russell, 1996; Tang *et al.*, 1993). Moreover, other studies show that Clp1p/Flp1p, a Cdc14p-like phosphatase that contributes to inhibition of Cdc2p activity during cytokinesis, when overexpressed blocks entry into mitosis in a Wee1p dependent manner (Trautmann *et al.*, 2001). Therefore, similar to other eukaryotes, a positive feedback loop also seems to exist in fission yeast that prompts the abrupt activation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes at the G2-M transition and entry into mitosis.

In various eukaryotes, members of the conserved Ser/Thr Polo-like kinase (Plk) family (Sections 1.3.2.4 and 5.1.1), have been shown to enhance activation of Cdk1p-cyclin B complexes at mitotic onset by impinging on the positive feedback loop to promote Cdc25p and/or restrain Wee1p activity. For instance, in budding yeast the respective Plk (Cdc5p) is a potential negative regulator of Swe1p (the Wee1p homologue) and has been shown to interact with it directly (Bartholomew *et al.,* 2001). In *Xenopus*, the Polo-like kinase Plx1p binds, phosphorylates and activates a Cdc25p homologue (Cdc25Cp), while in non-immortalised human cells the introduction of antibodies against Plk1p (a Plk member) blocks entry into mitosis (Kumagai and Dunphy, 1996; Lane and Nigg, 1996). As shown from work in *Xenopus*, the Plks function in the positive feedback loop most likely to amplify rapidly the initial trigger level of mitotic Cdk activity, thereby affecting the rate of commitment to mitosis rather than mitotic commitment *per se* (Qian *et al.,* 1998a; Karaiskou *et al.,* 1999).

Plo1p, the S. *pombe* Plk with many essential functions in mitosis and cytokinesis (Sections 1.3.2.4.2, 1.3.2.5; Chapters 5 and 6), has also been proposed to impinge on the feedback loop that amplifies Cdc2p-Cdc13p activity. Plo1p activity itself oscillates periodically during the cell cycle and peaks during mitosis. The rise in Plo1p activity is the result of post-translational modifications, since Plo1p levels remain relatively constant throughout the cell cycle. Nonetheless, the *plo1*⁺ mRNA levels oscillate periodically during the cell cycle, peaking during the M-G1 interval, as a result of transcriptional regulation by the concerted actions of the PBF complex, thought to comprise the Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors, and Plo1p itself (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008; Chapters 5 and 6). Mitotic activation of Plo1p involves phosphorylation and is dependent on prior activation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p and Cdc25p, suggesting that Plo1p acts downstream of Cdc2p-Cdc13p in the feedback loop. However, Cdc2p-Cdc13p does not appear to activate Plo1p by direct phosphorylation, although a Cdc2p phosphorylation site (S/TP consensus) is present in Plo1p (Mulvihill *et al.*, 1999; Tanaka *et al.*, 2001).

The activities of Cdc2p and Cdc25p are also necessary for the recruitment of Plo1p to the <u>spindle pole body</u> (SPB). The SPB is a specialised <u>microtubule organising centre</u> (MTOC) structure

that associates with the nuclear envelope throughout the cell cycle and by late G2 duplicates to form two similar mitotic SPBs that separate and insert into the nuclear envelope to nucleate the formation of the microtubules of the mitotic spindle within the nucleus (Ding et al., 1997; Hagan, 2003). Plo1p localises to the SPB from early mitosis until anaphase, where it physically interacts with the SPB component Cut12p (Tanaka et al., 2001; Maclver et al., 2003). Although both Plo1p and Cut12p associate with the SPB independently of each other, Cut12p function is required for maximal Plo1p activation and function in the positive feedback loop during mitotic commitment. Indeed, a dominant negative cut12+ allele (cut12.s11/stf1.1), shown to relieve the requirement of Cdc25p for Cdc2p-Cdc13p activation and suppress the lethality of the cdc25-22 mutant, causes Plo1p to associate with the interphase SPB, increases interphase Plo1p activity and prompts Plo1p activation in the absence of Cdc2p-Cdc13p activity. Plo1p activity itself is necessary for the role of Cut12p in mitotic commitment, since the *cut12.s11/stf1.1* mutant is unable to rescue the *cdc25-22* mutant when Plo1p function is compromised. Notably, expression of a constitutively active form of Plo1p significantly suppresses the defect in Cdc25p function of cdc25.22 cells, whereas compromising Plo1p function greatly delays entry into mitosis. Therefore, it appears that the *cut12.s11/stf1.1* mutant bypasses the requirement of Cdc25p for Cdc2p-Cdc13p activation and promotes commitment to mitosis as a result of increased Plo1p activity that prompts inappropriate Cdc2p-Cdc13p activation via the positive feedback loop (Maclver et al., 2003).

Fin1p is yet another fission yeast kinase that regulates various mitotic events and also plays a role in feedback loop-mediated amplification of Cdc2p-Cdc13p activity at mitotic entry (Grallert and Hagan, 2002). Fin1p is a member of the NIMA-related kinases (Nrks) that together with the Plks and the Aurora related kinases (Arks), another mitotic kinase family, cooperate with the Cdks to modulate mitotic progression (Nigg, 2001; Hagan, 2003; Section 1.3.2.4). Fin1p protein levels oscillate periodically and peak during mitosis, as a result of cell cycle specific transcription under control of the PBF transcription factor complex, a central topic of this thesis, and proteolysis (Krien et al., 1998; Anderson et al., 2002; Krien et al., 2002; Buck et al., 2004; Sections 1.3.2.4, 1.5.2.4 and 3.1). Fin1p kinase activity also fluctuates in abundance during the cell cycle and is maximal around the metaphase-anaphase transition. Similar to Plo1p, Fin1p also localises to the SPB, present from late G2 until early G1 phase. Fin1p is thought to promote Plo1p recruitment to the SPB, since its overexpression causes Plo1p to prematurely associate with the SPB in interphase, similar to the situation in the *cut12.s11/stf1.1* mutant. Consistent with this, Fin1p overexpression suppresses the cdc25-22 mutant, while compromising Fin1p function abolishes the ability of the cut12.s11/stf1.1 mutant to prematurely recruit Plo1p to the interphase SPB. Since Cdc2p-Cdc13p is also present in the SPB from late G2 to anaphase, it appears that Fin1p prompts the association of Plo1p with the

SPB, thus bringing Plo1p into a context whereby, through the positive feedback loop, it can enhance Cdc2p-Cdc13p activity (Alfa *et al.,* 1990; Decottingnies *et al.,* 2001; Grallert and Hagan, 2002; Hagan, 2003).

1.3.2.4 M phase

A high content of Cdc2p-Cdc13p activity irreversibly traverses *S. pombe* cells past the G2-M transition and into M phase, whereby they undergo mitosis and cytokinesis. Mitosis is characterised by a series of highly complex and dynamic events, including changes in chromosome morphology and behaviour and a reorganisation of the microtubule cytoskeleton.

Following DNA replication, chromosome cohesion holds the sister chromatids together from S phase onwards to the onset of anaphase, where APC/C dependent-proteolysis of the Cut2p securin, releases and activates its bound Cut1p separase, allowing it to cleave cohesins and trigger sister chromatid separation and spindle elongation. Chromosome cohesion is important for the proper attachment of the sister chromatids, via their kinetochores, to the spindle microtubules. Chromosome condensation, initiating during prophase, is also essential for the capture of sister chromatids by the spindle microtubules and their subsequent efficient separation without entanglement (Takahashi and Yanagida, 2003).

In tandem with the transitions in sister chromatid cohesion, condensation and separation, microtubule dynamics also dramatically change during mitosis. During interphase, a cytoplasmic array of microtubules spans the long axis of the cell, playing important roles in the control of growth polarity and the position of the nucleus. Upon mitotic entry, the interphase microtubule array disappears and a spindle forms, consisting of spindle microtubules. Spindle formation is preceded by SPB duplication and separation, giving rise to the two SPBs that nucleate distinct types of spindle microtubules; pole-to-pole ones expanding between the two SPBs, discontinuous ones that emanate from the two opposing SPBs and interdigitate with each other at the spindle midzone, and kinetochore microtubules that attach to the kinetochores of the chromosomes.

Following attachment of sister chromatids to kinetochore microtubules from opposite poles, their proper alignment at the metaphase plate and separation at anaphase onset, the kinetochore microtubules shorten, while discontinuous microtubules from opposing poles elongate and slide antiparallel to each other, thus pushing the separated chromatids to opposite ends of the cell. The rearrangements of the microtubule cytoskeleton to form and elongate the mitotic spindle are tightly co-ordinated with the transitions in sister chromatid cohesion, condensation and separation during mitosis, thereby accommodating the faithful segregation of the duplicated genome between the daughter nuclei (Su and Yanagida, 1997; Hagan, 2003). Two regulatory mechanisms underlie coordinated chromosome segregation and drive orderly progression through mitosis; protein phosphorylation and proteolysis. Both processes are closely linked and modulated by each other; phosphorylation controls the proteolytic machinery and *vice versa* proteolysis provides a means to regulate the availability and activity of protein kinases (Nigg, 2001).

The APC/C ubiquitinates and targets for degradation by the 26S proteasome Cut2p to promote sister chromatid separation and drive cells through anaphase, and Cdc13p to prompt inactivation of the mitotic form of Cdc2p to allow cells to exit mitosis and initiate cytokinesis. The spindle assembly checkpoint operates at the metaphase-anaphase transition to ensure that anaphase ensues only after all the sister chromatids are stably attached via their kinetochores to the mitotic spindle. The sensing components of the checkpoint are thought to assemble at the kinetochores to block the APC/C from promoting Cut2p degradation upon lack of tension, as a result of monopolar attachments (Takahashi and Yanagida, 2003).

1.3.2.4.1 Mitotic functions of Cdc2p-Cdc13p

Cdc2p-Cdc13p in *S. pombe* and the homologous Cdk1p-cyclin B complex(s) in other eukaryotes are the most prominent mitotic kinases. In higher eukaryotes, including mammals, Cdk1p-cyclin B complexes are thought to mediate several crucial mitotic events including, among others, nuclear envelope breakdown, centrosome separation, spindle formation and chromosome condensation. Consistent with this, Cdk1p-cyclin B complexes phosphorylate a number of related physiological substrates, such as nuclear lamins, microtubule-binding proteins and condensins (Nigg, 2001). Moreover, in human cells Cdk1p-cyclin B complexes have been shown to phosphorylate and activate the APC/C proteolytic apparatus. It is believed that this Cdk1p-cyclin B promotes cyclin B degradation at the metaphase-anaphase transition, and therefore contributes to its own inactivation at the end of mitosis (Golan *et al.*, 2002).

In fission yeast, a few physiological mitotic substrates of Cdc2p-Cdc13p have also been identified and include Dis1p, a microtubule and SPB-associated protein that is necessary for sister chromatid separation, Cut3p, a subunit of the condensin complex that promotes chromosome condensation during mitosis, and Dis2p, a phosphatase homologous to the mammalian type-1 protein phosphatase (PP1) that is thought to promote mitotic exit and entry into G1 phase. Cdc2p-Cdc13p is thought to phosphorylate Dis1p to promote its re-localisation from the microtubules to the SPB, where it can interact with other proteins and mediate sister chromatid separation (Nabeshima

et al., 1995; Su and Yanagida, 1997). Phosphorylation of Cut3p by Cdc2p-Cdc13p also affects its localisation properties and facilitates its mitotic-specific accumulation in the nucleus to promote chromosome condensation (Sutani *et al.,* 1999). In the case of Dis2p, Cdc2p-Cdc13p-dependent phosphorylation inhibits its function, thereby allowing mitosis to proceed (Yamano *et al.,* 1994; Su and Yanagida, 1997). Apart from Cdc2p-Cdc13p, the Plo1p, Fin1p and Ark1p Ser/Thr kinases, members of the Polo, NIMA and Aurora family respectively, also have essential roles in mitotic progression, and in many cases their functions are conserved between eukaryotes (Nigg, 2001).

1.3.2.4.2 Mitotic functions of Plks: regulatory roles of Plo1p and its human homolog, Plk1p, in cell division

Plks are a conserved kinase family with homologues in many eukaryotes, ranging from the yeasts to humans. *Drosophila* and the budding and fission yeasts contain a single Plk, Polo, Cdc5p and Plo1p, respectively, while mammals, such as humans, possess four Plks, namely Plk1p, Plk2p, Plk3p and Plk4p. Plks were originally identified in *Drosophila*, where weak hypomorphic alleles of Polo were isolated that displayed several mitotic and meiotic abnormalities, including defects in spindle pole behaviour and bipolar spindle formation, whereby mitotic chromosomes cluster around a monopolar spindle in a ring arrangement, chromosome non-disjunction and, as shown later on, cytokinesis failure (Sunkel and Glover, 1988; Llamazares *et al.*, 1991; Carmena *et al.*, 1998). In mammals, Plk1p, the closest fly and yeast ortholog, is the most extensively studied Plk with prominent mitotic functions. Plk2p operates primarily during the G1 and S phases, where it is thought to modulate, among others, aspects of centriole duplication. Both Plk2p and Plk3p are encoded by immediate early genes, although Plk3p protein levels appear to remain constant throughout the cell cycle. Plk2p has been proposed to have a role in preventing mitotic catastrophe upon spindle damage, while Plk3p is shown to be activated in response to DNA damage (Bahassi *et al.*, 2002; Eckerdt *et al.*, 2005; van de Weerdt and Medema, 2006).

Plks are crucial regulators of several mitotic events and in many cases their functions are well-preserved between metazoans and the yeasts (Glover *et al.*, 1998; Nigg, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 2005b). For example, Plks from various species, including fission yeast, have been shown to participate by various ways in feedback-loop amplification of mitotic Cdk activity at mitotic onset, thus influencing the timing of mitotic commitment (Section 1.3.2.3). In *Xenopus* and budding yeast the respective Plk (Plx1p and Cdc5p) phosphorylates cohesins and mediates sister chromatid separation, either by promoting the dissociation of cohesins from chromatin during

prophase/prometaphase or prompting their separin-dependent proteolysis at the metaphaseanaphase transition, respectively (Alexandru *et al.*, 2001; Sumara *et al.*, 2002).

Plks are also thought to modulate the function of the APC/C; activated mammalian Plk phosphorylates subunits of the APC/C, contributing, at least in part, to its activation and ensuing ubiquitination of cyclin B. Plx1p is also required for APC/C activation, while Cdc5p has been implicated in APC/C-dependent proteolysis of Clb2p (Descombes and Nigg, 1998; Kotani *et al.*, 1998; Shirayama *et al.*, 1998). Consistent with these observations, Plo1p has been shown to physically associate with the Cut23p/Apc8p APC/C subunit, suggesting a conserved role for Plks in regulation of APC/C activation (May *et al.*, 2002).

Plks play a key role in mitotic spindle formation in many eukaryotes. In *Drosophila*, *polo* mutations result in the formation of monopolar spindles due to a failure in centrosome separation in mitotic somatic cells (Llamazares *et al.*, 1991). Similarly, in *Xenopus* and human cells microinjection of appropriate anti-Plk antibodies generates monopolar spindles, while in the latter centrosomes are also unusually small suggesting a role for the mammalian Plk in centrosome maturation (Lane and Nigg, 1996; Qian *et al.*, 1998a). Consistent with a central role in mitotic spindle formation, Plks of either yeast or metazoan origin localise to the SPBs/centrosomes early during mitosis. For example, *Drosophila* Polo associates with the centrosomes upon entry into mitosis, while it translocates to the kinetochores in prophase and the mid-part of the central spindle during late anaphase (Glover *et al.*, 1998; Glover, 2005).

In addition to a highly conserved N-terminal catalytic domain, Plks also share significant similarity in their non-catalytic C-terminal domain, especially in two conserved regions, the poloboxes, shown to act as a single domain that mediates interactions with target proteins and required for localisation of Plk function into specific subcellular structures (Dai and Cogswell, 2003; Lee *et al.,* 2005b). Indeed, mutations in a single polo-box of mammalian Plk1p or budding yeast Cdc5p disrupt their localisation at distinct sites of the mitotic apparatus during mitosis, while mutations and/or truncations within the polo-boxes of Plo1p abolish its localisation to the SPBs (Lee *et al.,* 1998; Song *et al.,* 2000; Seong *et al.,* 2002; Reynolds and Ohkura, 2003).

A series of studies with human Plk1p have shown that the polo-box domain functions as a phosphopeptide recognising module that preferentially binds and phosphorylates proteins previously phosphorylated by Pro-directed kinases, predominantly the Cdks (Elia *et al.*, 2003a; Elia *et al.*, 2003b). Nonetheless, recent work reveals that Plk1p can also phosphorylate itself and create a docking site for its own polo-box domain. A number of discrete partners have been identified that are 'primed' with phosphorylation by Cdk1p during early mitosis or Plk1p in anaphase to promote their interaction with the polo-box domain (Neef *et al.*, 2007; Rape, 2007; Lee *et al.*, 2008a; Lee *et al.*,

2008b). Although most Plk1p binding proteins are also Plk1p phosphorylation substrates, they also function as part of a scaffold that recruits the kinase to discrete sub-cellular structures at specific cell cycle times, thereby increasing local Plk1p concentrations (Petronczki *et al.*, 2008). Indeed, most Plk1p docking partners are localised within structures, such as the centrosomes, the kinetochores and the central spindle region, hence recruiting the kinase to the mitotic apparatus and allowing it to co-ordinate its function with earlier phosphorylation cell cycle events, mediated primarily by Cdk1p, the master regulator of mitosis (Casenghi *et al.*, 2003; Lowery *et al.*, 2005; Elowe *et al.*, 2007; Takaki *et al.*, 2008).

Human Plk1p localises to discrete structures of the mitotic apparatus in a cell cycle specific manner; during G2, Plk1p is present both at the cytoplasm and the nucleus, while from early mitosis is found at the centrosomes and the kinetochores where it persists until late anaphase. A sub-population of Plk1p also translocates to the central spindle region (spindle midzone) from anaphase to telophase, after which it is found in the midbody (Golsteyn *et al.*, 1995; Taniguchi *et al.*, 2002; van de Weerdt and Medema, 2006; Lee *et al.*, 2008a; Takaki *et al.*, 2008). Consistent with a dynamic pattern of localisation during mitosis, Plk1p associates with and phosphorylates target molecules in a discrete spatial and temporal order to promote a multitude of mitotic events, including mitotic entry, resumption from a G2 arrest following activation of the DNA damage checkpoint, centrosome maturation, bipolar spindle assembly, APC/C activation, cohesin dissociation, chromosome alignment and cytokinesis (van Vugt and Medema, 2005; van de Weerdt and Medema, 2006; Petronczki *et al.*, 2007; Takaki *et al.*, 2008).

Similar to its yeast and metazoan counterparts, human Plk1p has been proposed to impose on the feedback loop that rapidly amplifies an initial trigger level of mitotic Cdk1p activity during mitotic entry. In fact, research work shows that Plk1p promotes further activation of Cdk1p-cyclin B complexes at mitotic entry by more than one means; it phosphorylates Cdc25C to promote its translocation to the nucleus and ensuing activation, Wee1p to prompt its SCF-mediated proteolytic degradation and cyclin B to assist, at least in part, its nuclear localisation and/or activation of the associated Cdk1p kinase (Toyoshima-Morimoto *et al.*, 2001; Toyoshima-Morimoto *et al.*, 2002; Jackman *et al.*, 2003; Watanabe *et al.*, 2004; van Vugt and Medema, 2005; van de Weerdt and Medema, 2006).

Plk1p ensures timely advancement past the G2-M transition but is not a prerequisite for mitotic entry *per se*. Indeed, compromising Plk1p activity, either by depletion of Plk1p levels with RNAi or by chemical inhibition with a small compound, delays but eventually permits entry into mitosis (Sumara *et al.,* 2004; Lénárt *et al.,* 2007). Nonetheless, Plk1p is necessary for resuming mitotic entry during recovery from a G2 cell cycle arrest upon DNA damage and ensuing activation of

the DNA damage checkpoint. Indeed, Plk1p negatively regulates several downstream mediators/effectors of ATM- and ATR-dependent checkpoint pathways in order to re-activate Cdk1pcyclin B complexes and restart the cell cycle upon recovery from the G2 DNA damage-induced arrest. For example, it phosphorylates Wee1p to promote its SCF-mediated degradation; it interacts with the p53 tumour suppressor to inhibit its transactivation activity; it phosphorylates Claspin, a mediator protein that promotes the activation of the ATR effector kinase Chk1p, targeting it for SCF-dependent proteolysis (Eckerdt *et al.*, 2005; van Vugt and Medema, 2005; Xie et *al.*, 2005; van de Weerdt and Medema, 2006). Consistent with a positive role for Plk1p in recovery from DNA damage checkpoint-induced arrest, DNA damage checkpoints inhibit Plk1p activity. In fact, in response to DNA damage in G2 phase, the Cdc14B phosphatase (a paralog of *S. cerevisiae* Cdc14p) relocates from the nucleolus to the nucleoplasm, whereby it dephosphorylates and activates Cdh1p, enabling it to target Plk1p for APC/C-dependent proteolysis (Bassermann *et al.*, 2008).

Several Plk1p interacting proteins and/or substrates have been identified over recent years that localise at distinct sites of the mitotic apparatus, providing insight about Plk1p function in centrosome maturation and separation, spindle assembly, establishment of stable microtubule-kinetochore attachments and initiation of cleavage furrow ingression during cytokinesis (van de Weerdt and Medema, 2006; Petronczki *et al.*, 2008; Takaki *et al.*, 2008). At the G2-M transition, Plk1p interacts with and phosphorylates Nlpp (<u>n</u>inein-like protein), a centrosomal protein, leading to its displacement from the centrosome. Nlpp binds to and recruits γ-tubulin complexes in the interphasic centrosome, whereas its Plk1p-dependent dissociation from this site during mitotic onset is thought to promote the recruitment of mitosis-specific γ-tubulin complex binding proteins, contributing to centrosome maturation and enhanced microtubule nucleation capacity during mitotic spindle formation (Casenghi *et al.*, 2003). Recently, Plk1p has been shown to phosphorylate another centrosomes (Petronczki *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, in prophase Plk1p phosphorylates and targets for SCF-mediated degradation Emi1p (<u>e</u>arly <u>mitotic inhibitor 1</u>), an inhibitor of the APC/C that is localised at the centrosomes, hence contributing to APC/C activation (Hansen *et al.*, 2004).

In kinetochores, Plk1p interacts with a variety of proteins. Initially, Plk1p is recruited to interphase centromeres during G2 phase, via its association with PBIP1p (polo-box interacting protein 1), a centromeric protein. Priming phosphorylation of PBIP1p is mediated by Plk1p itself, creating its own docking site and promoting its stable accumulation at centromeres and/or kinetochores. During prometaphase, a high level of Plk1p activity drives PBIP1p hyperphosphorylation. In turn, PBIP1p dissociates from kinetochores and targeted for SCF-dependent degradation, allowing Plk1p to bind to and phosphorylate other kinetochore components,

including among others BubR1p (Lee *et al.*, 2008a; Lee *et al.*, 2008b). Cdk1p pre-phosphorylates BubR1p and creates a docking site for the Plk1p polo-box domain. Maximum phosphorylation of BubR1p by Plk1p occurs during prometaphase and is thought to convey a lack of tension signal at kinetochores that promotes the establishment of stable kinetochore-microtubule attachments during bipolar attachment at metaphase (Elowe *et al.*, 2007).

At the metaphase-anaphase transition Plk1p translocates from the kinetochores to the spindle midzone, whereby it regulates the onset of cytokinesis. PRC1p (protein regulating cytokinesis 1), a microtubule associated protein, is a major delivery factor for Plk1p recruitment to the spindle midzone in anaphase. In fact, Plk1p phosphorylates and primes itself the interaction of its polo-box domain with PRC1p during anaphase. During prophase and prometaphase, Cdk1p also phosphorylates PRC1p and impedes its interaction with Plk1p, hence ensuring that Plk1p is not recruited prematurely to the central spindle region. APC/C-dependent proteolysis of cyclin B at the onset of anaphase promotes Cdk1p inactivation and allows Plk1p to interact with PRC1p and Mklp2p, interact with Plk1p and contribute to its localisation at the central spindle region ((Neef *et al.,* 2007; Petronczki *et al.,* 2007; Rape, 2007).

Localisation of Plk1p at the spindle midzone is crucial for cytokinesis, consistent with a role for this kinase in formation of the contractile actomyosin ring and ensuing ingression of the cleavage furrow. Specifically, Plk1p has been shown to promote the interaction between HsCyk-4p (a Rho GTPase activating protein) and Ect2p (a Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor) to recruit the latter to the spindle midzone. Once in the central spindle, Ect2p activates the GTPase RhoA, which in turn drives actin polymerization and myosin activation; both functions are necessary for the formation of the contractile ring at the equatorial cortex and the initiation of cytokinesis (Petronczki *et al.*, 2007; Petronczki *et al.*, 2008; Takaki *et al.*, 2008).

The functions and localisation pattern of Plk1p during mitosis correlates well with its pattern of expression and activation during the cell cycle. Plk1p protein levels accumulate in G2 and M phase, as a result of both cell cycle regulated transcription and proteolysis (Eckerdt *et al.*, 2005; Winkles and Alberts, 2005). Indeed, the forkhead transcription factor FOXM1 drives G2-M specific transcription of *Plk1* and many other important genes for mitotic progression, whereas Cdh1p mediates APC/C-dependent degradation of Plk1p during late anaphase, an event that promotes mitotic exit (Lindon and Pines, 2004; Laoukili *et al.*, 2005). Interestingly, FOXM1 is not only a regulator of G2-M specific expression of *Plk1* but also a substrate for phosphorylation by Plk1p. Indeed, Plk1p associates via its polo-box domain with the C-terminal region of FOXM1 and phosphorylates this forkhead transcription factor to enhance its transcriptional activity, leading to

increased expression at mitotic onset of target genes, including *Plk1* itself. Cdk1p promotes the interaction between Plk1p and FOXM1 by phosphorylating the latter during late S-G2 phase and creating a docking site for the polo-box domain. Since Plk1p is both a target and a regulator of FOXM1 transcriptional activity, this suggests that Plk1p phosphorylation of FOXM1 is part of a positive feedback loop that operates at the G2-M transition and promotes further transcription of *Plk1*, as well as of many other genes necessary for mitotic progression (Fu *et al.*, 2008).

Plk1p activity is also regulated during the mitotic cell cycle, starting to increase at the G2-M interval and peaking during mitosis. Consistent with this, activation of Plk1p occurs at the G2-M transition and requires phosphorylation within its T-loop at Thr210. Indeed, in the absence of Thr210 phosphorylation, the polo-box domain interacts with the kinase domain of Plk1p, thereby inhibiting its associated kinase activity. Stimulatory phosphorylation at Thr210 relieves the inhibitory effect of the polo-box domain and activates Plk1p, which in turn can associate via the polo-box domain with its substrates, an event that further enhances its activity (Gárcia-Álvarez et al., 2007). Aurora-A, an Ark family member, phosphorylates Plk1p at Thr210 in a manner that requires Bora, an Aurora-A specific co-factor that accumulates during G2 phase and associates with both Aurora-A and Plk1p. Bora binds to Plk1p in a phosphorylation-independent manner and promotes a conformational change that disrupts the inhibitory interaction between the polo-box domain and the kinase domain, hence allowing Aurora-A to gain access and phosphorylate Thr210 within the T-loop (Seki et al., 2008a; Macurek et al., 2008; Eckerdt and Maller, 2008). Intriguingly, Plk1p has been shown to phosphorylate Bora during mitosis, promoting its association with β-TrCP (β-transducin repeatcontaining protein), an F-box protein, and ensuing SCF-dependent degradation. Plk1p-driven proteolysis of Bora is thought to release Aurora-A, allowing it to interact with microtubule-associated co-factors and promoting its localisation to the mitotic spindle to perform its functions in bipolar spindle assembly (Chan et al., 2008; Seki et al., 2008b; Eckerdt and Maller, 2008). Finally, recent work reveals a prominent role for Protein Phosphatase 1 (PP1) in regulation of Plk1p kinase activity. Specifically, MYPT1 (Myosin phosphatase-targeting subunit 1), a PP1-specific regulatory subunit, interacts with the polo-box domain of Plk1p and promotes PP1-dependent dephosphorylation at Thr210, thereby restraining Plk1p activity. Given that PP1-MYPT1 complexes co-localise with Plk1p at centrosomes, kinetochores and the central spindle, it is possible that they also antagonise Plk1p activity indirectly by dephosphorylating Plk1p substrates at these sites (Archambault et al., 2008; Yamashiro et al., 2008).

Similar to Plk1p, Plo1p has been shown to regulate both mitotic spindle formation and cytokinesis in fission yeast. Disruption of Plo1p function, encoded by an essential gene, results in cells with overcondensed chromosomes associated with monopolar spindles, or in multinucleate

cells without septa that are unable to either form the actomyosin-based medial ring, a construct that forms early during mitosis and determines the site of septum formation (Section 1.3.2.5), or deposit septal material (Ohkura *et al.*, 1995). Meanwhile, temperature sensitive *plo1* mutants have also been identified that display a variety of defects in septum placement (Bähler *et al.*, 1998b). Over-expression of *plo1*⁺ also leads to the formation of monopolar spindles, suggesting a dependency of spindle formation on the proper levels or timing of Plo1p activation. Notably, *plo1*⁺ over-expression induces septum formation even in interphase cells (Ohkura *et al.*, 1995).

Consistent with a regulatory role for Plo1p in mitotic spindle, actomyosin ring and septum formation, this kinase localises to the SPBs from early mitosis until anaphase and can also be detected at the mitotic spindle and the medial ring (Bähler *et al.*, 1998b; Mulvihill *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, activation of Plo1p during mitosis is accompanied by two peaks of activity, correlating well with the timing of actomyosin medial ring assembly and septation, respectively (Glover *et al.*, 1998; Tanaka *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2005b).

Plo1p has been shown to interact with Mid1p/Dmf1p (a metazoan anillin-related protein), a protein that is required for the positioning and placement of the actomyosin medial ring (Bähler *et al.,* 1998b). Mid1p/Dmf1p is predominantly present in the nucleus during interphase, but early in mitosis it localises into the cell cortex to form a medial ring that precedes formation of the actomyosin-based ring (Chang *et al.,* 1996; Sohrmann *et al.,* 1996). Interestingly, Plo1p has been shown to be required for Mid1p/Dmf1p nuclear exit, as Mid1p/Dmf1p is unable to leave the nucleus in *plo1* mutant cells and *plo1*⁺ overexpression causes its premature exit from the nucleus. Taking into account that relocalisation of Mid1p/Dmf1p into the medial ring correlates with its phosphorylation, it is likely that Plo1p is the kinase that phosphorylates this actomyosin ring component (Bähler *et al.,* 1998b).

Consistent with the role of Plo1p in control of actomyosin ring formation and septation, and central to the topic of this thesis, the Plo1p kinase is also involved in transcriptional regulation by the PBF transcription factor complex of various genes that encode proteins with important mitotic and cytokinetic functions including Plo1p and Mid1p/Dmf1p themselves (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008; Chapters 5 and 6).

1.3.2.4.3 Mitotic functions of Fin1p

Fin1p is a member of the NIMA-related kinases (Nrks) that, apart from *S. pombe*, are also found in various eukaryotes, including humans, *S. cerevisiae* and *Aspergillus nidulans*. The *A. nidulans* Nrk, NIMA (<u>never in mitosis A</u>), is the founding member of this kinase family and was identified in a screen for conditional lethal mutants that are unable to enter mitosis (Morris, 1975). Despite the

arrest of *nimA* mutants before mitotic commitment, NIMA mitotic activation relies on prior mitotic Cdk activation. The activity of NIMA kinase fluctuates periodically during the cell cycle, peaking during mitosis ahead of maximal mitotic Cdk activity (Ye *et al.*, 1995). Its protein levels also accumulate in a cell cycle specific manner, attributed to proteolytic degradation at mitotic exit and cell-cycle specific transcription and/or translation (Pu and Osmani, 1995).

Unlike its *A. nidulans* counterpart, fission yeast *fin1*⁺ is non-essential for viability. Fin1p shares similar functions with NIMA in regulation of mitotic progression, including roles in the timing of mitotic entry (Section 1.3.2.4), chromosome condensation, spindle organisation and cytokinesis, but the underlying molecular mechanisms seem to differ in the two fungi. Similar to NIMA and Fin1p, the mammalian Nrks also appear to contribute to regulation of distinct mitotic events, including spindle formation and late mitosis/cytokinesis (O'Regan *et al.*, 2007).

Apart from the role of Fin1p in feedback loop amplification of Cdc2p-Cdc13p activity at mitotic onset and its requirement for recruitment of Plo1p to the SPBs (Section 1.3.2.4), regulatory functions have emerged for this kinase in spindle formation and spindle pole maturation. Indeed, *fin1* mutants display monopolar spindles that are nucleated from a single SPB, while *fin1*⁺ overexpression also promotes the formation of monopolar and/or metaphase spindles and causes premature chromosome condensation during interphase (Krien *et al.*, 1998; Grallert and Hagan, 2002). Moreover, Fin1p is also thought to function during cytokinesis, possibly through modulating the activity of the <u>s</u>eptation <u>i</u>nitiation <u>n</u>etwork (SIN), a signalling cascade that brings about septation and cytokinesis (Section 1.3.2.5) (Grallert *et al.*, 2004). Finally, *fin1*⁺ cell cycle gene expression is also under PBF control (Anderson *et al.*, 2002).

1.3.2.4.4 Mitotic functions of Ark1p

Arks regulate various processes during mitosis, including chromosome condensation and segregation, spindle formation, as well as cytokinesis. Typically, two Arks are present in metazoans, each associated with distinct functions. Mammalian cells also contain a third Ark, aurora-C, but its precise function is yet unclear (Bischoff and Plowman, 1999; Giet and Prigent, 1999; Nigg, 2001; Goto *et al.*, 2002).

aurora-A is a centrosome- and microtubule- associated protein that is thought to promote normal spindle assembly by sustaining centrosome separation. The role of aurora-A in spindle formation is exemplified by the phenotype of *aurora-A Drosophila* mutants, characterised either by monopolar spindles associated with one or two paired centrosomes or by bipolar spindles with two paired centrosomes per pole. aurora-B associates with chromatin in early mitosis and with the spindle midzone late during mitosis, and is required for both proper chromosome condensation and cytokinesis. Indeed, *Drosophila* cells, when depleted of aurora-B display improperly condensed chromosomes and are unable to undergo cytokinesis. The defects in chromosome condensation result from inefficient phosphorylation of Ser-10 of histone H3 and the inability to localise condensin to chromosomes; both of these functions are thought to be mediated by aurora-B (Glover *et al.,* 1995; Giet and Glover, 2001).

S. cerevisiae and S. pombe each contain a single Ark, IpI1p and Ark1p, both of which display a combination of aurora-A and aurora-B related functions (Hsu *et al.*, 2000; Petersen *et al.*, 2001). In fission yeast, deletion of *ark1*⁺ results in viable cells that exhibit defects in chromosome condensation during prophase, in chromosome resolution during anaphase onset, in kinetochore function, and in spindle formation. Moreover, similar to metazoan aurora-B and IpI1p, Ark1p can also phosphorylate Ser-10 of histone H3, a function thought to be important for proper chromosome condensation. Although Ark1p is present at constant levels throughout the cell cycle, it displays stage-specific localisation into the centromeres and the central mitotic spindle region during mitosis that resembles the localisation pattern of metazoan aurora-B (Petersen *et al.*, 2001). Finally, unlike Plo1p and Fin1p, Ark1p does not appear to associate with the SPB during mitosis (Petersen *et al.*, 2001).

1.3.2.5 Mitotic exit and cytokinesis

After chromosome segregation a co-ordinated series of events take place within the cell to promote exit from mitosis and initiate cytokinesis, thereby physically dividing the two daughter cells. The presence of a rigid cell wall in yeasts, such as *S. pombe* and *S. cerevisiae*, necessitates not only membrane separation but also cell wall separation of the two progeny; both processes in these organisms define cytokinesis.

The orderly execution and co-ordination of mitosis with cytokinesis is vital for the survival of the cell and the maintenance of its genomic identity, since premature cytokinesis before completion of sister chromatid separation would lead to aneuploidy and polyploidy (Guertin *et al.*, 2002). Control mechanisms exist in the cell that ensure that mitosis and cytokinesis are co-ordinated temporally and spatially. Indeed, early genetic work has shown that mitosis and cytokinesis are tightly coupled and established a dependency for cytokinesis on passage through mitosis (Nurse, 1975; Nurse *et al.*, 1976). In recent years many of the genes that drive actomyosin ring and septum formation in *S. pombe* have been isolated and characterised, making significant progress towards understanding

the regulatory network that underlies cytokinesis and couples it to nuclear division (Fankhauser and Simanis, 1994; Le Goff *et al.*, 1999; Balasubramanian and McCollum, 2003).

A prerequisite for mitotic exit in eukaryotic cells is the inactivation of mitotic Cdk activity. In *S. pombe* Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes are inactivated after chromosome segregation by APC/C-mediated proteolysis of Cdc13p, through the function of the Slp1p APC/C activator, while during G1 phase another APC/C activator, Ste9p functions to maintain low mitotic Cdc2p activity (Bardin and Amon, 2001; Section 1.3.2.1). Moreover, the Clp1p/Flp1p phosphatase is thought to contribute to disruption of the Cdc2p-Cdc13p amplification loop and therefore promote inactivation of the associated Cdk in late mitosis, via inactivation of Cdc25p (Krapp *et al.,* 2004; Wolfe and Gould, 2004b).

A signalling cascade, the <u>septation-initiation network</u> (SIN) operates late in the fission yeast cell cycle and regulates initiation of cytokinesis, coupling it to inactivation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p and therefore completion of chromosome segregation (Bardin and Amon, 2001; Balasubramanian and McCollum, 2003; Simanis, 2003; Krapp *et al.*, 2004). A similar signalling pathway functions in budding yeast, the <u>mitotic-exit network</u> (MEN), which is required for inactivation of mitotic Cdk activity and controls both mitotic exit and cytokinesis (Bardin and Amon, 2001; Simanis, 2003; Krapp *et al.*, 2004; Section 1.3.3).

In fission yeast, the microtubule cytoskeleton re-organises during mitosis to separate the two copies of the genome, whereas the actomyosin cytoskeleton re-shuffles to accommodate ensuing cell cleavage, yielding two individual cell entities. Concomitant with spindle formation in early mitosis a ring structure, composed of F-actin, myosin II and numerous other proteins, starts to assemble at the medial plane of the cell, at a site that predicts the future position of septum formation and cell division (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2000; Guertin *et al.*, 2002; Balasubramanian and McCollum, 2003; Wolfe and Gould, 2005).

F-actin displays a dynamic localisation pattern during the mitotic cell cycle (Figure 1.6). In interphase and prior to a transition point in G2, termed <u>new end take off</u> (NETO), F-actin patches are found mainly at the 'old' end of the cell (the one inherited from the mother cell), thereby promoting monopolar growth. At NETO, F-actin is present at both cell ends, prompting bipolar growth and after mitotic entry it re-localises to the centre of the cell to form the medial ring structure, also termed the <u>cy</u>tokinetic <u>a</u>ctomyosin <u>ring</u> (CAR) (Gachet *et al.*, 2003). Once the CAR has assembled, F-actin patches also become visible next to the CAR and are thought to contribute to the delivery of septal material. At the end of anaphase, after chromosome segregation and while the mitotic spindle is dissolving, the CAR constricts, providing the driving force that divides the cytoplasm (Wolfe and Gould, 2005).

The <u>septation initiation network</u> (SIN) is the signalling cascade that triggers constriction of the actomyosin ring and signals the commencement of cytokinesis, whereby new membrane and cell wall material is deposited inwards from the cell cortex and behind the constricting ring to accommodate cell division via the formation of a primary division septum. After formation of the primary septum, consisting of sugar polymers, secondary septa are formed on either of its sides, generating a three-layered septum structure. Degradation of the primary septum combined with rupture of the pre-existing cell wall then physically separates the two daughter cells (McCollum and Gould, 2001; Guertin *et al.*, 2002; Balasubramanian and McCollum, 2003; Simanis, 2003; Krapp *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 1.6: Rearrangements in actin distribution and structure during the cell cycle in *S. pombe*. During G1 and S phase and until the <u>new end take off</u> (NETO) transition point in G2, F-actin patches localise predominantly at one end of the cell (the one inherited from the mother cell). After NETO, F-actin patches are found at both cell ends and drive bipolar growth. In mitosis, F-actin is lost from both cell ends and forms the <u>cytokinetic actomyosin ring</u> (CAR) at the centre of the cell. After CAR assembly, F-actin patches appear next to the CAR and promote septal material deposition. At late mitosis and while the CAR constricts, the septum forms inwards from the cell cortex and behind the constricting CAR to enable cell division and generation of two independent cell entities.

1.3.2.5.1 Timing, positioning and assembly of the actomyosin ring

Formation of the actomyosin ring requires entry into mitosis since *cdc2* and *cdc25* mutant cells arrested at the G2-M transition continue to grow in the absence of nuclear division and fail to assemble an actomyosin ring (Snell and Nurse, 1994). This raises the possibility that activated

Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes might promote actomyosin ring assembly by phosphorylating ringnucleating proteins, but evidence so far is lacking (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2000).

Eukaryotes employ discrete mechanisms to select the position of the actomyosin ring and, therefore, their future site of cell division. In *S. cerevisiae*, the site of division is determined early in the cell cycle during G1 and depends on the previous cell division site, forming either across or adjacent to it. Animal cells use the position of the mitotic spindle to define their divisional plane at anaphase onset. Unlike animal cells and budding yeast, the position of the interphase nucleus dictates the fission yeast cell division site, corresponding to the position of the actomyosin ring and the ensuing septum. The interphase array of microtubules is thought to mediate the maintenance of the interphase nucleus in the middle of the fission yeast cell (Chang and Nurse, 1996; Guertin *et al.,* 2002; Balasubramanian and McCollum, 2003).

Placement of the actomyosin ring in *S. pombe* requires the function of Plo1p to promote nuclear exit of Mid1p/Dmf1p and its ensuing localisation into the cell cortex overlying the nucleus, thus marking the future cell division site relative to the position of the nucleus. Mid1p/Dmf1p, although predominantly nuclear in interphase, is also seen during this time as a broad equatorial band overlying the nucleus. It is believed that Mid1p/Dmf1p shuttles between the nucleus and the cell cortex in interphase cells, thereby continuously marking the division plane. Following entry into mitosis, Mid1p/Dmf1p strongly localises into the medial cell cortex in a Plo1p-dependent manner to mediate the recruitment of actomyosin ring components (Figure 1.7A and B) (Bähler *et al.*, 1998b; Guertin *et al.*, 2002; Balasubramanian and McCollum, 2003; Wolfe and Gould, 2005; Section 1.3.2.4.2).

Various proteins accumulate at the medial plane of the cell from as early as mid-G2 to metaphase to drive the assembly of the actomyosin ring, which becomes fully organised after anaphase onset. Important actomyosin ring components include among others Myo2p (the type II myosin heavy chain that physically interacts with Mid1p/Dmf1p), Cdc4p and Rlc1p (the two myosin-associated light chain subunits), Cdc15p (a member of the PCH protein family), Cdc12p (a formin homologue) and Rng2p (an IQGAP-related protein) (Figure 1.7B and C) (Balasubramanian *et al.,* 2000; Guertin *et al.,* 2002; Balasubramanian *et al.,* 2004; Wolfe and Gould, 2005).

In a manner that requires Mid1p/Dmf1p function, these proteins are thought to form a precursor, spot-like, structure at the cell cortex that supports the assembly of the ensuing mature actomyosin ring, comprising F-actin and numerous other proteins. Cdc15p and Cdc12p interact with each other and promote the recruitment of actin-nucleating components, including the profilin Cdc3p and the Arp2/3p complex, thereby inducing actin polymerisation. Later, tropomyosin Cdc8p and the cross-linking protein α -actinin Ain2p are thought to bind spontaneously to polymerizing actin and

promote the transition of the equatorial actin band into a compact ring structure, which after the accumulation of additional components, such as Myp2p (type II myosin heavy chain), septins (filament-forming proteins) and F-actin patches matures into the actomyosin ring during late anaphase (anaphase B). Once the mitotic spindle disassembles, the actomyosin ring contracts, mediated by the motor activity of type II myosin that causes sliding of the actin filaments (Figure 1.7D and E). The SIN regulates actomyosin ring constriction and concomitant septum formation, bringing about cytokinesis (Wu *et al.*, 2003; Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2004; Wolfe and Gould, 2005).



Figure 1.7: Actomyosin ring assembly and constriction to bring about septation and cytokinesis in *S. pombe*. (A) In interphase Mid1p/Dmf1p localises predominantly in the nucleus but also shuttles between the nucleus and the cell cortex to mark the division plane. (B) After mitotic entry, Mid1p/Dmf1p localises into the medial cell cortex in a Plo1p-dependent manner and promotes recruitment of actomyosin ring components. (C-E) Initially, Myo2p, Cdc4p, Rlc1p, Cdc12p, Cdc15p and Rng2p accumulate into a broad medial ring structure and promote the recruitment of Cdc3p and the Arp2/3p complex, which in turn induce actin polymerisation. Localisation of Cdc8p and Ain2p to the medial actomyosin ring enables its transformation into a compact ring structure. Finally, assembly of various proteins, including Myp2p, septins and F-actin patches leads to the formation of a mature actomyosin ring in late anaphase (anaphase B). After SIN activation, the actomyosin ring constricts to bring about septation and cytokinesis.

1.3.2.5.2 Regulation of cytokinesis-<u>Septation Initiation Network</u> (SIN)

Constriction of the actomyosin ring and septum formation is a highly co-ordinated process that necessitates the inactivation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes, since the presence of a high content of mitotic Cdk activity inhibits cytokinesis. Coupling of Cdc2p-Cdc13p inactivation to cytokinesis to ensure that cell division occurs after chromosome segregation is mediated by the SIN signalling pathway (Figure 1.8) (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2004; Krapp *et al.*, 2004).

The SIN is a GTPase-driven signalling cascade that comprises Spg1p, a small GTPase, Cdc7p, Sid1p and Sid2p protein kinases and Cdc14p and Mob1p, the associated subunits of Sid1p and Sid2p. The <u>G</u>TPase <u>a</u>ctivating <u>p</u>rotein (GAP) that converts Spg1p from its GTP- (active) to its GDP- (inactive) bound form is a bi-partite complex, Cdc16p-Byr4p. Cdc16p shares similarities with other GAP proteins, while Byr4p is a scaffold protein that binds to both Spg1p and Cdc16p and is required for the GAP-associated activity of Cdc16p (Simanis, 2003). SIN signalling is mediated through the SPB(s), since all the members of the pathway localise at this sub-cellular structure, either throughout or at specific times during the cell cycle. Accumulation of SIN components to the SPB(s) requires Sid4p and Cdc11p, two proteins that are present at the SPB(s) at all times during the cell cycle and act as a scaffold to orderly anchor SIN proteins (Krapp *et al.,* 2004).

The role of the SIN pathway in the regulation of cytokinesis is exemplified by the phenotypes resulting from loss-of-function mutations and/or overexpression of any of the SIN components. *spg1*, *cdc7*, *sid1*, *sid2*, *cdc11*, *cdc14*, *mob1*, and *sid4* mutants are elongated multinucleate cells that undergo nuclear division in the absence of cytokinesis (SIN phenotype). Moreover, the SIN mutants also fail to contract the actomyosin ring. Unlike the SIN mutants, *cdc16* and *byr4* mutants, or cells overexpressing either *spg1*⁺ or *cdc7*⁺, undergo multiple rounds of septum formation with no cell cleavage (Nurse *et al.*, 1976; Minet *et al.*, 1979; Fankhauser and Simanis, 1994; Song *et al.*, 1996; Balasubramanian *et al.*, 1998; Simanis, 2003).

Despite the presence of a Spg1p-specific GAP, no Spg1p-specific guanine-<u>n</u>ucleotide-<u>e</u>xchange factor (GEF) exists in *S. pombe*. Nonetheless, in the absence of Cdc16p, Byr4p has been shown to inhibit GTP hydrolysis and release and thereby 'lock' Spg1p in its active form. This suggests that modulating binding of Cdc16p and Byr4p with Spg1p could somehow compensate for the lack of an Spg1p-specific GEF, but experimental evidence in support of such a regulatory model of Spg1p signalling is lacking (Simanis, 2003; Krapp *et al.*, 2004). The Plo1p kinase, shown to associate with Sid4p, is thought to modulate Spg1p signalling through Cdc16p-Byr4p, and promote formation of its active state (Balasubramanian and McCollum, 2003; Krapp *et al.*, 2004). This is a possibility taking into account that Cdc5p, the homologous Plk in budding yeast, regulates in a phosphorylation-dependent manner the activity of the respective GAP of the MEN cascade, Bub2p-Bfa1p (Hu *et al.*, 2001). Consistent with this, Plo1p is both sufficient and necessary for septum formation and positively regulates SIN activity; compromising Plo1p function abolishes both actomyosin and septum formation, while *plo1*⁺ overexpression induces septation even during interphase but only in cells with a functional SIN pathway (Ohkura *et al.*, 1995; Tanaka *et al.*, 2001; Sections 1.3.2.4.2 and 5.1.2).

Localisation of SIN components to SPB(s) during the cell cycle is central to the regulatory network that underlies SIN signalling and initiation of cytokinesis (Figure 1.8). In interphase, Spg1p localises at the SPB in its inactive, GDP-bound state, since Cdc16p-Byr4p is also present at the interphase SPB. Once cells enter mitosis, Byr4p remains but Cdc16p is lost from both SPBs. Meanwhile Spg1p is activated at both SPBs, present in its GTP-bound state. This transition promotes the recruitment to the SPBs of Cdc7p, preferentially binding to Spg1p-GTP. During anaphase B and while inactivation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes takes place, Cdc16p re-appears in only one of the two SPBs to re-form the GAP and turn Spg1p back to its inactive state. As a result, Cdc7p dissociates from this SPB and SIN signalling is turned off. Meanwhile, the presence of both Spg1p-GTP and Cdc7p in the other SPB promotes the recruitment of Sid1p-Cdc14p kinase, which in turn activates the Sid2p-Mob1p kinase, localised at the SPB during mitosis, causing it to translocate to the actomyosin ring, where it is thought to prompt ring constriction and septation (Figure 1.8). Activated Cdc2p-Cdc13p complexes prevent localisation of Sid1p-Cdc14p kinase at the SPB, consistent with mitotic Cdk activity inhibiting cytokinesis and the dependency of the latter on prior Cdc2p-Cdc13p inactivation (Simanis, 2003).

Evidence accumulates for the existence of a cytokinesis checkpoint that monitors contractile ring structures and acts through the SIN pathway and the Clp1p/Flp1p phosphatase to ensure that the cell embarks on another cell cycle after completion of cytokinesis, thereby preventing a sudden increase in Cdc2p-associated activity as a result of delayed or perturbed cytokinesis. It is thought that when cytokinesis is delayed, an active SIN persists and allows Clp1p/Flp1p to remain in an active state at the actomyosin ring, preventing its return to the nucleolus, where it is found during interphase. In turn, Clp1p/Flp1p functions in a Wee1p-and/or Cdc25p-dependent manner to inhibit Cdc2p-associated kinase activity, thus enabling the SIN pathway to complete cytokinesis (Balasubramanian and McCollum, 2003; Krapp *et al.*, 2004; Wolfe and Gould, 2005).


Figure 1.8: Activation of the <u>septation initiation network (SIN) signalling cascade in *S. pombe*. Sid4p and Cdc11p localise to the SPB(s) throughout the cell cycle and function as a scaffold for the anchoring of SIN components. Spg1p, the GTPase, is also constantly present at the SPB(s), but is kept inactive during interphase through the action of the Cdc16p-Byr4p GAP. Plo1p localises at the SPBs upon mitotic entry and promotes formation of the active form of Spg1p (GTP-bound), possibly acting through Cdc16p-Byr4p. During metaphase Cdc16p leaves both SPBs enabling formation of the active state of Spg1p and ensuing recruitment of Cdc7p. At anaphase B, Cdc16p returns on one SPB, leading to Spg1p inactivation and loss of Cdc7p from this SPB. Meanwhile, the other SPB retaining Cdc7p promotes recruitment of Sid1p-Cdc14p concomitant with inactivation of Cdc2p-Cdc13p, which when active inhibits localisation of Sid1p-Cdc14p at the SPB. Next, Sid1p-Cdc14p mediates activation of Sid2p-Mob1p, constantly present at the SPB(s). Finally, activated Sid2p-Mob1p translocates to the actomyosin medial ring and promotes ring constriction and septation.</u>

1.3.3 Cell cycle control in budding yeast: an overview

Whereas *S. pombe* divides by fission through the formation of a septum late in the cell cycle, *S. cerevisiae* divides by budding, mediated by a bud that appears soon after the cell progresses past START, almost coincidentally with other important cell cycle events, including initiation of DNA replication and SPB duplication. Bud formation requires Cdc28p-Clnp associated-activity, and is mediated by actin cortical patches and a septin-based ring structure, the latter initially marking the bud site and later on, as the bud emerges and grows, the bud neck between the mother and the daughter cell (Barral *et al.*, 2000; Cid *et al.*, 2002).

During G1 phase in budding yeast, the SPB embedded in the nuclear envelope, moves and orients itself towards the future bud site, either preceding or in parallel with bud emergence. Following SPB duplication, SPB separation occurs almost concomitant with S phase and requires the activity of Cdc28p-Clbp complexes. Nonetheless, the two SPBs remain next to each other until S phase completion. After this time and while the bud has already grown to a third of its size, the SPBs migrate away from each other towards the opposite sides of the nucleus and, via the activity of Cdc28p-Clbp complexes, a short pre-mitotic spindle forms between them, located in the mother cell. Prior to M phase the nucleus and the short spindle move into the mother-bud neck and orient themselves along the mother-bud axis. Once oriented, the nucleus awaits in this configuration with the short spindle until anaphase onset, where the spindle elongates through the bud neck and towards the daughter cell (Lim *et al.*, 1996; Lew *et al.*, 1997; Cid *et al.*, 2002).

In *S. cerevisiae*, the budding mode of division necessitates that events, such as SPB duplication and separation and ensuing mitotic spindle formation, take place early in the cell cycle to ensure timely migration of the nucleus into the bud neck, therefore precluding a clear distinction of S, G2 and M phases. Although the differences in the dividing pattern and life style between *S. pombe* and *S. cerevisiae* dictate some variations in the underlying regulatory network that drives progress through the mitotic cell cycle, the majority of its molecular components and their associated modes of function are well-conserved between the two species (Lew *et al.,* 1997).

Similar to *S. pombe*, *S. cerevisiae* possesses a single Cdk, Cdc28p, which binds to different cyclin subunits to control mitotic progression. Three G1 cyclins (Cln1-3p) associate with Cdc28p to promote advancement past START and prepare the cell for the ensuing S phase, promoting initiation of DNA replication, spindle pole body duplication and bud formation. START is a major cell cycle control point in budding yeast and its progression is determined by the availability of nutrients and the presence of mating factors (Madden and Snyder, 1998). Once the cells pass START, Cdc28p associates with six B-type cyclins (Clb1-6p) to drive the rest of the cell cycle. Advancement through

S phase requires Clb5p and Clb6p, while Clb1-4p are required for G2 and mitosis; Clb3-4p promote mitotic spindle formation, and Clb1-2p drive bud growth and nuclear division (Huberman, 1996; Nasmyth, 1996; Lew *et al.*, 1997; Section 1.3.1).

S. cerevisiae cyclin levels oscillate periodically during the cell cycle as a result of cell cycle specific transcription and/or proteolytic degradation. Cell cycle specific expression of *CLN1* and *CLN2*, peaking during the G1-S interval, is mediated by the <u>SCB-binding factor</u> (SBF) transcription factor complex, comprising Swi4p and Swi6p, and the <u>SWI4/6 cell cycle box</u> (SCB) promoter element (Ogas *et al.*, 1991; Koch and Nasmyth, 1994; Iyer *et al.*, 2001). *CLB5* and *CLB6* are also expressed coincidentally with *CLN1* and *CLN2* due to transcriptional activation by the bi-partite MBF complex that is related to SBF, containing Swi6p and Mbp1p, and binding to the <u>Mlul cell cycle box</u> (MCB) promoter element (Koch *et al.*, 1993; Breeden, 2003).

Cln3p positively regulates G1-S specific transcription of *CLN1*, *CLN2*, *CLB5* and *CLB6* through the function of its associated Cdc28p kinase activity and is itself periodically transcribed, its mRNA levels peaking during the M-G1 boundary, subject to transcriptional regulation by the <u>early</u> cell <u>cycle box</u> (ECB) and the Mcm1p transcription factor (McInerny *et al.*, 1997; MacKay *et al.*, 2001; Wijnen *et al.*, 2002; Bähler, 2005).

Although present during the M-G1 interval, Clb5p and Clb6p are kept inactive during this time via their association with Sic1p, which also accumulates during the M-G1 interval due to transcriptional activation by the Swi5p transcription factor (Toyn *et al.*, 1997; Wittenberg and Reed, 2005). At this early time in the cell cycle, Sic1p inhibits both S phase (Clb5p and Clb6p) and mitotic cyclins (Clb1-4p) that persist from the previous cell cycle, having escaped APC/C-driven proteolysis, mediated either by Cdc20p (Clb3p and Clb5p), which also promotes advancement into anaphase and sister-chromatid separation by inducing the ubiquitination of the Pds1p securin, or Cdh1p/Hct1p (Clb3p and Clb2p) specificity factors (Zachariae, 1999). As a result, Clbp-associated Cdc28p activity is kept minimal, allowing the loading of MCM and Cdc6p onto replication origins, thus promoting pre-RC assembly and licensing the DNA for replication during the ensuing S phase (Schwob *et al.*, 1994; Donovan *et al.*, 1997; Kramer *et al.*, 1998; Section 1.3.2.2.2). Sic1p persists until the end of G1 phase, where it is targeted for degradation, promoting an increase in Cdc28p-Clb5-6p activity and triggering S phase entry (Section 1.3.1).

Clb3p and Clb4p also accumulate periodically during the cell cycle, their transcripts peaking during S phase and G2, coincidentally with their functions in SPB separation (Lew *et al.*, 1997). Expression of Clb1p and Clb2p cyclins follows that of Clb3p and Clb4p, beginning to rise in late S phase, peaking during mitosis and disappearing during anaphase, as a result of transcriptional activation during the G2-M interval, mediated by the Mcm1p-Fkh2p-Ndd1p complex and the kinase

activities of Cdc28p-Clb2p and Cdc5p, as well as APC/C-driven proteolysis (Althoefer *et al.*, 1995; Maher *et al.*, 1995; Zachariae, 1999; Zachariae and Nasmyth, 1999; Koranda *et al.*, 2000; Kumar *et al.*, 2000; Pic *et al.*, 2000; Zhu *et al.*, 2000; Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2001; Darieva *et al.*, 2003; Reynolds *et al.*, 2003; Pic-Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Darieva *et al.*, 2006; Section 3.1.2).

Similar to other eukaryotes, mitotic Cdk activity drives entry into mitosis in *S. cerevisiae*, mediated by Cdc28p and its associated B-type cyclins, Clb3-4p, promoting spindle formation and Clb1-2p, the only indispensable pair of *S. cerevisiae* cyclins, driving nuclear division (Surana *et al.*, 1991; Lew *et al.*, 1997). The Swe1p kinase, a Wee1p homologue, is responsible for inhibitory phosphorylation of mitotic Cdc28p-Clbp complexes at Tyr-19 (the equivalent to Cdc2p Tyr-15), whereas Mih1p, a Cdc25p-related phosphatase, removes the inhibitory phosphate at this position (Russell *et al.*, 1989; Booher *et al.*, 1993). Swe1p-dependent phosphorylation of Cdc28p links entry into mitosis with correct bud formation and growth, via the so-called morphogenesis checkpoint pathway (MCP), the latter monitoring proper assembly of septin- and/or actin-based ring structures in the bud neck (Madden and Snyder, 1998; McMillan *et al.*, 1999; Cid *et al.*, 2002; Sakchaisri *et al.*, 2004).

In the course of a normal cell cycle, Swe1p accumulates periodically during late G1 and S phase, transcribed maximally during late G1, and then becomes hyperphosphorylated, leading to its SCF-dependent proteolytic degradation at the G2-M transition, hence allowing entry into mitosis (Kaiser *et al.*, 1998; Shulewitz *et al.*, 1999). However, defects in actin or septin filament assembly at the bud neck cause hypophosphorylation and stabilisation of Swe1p, which can then phosphorylate and inhibit Cdc28p-Clbp complexes, leading to a G2 delay. Therefore, tight regulation of Swe1 activity is an important determinant of the timing of mitotic onset (McMillan *et al.*, 1999; Sakchaisri *et al.*, 2004).

Hsl1p, an *S. pombe* Nim1p/Cdr1p homologue, in concert with Hsl7p, negatively regulates Swe1p, promoting its hyperphosphorylation and degradation (McMillan *et al.*, 1999; Shulewitz *et al.*, 1999). During unperturbed bud formation, septin-dependent localisation of Hsl1p to the bud neck drives together with Hsl7p, thought to act as an adapter, recruitment of Swe1p. Hsl7p then mediates hyperphosphorylation of Swe1p, either directly and/or more likely indirectly, perhaps by promoting the association with the bud neck of other kinases capable of phosphorylating Swe1p, including the *S. cerevisiae* Plk, Cdc5p. Consistent with this observation, Cdc5p interacts via its polo-box domain with septins at the bud neck, is necessary for Swe1p phosphorylation *in vivo*, and can phosphorylate Swe1p both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Swe1p hyperphosphorylation leads to its ubiquitination and degradation, which in turn enables activation of Cdc28p-Clb complexes and entry into mitosis (Song *et al.*, 2000; Bartholomew *et al.*, 2001; Sakchaisri *et al.*, 2004).

76

Similar to Plo1p in fission yeast, Cdc5p has multiple roles in mitotic progression in budding yeast. Among others, Cdc5p phosphorylates the cohesin subunit Scc1p, promoting cleavage by the separase Esp1p; and is also a component and regulates at distinct levels the MEN pathway, which functions predominantly to promote inactivation of mitotic Cdc28p-Clbp complexes, thereby enabling exit from mitosis (Alexandru *et al.*, 2001; Bardin and Amon, 2001; Hu *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2001; Pereira and Schiebel, 2001; Cid *et al.*, 2002; Section 1.3.3.1). Moreover, Cdc5p is both a regulator and a substrate of the APC/C, since it is necessary for APC/C-dependent proteolysis of Clb2p during anaphase, and is itself degraded in an APC/C-dependent manner during late anaphase.

Unlike Plo1p, whose protein levels remain constant throughout the cell cycle, Cdc5p accumulates periodically, with levels peaking during G2-M phase and disappearing at late anaphase (Shirayama *et al.*, 1998). The oscillating cell cycle pattern of Cdc5p is the result of both cell cycle specific transcription and proteolysis. The Mcm1p-Fkh2p-Ndd1p complex regulates G2-M-specific transcription of *CDC5* and many other 'CLB2' cluster genes, mediated by the association of Mcm1p and Fkh2p transcription factors with their cognate promoter elements (Althoefer *et al.*, 1995; Maher *et al.*, 1995; Koranda *et al.*, 2000; Kumar *et al.*, 2000; Pic *et al.*, 2000; Zhu *et al.*, 2000; Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2001; Darieva *et al.*, 2003). Notably, Mcm1p-Fkh2p-Ndd1p-driven transcriptional activation requires the concerted functions of Cdc28p-Clbp complexes, as well as of Cdc5p itself, suggesting that both Clb2p and Cdc5p control their own expression via autoregulatory feedback mechanisms (Pic-Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Reynolds *et al.*, 2003; Darieva *et al.*, 2006; Section 1.5.1.4). Cell cycle specific APC/C-dependent proteolysis of Cdc5p requires two destruction boxes (absent from Plo1p) present in the N-terminus of the kinase, and is mediated by Hct1p/Cdh1p (Nigg, 1998; Shirayama *et al.*, 1998).

1.3.3.1 Mitotic exit network (MEN)

Similar to other eukaryotes, mitotic exit in *S. cerevisiae* requires inactivation of mitotic Cdc28p-Clbp complexes (Bardin and Amon, 2001; Pintard and Peter, 2001). The MEN, a signalling cascade analogous to SIN, is necessary both for exit from mitosis, promoting mitotic Cdk inactivation, and also regulates initiation of cytokinesis. Indeed, most MEN mutants arrest in late anaphase with separated chromosomes, elongated spindles and a high content of mitotic Cdc28p-Clbp activity, whereas a few other MEN mutants manage to exit mitosis but are unable to undergo cytokinesis, emphasising the importance of the MEN for both processes (McCollum and Gould, 2001; Simanis, 2003).

Inactivation of mitotic Cdk complexes in most eukaryotes initiates at the metaphaseanaphase transition, but in budding yeast a fraction of activated Cdc28p-Clbp complexes persists beyond this point until completion of spindle elongation. It is believed that a spindle orientation checkpoint operates in budding yeast that maintains this pool of mitotic Cdc28p activity until the spindle has traversed through the bud neck and is properly placed, with one pole in the mother and the other in the daughter cell (McCollum and Gould, 2001; Simanis, 2003).

The APC/C together with Cdc20p mediates destruction of Clbps at the metaphase-anaphase transition, while after anaphase and during G1 phase Clbps are degraded by the APC/C in a Cdh1p/Hct1p-dependent manner. Sic1p also acts in late mitosis and G1 phase to inhibit Cdc28p-Clbp complexes, promoting their inactivation (Morgan, 1999). Nonetheless, Cdc28p-associated activity itself negatively regulates Cdh1p/Hct1p and Sic1p, thereby blocking mitotic Cdc28p inactivation; Cdc28p-Clb2p phosphorylates Cdh1p/Hct1p and inhibits its activity, Cdc28p-Clnp complexes phosphorylate and target for degradation Sic1p, while Swi5p, activating transcription of Sic1p during late M-G1 phase, is kept in the cytoplasm during G2 and mitosis in a Cdc28p-dependent manner (Moll *et al.*, 1991; Verma *et al.*, 1997; Jaspersen *et al.*, 1999).

The Cdc14p phosphatase (a Clp1p/Flp1p homologue) is a vital factor for inactivation of mitotic Cdc28p-Clbp complexes in late mitosis, destruction of mitotic Clbps, and ensuing exit from mitosis, since it reverses inhibitory Cdc28p-dependent phosphorylation events. Cdc14p dephosphorylates Sic1p to promote its stabilisation, Swi5p to allow its accumulation into the nucleus, and Cdh1p/Hct1p to enable its interaction with the APC/C proteolytic machinery (Jaspersen *et al.,* 1999; Morgan, 1999; Bardin and Amon, 2001).

Localisation is a major determinant of the availability of Cdc14p to its substrates. During G1, S, G2 and early mitosis, Cdc14p is sequestered away into the nucleolus, bound to Net1p/Cfi1p. In early anaphase, the combined actions of various proteins, including Cdc5p, transiently release Cdc14p into the nucleus and cytoplasm. Next, the MEN (of which Cdc14p is considered to be a component) functions at the end of anaphase and telophase to maintain Cdc14p out of the nucleolus and allow it to interact with the SPB (Yoshida *et al.,* 2002; Yoshida and Toh-e, 2002; Stegmeier *et al.,* 2002).

Similar to the SIN, the MEN is a GTPase-driven signalling cascade that comprises the Tem1p GTPase, the Bfa1p-Bub2p GAP, the Lte1p GEF, the Cdc5p, Cdc15p, Dbf2p and Dbf20p kinases, Mob1p (a Dbf2p-associated factor) and Nud1p an SPB component (Bardin and Amon, 2001; Pereira and Schiebel, 2001; Yoshida and Toh-e, 2002). The MEN components are asymmetrically distributed between the two SPBs, suggesting that asymmetry is a conserved feature between the SIN and the MEN. In budding yeast the asymmetric SPB localisation of MEN members

is thought to accommodate, via the action of the spindle orientation checkpoint, the dependency of activation of this signalling cascade on prior successful extension of the anaphase spindle through the bud neck (McCollum and Gould, 2001; Pereira and Schiebel, 2001; Simanis, 2003).

Lte1p is spatially restricted into the bud cortex until late anaphase, after which is released into the cytoplasm, while Tem1p, Cdc15p and Bub2p-Bfa1p localise during mitosis at the cytoplasmic phase of the SPB that eventually enters the bud. Nud1p is thought to act as a scaffold protein for the association of MEN components with the SPB. Tem1p is kept inactive (GDP-bound form), via the action of the GAP, until the SPB migrates into the bud during late anaphase. There, the GTPase comes into contact with Lte1p that converts it into the GTP-bound form, leading to MEN activation (Figure 1.9A). Cdc5p also impinges at various levels on the MEN pathway to regulate its activity. For example, Cdc5p is believed to phosphorylate Bfa1p, although it is still unclear whether this phosphorylation event promotes or inhibits its associated GAP activity, and is also thought to modulate activation of the Dbf2p kinase (Figure 1.9B) (Hu *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2001; Pereira and Schiebel, 2001).

Once active, Tem1p is thought to transduce a signal to Cdc15p, which then phosphorylates and activates the Dbf2p-kinase in a Mob1p-dependent manner. Although the exact mechanism is not yet clear, Dbf2p-Mob1p-associated activity promotes the dissociation of Cdc14p from Net1p/Cfi1p, and thus the release of the phosphatase out of the nucleolus (Figure 1.9) (Bardin and Amon, 2001; Pereira and Schiebel, 2001; Pintard and Peter, 2001; Stegmeier *et al.*, 2002). Once released, Cdc14p functions to promote both mitotic exit and cytokinesis. Indeed, Cdc14p has been shown to dephosphorylate Cdc15p, an event thought to allow the latter to perform a function required for cytokinesis (Figure 1.9B) (Menssen *et al.*, 2001).



Figure 1.9: The mitotic exit network (MEN) pathway in S. cerevisiae. (A) Asymmetric distribution of the Tem1p GTPase, the Bub2p-Bfa1p GAP and the Lte1p GEF between the mother cell and the bud to ensure that the MEN signalling cascade is activated during late anaphase after the spindle has successfully extended through the bud neck and the SPB of the future daughter cell has entered the bud. (B) Active Tem1p (GTP-bound form) transduces a signal to Cdc15p, which then activates the Dbf2p-kinase.Dbf2p-associated kinase activity mediates the release of Cdc14p from the nucleolus by promoting its dissociation from Net1p/Cfi1p. After its release, Cdc14p functions to promote both mitotic exit and cytokinesis.

1.4 Eukaryotic transcription

Three distinct DNA-dependent RNA polymerases mediate transcription in eukaryotic cells: RNA <u>polymerase I</u> (Pol I) synthesises rRNA; RNA <u>polymerase III</u> (Pol III) makes a variety of small RNAs, including tRNAs, 5S rRNA, U6 snRNA and transcribes various gene families of repetitive <u>short</u> <u>interspersed elements</u> (SINEs), present in mammals; RNA <u>polymerase II</u> (Pol II) is responsible for transcription of all the protein coding genes, thereby synthesising a vast number of gene-specific mRNAs. The eukaryotic RNA polymerases are multisubunit protein complexes, comprising both polymerase-specific subunits, as well as polypeptides found in all three enzymes, providing a means of co-regulation of their activities. A common feature of Pols I, II and III, is their requirement for accessory factors, acting at the promoter region and directing RNA polymerase recruitment, as well as a accurate initiation of transcription, at the start site, typically labelled '+1'. Each RNA polymerase has its own specific set of accessory and general transcription <u>f</u>actors (GTFs), constituting, in conjunction with the corresponding polymerase, the basal transcription apparatus (Lewin, 2000; Paule and White, 2000).

1.4.1 Transcription by RNA polymerase II (Pol II)

The basal Pol II transcription machinery has been conserved between eukaryotes as distant as yeasts and humans, depicted by the resemblances between these species in Pol II composition and structure itself, as well as GTF mode of function in transcription initiation. Moreover, many features of the core promoter, encompassing the transcription start site and the region where the basal Pol II machinery is recruited to initiate transcription, are also shared among eukaryotic genes, both in terms of sequence content and/or position (Hampsey, 1998; White, 2001).

A typical core promoter element is the TATA box [TATA (a/t) AA (g/a) consensus], which is found in a significant proportion of eukaryotic genes. In many species, including humans and *S. pombe*, the TATA element is almost invariably present at a distance 25-30 bp upstream from the transcription start site, while in *S. cerevisiae* its position is more flexible, ranging between 40-120 bp upstream from the start site (Hampsey, 1998; Smale and Kadonaga, 2003). The <u>initiator</u> (Inr) is another core promoter element that surrounds the transcription start site; it is rich in pyrimidine content and can also support transcription initiation in a TATA-independent manner. Indeed, core promoters exist that contain either both a TATA box and an Inr or only a TATA-box or an Inr. Furthemore, in the case of metazoans, ranging from *Drosophila* to humans, promoters devoid of a TATA box contain an Inr, and in many cases another core promoter motif, the <u>d</u>ownstream promoter

<u>e</u>lement (DPE) that acts in concert with Inr and is typically found 28-32 bp downstream from the transcription start site (Hampsey, 1998; White, 2001; Kadonaga, 2002; Smale and Kadonaga, 2003). All three types of core promoter elements mediate, although via slightly distinct means, recruitment of TFIID, a multicomponent GTF that comprises the <u>T</u>ATA box <u>b</u>inding <u>p</u>rotein (TBP) and several <u>T</u>BP-<u>a</u>ssociated <u>f</u>actors (TAFs), a key initial step in the assembly and positioning of the basal Pol II apparatus at the start site (White, 2001; Smale and Kadonaga, 2003; Levine and Tjian, 2003; Section 1.4.1.1).

Similar to *S. cerevisiae* and humans, *S. pombe* Pol II comprises twelve subunits, Rpb1-12p (Ishihama *et al.*, 1998, Lee and Young, 2000). Four subunits form the catalytic core of the enzyme (Rpb1p, Rpb2p, Rpb3 and Rpb11p) and are structurally related to the β , β' , α and α' subunits of the *Escherichia coli* RNA polymerase that is responsible for synthesis of all types of RNAs. Five are also present in Pols I and III (Rpb5p, Rpb6p, Rpb8p, Rpb10p and Rpb12p), while the other three are Pol II-specific (Ishihama *et al.*, 1998; Kimura *et al.*, 2003).

An intriguing highly conserved structural feature of the largest Pol II subunit, Rbp1p, is its <u>C</u>terminal domain (CTD), which contains tandem repeats of the YSPTSPS heptapeptide sequence. The number of the repeats varies between species, with *S. cerevisiae*, *S. pombe* and human CTD comprising twenty seven, twenty nine and fifty two such heptapeptide repeats, respectively (Hampsey, 1998; Lee and Young, 2000; Kimura *et al.*, 2003). The Rpb1p CTD is subject to phosphorylation, mediated in *S. pombe* at least in part by Mcs6p-Mcs2p, itself a Cdk that also phosphorylates Cdc2p (Section 1.3.2.3). Notably, the unphosphorylated-CTD form of Rpb1p is found only in transcription initiation-related Pol II complexes, whereas its hyperphosphorylated form is present in transcription elongation-related Pol II complexes, suggesting that CTD-dependent phosphorylation promotes the transition from the initiation to the elongation step of transcription (Hampsey, 1998).

1.4.1.1 Initiation of transcription-<u>preinitiation complex (PIC) assembly</u>

As revealed by several studies, initiation of basal transcription *in vitro* requires the ordered assembly at the promoter of the <u>preinitiation complex</u> (PIC), consisting of the TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIID, TFIIE, TFIIF and TFIIH general transcription factors, as well as Pol II (Figure 1. 10). In the case of TATA-containing Pol II promoters, TFIID initially binds to the TATA element via sequence-specific interactions of TBP with the TATA motif. X-ray crystallographic analysis has shown that TBP resembles a saddle and binds to the promoter by sitting atop and sharply bending the DNA, making sequence specific interactions with the minor groove of the TATA element (Buratowski, 1994; White,

2001; Lee and Young, 2002). In the case of TATA-less promoters, TFIID binds to DPE and Inr elements, through the functions of its associated TAFs (Levine and Tjian, 2003).

TFIIA binds to TBP and is thought to assist the interaction of TFIID with the promoter, while its role becomes more apparent under conditions of transcriptional activation. Following association of TFIID with the TATA element, TFIIB is recruited and the DNA-TFIID-TFIIB complex serves as a platform that promotes the binding of a pre-assembled complex of Pol II (in its unphosphorylated CTD form) and TFIIF, both of which interact with TFIIB. Taking into account that TFIIB also interacts with TBP, this GTF acts as a bridge between Pol II and the TATA box and is thought to assist in proper positioning of Pol II relative to the transcription start site. TFIIF tightly binds to Pol II and stabilises the preinitiation complex. Finally, TFIIE and TFIIH enter the complex forming the preinitiation complex (Figure 1. 10). TFIIE association precedes and probably facilitates recruitment of TFIIH, a multisubunit complex that exhibits DNA-dependent ATPase and ATP-dependent DNA helicase activities, the latter participating in the unwinding of the DNA around the start site during initiation of the Pol II CTD. Indeed, as shown in both humans and the budding yeast, Cdk7p-cyclin H and Kin28p are themselves components of TFIIH (Buratowski, 1994; Nikolov and Burley, 1997; Hampsey, 1998; Tirode *et al.*, 1999; White, 2001; Lee and Young, 2002; Section 1.3.2.3).

Once the preinitiation complex is assembled, TFIIH-mediated phosphorylation of the CTD releases TFIIE, which is thought to inhibit the TFIIH-associated helicase activity, allowing unwinding of promoter DNA and ensuing initiation of mRNA synthesis by Pol II. CTD phosphorylation also promotes the release of Pol II from TFIID and other GTFs, enabling it to move away from the start site, associate with appropriate elongation factors and catalyse the elongation step of transcription. In parallel, GTFs, including TFIIB, TFIIE and TFIIH, also dissociate from the complex (White, 2001; Lee and Young, 2002).



Figure 1.10: Stepwise assembly of the eukaryotic basal Pol II machinery on TATA-containing promoters. Ordered recruitment of TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIID, TFIIF, TFIIE, TFIIH and Pol II to a TATA-containing promoter to form the preinitiation complex, required for transcription initiation.

1.4.1.2 Regulation of transcription initiation

Transcription initiation is a major control point for regulation of the activity of Pol II. Initiation of mRNA synthesis involves apart from GTFs, various gene-specific transcription factors, either transcriptional activators or repressors, which exert their function by associating with their cognate DNA motifs. The binding sites for activators are termed <u>upstream activating sequences</u> (UAS) or enhancers, while repressors associate with <u>upstream repressing sequences</u> (URS) and silencers.

Typically, the term UAS refers to DNA motifs located a few hundred base pairs upstream from the start site and containing up to three closely associated binding sites for one or two transcription factors. Generally, enhancers are regarded as relatively more complex DNA elements, which in higher eukaryotes encompass several binding sites for at least three transcription factors, are located many kilobases away from the start site regardless of orientation and are involved in celltype and/or tissue specific gene expression. Similar to enhancers, silencers also function in a distance or orientation independent manner. In metazoans, the transcriptional control modules of genes are characterised by an intricate organisation of several distinct enhancer and silencer elements, as well as proximal promoter elements, located within a few hundred base pairs from the start site, thus providing a means of combinatorial control by multiple transcription factors, necessary to bring about the elaborate cell-type and tissue specific gene expression patterns in these organisms (Figure 1.11B). Unlike metazoans, the transcriptional control units of unicellular eukaryotes, such as *S. cerevisiae*, are relatively simple, encompassing a UAS and a silencer element, both of which are found within a few hundred base pairs from the core promoter (Figure 1.11A) (Levine and Tjian, 2003; Lodish *et al.*, 2003). Transcription factors associate with their cognate DNA elements and regulate transcription initiation by means of either direct or indirect interactions with components of the basal transcription apparatus, such as the GTFs (Lee and Young, 2002).



Figure 1.11: Arrangement of *cis*-acting elements in *S. cerevisiae* and metazoan Pol II promoters. (A) A typical Pol II promoter unit in budding yeast contains core promoter elements, such as a TATA box and an initiator element (Inr), as well as an <u>upstream activating sequence</u> (UAS) and a silencer at a distance of no more that a few hundred base pairs from the start site. (B) Metazoan transcriptional regulatory modules are complex and contain apart from the core promoter, itself encompassing a TATA box, an <u>initiator element</u> (Inr) and/or a <u>downstream promoter element</u> (DPE), promoter proximal <u>elements</u> (PPE) within 100-200 bp from the start site and multiple enhancer and silencer elements at distances of thousand of kilobases away from the start site and in either orientation (adapted from Levine and Tjian, 2003).

1.4.1.2.1 Srb/Mediator

A subset of GTFs, including TFIIE, TFIIH, TFIIF and TFIIB, either together or individually, have been detected in DNA-free complexes, termed holoenzymes, containing Pol II (Conaway and Conaway, 1993; White, 2001). As initially shown in budding yeast, another multisubunit complex, the Srb/Mediator, has also been identified as a holoenzyme component that interacts with the Pol II CTD (Kim *et al.*, 1994; Koleske and Young, 1994). Metazoans appear to possess more than one Srb/Mediator-like complex. Srb/Mediator constitutes a distinct class of transcriptional regulatory co-factor that functions as an interface between gene-specific transcription factors and the basal transcriptional apparatus, thereby relaying modulatory information between them. Indeed, many transcriptional activators exert their stimulatory role on transcription by directly associating with the Srb/Mediator, which, although itself unable to specifically contact promoter DNA, physically interacts with the Pol II machinery. Apart from its role as a bridge between transcriptional activators and the basal transcription apparatus, Srb/Mediator has also been shown to stimulate the CTD-specific kinase activity of TFIIH (Lee and Young, 2000; Levine and Tjian, 2003; Malik and Roeder, 2000; Myers and Kornberg, 2000; Woychik and Hampsey, 2002).

1.4.1.2.2 Specific transcription factors: activators and repressors

Activators are a prerequisite for eukaryotic transcription within cells, since the basal Pol II apparatus is inefficient in accessing DNA packaged into chromatin. Indeed, as shown in budding yeast, TBP associates with core promoters *in vivo* in an activator-dependent manner. Contrary to the basal transcription apparatus, many activators are only modestly inhibited by chromatin and can therefore bind to their cognate DNA and function via distinct mechanisms to promote Pol II recruitment and transcription initiation (Struhl, 1999; White, 2001; Lee and Young, 2002). Unlike transcriptional activators, repressors are not a necessity for maintaining a low level of transcriptional activity in general, but they are important for transcriptional regulation of various eukaryotic genes (Struhl, 1999).

A shared structural feature between transcriptional activators and repressors is their modular nature; they consist of functionally autonomous domains, typically a DNA-binding domain and an activation or repressor domain as appropriate, the former stimulating and the latter inhibiting transcription. The structure of the DNA binding domain confers DNA sequence-binding specificity to a transcription factor, allowing it to associate with only a distinct type of UAS or enhancer in the case of an activator, or a URS or silencer in the case of a repressor (Lodish *et al.*, 2003). These *cis*-acting elements are normally part of the transcriptional control module of more than one gene, thereby

providing a means to the respective transcription factor to co-ordinately regulate transcription and ensuing expression of a group of genes.

There are various types of DNA-binding domains, each containing a characteristic structural motif that mediates binding of the transcription factor to its cognate DNA sequence. In fact, transcription factors are classified according to the type of the structural motif of their DNA-binding domain. Common types of DNA-binding domains found in eukaryotic transcription factors include the homeodomain, consisting of a region with similarity to the helix-turn-helix motif of prokaryotic transcription factors, the related POU domain, found in metazoan transcription factors, the bZIP domain, containing the leucine zipper motif, and the bHLH domain, comprising the helix-loop-helix motif. Moreover, the DNA-binding domains of a plethora of transcription factors contain distinct classes of the zinc finger structural motif, which is also found in non-DNA binding proteins (White, 2001; Lodish *et al.*, 2003). Finally, with relevance to the topic of this thesis, other types of DNA-binding domains include those found in the MADS-box and forkhead/HNF-3 families of transcription factors.

1.4.1.2.3 MADS-box transcription factors

MADS-box transcription factors are a large protein family with members present in a diverse range of eukaryotes (Shore and Sharrocks, 1995). The signature feature of these transcription factors is the MADS-box motif, a 56 amino acid region that is found within the DNA-binding domain and supports both DNA-binding specificity and dimer formation. MADS-box proteins are named after five family members; Mcm1p and Arg80p in budding yeast, Agamous and Deficiens in plants and SRF (serum response factor) in humans (Dubois *et al.*, 1987; Norman *et al.*, 1988; Passmore *et al.*, 1989; Sommer *et al.*, 1990; Yanofsky *et al.*, 1990). Thus far, several MADS-box transcription factors have been identified, while as revealed by sequence database searches in plants, many more putative MADS-box genes await their discovery.

A diverse array of biological roles have been assigned to MADS-box transcription factors; SRF is required for the expression of immediate-early genes, such as *c-fos*, following mitogenic stimulation in proliferative cells, as well as of muscle-specific genes in post-mitotic muscle cells; Arg80p regulates the expression of genes involved in arginine metabolism; Deficiens controls the expression of floral organ identity genes. Meanwhile, Mcm1p modulates the expression of genes involved in diverse biological processes, including among others arginine metabolism, cell-type determination, mating and cell cycle regulation (Norman *et al.*, 1988; Sommer *et al.*, 1990; Treisman

and Ammerer, 1992; Shore and Sharrocks, 1995; Althoefer *et al.*, 1995; McInerny *et al.*, 1997; Kumar *et al.*, 2000; Messenguy and Dubois, 2003).

MADS-box transcription factors are classified into two types. Type I members, such as Mcm1p and Arg80p, share greatest similarity with SRF, while type II members are more similar to mammalian <u>myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2</u> (MEF2) proteins, which regulate expression of muscle-specific genes. Typically, both SRF-like and MEF2-like transcription factors exist in each eukaryotic species. Sequence alignments have shown that the 56 amino acid MADS-box motif is highly conserved, its N-terminal and C-terminal halves required for DNA binding and dimerisation, respectively. Variations between family members exist in the adjacent, ~30 amino acid, C-terminal region of the MADS-box motif, thought to confer dimerisation specificity and mediate interactions with other proteins (Figure 1.12). In most cases, the MADS-box is present at the N-terminus but in certain proteins, such as SRF, is found near the middle, or in others even towards the C-terminus (Shore and Sharrocks, 1995; Messenguy and Dubois, 2003).

MADS-box family members share similarities in their cognate DNA-binding sites, characterised by a 10 bp AT-rich core sequence, although individual proteins display distinct sequence preferences; SRF-like proteins bind to CC(A/T)₆GG, whereas MEF2-like proteins associate with CTA(A/T)₄TAG (Pollock and Treisman, 1991). Consistent with this, X-ray crystallography studies with MADS-box proteins have shown that the DNA-binding domains of SRF and Mcm1p contact DNA in a similar manner, inducing a comparable degree of DNA bending, while MEF2-like proteins bend the DNA to a lesser extent. Nonetheless, both SRF- and MEF2- like proteins bind to DNA as dimers, their DNA-binding domains adopting an overall similar three-layered dimer structure that fits well with the dyad symmetry of their cognate DNA sequences (Pellegrini *et al.,* 1995; Tan and Richmond, 1998; Huang *et al.,* 2000).

A common characteristic of MADS-box transcription factors is their combinatorial nature; these proteins, apart from homo- and hetero- dimerisation with other MADS-box members, can interact with other transcription factors or co-factors to modulate either positively or negatively transcription of genes with diverse functions. Therefore, the associated DNA-binding partner(s) of MADS-box transcription factors confer regulatory specificity to the resulting modulatory transcription factor complex. For example, in α -haploid cells, Mcm1p, when combined with the a2 protein, represses expression of a-specific genes, whereas together with the a1 protein stimulates expression of α -specific genes (Shore and Sharrocks, 1995; Messenguy and Dubois, 2003). Meanwhile, with relevance to the topic of this thesis, Mcm1p acts in concert with Fkh2p, a forkhead/HNF-3 family member, and the Ndd1p co-activator to mediate G2-M specific expression of the 'CLB2' gene cluster. Mcm1p and Fkh2p bind co-operatively to the promoters of 'CLB2' cluster

genes, with the latter requiring prior binding of the former (Koranda *et al.,* 2000; Kumar *et al.,* 2000; Pic *et al.,* 2000; Zhu *et al.,* 2000; Hollenhorst *et al.,* 2001; Boros *et al.,* 2003; Darieva *et al.,* 2003).

Thus far, three genes encoding MADS-box proteins have been identified in *S. pombe*; $map1^+$ is involved in expression of cell-type specific genes in response to mating-pheromone signalling but has no apparent roles in mitotic cell cycle control (Yabana and Yamamoto, 1996); $pvg4^+$ has been suggested to regulate genes involved in the biosynthesis of the pyruvylated Gal β 1,3-epitope in N-linked glycans (Andreishcheva *et al.*, 2004); $mbx1^+$, a major topic of this thesis (Chapters 4, 5 and 6), encodes a protein mostly related to Map1p, Mcm1p and Arg80p and is involved together with Fkh2p and Sep1p, two forkhead/HNF-3 transcription factors, in M-G1 specific expression of many genes that control various aspects of mitosis, including sister chromatid separation, septation and cytokinesis (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005; Petit *et al.*, 2005; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 1.12: Schematic representation of type I and type II classes of MADS (Mcm1p, Agamous or Arg80p, Deficiens and SRF)-box domains and the distinct types of adjacent C-terminal regions. MADS-box domains are classified into type I (SRF-like) and type II (MEF2-like). Both types of MADS-box domains are found in eukaryotes, including fungi, animals and plants. MADS-box family members differ in the region found at the C-terminus of the MADS-box domain; SAM (SRF, Arg80p and Mcm1p) and MEF2 (myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2) represent such C-terminal extensions, the former present in Mcm1p and Arg80p (budding yeast), Map1p (fission yeast) and SRF (animal) and the latter in Rlm1p and Smp1p (budding yeast) and MEF2 (animal). "?" denotes C-terminal domains of plant family members not well characterised (adapted from Messenguy and Dubois, 2003).

Type I

1.4.1.2.4 Forkhead/HNF-3 transcription factors

The forkhead/HNF-3 family of transcription factors derives its name from its founding members; the encoded protein of the *Drosophila* forkhead gene, shown to be necessary for the formation of terminal structures in the embryo, and a small group of hepatocyte enriched transcription factors in rodents, the so-called hepatocyte nuclear factor 3 (HNF-3) family (Lai *et al.*, 1990; Weigel and Jäckle, 1990). The nuclear localisation of the forkhead protein in *Drosophila* provided the first clues about the role of forkhead/HNF-3 (termed also forkhead for convenience) proteins as transcriptional regulators. The forkhead gene was shown to be necessary for proper formation of the tissues and organs where it was expressed, since its mutation led to homeotic transformation of gut structures into head-derived components (Kaufmann and Knochel, 1996).

Many diverse eukaryotic species, ranging from the budding and fission yeasts to humans, have been shown to possess several forkhead proteins, with roles in development, differentiation and cell cycle control (Yang *et al.*, 1997; Kaestner *et al.*, 2000; Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2000; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Costa, 2005; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). Forkhead proteins share a 110 amino acid monomeric DNA-binding domain. As revealed by X-ray crystallography studies with an HNF-3 protein, when bound to DNA, the DNA-binding domain adopts a butterfly-like structure, related to the helix-turn-helix motif and consisting of three α helices, an anti-parallel three stranded β -sheet and two intervening loop, 'wing'-like, regions. Due to the presence of the two 'wings' in the DNA-binding domain, forkhead proteins are also termed 'winged helix' (Clark *et al.*, 1993; Kaufmann and Knochel, 1996).

Consistent with the conservation within their DNA-binding domain, forkhead transcription factors recognise a common 7 bp core sequence (RTAAAYA, where R and Y correspond to G/C and C/T). Sequences flanking this core promoter element vary between individual family members and are thought to contribute to binding specificity (Kaufmann *et al.*, 1995; Kaufmann and Knochel, 1996). A subset of forkhead transcription factors contain a phosphopeptide recognition module, the so-called <u>forkh</u>ead-<u>a</u>ssociated domain (FHA), mediating binding to proteins phosphorylated at threonine residues. Apart from forkhead/HNF-3 family members, the FHA domain is also present in many other prokaryotic and eukaryotic proteins, involved in several processes, including signal transduction and transcription (Durocher and Jackson, 2002).

As already discussed in the previous section, two forkhead transcription factors in *S. cerevisiae*, Fkh1p and Fkh2p, are together with Mcm1p part of the regulatory network that drives G2-M specific transcription of the 'CLB2' gene cluster. A similar, yet distinct, circuit operates in *S. pombe*, also involving two forkhead transcription factors and a MADS-box protein.

1.4.1.2.5 Mechanisms of transcriptional activation and repression

Activators employ distinct mechanisms to stimulate transcription. In many cases, activators promote recruitment of the basal Pol II apparatus to the promoter region by association via their activation domains either with GTFs, or transcriptional co-activators, such as Srb/Mediator. Alternatively, activators stimulate transcription by mediating changes in chromatin structure, since they are capable of recruiting chromatin remodelling complexes (White, 2001; Lee and Young, 2002). For example, in budding yeast the Swi5p transcription factor positively regulates transcription of the *HO* gene by mediating recruitment to the promoter of the Swi/Snf chromatin modification complex, which in turn facilitates the recruitment of the SAGA complex. The associated histone acetylase activity of SAGA then enables binding of the SBF transcriptional activator, which recruits the basal Pol II apparatus at the *HO* promoter (Cosma *et al.*, 1999). In a few instances, activators stimulate transcription by affecting transcriptional post-initiation steps, such as the elongation rate of Pol II (Blau *et al.*, 1996).

Various repressors have been identified in organisms ranging from the budding yeast to humans, demonstrating the effectiveness of repression as a regulatory mechanism of eukaryotic transcription. Repressor molecules can affect transcription either generally or in a gene-specific manner. Many general repressors negatively regulate transcription by associating with components of the basal transcriptional apparatus. Examples include budding yeast Mot1p and human Dr1p-Drap1p complex, both of which bind to TBP, the former causing it to dissociate from the TATA box, while the latter blocking its interaction with TFIIA and TFIIB. Other repressors function by mediating changes in chromatin structure, including the recruitment of histone deacetylases, which themselves operate as gene-specific or general repressors via their distinct effects on chromatin but are unable to directly interact with DNA. Finally, many gene-specific repressors exert their negative role on transcription by interacting and sequestering an activator or, alternatively, by competing with an activator for overlapping DNA binding sites (Inostroza *et al.*, 1992; Hampsey, 1998; Lee and Young, 2002).

1.5 Cell cycle-regulated transcription in the budding and fission yeasts

Classical single-gene studies and consequent genome-wide microarray analyses in the budding and fission yeasts, combined with the availability of genomic sequence data, have provided a description of the global mRNA program of these model organisms. These genome-wide transcriptional analyses have unravelled the existence of consecutive waves of transcriptional activity during the

mitotic cell cycle, each corresponding to a cluster of co-regulated genes that are periodically transcribed at a specific cell cycle time under control of the same *trans*-acting transcription factors bound to their cognate, *cis*-acting, promoter elements.

Cell cycle-specific transcription is common among genes whose products are required only once at a specific cell cycle point, for instance the proteins necessary for DNA replication, as well as genes encoding proteins functioning as molecular switches within the cell, such as transcription factors. This mode of cell cycle-regulated transcription and ensuing expression might be crucial for normal advancement through the cell cycle, as in the case of cyclins, whose phase-specific expression drives orderly mitotic progression and aberrant accumulation is detrimental for cell viability. Alternatively, cell cycle specific transcription might offer a means of maximising cell economy, ensuring that a gene is transcribed coincidentally with the time of function of its encoded protein within the cell (Futcher, 2000; Breeden, 2003; McInerny, 2004).

In budding yeast, microarray data analysis has demonstrated that the transcripts of up to 800 genes, corresponding to more than 10% of the total number of genes in the genome, fluctuate in abundance in a cell cycle-dependent manner. Based on their cell cycle-dependent transcriptional patterns, these genes are clustered into distinct groups containing co-regulated genes, including the M-G1-, G1- and S- specific gene clusters, as well as the 'CLB2' cluster, with genes maximally transcribed during the G2-M phase (Figure 1.13A) (Cho *et al.*, 1998; Spellman *et al.*, 1998; Wittenberg and Reed, 2005).

Relative to budding yeast, in fission yeast a smaller number of genes are periodically transcribed during the mitotic cell cycle. Depending on individual microarray studies, the mRNA levels of 400-750 genes have been shown to oscillate in abundance during the cell cycle, of which 140 show high-amplitude changes and are classified into four major transcriptional waves, namely the G1-S, S-, G2- and M-G1- specific gene clusters (Figure 1.13B) (McInerny, 2004; Rustici *et al.,* 2004; Oliva *et al.,* 2005; Peng *et al.,* 2005).

Cell cycle specific transcription appears to be a conserved theme among eukaryotes, since large-scale transcriptional analysis in human cells reveals ~800 genes with fluctuations in their transcript levels (Cho *et al.*, 2001). Comparisons between the global transcription programs of the budding and fission yeasts show that they share a common group of ~40 periodically transcribed genes, which also seems to be conserved in human cells, suggesting that for these genes regulation of their expression is of great importance (McInerny, 2004; Wittenberg and Reed, 2005).



Figure 1.13: Phase-specific gene clusters and their regulatory transcriptional networks in budding and fission yeasts. (A) Six groups of co-transcribed genes exist in *S. cerevisiae*. Two gene groups are expressed during G1 phase under MCB-MBF and SCB-SBF control, respectively. Histone genes are expressed in S phase, while the 'CLB2' gene cluster is transcribed during the G2-M interval and is regulated by forkhead/HNF-3 and MADS-box transcription factors and the Ndd1p co-activator protein. Finally, the 'SIC1' gene cluster is expressed during the M-G1 interval, subject to Swi5p/Ace2p regulation, while several other genes, such as *CDC6*, are expressed during the M-G1 interval due to transcriptional regulation by the Mcm1p MADS-box transcription factor and the Yox1p and Yhp1p repressors. (B) Five phase-specific groups of co-regulated genes have been identified in *S. pombe*. A gene cluster is specifically transcribed in G1-S phase under MBF/DSC1 control. Histone genes are expressed in S phase, while a diverse group of genes is expressed during G2. Two gene clusters are periodically transcribed during M-G1 phase, the one under control of forkhead/HNF-3 and MADS-box transcription factors, related to and/or part of the PBF complex, while the other is regulated by the Ace2p transcription factor (see Section 1.5 for details of transcriptional mechanisms).

1.5.1 S. cerevisiae M-G1, G1, S and G2-M gene clusters and their regulation

1.5.1.1 M-G1 specific gene clusters

Numerous genes are specifically expressed during the M-G1 interval in *S. cerevisiae* (Cho *et al.*, 1998; Spellman *et al.*, 1998). A subset of these genes, including *SWI4* and *CLN3*, as well as *CDC6*, *CDC46* and *CDC47*, encoding proteins with functions in DNA replication, are periodically transcribed during the M-G1 interval due to transcriptional regulation by Mcm1p and the Yox1p and Yhp1p repressors. The <u>early cell cycle box</u> (ECB), a 16 bp palindrome, is present in the promoter regions of these genes and provides a binding site for Mcm1p (McInerny *et al.*, 1997). Yox1p and Yhp1p also bind to their cognate sequence, found nearby the ECB, and can also associate with Mcm1p (Pramila *et al.*, 2002). Mcm1p associates with the ECB throughout the cell cycle, while Yox1p and Yhp1p bind to their cognate sequence and repress transcription at all times but for the M-G1 interval, when they are absent from the cell, thereby allowing transcription to ensue only during this time (Mai *et al.*, 2002; Wittenberg and Reed, 2005).

Another subset of M-G1 expressed genes is the 'SIC1' cluster, named after one of its members, the Cdk inhibitor gene *SIC1* (Spellman *et al.*, 1998). Phase-specific transcription of the 'SIC1' cluster genes is mediated by the Swi5p and Ace2p transcription factors, both of which bind to the same set of DNA-binding sequences (the Swi5p binding site) at the genes' promoters and they can either activate or repress transcription, determined by their associated co-factors (McBride *et al.*, 1999; Wittenberg and Reed, 2005).

1.5.1.2 G1 phase-specific gene cluster

The heterodimeric MBF and SBF transcription factors, sharing a common subunit (Swi6p) and containing different DNA-binding subunits (Mbp1p and Swi4p), regulate late G1 transcription of genes involved in initiation of DNA replication and other events that promote the G1-S transition. MBF and SBF associate with related DNA promoter sequences, termed <u>Mlul cell cycle box (MCB)</u> and <u>Swi4p cell cycle box (SCB)</u>, consistent with a partial overlap between these transcription factors in terms of function, DNA-binding specificity and SCB and MCB presence within promoters (Breeden and Nasmyth, 1987; Andrews and Herskowitz, 1989; Koch *et al.*, 1993; Breeden, 1996; Wittenberg and Reed, 2005). Nonetheless, despite these similarities, MBF and SBF appear to regulate functionally discrete groups of genes; MBF-regulated genes, including *RNR1*, *POL2*, *CLB5* and *CLB6*, are implicated in DNA replication and repair, while SBF-regulated genes, including *PCL1*,

PCL2, *GIN4*, *CLN1* and *CLN2*, are important, amongst others, for cell morphogenesis and SPB duplication (lyer *et al.*, 2001; Simon *et al.*, 2001). SBF- and MBF- dependent transcription is positively regulated by Cdc28p-Cln1-3p complexes. Notably, Cdc28p-Cln3p activates late G1-S specific transcription by phosphorylating and inhibiting Whi5p, a transcriptional repressor that binds to promoters through SBF. During late G1 phase, the associated kinase activity of Cdc28p is thought to activate transcription by promoting Whi5p dissociation from SBF and its exit from the nucleus (Costanzo *et al.*, 2004; DeBruin *et al.*, 2004; Bähler, 2005).

1.5.1.3 S phase-specific gene clusters

Nine genes encode histones in *S. cerevisiae* and are specifically transcribed during S phase. Cell cycle specific transcription of the histone genes involves the Hir1p and Hir2p repressors, which bind to the genes' promoters and are thought to function via the recruitment of chromatin remodelling complexes. Interestingly, SBF and possibly MBF also bind to histone promoters, which contain SBF-related binding sites, but it is so far unclear whether and how these transcription factors are implicated in transcriptional regulation of the histone genes.

Another group of genes, the so-called 'MET' cluster, is also specifically transcribed during S phase. The mechanisms underlying transcriptional control of these genes, most of which are involved in methionine biosynthesis, are not known (Osley *et al.,* 1986; Sherwood *et al.,* 1993; Cho *et al.,* 1998; Spellman *et al.,* 1998; Iyer *et al.,* 2001; Simon *et al.,* 2001; Kato *et al.,* 2004).

1.5.1.4 G2-M specific gene cluster

Several genes, members of the 'CLB2' cluster, are periodically transcribed from late S phase until nuclear division, their transcript levels peaking during the G2-M interval. The *CLB1* and *CLB2* mitotic cyclin genes are constituents of this cluster, hence the name. Other 'CLB2' cluster members include the genes encoding the Cdc5p kinase, the Cdc20p APC/C-dependent specificity factor and the Ace2p and Swi5p transcription factors (Surana *et al.*, 1991; Cho *et al.*, 1998; Spellman *et al.*, 1998).

Early work in transcriptional control of *SWI5* and *CLB2* provided insight into the underlying network that mediates G2-M specific transcription, encompassing a 55-bp UAS and two *trans*-acting factors, Mcm1p and <u>Swi</u> five <u>factor</u> (SFF), the latter an unknown at the time protein. Mcm1p associated as a dimer with its DNA binding site in the UAS on its own, while binding of SFF to its cognate sequence required the formation of a ternary complex with Mcm1p (Lydall *et al.*, 1991; Althoefer *et al.*, 1995; Maher *et al.*, 1995). Later studies have shown that the SFF-binding site

(RTAAAYA), located in close proximity to the Mcm1p-binding site, is identical to the forkhead DNA motif and SFF corresponds to Fkh2p, which is recruited to 'CLB2' cluster promoters in an Mcm1p-dependent manner. Fkh1p also associates with the forkhead DNA motif within 'CLB2' promoter regions and is involved in control of G2-M transcription, displaying both redundant but also distinct functions relative to Fkh2p.

Fkh1p and Fkh2p are highly related, sharing an overall 47% identity and 82% similarity, while their DNA-binding domains are 72% identical and they both contain an FHA domain. Consistent with the similarities between Fkh1p and Fkh2p and partially overlapping functions, deletion of both *FKH1* and *FKH2*, but not either one alone, causes cell morphology and separation defects, delayed mitotic entry and disrupts periodic, G2-M specific transcription of 'CLB2' genes, resulting in basal transcript levels throughout the cell cycle (Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2000; Kumar *et al.*, 2000; Pic *et al.*, 2000; Zhu *et al.*, 2000; Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2001). Differences between Fkh1p and Fkh2p also exist, since Fkh2p- but not Fkh1p- promoter binding requires Mcm1p. The distinct promoter-binding dependencies of the two forkhead transcription factors result from two Fkh2p features; a motif that promotes co-operative binding with Mcm1p and an autoinhibitory domain that prevents DNA binding in the absence of Mcm1p (Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2001; Boros *et al.*, 2003).

Fkh2p and Mcm1p associate with the promoters of G2-M transcribed genes constantly during the cell cycle, necessitating the presence of additional regulatory elements to drive periodic transcriptional activity. Ndd1p, a co-activator molecule that, when overexpressed, up-regulates transcription of 'CLB2' genes, transiently associates with the promoters of these genes during the G2-M interval, leading to transcriptional activation. Ndd1p is itself periodically expressed during S and G2 phases and is recruited to the promoters in a Fkh2p-dependent manner, via its interaction with the FHA domain (Loy *et al.*, 1999; Koranda *et al.*, 2000; Darieva *et al.*, 2003; Reynolds *et al.*, 2003). It is thought that Fkh2p plays both positive and negative roles in transcription of 'CLB2' genes and that Ndd1p recruitment relieves Fkh2p-mediated transcriptional repression. Indeed, deletion of *FKH2* suppresses the lethality caused by deletion of *NDD1*, an essential gene. Apparently, Fkh1p exerts its modulatory role in transcription of the 'CLB2' cluster via an Ndd1p-independent mechanism, since mutants lacking both *FKH1* and *NDD1* are inviable (Koranda *et al.*, 2000).

Early studies have suggested a requirement for Cdc28p-Clbp-related activity for G2-M specific transcription (Amon *et al.*, 1993). Consistent with this, recent work has shown that Cdc28p-Clb2p phosphorylates Ndd1p and promotes its association with the FHA domain of Fkh2p (Darieva *et al.*, 2003; Reynolds *et al.*, 2003). Taking into account that *CLB2* is regulated by the Mcm1p-Fkh2p-Ndd1p complex, it appears that Cdc28p-Clb2p-dependent phosphorylation of Ndd1p is part of a positive feedback loop that operates to further enhance *CLB2* transcription.

Fkh2p is also periodically phosphorylated during the cell cycle with a timing that immediately precedes the onset of expression of 'CLB2' genes (Pic *et al.*, 2000). Cdc28p-Clb5p complexes are predominantly responsible for phosphorylation of Fkh2p, which contains several potential Cdk target sites (S/TP) preferentially located within its extended C-terminal region. Cdc28p-Clb5p-dependent phosphorylation of Fkh2p is thought to enhance intermolecular interactions with Ndd1p, contributing to its recruitment to Mcm1p-Fkh2p complexes and ensuing transcriptional activation (Pic-Taylor *et al.*, 2004).

Regulation of G2-M specific transcription involves yet another kinase, Cdc5p, which is recruited to 'CLB2' cluster promoters in a cell cycle specific manner, coincidentally with transcriptional activation of these genes. Fkh2p interacts with Cdc5p and mediates its recruitment to 'CLB2' promoter regions. Cdc5p then specifically phosphorylates Ndd1p at Ser 85 within a Cdc5p target site that matches the mammalian Plk1p consensus phosphorylation sequence (D/E-X-S/T- φ -X-D/E, where φ is a hydrophobic and X any amino acid). Cdc5p-dependent phosphorylation of Ndd1p is thought to promote cell cycle-specific recruitment of Ndd1p to the promoters of 'CLB2' cluster genes (Darieva *et al.*, 2006). Similar to *CLB2*, *CDC5* is under transcriptional control of the Mcm1p-Fkh2p-Ndd1p complex and at the same time regulates its activity, suggesting that it operates via a positive feedback loop to promote G2-M specific gene expression.

1.5.2 S. pombe G1-S, S, G2 and M-G1 gene clusters and their regulation

1.5.2.1 G1-S specific gene cluster

In fission yeast, various genes promoting S phase entry and progression, including those encoding the S phase cyclin Cig2p, the replication factors Cdc18p and Cdt1p and the large subunit of the ribonucleotide reductase Cdc22p, are specifically expressed during the G1-S interval. The MBF/DSC1 transcription factor complex (Section 1.3.2.1), related to MBF in budding yeast, regulates G1-S specific transcription of these genes by binding to promoter sequences identical to the *S. cerevisiae* MCB motif (Lowndes *et al.*, 1992; Kelly *et al.*, 1993; Hofmann and Beach, 1994; Ayte *et al.*, 2001; Maqbool *et al.*, 2003).

At least three proteins are components of the MBF/DSC1 complex: Cdc10p, Res1p and Res2p. Association of the MBF/DSC1 complex with the promoters of its target genes is mediated via the N-terminal DNA-binding domains of Res1p and Res2p, which interact through their C-termini with Cdc10p, a regulatory subunit. Rep2p, a co-regulatory protein that specifically interacts with Res2p, is also considered to be part of the MBF/DSC1 complex (Ayte *et al.*, 1995; Whitehall *et al.*, 1999; White

et al., 2001). An MBF/DSC1-related complex also operates during the fission yeast meiotic cell cycle to regulate transcription of genes involved in pre-meiotic DNA replication (Cunliffe *et al.,* 2004).

The MBF/DSC1 complex exerts both positive and negative regulatory roles in G1-S specific transcription (McInerny, 2004). Early work has implicated Cdc2p-cyclin G1 complexes in regulation of MBF/DSC1-specific transcriptional activity, although recent work suggests that rather another kinase, the Pas1p-Pef1p complex, mediates MBF/DSC1-dependent transcriptional activation during the G1-S interval (Reymond *et al.*, 1993; Whitehall *et al.*, 1999; Bähler, 2005). Moreover, Cig2p has been shown to bind to Res2p and then phosphorylate Res1p, via its associated Cdc2p kinase activity, leading to inhibition of G1-S specific transcription. Since Cig2p itself is periodically transcribed in the G1-S phase under MBF/DSC1 control, it appears that a negative feedback loop operates to down-regulate MBF/DSC1-dependent transcriptional activity, following Cig2p transcription and the ensuing rise of Cdc2p-Cig2p kinase activity (Ayte *et al.*, 2001).

1.5.2.2 S phase-specific gene cluster

Similar to *S. cerevisiae*, histone genes are periodically expressed during S phase in *S. pombe*. Thus far, there is limited knowledge about the promoter elements and transcription factors that mediate transcription of these genes. A 17 bp DNA promoter element, consisting of AACCCT repeats is present in histone promoters that might be involved in transcriptional regulation, but its associated transcription factor complex is yet unknown (McInerny, 2004).

1.5.2.3 G2 phase-specific gene cluster

During G2 phase a heterogeneous population of genes are expressed, with most of them only weakly regulated, displaying low fluctuations in their mRNA levels. *spd1*⁺, a negative regulator of DNA replication, is one of most highly regulated genes of this cluster, its transcript levels peaking in early G2. In terms of transcriptional regulation, a single DNA motif, termed Novel 3, has been shown to be present within the promoters of a subset of these genes, while no transcription factor has yet been identified. It is assumed that many of these genes are preferentially regulated at the level of mRNA stability (Rustici *et al.,* 2004).

1.5.2.4 M-G1 specific gene clusters

Several *S. pombe* genes are specifically expressed late in the cell cycle, their mRNA levels peaking during late mitosis-early G1 phase (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Oliva *et al.*, 2005; Peng *et al.*, 2005). Consistent with their periodic transcriptional pattern, many of these genes encode proteins with functions in late mitotic stages, including among others *plo1*⁺, *fin1*⁺, *mid1*⁺, *sid2*⁺, *slp1*⁺, *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺, their functions discussed in earlier sections, as well as *ace2*⁺, encoding a transcription factor that controls expression of another subset of genes during M-G1 phase (Fankhauser *et al.*, 1995; Balasubramanian *et al.*, 1998; Bähler *et al.*, 1998; Kim *et al.*, 1998; Krien *et al.*, 1998; Tanaka *et al.*, 2001; Grallert and Hagan, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Alonso-Nunez *et al.*, 2005; Ng *et al.*, 2006).

A number of studies have begun to unravel the regulatory network underlying periodic transcription of this M-G1 gene cluster. Earlier work has revealed a role for Plo1p in the regulation of these M-G1 transcribed genes, including *plo1*⁺ itself, whilst in parallel identified a transcription factor complex that binds *in vitro* to a 6 bp sequence, related to the forkhead sequence and found within the respective promoters. This promoter element and its associated transcription factor complex have been termed Pombe cell cycle box (PCB) and PCB-binding factor, respectively (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Section 3.1.1). Later work has revealed that an Mcm1p-related transcription factor, Mbx1p, is a component of PBF that is important for the association of this complex, at least *in vitro*, with the PCB element. Meanwhile, the forkhead transcription factors Sep1p and Fkh2p, the former already known to be necessary for cell cycle-specific expression of *cdc15*⁺, have been shown to be necessary for M-G1-dependent transcription, consistent with the presence of forkhead DNA motifs within the genes' promoters (Zilahi *et al.*, 2000; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004).

Both Fkh2p and Mbx1p are phosphoproteins that are periodically phosphorylated during late M phase (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004). Since Plo1p is implicated in transcriptional regulation of M-G1 transcribed genes it is tempting to speculate that this kinase exerts its regulatory role via direct phosphorylation of Fkh2 and/or Mbx1p. Indeed, this study reveals that Plo1p binds *in vitro* and *in vivo* to Mbx1p. Consistent with this, Plo1p directly phosphorylates this MADS-box transcription factor *in vitro*. In parallel, as also shown here and elsewhere, Sep1p and Fkh2p appear to regulate cell-cycle specific transcription of this gene cluster in a positive and negative manner, respectively (Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008; Chapters 5 and 6).

Another group of at least seven genes are expressed during the M-G1 interval under control of the encoded product of *ace2*⁺, itself a member of the Sep1p/Fkh2p-regulated gene cluster and a

homologue of *S. cerevisiae ACE2*. These genes, such as *eng1*⁺, are required for cell separation and contain in their promoters a DNA motif similar to the *S. cerevisiae* Ace2p/Swi5p binding sequence (Martín-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2003; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005).

1.6 Conserved aspects of the cell cycle transcriptional circuitry

A combination of single-gene and genome-wide studies in model organisms, such as the budding and fission yeasts, and in metazoans, including humans, reveals that parallels exist in the underlying regulatory networks that drive cell cycle specific transcription in these distantly related organisms. Examples of common features of cell cycle-regulated transcription include, among others, functional similarities of the MBF/SBF and MBF/DSC1 complexes in S. cerevisiae and S. pombe with the mammalian E2F-DP bipartite transcription factor complex that regulates G1-S-dependent transcription of genes that mediate progress past the Restriction point and entry into S phase and encode cell cycle regulators, such as cyclins A and E and Cdk1p, as well as proteins required for DNA replication, including thymidine kinase and DNA polymerase a. Indeed, although the E2F family members lack amino acid sequence similarity with their related SBF/MBF and MBF/DSC1 components, they adopt an analogous winged helix-related fold and associate with DNA promoter sequences that closely resemble the MCB/SCB motifs (Dyson, 1998; Zheng et al., 1999; Ren et al., 2002; Breeden, 2003; Bähler, 2005). Moreover, certain aspects of cyclin A-mediated regulation of E2F-specific gene expression resemble the Cig2p-dependent feedback loop that is thought to inhibit MBF/DSC1 activity, since cyclin A is itself an E2F-DP target gene (Ayte et al., 2001; Stevens and LaThangue, 2003).

Apart from similarities between SBF/MBF, MBF/DSC1 and E2F-DP-dependent regulatory mechanisms, *S. cerevisiae*, *S. pombe* and mammalian cells also appear to share common features in transcriptional control by MADS-box and forkhead-related transcription factor complexes. For example, the budding yeast Mcm1p-Fkh2p complex is related to the mammalian SRF-Elk-1 complex, the latter operating during cell cycle entry in response to mitogenic signalling. Elk-1 is the founding member of the ternary complex factor (TCF) proteins, which constitute a subfamily of the ETS-domain transcription factor family. Mcm1p and SRF share significant sequence and structural similarities, while both forkhead and <u>E</u> twenty-six (ETS)-domain transcription factors contain winged helix-turn-helix DNA binding domains (Treisman, 1994; Sharrocks, 2002; Boros *et al.*, 2003). Notably, mammalian forkhead transcription factors have been shown to participate in transcriptional regulation of the genes encoding mitotic regulators, such as Plks (Plk1p) and cyclins (cyclin B1), which contain forkhead consensus binding sites in their promoters (Alvarez *et al.*, 2001; Breeden,

2003; Martin and Strebhardt, 2006; Fu *et al.*, 2008). Since MADS-box and forkhead-related transcription factor complexes also regulate homologous cyclin B1 and/or Plk1p genes in the budding (*CLB2* and *CDC5*) and fission (*plo1*⁺) yeasts (Sections 1.5.1.4 and 1.5.2.4), this implies that crucial components of the underlying networks that regulate these mitotic regulators have been preserved during evolution.

1.7 Aims of work

The intention of this thesis has been to elucidate the mechanisms by which Sep1p, Fkh2p and Mbx1p transcription factors, thought to constitute PBF components, and Plo1p bring about M-G1 phase-specific transcription in fission yeast. Initially, experiments were performed to establish the importance of the PCB promoter sequence, implicated in regulation of PBF-dependent genes, for M-G1 specific transcription *in vivo*. Moreover, experiments were carried out to evaluate the role of the TGTTTAY forkhead-related promoter motif in transcriptional regulation of these genes. For this, mutations in these two motifs, either individually or in combination, were tested by Northern blot for their ability to support M-G1 specific transcription. In parallel, experiments were performed to examine whether Sep1p and Fkh2p control M-G1 dependent gene expression through the PCB and/or TGTTTAY promoter motifs.

The relationship between Sep1p, Fkh2p and Mbx1p has also been examined here by GST pull-down and co-immunoprecipitation assays, to determine whether these three transcription factors regulate M-G1 phase-specific expression by directly interacting with each other. Another aim of this work has been to investigate by the yeast two-hybrid system and/or co-immunoprecipitation assays whether Plo1p influences M-G1 specific expression by associating with PBF components, either Mbx1p, Fkh2p or Sep1p, and, if so, determine which Plo1p domains, the kinase, the polo-box or both, mediate such interaction(s). Finally, <u>ch</u>romatin <u>immunoprecipitation</u> (ChIP) assays were performed as part of this thesis to examine whether and if so how Fkh2p, Sep1p, Mbx1p and Plo1p interact *in vivo* with the promoters of their co-regulated genes, including *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ themselves, which have been proposed to regulate their own expression via feedback mechanisms.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Chemicals

All chemicals used were of analytical grade and obtained commercially. Distilled water was of Millipore-Q quality. All antibiotics (ampicillin, kanamycin, chloramphenicol and G418), protease inhibitors [chymostatin, phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride (PMSF), pepstatin, antipain, leupeptin and aprotinin] and detergents (NP-40, SDS, and sodium deoxycholate) were obtained from Sigma. Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets (Complete, Mini) were purchased from Roche. p-Nitrophenylphosphate (pNPP) and β -Glycerophosphate were obtained from Sigma, while Triton X-100 was from Fisons.

The chemicals used for *S. pombe* and bacterial maintenance were obtained from BD Biosciences while NZ amine was obtained from Sigma. Specialised chemicals for growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* including synthetic drop-out (SD) media (lacking tryptophan, leucine, histidine and uracil) were purchased from BIO 101/QBIOgene and YPD was obtained from USB. Low-melting point agarose was purchased from SeaPlaque and o-Nitrophenyl β -D-galactopyranoside (ONPG) was obtained from Sigma.

Sephadex G-50, [α -P32] dCTP (3000 Ci/mmol) and dIdC (1 mg/ml) were obtained from GE Healthcare. N6, Klenow enzyme and glass beads (425-600 μ m) were obtained from Sigma.

The DNA Molecular Weight Marker X (0.07-12.2 kb) was obtained from Roche, 1 kb DNA ladder was from Promega and N3232S DNA ladder was from NEB. The protein Full-Range Rainbow[™] Molecular Weight Markers (10-250 kD) was obtained from GE Healthcare, while the BenchMark[™] Protein Ladder (10-220 kD) was obtained from Invitrogen. The Bradford reagent was purchased from Bio-Rad.

Electrophoretic chemicals such as acrylamide/bis-acrylamide 40% solution [(37.5:1 mix ratio of acrylamide/bis-acrylamide (w/w)] and TEMED were obtained from Sigma.

All enzymes used including T4 DNA ligase, calf intestinal alkaline phosphatase (CIAP), *Taq* DNA polymerase, Pfu DNA polymerase, Vent_R DNA polymerase and T4 polynucleotide kinase, as well as dNTPs used for PCR amplification were obtained from Promega. Expand High Fidelity PCR system was obtained from Roche. The QIAprep[®] Spin Miniprep Kit, the QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit and the QIAquick PCR Purification Kit were supplied by QIAGEN. The Superscript[®] II Reverse transcriptase kit was purchased from NEB. The TA Cloning[®] Kit was obtained from Invitrogen, while X-gal (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-galactoside) was obtained from Sigma.

Protein staining dyes, Ponceau S solution, Brilliant Blue R-250 and Coomassie Blue G-250 colloidal stain, were all obtained from Sigma.

All antibodies used in the present study are listed in Table 2.1. Affinity purified IgGs from mouse, rabbit and sheep used as negative controls in chromatin immunoprecipitation assays were supplied by Santa Cruz Biotechnology.

The protein expression inducer IPTG was obtained from Melford Lab. Ltd and thiol-reducing agent DTT was supplied by ALEXIS. The GST-tagged protein eluent agent, reduced glutathione, was obtained from Sigma, and the His-tagged purification agents, imidazole and zinc chloride, were obtained from MERCK. Glutathione Sepharose 4B and Chelating SepharoseTM Fast Flow slurry were obtained by GE Healthcare, while Protein A-Sepharose 4B Fast Flow and Protein G-Sepharose 4B Fast Flow were purchased from Sigma. The Econo-Pac Chromatography Columns were obtained from Bio-Rad and the Disposable Polypropylene Columns were purchased from PIERCE.

 Table 2.1. List of antibodies used in the current study.
 WB, IP and ChIP indicates antibody used in the current study for Western blot, Immunoprecipitation and Chromatin Immunoprecipitation assay, respectively.

Antibody Name	Isotype	Application	Supplier
HA-probe (F-7)	Mouse monoclonal	WB (primary),	Santa Cruz
	lgG _{2a}	IP,ChIP	Biotechnology
c-Myc (9E10)	mouse monoclonal	WB (primary),	Santa Cruz
	lgG1	IP,ChIP	Biotechnology
Anti-Glutathione-S-	rabbit polyclonal	WB (primary)	Sigma
Transferase (GST)			
Anti-HIS	mouse monoclonal	WB (primary)	GE Healthcare
	lgG ₂		
Histone H3	rabbit polyclonal	ChIP	abcam
Anti-Plo1p (HO)	rabbit polyclonal	IP, ChIP	(Ohkura <i>et al.,</i>
			1995)
Anti-Plo1p (IH)	sheep	ChIP	Lab stock
Anti-Mouse	rabbit polyclonal	WB (secondary)	DAKO
Immunoglobulins/			
HRP (HorseRadish			
Peroxidase conjugated)			
Anti-Rabbit	swine polyclonal	WB (secondary)	DAKO
Immunoglobulins/			
HRP (HorseRadish			
Peroxidase conjugated)			
Anti-sheep	rabbit polyclonal	WB (secondary)	DAKO
Immunoglobulins/			
HRP (HorseRadish			
Peroxidase conjugated)			
Anti-Fkh2p	rabbit polyclonal	WB	Laboratory stock
Anti-Mbx1p	rabbit polyclonal	WB	Laboratory stock
Anti-Sep1p	rabbit polyclonal	WB	Laboratory stock
Anti-GST-Mbx1p	sheep	WB	Laboratory stock

2.1.2 DNA

All oligonucleotides used were custom synthesized by DNA Technology A/S. DNA sequencing was performed by MWG-AG Biotech. Oligonucleotides used in this thesis are listed in Appendix I. The annotations GO refer to Glasgow laboratory oligonucleotide collection number.

2.1.3 Bacteria strains and plasmid vectors

All bacterial strains and vectors (maintained in bacteria) used in this thesis are listed in Appendix II. The annotation GB refers to the Glasgow laboratory bacteria collection number. One ShotTM ultracompetent InV α F *Escherichia coli* cells were purchased from Invitrogen, *E. coli* BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)–RIL cells (GB 445), utilized for high level protein expression, were initially obtained from Stratagene and *E. coli* DH5 α cells (GB 4), used for the propagation and storage of plasmid DNA, were obtained from the laboratory collection.

The pET vector, pET-28c (+), for expression of His-tagged recombinant proteins, where the six histidine residues are linked to the N-terminus of the cloned gene was obtained from Novagen. The pGEX-KG vector for expression of GST-tagged recombinant proteins, where the GST tag is linked to the N-terminus of the cloned gene, and pCR[®]2.1 for one step cloning of a polymerase chain reaction product with polydeoxyadenosine 3' overhangs, were obtained from Invitrogen.

2.1.4 S. pombe strains and plasmid vectors

All fission yeast strains used in this thesis are described in Appendix II. The annotation GG refers to the Glasgow laboratory fission yeast collection number. Fission yeast plasmid vectors maintained in bacteria are also listed in Appendix II.

2.1.5 Budding yeast strains and plasmid vectors

All *S. cerevisiae* strains used in this thesis are described in Appendix II. The annotation GGBY refers to the Glasgow laboratory budding yeast collection number. *S. cerevisiae* plasmid vectors maintained in bacteria are also described in Appendix II.

2.1.6 Bacterial media

E. coli strains were grown in Luria Broth (LB; 10 g Bacto tryptone, 5 g Bacto yeast extract and 10 g NaCl per litre, pH 7.5) or NZY⁺ broth (5 g NaCl, 2 g MgSO₄.7H₂O, 5 g yeast extract, 10 g NZ amine per litre, pH 7.5). LB agar plates were made by adding 7.5 g Bacto agar per 500 ml LB. Media were autoclaved before use and supplemented with ampicillin (100 μ g/ml), kanamycin (70 μ g/ml) or chloramphenicol (34 μ g/ml), as required (Sambrook and Russell, 2001).

2.1.7 Fission yeast media

S. pombe strains were grown in either liquid or on solid YE (Appendix III), as described by Moreno *et al.* (1991). Strains carrying plasmids or used for physiological experiments were propagated in EMM supplemented with the appropriate concentration of amino acids and/or uracil (Appendix III). *S. pombe* stocks were prepared in YE supplemented with 20% glycerol and stored at -70°C.

2.1.8 Budding yeast media

Routinely *S. cerevisiae* strains were grown in YPD (2% Bacto tryptone, 1% yeast extract, 2% glucose) liquid or solid (as for liquid YPD plus 2% agar). Strains containing plasmids were propagated in synthetic drop-out (SD) media supplemented with the appropriate amino acids and/or uracil whenever necessary (Appendix III). For SD agar plates 2% agar was added (Sambrook and Russell, 2001).

2.1.9 Equipment

Electro-transformation of bacterial or fission yeast cells was achieved in a Bio-Rad *E. coli* pulser using 0.2 cm electroporation cuvettes. Bacterial cultures were grown in an orbital incubator (Sanyo-Gallenkamp) and yeast cultures were grown in a shaking water-bath (Grant – OLS200). The number of growing *S. pombe* cells in liquid culture was measured in a Z2 Coulter Counter. Bacteria and yeast cells were routinely collected in 50 ml centrifuge tubes in a chilled benchtop Eppendorf Centrifuge 5810R. Bacterial cells were lysed using a French Pressure cell at either 750 or 950 psi depending on the culture volume, while breakage of fission yeast cells was performed in a HYBAID Ribolyser. Disrupted yeast and bacterial cells were pelleted in a benchtop Eppendorf Centrifuge 5810R and the supernatants clarified using a temperature adjustable Helena Biosciences Centrifuge

5415R benchtop microcentrifuge. Concentration of protein samples was accomplished with a Microcon YM-50 centrifugal concentrator from Millipore. Bacterial or budding yeast cell mass, as well as protein, DNA and RNA concentration was measured in a spectrophotometer, set to the appropriate wavelength.

A Diagenode Bioruptor Sonicator was used for the production of high quality sheared chromatin from formaldehyde fixed fission yeast cells. Bacterial and fission yeast protein extracts were routinely processed in a cold room via shaking in a Labinco test tube rotator.

Electrophoretic assays were performed in a Bio-Rad Mini-Protean gel kit system, while PAGE gels were dried in a Bio-Rad Gel Dryer Model 583. PCR reactions were carried out in a Primus Thermal Cycler with 0.5 ml thin walled PCR tubes (Anachem). A Techne Hybridizer HB-1D was used for hybridisation of DNA probes on RNA blots. Autoradiography film (Fujifilm) was processed in an X-Omat 100 from Kodak.

The *S. pombe* DIC microscopic images were captured with a Sony DS-75 digital camera attached to Zeiss Axiostar R-grade microscope. Tetrad dissection in *S. pombe* was carried out with the Singer Micromanipulator System Series 200.

2.1.10 Computational databases

Fission yeast gene sequences were obtained from the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute webpage: http://www.sanger.ac.uk. Sequence alignments and domain studies were performed using web tools at http://www.ebi.ac.uk:/clustalw/index.html, /emboss/align/index.html and /InterproScan/, and http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Manipulation of bacterial cells

Basic bacterial culture maintenance was carried out as described in Sambrook et al., (2001).

2.2.2 Preparation of competent bacterial cells

The appropriate bacterial *E. coli* strain (DH5α or BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)–RIL) was streaked onto an LB plate and grown overnight at 37°C. A single colony was used to inoculate a 5 ml LB culture with shaking for 16 hours, which was then sub-cultured into 100 ml of LB.
In the case of DH5 α (GB 4) strain, once the cells reached an OD₆₀₀ of 0.5, they were put on ice for 30 min and then harvested by centrifugation at 2500 g for 10 min. The supernatant was removed and cells were then resuspended in 10 ml of ice-cold 10% glycerol. The process was repeated once more with 20 ml ice-cold 10% glycerol. Finally, the cells were centrifuged, resuspended in 1-2 ml of ice-cold 10% glycerol and stored into 50 µl aliquots at –70°C.

BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)–RIL cells (GB 455) were grown at 37°C with shaking until they reached an OD₅₅₀ of 0.48, chilled on ice for 5 min and harvested by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and pelleted cells were resuspended in 40 ml Buffer 1 (100 mM RbCl, 10 mM CaCl₂, 50 mM MnCl₂, 15% (v/v) glycerol in 30 mM KC₂H₃O₂, pH 5.8). Cells were harvested with centrifugation as before and resuspended in 4 ml Buffer 2 (10 mM RbCl, 75 mM CaCl₂, 15% (v/v) glycerol in 10 mM 3-[N-morpholino] propanesulfonic acid (MOPS), pH 6.5). Finally, cells were stored into 50 μl aliquots at –70°C.

2.2.3 Electro-transformation of bacteria

Competent *E. coli* DH5α cells prepared as described above, were thawed on ice for 10-15 min and 1-2 µl of the appropriate plasmid DNA (1-10 ng) was added. The cell-DNA suspension was transferred to a pre-chilled 0.2 cm electroporation cuvette and pulsed at 2.4 kV. 1 ml of SOC media (2% Bacto tryptone, 0.5% Bacto yeast extract, 10 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM MgSO₄, 20 mM glucose) was added to the cells, which were then transferred to a microcentrifuge tube and incubated at 37°C with shaking for 45 min. Cells were then plated on an LB-agar plate containing the appropriate antibiotic to allow for selection overnight at 37°C.

2.2.4 Heat-shock transformation of bacteria

BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL and OneShot[™] InVαF cells were preferably used for the expression of recombinant proteins and transformed as follows: 1-10 ng of plasmid DNA was added to 50 µl of competent bacteria, which was then chilled for 15 min before heat shocking at 42°C for 90 sec. Cells were chilled on ice for 2 min, supplemented with 450 µl of SOC and incubated at 37°C with shaking for 45 min. Finally, cells were plated on an LB-agar plate containing the appropriate antibiotic and incubated overnight at 37°C.

2.2.5 Preparation of S. pombe competent cells

500 ml of EMM plus appropriate supplements was inoculated with a 10 ml overnight culture. The culture was grown at 25°C until it reached a density of 1 x 10⁷ cells/ml ($A_{595} \sim 0.5$). The cells were harvested in 50 ml tubes by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatant was removed and pelleted cells were resuspended in a total of 50 ml of ice-cold dH₂O. The cells were centrifuged and resuspended in 50 ml ice-cold 1 M sorbitol. Harvesting by centrifugation followed once more and cells were resuspended in 20 ml ice-cold 1 M sorbitol. Finally, cells were pelleted by centrifugation, resuspended in 1-2 ml ice-cold 1 M sorbitol and stored into 50 µl aliquots at -70° C.

2.2.6 Electro-transformation of competent S. pombe cells

Competent *S. pombe* cells were thawed at room temperature and added to chilled microcentrifuge tubes containing 1-2 µl of plasmid DNA (1-10 ng). The cell-DNA suspension was incubated on ice for 5 min, transferred into a pre-chilled 0.2 cm electroporation cuvette and pulsed at 1.5 kV. 0.9 ml of 1 M sorbitol was immediately added to the cuvette and the cell suspension was returned to the microcentrifuge tube and placed on ice. Cells were then plated onto EMM supplemented with appropriate amino acids and/or uracil to allow for selection by incubation for 3-4 days at 25°C-30°C.

2.2.7 Preparation of competent S. cerevisiae cells

The appropriate budding yeast strain was streaked onto an YPD agar plate or appropriate selective SD for 2-3 days at 30°C. A single colony was used to inoculate 5 ml of YPD or selective SD overnight at 30°C. 0.5 ml of this culture was then added to 4.5 ml of fresh media and the OD₆₆₀ nm was measured. Then, a suitable amount of cells was added into 60 ml of fresh media to give an OD₆₆₀ of 0.2 (2 x 10⁶ cells/ml).This culture was grown for 3-4 hours with shaking at 30°C until it reached an OD₆₆₀ of 0.7 (1 x 10⁷ cells/ml). The cells were centrifuged for 5 min at 3000 g, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet was washed in sterile 10 ml dH₂O. This step was repeated once more but instead the pelleted cells were resuspended in 1 ml LiAc/TE (prepared from 10x filter-sterilised stocks of 1M LiAc pH 7.5 and TE: 0.1 M Tris-HCl, 0.01 M EDTA pH 7.5). Finally, cells were pelleted by centrifugation, resuspended in LiAc/TE at a density of 2 x 10⁹ cells/ml and kept on ice.

2.2.8 Lithium acetate transformation of competent S. cerevisiae cells

50 µl of competent *S. cerevisiae* cells were mixed with 5 µl of 10 mg/ml salmon sperm DNA that had been denatured at 95°C for 5 min and 1-3 µl of the appropriate plasmid DNA. 300 µl sterile 40% PEG/LiAc/TE (prepared from 50% PEG, 10x LiAc and 10x TE) was added to the cell suspension, which was then incubated at 30°C for 30 min with gentle agitation. 40 µl DMSO (<u>Dimethyl sulfo</u>xide) was added to the mix prior to heat-shock for 15 min at 42°C. Finally, the cells were centrifuged for 5 sec at high speed and resuspended in 1 ml TE. This step was repeated once again and cells were plated out onto selective SD agar plates at 30°C for 3-4 days.

2.2.9 DNA Manipulation

2.2.9.1 Purification of plasmid DNA from bacterial cultures

The QIAprep[®] Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN) was routinely used to prepare plasmid DNA from bacterial cultures. The kit was used according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.9.2 Preparation of S. pombe genomic DNA

10 ml of cell culture was grown for 2-3 days until saturated at 25°C-30°C as appropriate. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 3,000 rpm for 5 min, resuspended in 0.5 ml dH₂O and transferred to a 1.5 ml screw cap microcentrifuge tube. Cells were centrifuged briefly, the supernatant was discarded and 0.2 ml solution A (1% Triton, 10% SDS, 1 M NaOH, 1 M Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 0.5 M EDTA), 0.2 ml phenol: chloroform (1:1), as well as 0.3 g acid washed glass beads, was added to the pellet. Breakage of cells was performed in a HYBAID Ribolyser for 3 x 40 sec at speed setting 4. 400 μ l of TE (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 1 mM EDTA) was added to the mix prior to centrifugation for 5 min at 13,000 rpm. The aqueous layer only, containing both DNA and RNA, was transferred to a fresh 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube. 1 ml of 100% ethanol was added to the tube, which was then inverted repeatedly to gently mix its content. The tube was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 5 min and the supernatant discarded. The centrifugation step was repeated once more to remove residual ethanol. The pellet was resuspended in 400 μ l of TE and 3 μ l Ribonuclease A (50 μ g/ml) prior to incubation at 37°C for 5 min to digest RNA. 1 ml 100% ethanol and 8 μ l 5M ammonium acetate was added to the tube, which was then inverted repeatedly and stored at -70°C for a few hours. Finally, the tube was

centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 min and the supernatant discarded. The resulting DNA pellet was air-dried shortly, resuspended in 100 μl TE and stored at -20°C.

2.2.9.3 Quantification of nucleic acids by spectrophotometry

Nucleic acid samples were diluted 100 fold in dH₂O and the concentration estimated by measuring the OD at 260 nm with a spectrophotometer. The following formula was used to calculate nucleic acid concentrations:

2.2.9.4 Polymerase chain reaction

All oligonucleotides used for PCR amplifications are listed in Appendix I. PCR reactions were routinely carried out in a Biotech Primus Thermal Cycler with one of the following polymerases: *Taq* DNA polymerase, Vent_R DNA polymerase, Expand High Fidelity PCR System. The general program for PCR amplification was as follows:



*1 Annealing temperatures varied depending on oligonucleotides used (Tm was calculated using the equation: $Tm = 4 \times (G + C) + 2 \times (A + T)$). *2 extension time 1 min per kb of product. *3 68°C was used for Vent_R DNA polymerase and 72°C for *Taq* DNA polymerase and Expand High Fidelity enzyme system.

2.2.9.4.1 PCR using Taq DNA polymerase

PCR reactions were carried out using 0.2 ml thin walled PCR tubes. In general, 50 µl or 100 µl PCR reactions were prepared. A typical 50 µl reaction mixture contained 250 µM of each dNTP, 50 pmole

of each primer, 50 ng of plasmid-DNA template or 1 μ g of genomic-DNA template, 1x Thesit buffer (prepared from a 10x stock: 300 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.5, 20 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM β -mercaptoethanol, 1% THESIT) and 1.25 U *Taq* DNA polymerase (Promega). Alternatively, Thesit buffer was replaced with 1x Go*Taq* Flexi Buffer (Promega, 5x stock) and 500 μ M MgCl₂ (25 mM stock).

2.2.9.4.2 PCR using Vent_R DNA polymerase

The PCR reaction using Vent_R DNA polymerase (NEB) was carried out as described for *Taq* DNA polymerase but 1x Thesit buffer was replaced with 1x Thermopol buffer (prepared from a 10x stock: 100 mM KCl, 100 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 200 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 80 mM MgSO₄, 1% Triton X-100) instead. The reaction mixture also contained 2 mM MgSO₄ (100mM stock).

2.2.9.4.3 PCR using Expand High Fidelity PCR system

The PCR reaction was carried out as described for *Taq* DNA polymerase but Thesit buffer was replaced with 10x Expand High Fidelity buffer with 15 mM MgCl₂ used at a 1 x final concentration. 2.6 U of Expand High Fidelity enzyme was used per 50 µl reaction.

2.2.9.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis

The appropriate amount of agarose was dissolved in 100 ml 0.5 x TBE (45 mM Tris-borate pH 8.3, 1 mM EDTA), based on the percentage of agarose gel required (1-2%). 5 µl of a 10mg/ml ethidium bromide stock solution (Sigma) was added. DNA samples were diluted 5 fold by the addition of 6 x blue/orange loading dye (Promega) and loaded on the agarose gel. Gels were run at 100 V in 0.5 x TBE for 40 min to 1 h. Following electrophoresis, DNA was visualised on a UV transilluminator and photographed using E.A.S.Y imaging software.

2.2.9.6 Restriction digestion and generation of blunt-ended DNA fragments

Plasmid DNA and PCR products were digested, prior to ligation, as follows:

DNA (≈200 ng)	1-5 µl
Appropriate buffer (10x)	2 µl
Appropriate enzyme (10 U)	1 µl
dH ₂ O	to 20 µl

Reactions were incubated for 1 h at 37°C or 25°C depending on the restriction enzyme. In certain cases, blunt-ended DNA fragments were generated from 3' or 5' overhangs, following restriction digestion with appropriate enzyme. In the former case, the 3' overhang was removed using the 3' to 5' exonuclease activity of T4 DNA polymerase. In the latter case the 5' overhang was repaired using the polymerase activity of the Klenow enzyme. Specifically, following restriction digestion, 0.5 µl of 500 mM dNTPs were added into the reaction along with 1 µl Klenow enzyme (1 unit of Klenow enzyme/µg of DNA) and incubated at 30°C for 15 min. The reaction was then heat-inactivated at 75°C for 10 min.

2.2.9.7 Dephosphorylation of digested plasmid

Digested vector was dephosphorylated by the addition of 1 U of calf intestinal alkaline phosphatase and incubated at 37°C for a further 30 min. This was routinely carried out to prevent self-ligation of digested vector.

2.2.9.8 Annealing of single stranded oligonucleotides

Complementary custom made single stranded DNA oligonucleotides (DNA Technology A/S) were annealed to produce double stranded DNA prior to ligation into the appropriate plasmid DNA (Section 2.2.9.11). Both complementary oligonucleotides were resuspended at the same molar concentration, using Annealing Buffer (10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5-8.0, 50mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA). Equal volumes of both complementary oligonucleotides were mixed (at equimolar concentration) in a 1.5ml microcentrifuge tube, which was then placed in a heat block at 90-95°C for 10 min. The tube was removed from the apparatus and allowed to cool to room temperature for 1-2 hours. Finally, the resulting double stranded DNA was purified using the QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Section 2.2.9.10) to remove any unwanted salt and EDTA that might interfere with subsequent enzymatic reactions, and stored at -20°C until ready to use.

2.2.9.9 Phosphorylation of DNA with 5' protruding ends

T4 Polynucleotide kinase (PNK) catalyses the transfer of the γ phosphate of ATP to the 5' terminus of single and double stranded DNA or RNA molecules. In this study, T4 Polynucleotide kinase (Promega) was used to phosphorylate the 5' ends of DNA fragments generated from annealing custom made single stranded DNA oligonucleotides (Section 2.2.9.8) lacking a 5' phosphate prior to

ligation into the appropriate plasmid DNA. The following reaction was assembled in a microcentrifuge tube:

DNA 5' ends	1-50 pmole*			
10x Kinase buffer	4 µl			
10 mM ATP	4 µl			
T4 Polynucleotide kinase	10 U			
dH ₂ O	to 40 µl			

The reaction mixture was incubated at 37°C for 30 min and then 2 µl 0.5 M EDTA was added to stop the reaction. Following PNK treatment, the DNA was purified by gel extraction using the QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit as described below (Section 2.2.9.10).

*The amount of DNA 5' ends in a double-stranded DNA molecule was calculated using the following formula:

Amount of 5' ends (in pmoles) = $[X/(Y \times 660)] \times 10^{12} \times 2$, were X is mass in gr and Y is the length of DNA.

2.2.9.10 DNA fragment purification

DNA fragments were purified from various enzymatic reactions, such as restriction digestion, dephosphorylation, 5' end phosphorylation and PCR, by extraction from 1-2% agarose gels using the QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN). Following electrophoresis, DNA fragments were excised from the gel and purified according to the manufacturer's instructions. Alternatively, DNA fragments generated from PCR and other enzymatic reactions were purified using the QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (QIAGEN).

2.2.9.11 Ligations

The DNA fragment of interest was ligated into the appropriate digested and dephosphorylated plasmid DNA at various molar ratios (5:1, 3:1, 1:1, 1:3, and 1:5) in the following ligation reaction:

DNA insert	1-5 µl
Linearised plasmid DNA	2-3 µl

10x T4 DNA ligase buffer	1 µl
T4 DNA ligase (3 U/μl)	0.5 µl
dH ₂ O	to 10 µl

Ligation reactions were incubated overnight at 4°C and then transformed into the appropriate competent *E. coli* cells (One Shot[™] ultracompetent InVαF, DH5α or BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)–RIL) as described above (Sections 2.2.3 and 2.2.4).

2.2.9.12 Cloning of PCR products into the pCR^{B} 2.1 vector

The TA Cloning[®] Kit (Invitrogen) was routinely used for efficient cloning of PCR products into the pCR[®]2.1 vector according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.9.13 RT-PCR and S. pombe cDNA synthesis

Gene-specific cDNA was synthesised from *S. pombe* mRNA purified from total RNA extracts (Section 2.2.10.1) using the SuperScript [™] Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen) as follows: A 20 µl reaction mixture was assembled in a nuclease-free microcentrifuge tube containing 2 pmole gene-specific primer (GSP), 1-500 ng mRNA, 1 µl dNTP mix (10 mM of each) and 12 µl dH₂O. The mixture was heated to 65°C for 5 min and chilled on ice. Following a brief centrifugation of the tube, 4 µl 5 x First-Strand buffer, 2 µl 0.1 M DTT and 1 µl RNaseOUT[™] (optional) were added to the mixture. The contents of the tube were mixed gently and incubated at 42°C for 2 min. 1 µl of Superscript [™] II Reverse Transcriptase (200 units) was added and the tube contents were mixed by gentle pipetting. The mixture was incubated at 42°C for 50 min and then the reaction was inactivated by heating at 70°C for 15 min. 10% of the resulting first-strand cDNA was then used as a template for PCR amplification of the appropriate gene in the following reaction:

10x High Fidelity enzyme (Buffer #2) 5µl	
50 mM dNTP Mix (12.5 mM each)	2.5 mM each) 1 µl	
Forward primer (100 pmol/µl)	0.5 µl	
Reverse primer (100 pmol/µl)	0.5 µl	
High Fidelity enzyme (2.6 U/µl)	0.75 µl	
cDNA from first-strand reaction	2 µl	
PCR water	to 50 µl	

In each case, a PCR amplification programme of 34 cycles was employed.

2.2.9.14 Preparation of radio-labelled DNA probe

Radio-labelled DNA probes for Northern blot analysis were prepared by random hexanucleotide (N₆) primed labelling of PCR amplified DNA fragments according to the method of Feinberg and Volgelstein (1983). Briefly, a reaction mix was assembled in a screw-cap microcentrifuge tube containing 11 µl denatured DNA probe (~25 ng of DNA-heated at 94°C for 5 min and chilled on ice for 5 min), 2 µl N₆ (random hexanucleotide mixture at 100pm/µl), 2 µl Klenow Buffer (5u/ µl-prepared from 10x stock: 100 mM MgCl₂, 500 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5), 2 µl -dCTP mix [250 µM of each dNTP (dTTP, dGTP and dATP)], 2 μl [α-P³²] dCTP (3000 Ci/mmol) and 1 μl Klenow enzyme (Promega). The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 1-4 h. Then, 100 µl of nuclease-free H₂O was added to the tube and the probe was purified by passing through a Sephadex G-50 size-exclusion column. Briefly, Sephadex G-50 was prepared by adding two volumes of TE and autoclaving. Then, the plunger of a 1 ml syringe was removed and siliconised glass wool was used to plug the end of the syringe. A microcentrifuge tube was placed on the end of the syringe, which was then filled with Sephadex G-50, placed into a 50 ml centrifuge tube and centrifuged for 2-5 min at 2,000 rpm. TE was removed and the process repeated until 0.8 ml of Sephadex G-50 remained in the syringe. A fresh tube was placed on the end of the syringe and the radio-labelled probe was added to the Sephadex G-50 column. The column was centrifuged at 2,000 rpm for 2 min and the purified probe was collected in the microcentrifuge tube. Separation of labelled DNA fragment from unincorporated radio-nucleotide was confirmed by monitoring the DNA probe with a Geiger counter.

2.2.10 RNA Manipulation

2.2.10.1 Preparation of total RNA

S. pombe total RNA was prepared according to the method of Kaufer *et al.* (1985). A 20-200 ml midexponentially growing culture was harvested by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 5 min in 50 ml centrifuge tubes. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1 ml STE (0.32 M sucrose, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5 and 10 mM EDTA pH 8.0) and transferred to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube, which was then spun shortly. The supernatant was removed and pelleted cells were stored at –70°C or processed immediately for RNA extraction. To extract the RNA, cells were resuspended in 200 µl STE and 600 µl NTES (100 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5 and 1% w/v SDS), transferred to a screw-top tube containing 500 µl of hot phenol and acid-washed glass beads (pre-heated at 65°C for 10-15 min) and then lysed in a HYBAID Ribolyser for 3 x 40 sec at speed setting 4. The tube containing the cell lysate was centrifuged for 5 min at maximum speed and the aqueous and protein interface were transferred into a fresh tube containing 500 µl hot phenol. The tube was agitated in the Ribolyser for 1x40 sec at setting 4 and the aqueous phase was transferred into a fresh tube with 400 µl of phenol (room temperature). The tube was agitated in the Ribolyser as before, centrifuged for 5 min and the aqueous phase was transferred to a tube containing phenol/chloroform (1:1). Agitation and centrifugation followed and the aqueous phase was placed in a tube with 300 µl of chloroform. Once agitated in the Ribolyser, the tube was centrifuged at maximum speed and the aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube with 300 µl of chloroform. Once agitated in the Ribolyser, the tube was centrifuged at maximum speed and the aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube with 1/10 volume of 3M sodium acetate and 3 volumes of 100% ethanol added to precipitate the RNA at –70°C overnight.

The RNA was centrifuged at maximum speed for 10 min and the supernatant discarded. The RNA pellet was washed in 1 ml 70% ethanol, air-dried for 10 min and dissolved in 50-100 μ l RNAse-free H₂O prior to storage at –70°C.

2.2.10.2 mRNA purification

Prior to cDNA synthesis mRNA was purified from total *S. pombe* RNA using the polyA Spin[™] mRNA isolation kit (New England Biolabs) according to the manufacturer's manual.

2.2.10.3 Formaldehyde gel electrophoresis of RNA

1% agarose formaldehyde gels were used to separate RNA samples. 1 g agarose was dissolved in 63 ml dH₂O and 20 ml 5x MNE (120 mM MOPS, 25 mM NaOAc, 5 mM EDTA pH 7.0) by boiling. Once cooled to 60°C, 17 ml formaldehyde (38% aqueous solution) was added to the melted agarose mixture, which was then poured onto a horizontal casting mould.

10 μ g of RNA were mixed with 20 μ l RNA buffer (600 μ l formaldehyde, 200 μ l formamide, 240 μ l 5x MNE buffer and 160 μ l dH₂O) and 1 μ l of 0.5mg/ml ethidium bromide prior to heating at 65°C for 5 min and loading onto the gel. Gels were run in 1x MNE buffer at 50 V for 3-4 h, visualized on a UV transilluminator and photographed using E.A.S.Y imaging software.

2.2.10.4 Northern blot

2.2.10.4.1 RNA transfer by capillary action

Following RNA gel electrophoresis, the RNA gel was soaked in 50 mM NaOH for 15 min to break down large transcripts and then in 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄/NaH₂PO₄ (pH 6.5) for 15 min, to remove residual formaldehyde. The RNA was then transferred from the gel onto the Genescreen nylon membrane using the capillary method (Sambrook *et al.*, 2001). Briefly, a few sheets of Whatman paper (four short ones and two long ones) and a piece of Genescreen membrane, cut to a size slightly larger than the gel, were soaked in 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄/NaH₂PO₄. Two long Whatman sheets were placed on a glass plate to form a wick over a reservoir of 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄/NaH₂PO₄, and another two short Whatman papers with gel spacers placed along the edges of the gel. Genescreen membrane was placed on top of the gel, while another two Whatman sheets were placed on top of the dit an other two Whatman papers and a heavy weight on top of that. Transfer took place for 16-24 h. The membrane was then irradiated at 1200 MJ to UV crosslink the RNA to it, as well as baked at 80°C for 3 h.

2.2.10.4.2 RNA hybridisation with radio-labelled DNA probe

Prior to hybridisation, the RNA membrane was incubated in 18 ml pre-hybridisation buffer [10 ml formamide, 4 ml P Buffer [1% (w/v) BSA (<u>B</u>ovine <u>s</u>erum <u>a</u>lbumin), 1% (w/v) pyrolidine, 1% (w/v) ficoll, 250 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 0.25% (w/v) sodium pyrophosphate, 5% (w/v) SDS], 4 ml 50% w/v Dextran sulphate, 1.16 g NaCl, 200 µl 10 mg/ml denatured salmon sperm DNA) at 42°C for 3 h in a Techne oven. The appropriate denatured radio-labelled DNA probe was then added and allowed to hybridise overnight.

The next day, the membrane was washed twice for 5 min at 42°C in 2x SSPE (20x stock: 3 M NaCl, 20 mM NaHPO₄, and 200 mM EDTA pH 7.4). The membrane was then washed in 2x SSPE + 0.5% SDS at 65°C for 15 min. Finally, the membrane was rinsed in 0.1x SSPE and wrapped in Saran wrap before overnight exposure to an autoradiography film at –70°C.

Following processing of the autoradiography film, the membrane was stripped of the DNA probe by incubation in strip buffer (5 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.05% (w/v) sodium pyrophosphate, 0.002% (w/v) pyrolidine, 0.002% (w/v) BSA, 0.002% (w/v) ficoll) at 70°C for 1 h. Stripping of the membrane allowed for re-probing with another DNA fragment of interest.

2.2.10.4.3 Quantification of Northern blots

Whenever necessary, quantification of radioactivity signals following Northern blot analysis was performed with the Image J programme, where each sample signal was normalised against the control signal from the corresponding rRNA band. In each case, triplicate measurements were made for each sample.

2.2.11 Protein Manipulation in E. coli

2.2.11.1 Growth of bacterial cells for protein induction

A single colony of BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells transformed with the appropriate expression vector was used to inoculate 10 ml of NZY⁺ media supplemented with the necessary antibiotic. Cells were grown for 16 h at 37°C with shaking. The next day, the pre-culture was used to inoculate an appropriate volume of NZY⁺ with antibiotic (1 ml pre-culture per 50 ml of NZY⁺ plus antibiotic). Based on the amount of protein required, 50-400 ml cell cultures were set up.

The cell culture was propagated at 37°C with shaking until OD₆₀₀ reached 0.5. To induce expression of the protein of interest, a final concentration of 0.2-0.5 mM IPTG (1M IPTG stock) was added to the culture which was incubated at 30°C for 3 h or at 15°C for 16 h with shaking. The cell culture was then collected in 50 ml centrifuge tubes and harvested by centrifugation at 3,000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pelleted cells were resuspended in the appropriate lysis buffer.

1 ml cell samples were collected from the cell culture immediately before induction and every hour following induction to confirm protein over-expression (for 16 h induction samples were taken before induction and at 16 h). In each case, the 1 ml sample was centrifuged at high speed, the supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet was resuspended in Laemmli sample buffer [2% (w/v) SDS, 10% (w/v) sucrose, 62.5 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 0.02% (w/v) Pyronin Y dye] using 10 µl per 0.1 OD₆₀₀ units.

2.2.11.2 Preparation of bacterial protein extracts

GST- and HIS- tagged proteins were expressed from appropriate vectors as described (Section 2.2.11.1).

The pellet from a 50 ml bacterial culture expressing a GST-tagged protein of interest was resuspended in 3 ml of 1 x PBS (140 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.8 mM KH₂PO₄, pH

7.3) or in 20 ml 1x PBS for a 400 ml cell culture. For HIS-tagged proteins, pelleted cells were resuspended in 3 or 20 ml of Buffer A (20 mM KH₂PO₄, 5 mM imidazole, 100 mM NaCl pH 7.5), respectively. The cells were then disrupted under high pressure using a French Pressure cell at 750 or 950 psi for 3 or 20 ml cell suspensions, respectively. 3 passes were made and protease inhibitors were added (2 μ g/ml aprotinin, 1 μ g/ml pepstatin A, 0.5 μ g/ml leupeptin, 0.5 μ g/ml antipain, 1 μ g/ml chymostatin and 1 mM PMSF final concentration). The cell lysate was then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C and the clarified supernatant was collected.

Prior to supernatant clarification, a 200 μ l sample from the cell lysate was collected. 100 μ l of cell lysate were resuspended in 100 μ l 2x Laemmli sample buffer, while the remaining 100 μ l of cell lysate were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2 min at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube and resuspended in 100 μ l 2x Laemmli sample buffer, while the pellet was resuspended in 100 μ l 2x Laemmli sample buffer. The lysate, supernatant and pellet samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE electrophoresis to assess the solubility of the tagged protein of interest.

2.2.11.3 Column purification of GST-tagged proteins

The column for purification of a GST-tagged protein, expressed from 200 ml of bacterial culture, was set as follows: 200 μ l of Glutathione Sepharose 4B (75% slurry in ethanol) were transferred into a 15 ml centrifuge tube and the medium was sedimented by centrifugation at 500 x g for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and 1.5 ml 1 x PBS was added to Glutathione Sepharose 4B. The tube was agitated gently by repeated inversion, centrifuged for 5 min and the supernatant was discarded. This process was repeated three times ensuring adequate washing of Glutathione Sepharose 4B with PBS to remove the ethanol. 150 μ l 1 x PBS was then added to the tube, resulting in 300 μ l 50% Glutathione Sepharose 4B slurry equilibrated with PBS. The clarified supernatant was then added and the Glutathione Sepharose 4B-protein suspension was incubated for 1h at 4°C with end-over-end rotation to facilitate binding of the GST-moiety of the protein of interest to the Glutathione Sepharose 4B.

Following incubation, the mixture was transferred into an Econo-Pac column (Bio-Rad), which was tapped to allow the medium to settle. Then, the end cap was removed to allow the supernatant containing all unbound material to flow through. The gel was washed with 10 bed volumes of 1 x PBS (1 bed volume equals $0.5 \times 0.5 \times 0$

and incubated for 10 min to elute the GST-fusion protein. Several 400 µl elution fractions were collected and stored at –70°C.

A 10 µl aliquot of each elution fraction was retained for SDS-PAGE analysis (Section 2.2.11.6) along with lysate, supernatant and pellet samples (Section 2.2.11.2). Elution fractions where GST-fusion protein of interest was detected with SDS-PAGE were pooled and dialysed in 1 x PBS (Section 2.2.11.7).

2.2.11.4 Column purification of HIS-tagged proteins

The column for purification of a HIS-tagged protein, expressed from 200 ml of bacterial culture, was prepared as follows: 200 µl of Chelating Fast Flow slurry was loaded into an Econo-Pac column (~13 ml volume capacity). Once drained, the column was washed with 5-10 column volumes (CV) of dH₂O to remove ethanol. The column was then loaded with 0.5 column volumes of 0.1 M ZnCl₂ pH 4.5-5.0, to bind the imidodiacetate binding sites, and incubated at 4°C for 45-60 min on a rotating platform. The column was washed with 5-10 CV of dH₂O and then with 5 CV of binding Buffer A.

Clarified supernatant containing the HIS-fusion protein of interest was loaded on to the column and incubated at 4°C with end-over-end rotation for 1 h. The column was then drained to allow flow through of unbound material, washed with 5-10 column volumes of Buffer A and incubated for 10 min in elution Buffer B (20 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.5 M imidazole, 100 mM NaCl, pH 7.5). 2-5 elution Buffer B fractions (400 µl each) were collected and stored at –70°C. A 10 µl aliquot of each elution fraction was retained for SDS-PAGE analysis (Section 2.2.11.6) along with lysate, supernatant and pellet samples (Section 2.2.11.2). Elution fractions where HIS-fusion protein was detected with SDS-PAGE were pooled and dialysed in 1 x PBS (Section 2.2.11.7).

2.2.11.5 Determination of protein concentration

The Bradford method (1976) was routinely employed. A standard curve was prepared based on known concentrations of BSA. The OD of the sample [1:1000 dilution of protein sample in Bradford reagent (Bio-Rad) prepared according to manufacturer's manual] was then measured at 595 nm and the protein concentration was extrapolated from the standard curve.

2.2.11.6 SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

The Laemmli method (1970) for protein resolution under denaturing conditions was adopted. Gel Recipes for Bio-Rad 0.75 mm thick gels are described in Table 2.2. 60 µl 10% APS (<u>A</u>mmonium <u>Pers</u>ulfate) and 22 µl TEMED were added per gel to facilitate polymerisation.

	Stacking	6%	7.8%	10%	12%	15%
dH ₂ O	3.2	6	5.5	5.0	4.5	4.0
4x Resolving Gel Buffer *	-	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5
4x Stacking Gel Buffer *	1.3	-	-	-	-	-
40% acrylamide	0.5	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5

Table 2.2. Gel Recipe for Bio-Rad 0.75 mm thick gels. All recipes are in ml.

*4x Resolving buffer: 1.5M Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 0.4% SDS.

*4x Stacking buffer: 0.5M Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 0.4% SDS.

10 µl protein samples for SDS-PAGE electrophoresis were resuspended in 10 µl 2x Laemmli buffer and 1 M DTT was added to a final concentration of 150 mM before boiling for 5 min. 10 -20 µl of sample was loaded onto the gel alongside 10 µl of Full-Range Rainbow marker or BenchMark marker. Gels were run in 1x Running buffer [10x Running buffer: 250 mM Tris-HCl, 1.92 M glycine, 1% SDS (w/v), pH adjusted to 8.3] using the Bio-Rad Mini-Protean gel kit system at 120 V for 1 h 30 min. Gels were then either stained in Coomassie stain (0.1% w/v Brilliant Blue R250, 10% v/v acetic acid and 50% v/v methanol) for 20-45 min, followed by de-staining in 10% (v/v) acetic acid, 10% (v/v) methanol overnight, or subjected to Western blotting (Section 2.2.11.11).

2.2.11.7 Dialysis of protein samples

Dialysis tubing was boiled in 10 mM sodium bicarbonate pH 8, 1 mM EDTA for 10 min, rinsed in sterile dH₂O and stored in 100% (v/v) ethanol. Prior to use the tubing was thoroughly rinsed in dH₂O. Protein dialysis took place at 4°C overnight with frequent changes of dialysis buffer (1x PBS).

2.2.11.8 Concentration of protein samples

Following dialysis, protein samples were concentrated by centrifugation in a Centricon Plus-20 centrifugal concentrator filter (Amicon), with cut off 30,000 Da, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.11.9 GST pull-down

Following dialysis and concentration of protein samples, interaction between two proteins of interest, expressed the one as a GST N-terminal fusion and the other as a HIS N-terminal fusion protein, was assayed by a GST pull-down. 500 μ l of Glutathione Sepharose 4B slurry was added to a microcentrifuge tube. Glutathione Sepharose 4B beads were washed with 1ml 1x PBS, centrifuged and supernatant discarded. Three more washes of the beads were performed prior to addition of 375 μ l 1x PBS. 100 μ l of resulting 50% Glutathione Sepharose 4B were transferred into a fresh tube and 3-4 μ g of dialysed GST-fusion protein sample were added.

The beads were incubated with the GST-fusion protein for 1 h at 4°C by end-over-end rotation and an equal amount of dialysed HIS-fusion protein sample (1:1 relative to the GST-fusion protein) was added and the suspension was incubated for another hour at 4°C. The mix was then centrifuged for 1 min at 500 x g and the supernatant was removed and kept aside on ice. 1 ml PBS supplemented with 0.1% NP-40 was added to the Glutathione Sepharose 4B beads and the mix was agitated gently before centrifuging for 1 min at 500 x g. The supernatant was removed and kept on ice, while the beads were washed twice more with 1 ml PBS plus 0.1% NP-40. Once the supernatant was removed, the Glutathione Sepharose 4B beads were resuspended in 150 µl 2x Laemmli sample buffer and 1 M DTT was added to a final concentration of 150 mM before boiling for 5 min. The suspension was centrifuged for 10 min at 13,000 rpm and the supernatant was removed into a fresh tube to subject its protein content to TCA precipitation (Section 2.2.11.10). All samples including washes were also TCA precipitated.

2.2.11.10 TCA (tri-chloroacetic acid) precipitation

10 µl TCA (100% w/v) was added to each protein sample (Section 2.2.11.9), which was then incubated overnight at 4°C. The next day the sample was centrifuged for 15 min at 13,000 rpm. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was washed in 500 µl acetone. The sample was centrifuged, the supernatant removed and the pellet was finally resuspended in 20 µl Laemmli

sample buffer and 3 μl 1 M DTT. 10 μl of the sample was boiled for 5 min and loaded onto an SDS-PAGE gel. Western blot analysis then followed (2.2.11.11).

2.2.11.11 Immunoblotting using Enhanced Chemiluminescence (ECL)

The Western blotting method was adapted from Towbin *et al.* (1979). Following SDS-PAGE electrophoresis, proteins were transferred from the gel to a nitrocellulose membrane using the Bio-Rad gel kit system at 50 V for 2 h in 1x Transfer buffer (10x Transfer buffer: 250 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 1.92 M glycine) supplemented with 20% v/v methanol. The nitrocellulose membrane was then stained for 5 min with the non-fixative Ponceau S stain solution [0.1% w/v in 5% acetic acid (Sigma)] to confirm complete protein transfer prior to extensive rinsing with dH₂O to remove Ponceau S.

The nitrocellulose membrane was submerged into blocking buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 15 mM NaCl, 0.5% v/v Tween-20, 5% non-fat milk powder) and incubated with rotation for 1 h to block non-specific binding sites. The membrane was washed briefly in 1x wash buffer (32.5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 150 mM NaCl, 0.2% v/v Tween-20 pH to 7.4) and then incubated in appropriate primary antibody (1:1000 to 1:5000 dilution in wash buffer) for 3 h or overnight at 4°C.

The membrane was washed 3 times at 10 min intervals in wash buffer, then incubated in appropriate secondary antibody (1:1000 dilution) for 1 h and washed 3 times in wash buffer (10 min each). The detection process was carried out as described in the GE Healthcare protocol for ECL detection. In the dark room, autoradiography film was placed onto the membrane and exposed for various times depending on signal strength.

2.2.12 Protein Manipulation in S. pombe

2.2.12.1 Preparation of protein extracts for immunoprecipitation and Western blotting

0.5-1 I of *S. pombe* cells grown to mid-exponential phase in YE media, were collected in 50 ml centrifuge tubes by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and pelleted cells were washed once with sterile dH₂O. Once the supernatant was discarded, the cells were resuspended in ice-cold HB extraction buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 60 mM β -Glycerophosphate, 15 mM p-Nitrophenylphosphate (pNPP), 15 mM EGTA, 15 mM MgCl₂, 5 mM DTT, 0.5 mM Na₃VO₄, 0.1 mM NaF, 0.1% NP-40, 1 mM PMSF, 1 µg/ml leupeptin, 10 µg/ml aprotinin) at 3 x 10⁹ cells/ml and transferred to screw-top microcentrifuge tubes. In each case, the

cell suspension was mixed with an equal volume of acid washed glass beads and the tube was chilled on ice for 2-3 min prior to cell lysis using a HYBAID Ribolyser (4 x 20 sec at setting 4). During cell lysis, the cells were chilled on ice for 2-3 min between each disruption step. Following cell breakage, cell lysates were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min and the supernatants were transferred into fresh tubes, which were then spun at 13000 rpm for 30 min. Following centrifugation, all clarified material, referred to as crude lysate, was transferred into a 15 ml tube on ice and its protein concentration was measured, using the Bradford method (2.2.11.5). The protein concentration of the crude lysate was adjusted to 5 μ g/µl with HB extraction buffer before storing at -70°C. Typically, 2 mg of crude lysate was used per immunoprecipitation (IP) reaction of the protein of interest (Section 2.2.12.2).

2.2.12.2 Immunoprecipitation

400 μ l of crude lysate (Section 2.2.12.1) was transferred into a 1.5 ml tube and pre-cleared with 40 μ l 50% (v/v) protein A- or protein G-Sepharose beads (beads were washed repeatedly and resuspended in an equal volume of HB extraction buffer), depending on the antibody used for immunoprecipitation, via shaking in a Labinco rotator for 1 h at 4°C. Following incubation, the tube was centrifuged at 500 x g for 1 min at 4°C and the supernatant was transferred into a fresh tube. 10% of the supernatant was removed and stored at -70°C as the control non-immunoprecipitated protein sample (input).

To the rest of the pre-cleared lysate, the appropriate antibody [2-3 μ g for HA-probe (F-7) and c-Myc (9E10) antibody, 3-4 μ l for Plo1p (HO) antibody (Table 2.1)] was added and the suspension was incubated for 3 h at 4°C to bind the antibody to protein of interest. 40 μ l 50% (v/v) protein A- or protein G-Sepharose beads were then added and the suspension was incubated for a further 1-2 h at 4°C with rocking. The bead mixture was then centrifuged for 1 min at 500 x g and the supernatant was removed. 0.5 ml HB extraction buffer was added to the bead mixture, which was then agitated gently and centrifugated for 1 min at 500 x g. The supernatant was removed and kept on ice, while the beads were washed twice more with 0.5 ml HB extraction buffer. Once the supernatant was removed, the beads were resuspended in 40 μ l 2x Laemmli sample buffer and 1 M DTT was added to a final concentration of 150 mM before boiling for 5 min. The suspension was centrifuged for 10 min at 13,000 rpm and the supernatant (containing the protein of interest and other associated protein (s)) was removed into a fresh tube and stored at -70°C. SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and Western blotting with appropriate antibodies followed to detect the immunoprecipitated protein (IP) as well as an associating, co-immunoprecipitating protein (Co-IP) of interest.

2.2.12.3 Chromatin Immuno-Precipitation assay (ChIP)

Chromatin Immuno-Precipitation (ChIP) was employed to study transcription factor occupancy of transcribed promoters by using formaldehyde to rapidly fix multimeric complexes within living cells, followed by chromatin extraction and immunoprecipitation (Ekwall and Partridge, 1999; Gomez-Roman *et al.*, 2003; Takahashi *et al.*, 2000).

2.2.12.3.1 Fixation of S. pombe cells

0.5 I of culture was grown to 5 x 10⁶ cells/ml in YE or EMM (plus appropriate amino acids and/or uracil), as appropriate, at 25°C with shaking. The next day, formaldehyde (FA) from a 37% stock was added to the culture to a final concentration of 1% and cells were incubated for 30 min at 25°C with shaking. Fixation was stopped by adding 2.5 M glycine to the culture to 0.125 M final concentration and a further 5 min incubation with shaking at room temperature. Cells were then collected in 10 x 50 ml centrifuge tubes and harvested by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. In each case, the supernatant was discarded in a fume hood and pelleted cells were resuspended gently in 20 ml 1 x ice-cold TBS (per I: 137 mM NaCl, 2.683 mM KCl, 24.8 mM Tris base pH to 7.4 with HCl) prior to centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. Once the supernatant was removed, the cell pellet was resuspended in 1 ml 1 x ice-cold TBS and transferred into a 2 ml screw-cap tube. Each tube was spun for 30 sec at 13000 rpm, the supernatant was discarded and cells were stored at -70°C.

2.2.12.3.2 Preparation of S. pombe chromatin extracts

The fixed cell pellets from Section 2.2.12.3.1 were each resuspended in 400 µl ice-cold lysis buffer [50 mM Hepes-KOH pH 7.5, 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 0.1% (w/v) sodium deoxycholate] supplemented with protease inhibitors (Complete, Mini Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets) according to manufacturer's instructions. An equal volume of acid washed glass beads was added to each cell suspension and the tubes were chilled on ice for 2-3 min prior to cell lysis using a HYBAID Ribolyser (3 x 40 sec, 1 pulse at power speed 4.5, 2nd and 3rd pulse at power speed 5). During cell lysis, the cells were chilled on ice for 2-3 min between each disruption step. Following cell breakage, the base of each screw-cap tube was punctured with a 19-gauge needle and placed within a 15 ml centrifuge tube, which was then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 2-3 min at 4°C to separate the glass beads from the cell lysate. The cell lysates were then transferred into fresh 15 ml tubes (2 ml maximum mixture volume in lysis buffer) before sonication in a Diagenode Bioruptor[™] Sonicator,

following the manufacturer's manual [Bioruptor[™] on position "high": 30 sec "ON", 30 sec "OFF", total time 10 min (10 cycles= 5 min cumulative sonication time)]. Routinely, a high proportion of 300-1000 bp fragments of chromatin were obtained (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Sonication of *S. pombe* lysates from cells fixed with 1% FA. Following cell breakage, lysates were subjected to time courses of sonication in a Diagenode Bioruptor[™] Sonicator (Bioruptor[™] on position "high": 30 sec "ON", 30 sec "OFF") to establish the conditions for preparation of 300-1000 bp chromatin fragments. Lysates were sonicated for total time 3 min (Lane 2), 5 min (Lane 3), 8 min (Lane 4) and 10 min (Lane 5) and sonicated samples were run on a 2% agarose gel. *S. pombe* genomic DNA was run in lane 1. Lane M indicates DNA Molecular Weight Marker X.

Sonicated material was transferred to microcentrifuge tubes, which were then spun at 13000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C to remove cell debris. The supernatants were transferred to fresh tubes and centrifuged at 13000 rpm for a further 20-30 min at 4°C. Following centrifugation, all clarified material, referred to as crude lysate, was transferred into a 15 ml tube on ice and its protein concentration was measured, using the Bradford method (2.2.11.5). The protein concentration of the crude lysate was adjusted to 10 μ g/ μ l with ice-cold lysis buffer plus protease inhibitors. 4 mg of crude lysate was used per immunoprecipitation (IP) reaction of the chromatin protein of interest (Section 2.2.12.3.3).

2.2.12.3.3 Immunoprecipitation of chromatin extracts

400 μ l of crude lysate (Section 2.2.12.3.2) was transferred into a 1.5 ml tube and pre-cleared with 80 μ l 50% (v/v) protein A- or protein G-Sepharose beads (beads were washed repeatedly and resuspended in an equal volume of lysis buffer), depending on the antibody used for immunoprecipitation, via shaking in a Labinco rotator for 1 h at 4°C. Following incubation, the tube was centrifuged at 500 x g for 1 min at 4°C and the supernatant was transferred into a fresh tube. 10% of the supernatant was removed and stored at -20°C as the control non-immunoprecipitated chromatin sample.

To the rest of the sample, the appropriate antibody [4-5 μ g for HA-probe (F-7) and c-Myc (9E10) antibody, 2 μ g for histone H3 antibody, 6-8 μ l for Plo1p (HO) or Plo1p (IH) antibody] was added and the suspension was incubated overnight at 4°C with rocking to bind the antibody to the protein of interest. The next day, 80 μ l 50% (v/v) protein A- or protein G-Sepharose beads were added to the crude lysate and the suspension was incubated for a further 1-2 h at 4°C with rocking.

Following incubation, the suspension was transferred to a disposable Polypropylene Column (PIERCE). Once the column was drained to remove all unbound material, the beads within the column were washed successively with 2 x 10 ml of RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 1% NP-40), 2 x 10 ml LiCl buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 250 mM LiCl, 0.5% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 1 mM EDTA pH 8.0) and 2 x 10 ml 1x TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA pH 8.0). Following washes, the column was tapped and 400µl of 1x TE/1% SDS buffer were added and incubated for 15 min at room temperature to elute the antibody-protein-DNA complexes of interest. Once the end cap of the column was removed, the resulting immunoprecipitated (IP) chromatin was collected into a microcentrifuge tube. 400 µl of 1x TE/1% SDS buffer were also added into the control non-immunoprecipitated (non-IP) chromatin sample.

2.2.12.3.4 Cross-linking reversal and purification of DNA

To reverse the cross-linking of protein to the DNA, the IP and non-IP chromatin samples from Section 2.2.12.3.3 were incubated overnight in a heat-block at 42°C in the presence of 5 μ l proteinase K (10 μ g/ μ l stock solution). The next day, both samples were incubated for a further 6 h in a 65°C heat-block and in either case the DNA was then purified using the QIAquick PCR Purification Kit according to the QIAGEN protocol. Finally, the resulting IP and non-IP DNA samples (each eluted in 40 μ l 1x TE) were incubated with 1 μ l RNase A (10 μ g/ μ l stock solution) for 30 min at 37°C prior to storage at -20°C. PCR amplification of DNA was performed using *Taq* polymerase (Sections 2.2.9.4 and 2.2.9.4.1).

2.2.13 Random Spore analysis in S. pombe

Strains of opposite mating type were streaked onto YE plates and grown for 2-3 days at 25°C or 30°C, as necessary. A scoop of cells of the one mating type was then transferred on an ME plate next to a scoop of cells of the opposite mating type (Appendix III). 100 µl of sterile dH₂O was added

on top and the two strains were mixed together with a wooden stick and incubated at 25°C for 2-3 days.

Once mating was confirmed with the presence of ascospores, observed with a light microscope, a scoop of mated cells was mixed with 100 μ l sterile dH₂O and 0.5% β-glucuronidase and incubated overnight at 36°C. The next day, the suspension was plated onto solid YE and incubated at 25°C for 4-5 days until colonies were seen. 100 colonies were picked and transferred to another YE plate and incubated at 25°C. The plate was then replica plated onto different selective EMM plates to determine genotypes. Cells of the desired genotype were streaked onto a YE plate to obtain single colonies and the genotype was checked once more.

2.2.14 Tetrad analysis in S. pombe

S. pombe strains were mated as described for random spore analysis (Section 2.2.13). A scoop of mated cells was then spread onto a YE plate. Ascospores were picked using a Singer micromanipulator. The cells were incubated at 37°C for 2-5 h until asci walls were broken down. Each ascus was then dissected forming four isolated spores. The spores were incubated until distinct colonies formed. The plate with the colonies was then replica plated onto appropriate selective media to determine the genotype of each progeny.

2.2.15 Light and Microscopic Observations of S. pombe Cells

Appropriate *S. pombe* cultures were grown to a density of 5x10⁶ cells/ml. Cells were concentrated by centrifugation and 5-7 µl of cell suspension was placed on a microscope slide. DIC microscopy study was performed with a Sony DS-75 digital camera attached to Zeiss Axiostar R-grade microscope integrated with 40x and 100x DIC filter set.

2.2.16 Yeast Two-Hybrid System

The yeast two-hybrid system in *S. cerevisiae* was employed to analyse potential interactions between *S. pombe* proteins. The budding yeast strain and plasmid vectors used for the two-hybrid screen are listed in Appendix II.

2.2.16.1 X-gal overlay assay

S. cerevisiae cells carrying both bait and prey plasmids were grown on an SD agar plate plus appropriate amino acids and/or uracil for 2-3 days at 30°C. A solution of 9.3 ml 0.5 M potassium phosphate buffer (1x stock: 39 ml 1 M KH₂PO₄, 61 ml 1 M K₂HPO₄ plus 100 ml dH₂O), 0.6 ml dimethyl formamide (DMF) and 0.1 ml 10% SDS was mixed with 80 mg low-melting agarose, which was then melted in a microwave for 40 sec. The agarose solution was allowed to cool down to a temperature of 60°C and 30 μ l X-gal (40 mg/ml stock solution in DMF) and 5-6 μ l β-mercaptoethanol were added. A Pasteur pipette was then used to cover the cells on the surface of the SD agar plate with the warm solution. The agarose was allowed to set and the plate was placed within a 30°C incubator. The plate was checked for blue colour development every hour during a 6 h period, after which it was left to incubate overnight.

2.2.16.2 Quantitative β -galactosidase assay

To quantify protein interactions identified with the X-gal overlay assay the β -galactosidase assay was carried out as follows: 5 ml of *S. cerevisiae* cells carrying the appropriate bait and prey plasmids were grown in SD media plus any required amino acids and/or uracil to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.2-0.5. 1 ml aliquots of each cell culture were transferred to individual 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes, which were then spun for 30 sec at maximum speed. Each cell pellet was resuspended in 500 µl buffer Z (1x stock: 60 mM Na₂HPO₄, 40 mM NaH₂PO₄, 10 mM KCl, 1 mM MgSO₄, pH adjusted to 7.0 and autoclaved), β -mercaptoethanol to a final concentration of 50 mM and 10 µl chloroform. The tubes were then agitated vigorously by vortex for 20 sec and 100 µl ONPG (4 mg/ml stock in buffer Z) was added to each before incubating at 30°C for 30 min. The reaction was stopped by adding 250 µl 1 M Na₂CO₃. The tubes were cooled on ice for 2-3 min, centrifuged at high speed briefly to remove cell debris and the OD₄₂₀ of the respective supernatants was measured.

Results were expressed as OD_{420} per minute for 1 ml of culture at OD_{600} in Miller Units. 1 Miller Unit is defined as the amount of β -galactosidase activity which hydrolyses 1 µmole of ONPG to o-nitrophenol and D-galactose per minute (Miller, 1992).

 β -galactosidase activity in Miller Units = 1000 x OD₄₂₀ / (t x V x OD₆₀₀)

In each case, the assay was performed in triplicate for two individual transformants and statistical analysis was carried out using SPSS version 14.

Chapter 3

Analysis of the role of cis- and trans- acting elements in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription in fission yeast

3.1 Introduction

Eukaryotic cells undergo a sequence of precise events, known as the mitotic cell cycle, to ensure their proliferation by division into two identical daughter cells. Various processes control advancement through the mitotic cell cycle; one of these is transcription, the regulation of gene expression (Futcher, 2000).

A paradigm of eukaryotic transcription-dependent cell cycle events is the G1-S transition in the budding yeast *S. cerevisiae* (Breeden, 2003). Here, the timing of G1-S progression depends on the prior transcription at peak levels of the *CLN3* and *SWI4* genes during late M-early G1 phase, since Cln3p and Swi4p are rate limiting for the induction of a second wave of transcripts, whose products facilitate progression into S phase.

Cell cycle-specific transcription is a frequent theme in eukaryotic organisms, ranging from budding and fission yeasts to metazoans (Sections 1.5 and 1.6). In the fission yeast *S. pombe*, traditional methods and microarray analysis revealed 400-700 genes that are expressed at specific cell cycle phases (McInerny, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Bähler, 2005; Oliva *et al.*, 2005; Peng *et al.*, 2005). Approximately 140 of these genes display significant fluctuations in their mRNA levels during the mitotic cell cycle and are classified into four groups, based on their cell cycle stages of peak transcription (Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Section 1.5.2). The first group of genes is maximally transcribed at the G1-S boundary, the second during S phase, the third during G2 phase and the fourth during the M-G1 interval. In some cases, the molecular mechanisms, including promoter sequences and transcription factors, regulating transcription of each group have been identified (Section 1.5.2).

3.1.1 M-G1 specific transcription in S. pombe

Several genes are members of the gene cluster transcribed maximally during the M-G1 transition in fission yeast (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004). This gene family includes among others, *plo1*⁺, *cdc15*⁺, *spo12*⁺, *ppb1*⁺, *slp1*⁺, *ace2*⁺, *sid2*⁺ and *mid1*⁺/*dmf1*⁺, and all are involved in a variety of late mitotic events, including spindle formation, the onset of anaphase, positioning, formation and constriction of the actin-based medial ring, septation and cell separation (Fankhauser *et al.*, 1995; Simanis, 1995; Bähler *et al.*, 1998b; Mulvihill *et al.*, 1999; Samuel *et al.*, 2000; Utzig *et al.*, 2000; Tanaka *et al.*, 2001; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005; Section 1.5.2.4).

M-G1 specific transcription was first established for *cdc15*⁺, with this gene displaying maximum mRNA levels during metaphase (Fankhauser *et al.*, 1995). Several approaches were

adopted to reveal the *cis*- and *trans*- acting elements underlying cell cycle control of *cdc15*⁺ expression (Utzig *et al.*, 2000; Anderson *et al.*, 2002). Such studies have shown that a ~100 bp *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment encompassing a 6 bp sequence, termed the <u>P</u>ombe cell <u>cycle box</u> (PCB), is sufficient to impart periodic M-G1 specific transcription to the heterologous *lacZ* gene, expressed ectopically from a reporter plasmid, within *S. pombe* cells. In parallel, gel retardation assays with *S. pombe* protein extracts and the same promoter fragment as a radio-labelled probe revealed a PCB specific binding factor complex, named the <u>PCB-binding factor</u> (PBF).

As discussed earlier, DNA sequences similar to the PCB are present in the promoter regions of *plo1*⁺, *spo12*⁺, *ppb1*⁺, *slp1*⁺, *fin1*⁺, *ace2*⁺, *sid2*⁺ and *mid1*⁺/*dmf1*⁺ genes, which all display the same cyclic pattern of M-G1 specific transcription as *cdc15*⁺ (Anderson *et al.*, 2002, Buck *et al.*, 2004). Competitive gel retardation assays have identified the cognate PCB sequence for a few of these genes, resulting in the prediction of the GNAACR consensus for the PCB motif (Anderson *et al.*, 2002); this sequence has some similarities with the forkhead transcription factor binding motif (RTAAAYA) (Hromas and Costa, 1995; Kaufmann *et al.*, 1995). Later, computer based database analyses revealed that M-G1 transcribed genes contain another promoter element resembling a forkhead binding motif present in either orientation (Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Peng *et al.*, 2005). Consistent with these observations, two forkhead-like transcription factors are implicated in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription in *S. pombe*, suggesting that the forkhead promoter motif might be involved in M-G1 specific transcription, exerting its role either together or in parallel with the PCB promoter sequence (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004).

3.1.2 Regulation of M-G1 specific transcription

The discovery of the PBF protein complex prompted the identification of its component(s) and other regulatory factors. So far the products of four genes, *fkh2*⁺, *sep1*⁺, *mbx1*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ have been implicated in the regulation of M-G1 specific transcription in fission yeast (Zilahi *et al.*, 2000; Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004).

plo1⁺ is itself periodically transcribed during M-G1, suggesting that Plo1p regulates not only its own transcription but all the other M-G1 transcribed genes in the group by an autoregulatory loop (Anderson *et al.*, 2002). Since *plo1*⁺ encodes a Ser/Thr kinase (Ohkura *et al.*, 1995), it is possible that Plo1p regulates transcription by interacting with and phosphorylating PBF component(s) and/or other regulatory factors important for M-G1 gene expression. Indeed, it has been shown recently that Plo1p interacts *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and directly phosphorylates Mbx1p (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). The role of Plo1p in M-G1 transcription will by examined later in this thesis (Chapters 5 and 6). *fkh2*⁺ and *sep1*⁺ encode members of the conserved family of forkhead/HNF-3 transcription factors (Section 1.4.1.2.4), possessing a 110 amino acid monomeric DNA binding domain, the winged helix motif, present in multi-cellular eukaryotes, including *Drosophila*, *Xenopus*, rat and human (Weigel *et al.*, 1989; Dirksen and Jamrich, 1992; Clark *et al.*, 1993; Lai *et al.*, 1993; Kaufmann and Knochel, 1996). Forkhead transcription factors have been assigned various functions in early developmental events, cell differentiation and cell cycle progression (Hromas and Costa, 1995; Kaufmann and Knochel, 1996; Yang *et al.*, 1997; Costa, 2005).

mbx1⁺ encodes a homologue of the MADS-box family of transcription factors (Section 1.4.1.2.3), found in a variety of eukaryotes ranging from budding yeast to humans, each containing a conserved 56 amino acid motif (MADS-box) within the DNA-binding domain (Jarvis *et al.*, 1989; Treisman and Ammerer, 1992; Shore and Sharrocks, 1995). MADS-box proteins regulate transcription of genes mediating distinct biological processes; for example muscle cell cycle progression and cell differentiation in mammals (Han and Prywes, 1995; Shore and Sharrocks, 1995), floral organ development in plants (Davies and Schwarz-Sommer, 1994; Ma, 1994), and arginine metabolism, cell type determination, mating and cell cycle progression in *S. cerevisiae* (Dolan and Fields, 1991; Lydall *et al.*, 1991; Messenguy and Dubois, 1993; Althoefer *et al.*, 1995).

Most MADS-box transcription factors bind their cognate DNA sequence $[CC(A/T)_6GG]$ as homodimers and mediate the formation of multi-component regulatory complexes by recruiting other transcription factors, which in turn activate or repress transcription of several target genes. Examples of such transcription factors, assembled into complexes with MADS-box proteins on the promoter region of target genes, are several myogenic basic-helix-loop-helix (bHLH) proteins in mammalian cells (Buckingham, 1994; Molkentin and Olson, 1996) and the forkhead transcription factor Fkh2p in budding yeast (Althoefer *et al.*, 1995; Kumar *et al.*, 2000; Pic *et al.*, 2000).

Mcm1p is the *S. cerevisiae* MADS-box transcription factor recruiting Fkh2p on the promoters of several 'CLB2' cluster genes (Maher *et al.*, 1995; Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2000; Jorgensen and Tyers, 2000; Kumar *et al.*, 2000; Pic *et al.*, 2000; Zhu *et al.*, 2000; Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2001). These genes are periodically transcribed during late G2-early M phase as a result of transcriptional regulation by the Fkh2p-Mcm1p complex, bound to the genes' promoters throughout the cell cycle, along with Fkh1p, and the co-activator Ndd1p protein. Fkh1p binds to the promoters of 'CLB2' cluster genes in a Mcm1p-independent manner (Kumar *et al.*, 2000; Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2001). Ndd1p is recruited to the promoters of 'CLB2' cluster genes exclusively during the G2-M interval to activate their transcription. Phosphorylation of Ndd1p by Cdc28p-Clb2p complexes, as well as Cdc5p, is a prerequisite for its recruitment and subsequent association with the FHA domain of Fkh2p (Koranda *et al.*, 2000; Darieva *et al.*, 2003; Reynolds *et al.*, 2003; Darieva *et al.*, 2006), binding serine or

threonine phosphorylated residues (Durocher and Jackson, 2002). Cell cycle specific recruitment of Cdc5p onto the promoters of 'CLB2' cluster genes requires Fkh2p, which is itself phosphorylated at its C-terminus in a Cdc28p-Clbp dependent manner prior to its interaction with phosphorylated Ndd1p (Darieva *et al.*, 2003; Pic-Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Darieva *et al.*, 2006).

The products of the *S. pombe fkh2*⁺ and *sep1*⁺ genes, Fkh2p and Sep1p, are homologues of *S. cerevisiae* Fkh1p and Fkh2p, whereas Mbx1p, encoded by the *S. pombe mbx1*⁺ gene, is similar to Mcm1p (Buck *et al.,* 2004). These observations suggest that M-G1 specific transcription in fission yeast might engage common control mechanisms to those seen in budding yeast, although the absence of an Ndd1p homologue or obvious Mcm1p-binding sequences within the promoters of M-G1 periodically expressed genes, argues that distinct regulatory networks may operate in this organism.

Several lines of evidence support a role for fkh^{2+} , $sep1^+$ and $mbx1^+$ in transcription at the M-G1 transition. Gel retardation assays with protein extracts from $mbx1\Delta$ cells and the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment revealed that deletion of $mbx1^+$ abolishes binding of the PBF complex to the PCB sequence, suggesting that Mbx1p is a core PBF component. Nonetheless, as shown by Northern blot analysis, various genes, including $cdc15^+$, $spo12^+$, $fin1^+$, $slp1^+$ and $ace2^+$, are still periodically transcribed during the M-G1 phase in the absence of $mbx1^+$, implying that other transcription factors must be responsible for regulating the oscillating transcriptional pattern of these genes. In support of this conjecture, deletion of either $fkh2^+$ or $sep1^+$ eliminates periodic transcription of all M-G1 genes, with their mRNA levels present at constant levels throughout the cell cycle, suggesting that Sep1p and Fkh2p transcription factors are required for M-G1 specific transcription (Buck et *al., 2004*). Notably, $fkh2^+$ is also periodically transcribed during the cell cycle, its mRNA levels peaking during late mitosis-G1 phase, and its promoter contains PCB and forkhead sequences, implying that $fkh2^+$ regulates its own expression and that of other M-G1 transcribed genes by feedback mechanisms (Buck et *al., 2004*; Bulmer *et al., 2004*; Rustici *et al., 2004*).

3.2 Role of the PCB sequence in M–G1 specific transcription in *S. pombe*

Previous work has shown that a $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment (-157 to -53 relative to the ATG) confers M-G1 specific transcription to *lacZ*, when cloned upstream of the reporter gene in the UAS reporter plasmid pSP Δ 178 (Utzig *et al.*, 2000; Anderson *et al.*, 2002). The ability of the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment to confer M-G1 specific transcription to a heterologous gene allows two conclusions: firstly,

it shows that this promoter region contains the necessary *cis*-acting element(s) mediating M-G1 transcription of *cdc15*⁺; and, secondly, it suggests that the periodic mRNA pattern of *cdc15*⁺ is a result of regulation at the level of transcription and not mRNA stability.

Gel retardation assays revealed a 6 bp sequence, GCAACG, termed the PCB, within the same *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment that binds *in vitro* to a protein complex, termed PBF. All the genes displaying the same oscillating cell cycle-specific mRNA pattern as *cdc15*⁺, including *spo12*⁺, *sid2*⁺, *fin1*⁺, *slp1*⁺, *ace2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺, possess sequences similar to GCAACG in their promoters. This has allowed the prediction of a consensus sequence for the PCB, GNAACR (Anderson *et al.*, 2002).

Following these findings, one of the first aims of this study was to confirm whether the PCB controls M-G1 specific transcription in *S. pombe*. To accomplish this, mutated versions of the PCB sequence (GCAACG substituted for AAGGTT or TTGGTT), within the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment, were assayed by Northern blot for their effect on cell cycle transcription of *lacZ*, expressed ectopically from the pSP Δ 178 reporter construct.

Two pSP Δ 178 reporter constructs were generated, pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT and pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT2, the former carrying the AAGGTT-, while the latter the TTGGTT- containing *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment. The two plasmids were transformed separately into *cdc25-22* fission yeast cells, which were then synchronised by transient temperature arrest and allowed to progress through the mitotic cell cycle. Samples were then collected at successive time points and analysed by Northern blot to monitor levels of *lacZ* mRNA.

3.2.1 Construction of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT2 reporter plasmids

3.2.1.1 The pSPΔ178 reporter plasmid

The pSP Δ 178 reporter plasmid is a high copy vector derived from the budding yeast shuttle vector pLG669-Z (Guarente and Ptashne, 1981; Guarente and Mason, 1983; Figure 3.1). pSP Δ 178 carries the *E. coli* selectable marker Amp^R, the *S. cerevisiae URA3* marker (selectable also in *S. pombe* since it complements the fission yeast *ura4* allele), as well as appropriate *E. coli* and *S. pombe* origins of replication, *ori* and *ARS6*, respectively. It also possesses the *lacZ* gene fused at its 5' end to a fragment from the promoter of the *S. cerevisiae* cytochrome c (*CYC1*) gene, functioning in fission yeast as a minimal promoter, which by itself is unable to activate *lacZ* transcription (Guarente and Mason, 1983; Lowndes *et al.*, 1992). A *XhoI* restriction site, present immediately upstream of the *CYC1* minimal promoter, facilitates insertion of the *S. pombe* promoter sequence of interest, such as

a potential upstream activation sequence (UAS), which can then be assessed by Northern blot analysis for its effect on *lacZ* transcription.

The pSP Δ 178 reporter construct has been successfully employed to elucidate the role of the MCB promoter motif in regulation of G1-S cell cycle specific transcription in *S. pombe* (Lowndes *et al.*, 1992; Maqbool *et al.*, 2003) and to show that a PCB-containing *cdc*15⁺ promoter fragment imparts M-G1 cell cycle specific transcription to the *lacZ* gene (Anderson *et al.*, 2002). In the present study, this vector was used to determine whether the PCB sequence is a requirement for M-G1 cell cycle specific transcription in *S. pombe*, by studying the effect of mutated versions of the *cdc*15⁺ PCB sequence on *lacZ* cell cycle transcription.



Figure 3.1: The fission yeast UAS reporter plasmid pSPΔ178. pSPΔ178 contains the minimal *CYC1* promoter from budding yeast upstream of the *lacZ* gene which, by itself, does not activate *lacZ* transcription (Guarente and Mason 1983; Lowndes *et al.*, 1992). A potential UAS is inserted into the *XhoI* restriction site upstream of the *CYC1* promoter and UAS activity is assayed by *lacZ* transcription.

3.2.1.2 $pSP\Delta 178.15UAS.MUT$ and $pSP\Delta 178.15UAS.MUT2$ constructs

Classical molecular procedures were adopted to construct the pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT and pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT2 plasmids, each carrying an appropriate *cdc*15⁺ promoter fragment with a mutated version of the PCB sequence.

The first step in the process involved creation of two ~100 bp DNA fragments, corresponding to the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment that drives M-G1 specific *lacZ* transcription (Anderson *et al.*, 2002), but carrying either the mutated AAGGTT or the TTGGTT sequence instead of GCAACG, the wild-type PCB promoter motif. To generate the AAGGTT- and TTGGTT- containing *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragments, termed for convenience "PCB mut1" and "PCB mut2", two complementary single stranded DNA oligonucleotides were custom-made and annealed to produce in each case a double stranded DNA fragment (Section 2.2.9.8) with appropriate protruding 5' ends to facilitate cloning into the *Xhol* site of the pSP Δ 178 plasmid (GB 10). Oligonucleotides GO 590 and GO 591 yielded PCB mut1 DNA, whereas oligonucleotides GO 588 and GO 589 produced the PCB mut2 DNA fragment (Appendix I). The 5' ends of the PCB mut1 and PCB mut2 DNA fragments were then phosphorylated by T4 polynucleotide kinase before ligation with the respective ends of *Xhol*-digested and dephosphorylated pSP Δ 178 vector (Sections 2.2.9.6-2.2.9.11). In each case, transformation into DH5 α cells (GB 4) (Section 2.2.3) was followed by overnight growth at 37°C on solid media supplemented with ampicillin, with successful transformants picked, grown overnight in liquid media and subjected to plasmid purification to screen for successful cloning.

Successful cloning of the PCB mut1 or PCB mut2 DNA fragment into the *Xhol* site of pSP Δ 178, was verified by PCR analysis (Section 2.2.9.4). Primers GO 47 (forward) and GO 46 (reverse) (Appendix I), the former corresponding to a sequence ~50 bp upstream of the *Xhol* site and the latter ~20 bp downstream, were used to screen for the presence of insert, either the PCB mut1 or the PCB mut2 DNA fragment. Next, primers GO 400 (forward) and GO 46, the first corresponding to a sequence within the *cdc*15⁺ promoter fragment (-132 to -114 relative to the ATG), were used to test for cloning of DNA fragments into the correct orientation. As a positive control, the pSP Δ 178.15UAS reporter plasmid (GB 194), carrying the wild-type PCB-containing *cdc*15⁺ promoter fragment (Anderson *et al.*, 2002), was used as a template for PCR amplification with primer pair GO 46 and GO 47, or GO 46 and GO 400, respectively.

PCR analysis identified one isolate of pSPΔ17815UAS.MUT (GB 464) and one isolate of pSPΔ17815UAS.MUT2 (GB 469). As shown in Figures 3.2A and 3.2B, PCR amplification with primers GO 46 and GO 47 with pSPΔ17815UAS.MUT (Lane A-3) or pSPΔ17815UAS.MUT2 (Lane B-2), yielded a ~180 bp fragment, consistent with the presence of a ~100 bp insert. Similarly, PCR

amplification with primers GO 46 and GO 400 generated a ~100 bp DNA, verifying that cloning of the PCB mut1 (Lane A-4) or PCB mut2 (Lane B-4) fragment occurred in the correct orientation. Finally, both constructs were confirmed by DNA sequencing (MWG Biotech).



Figure 3.2: Verification of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT2 reporter constructs. PCR analysis was performed to verify cloning of (A) PCB mut1 DNA fragment and (B) PCB mut2 DNA fragment into the *Xhol* site of pSPΔ178, yielding plasmid pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT (GB 464) and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT2 (GB 469), respectively. In each case, primer pair GO 46 and GO 47, flanking the *Xhol* site, was used to PCR amplify a ~180 bp fragment (Lanes A-3 and B-2) to check for cloning into pSPΔ178, while primer pair GO 46 and GO 400 was used to PCR amplify a ~100 bp fragment (Lanes A-4 and B-4) to check for cloning into the correct orientation. As a positive control, pSPΔ178.15UAS plasmid (GB 194) was used as a template for PCR amplification with primer pair GO 46 and GO 47 (Lanes A-1 and B-1) or primer pair GO 46 and GO 400 (Lanes A-2 and B-3). Lane M (A-B) indicates DNA Molecular Weight Marker X.

3.2.2 Requirement of the PCB sequence for M-G1 specific transcription in fission yeast

To elucidate the role of the PCB promoter motif in regulation of $cdc15^+$ transcription, two $cdc15^+$ promoter fragments, termed PCB mut1 and PCB mut2 DNA, each containing a mutated version of the PCB sequence, AAGGTT or TTGGTT, were separately introduced upstream of *lacZ* into the pSP Δ 178 vector (Section 3.2.1.2). Northern blot analysis was then performed to test the ability of each of these fragments to drive M-G1 specific transcription of the *lacZ* reporter gene within synchronously dividing *S. pombe* cells. As a positive control, the wild-type $cdc15^+$ PCB sequence, GCAACG, was also monitored for its effect on M-G1 specific transcription of *lacZ*.

Creation of the pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT and pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT2 reporter plasmids, carrying the PCB mut1 and PCB mut2 DNA fragments, respectively, was described in Section 3.2.1.2. The pSP Δ 178.15UAS reporter construct encompassing the *cdc*15⁺ promoter fragment with the PCB sequence has been described (Anderson *et al.*, 2002).

Each of the three reporter constructs, pSP Δ 178.15UAS, pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT or pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT2, was separately transformed into *cdc25-22 ura4-D18 leu1-32* (GG 308) *S. pombe* cells (Section 2.2.6), carrying the *cdc25-22* temperature sensitive allele (Fantes, 1979), as well as a complete deletion of the *ura4* gene (Grimm and Kohli, 1988; Grimm *et al.*, 1988). The *cdc25-22* mutation causes cells to arrest at the G2 cell cycle phase upon transfer from the permissive temperature of 25°C to the restrictive temperature of 36°C; on return to 25°C the cells begin dividing again in a highly synchronous manner, hence facilitating the synchronisation of a cell population by a simple transient temperature arrest. The *ura4-D18* deletion allows the maintenance in *S. pombe* cells of plasmids, such as pSP Δ 178 (Section 3.2.1.1), possessing the *S. cerevisiae URA3* gene that complements *S. pombe ura4*⁻ mutations, upon growth in medium lacking uracil.

Following transformation, a single colony of cdc25-22 ura4-D18 leu1-32 cells carrying either one of the three pSP Δ 178 reporter constructs, was added separately to 5 ml of leucinesupplemented EMM and grown overnight at 25°C. The next day, each 5 ml culture was transferred into 500 ml of the same selective media and cells were grown at 25°C to mid-log phase before transfer to 36°C for 3.5 hours to arrest at G2 phase. After the transient temperature arrest, each cell culture was returned and incubated at the permissive temperature (25°C), allowing cells to progress through mitosis and subsequent phases of the cell cycle in synchrony. In each case, cell samples were collected every 15 min for a four hour period. Total RNA was prepared from each sample and resolved by formaldehyde gel electrophoresis (Section 2.2.10.1 and 2.2.10.3). Northern blot analysis (Section 2.2.10.4) followed using appropriate DNA probes to assay the cell cycle mRNA levels of *lacZ*, as well as endogenous *cdc15*⁺, the latter used as a positive control, to confirm synchrony of the cells. As a loading control the rRNA content of each RNA sample was detected by ethidium bromide staining. In some experiments, *adh1*⁺, a gene with an invariant mRNA profile during the mitotic cell cycle, was also used as a probe for Northern blotting (Buck *et al.*, 2004). As another measure of cell synchrony, the septation index of each sample was counted microscopically and plotted as a percentage of cell septa against time.

The results obtained from these experiments are shown in Figures 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5, displaying the cell cycle transcript profile of *lacZ* under control of the PCB-, AAGGTT- and TTGGTT- containing *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment, respectively.

As expected, the fragment with the wild-type *cdc15*⁺ PCB sequence conferred M-G1 specific transcription to *lacZ*, since the cell cycle mRNA profile of the reporter gene was similar to that of the endogenous *cdc15*⁺ gene (Figure 3.3; Buck *et al.*, 2004). This result confirmed earlier work showing the M-G1 specific mRNA profile of *lacZ*, mediated by the PCB-containing *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment, in synchronously dividing wild-type cells prepared by centrifugal elutriation (Anderson *et al.*, 2002).

In contrast, changing the PCB sequence from GCAACG to AAGGTT within the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment abolished transcription of *lacZ* throughout the cell cycle but not of the endogenous wild-type *cdc15*⁺ gene (Figure 3.4), confirming a requirement of the PCB sequence for PBF-dependent transcription of *cdc15*⁺ in *S. pombe* (Buck *et al.,* 2004). Nonetheless, the second type of *cdc15*⁺ PCB mutation, changing GCAACG to TTGGTT, drastically reduced the amplitude of *lacZ* mRNA levels at all cell cycle times observed, but did not affect cell cycle-dependent transcription *per se.* Indeed, as shown in Figure 3.5, the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment containing the TTGGTT sequence instead of the PCB was still able to support cell cycle specific transcription of the reporter gene, since the *lacZ* mRNA levels fluctuated in abundance in a periodic manner and peaked at times corresponding to the M-G1 interval, despite their radical decline in terms of relative amount throughout the cell cycle. Taken together, these findings reveal that the PCB sequence positively regulates transcription of *cdc15*⁺ in a cell cycle independent manner.



Figure 3.3: A *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment containing the PCB sequence (GCAACG) confers M-G1 specific transcription on the *lacZ* reporter. *cdc25-22* cells (GG 308) transformed with the pSPΔ178.15UAS plasmid (GB 194) were synchronised by transient temperature arrest. Samples were collected every 15 min upon release to the permissive temperature and total RNA was prepared for Northern blot analysis. The transient cell cycle arrest with *cdc25-22* cells transformed with pSPΔ178.15UAS plasmid was The blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15*⁺ and *lacZ* probes. Ethidium staining of rRNA was used as a loading control. Quantification of mRNA levels against rRNA is shown. Septation indices were counted microscopically and are plotted to indicate the synchrony of the culture. Northern blot analysis was carried out twice with samples prepared from two individual cultures of synchronous cells. The results obtained from Northern blot analysis of samples from one of the two cultures are shown here and are representative of the results from both experiments.




Figure 3.4: A *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment containing AAGGTT instead of the PCB sequence (GCAACG) abolishes transcription of the *lacZ* reporter gene. *cdc25-22* cells (GG 308) transformed with the pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT plasmid (GB 344) were synchronised by transient temperature arrest. Samples were collected every 15 min upon release to the permissive temperature and total RNA was prepared for Northern blot analysis. The blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15*⁺ and *lacZ* probes. Ethidium staining of rRNA was used as a loading control. Quantification of mRNA levels against rRNA is shown. Septation indices were counted microscopically and are plotted to indicate the synchrony of the culture. Northern blot analysis was carried out twice with samples prepared from two individual cultures of synchronous cells. The results obtained from Northern blot analysis of samples from one of the two cultures are shown here and are representative of the results from both experiments.



Figure 3.5: A *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment containing TTGGTT instead of the PCB sequence (GCAACG) drastically affects the amplitude but not the cell cycle specific pattern of transcription of the *lacZ* reporter gene. *cdc25-22* cells (GG 308) transformed with the pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT2 plasmid (GB 469) were synchronised by transient temperature arrest. Samples were collected every 15 min upon release to the permissive temperature and total RNA was prepared for Northern blot analysis. The blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15*⁺ and *lacZ* probes. Ethidium staining of rRNA was used as a loading control. Quantification of mRNA levels against rRNA is shown. Septation indices were counted microscopically and are plotted to indicate the synchrony of the culture. Northern blot analysis was carried out in two separate occasions with total RNA samples prepared from two individual cultures of synchronous *cdc25-22* cells transformed with the pSP Δ 178.15UAS plasmid. Northern blot analysis was carried out twice with samples prepared from two individual cultures of synchronous cells. The results obtained from Northern blot analysis of samples from one of the two cultures are shown here and are representative of the results from both experiments.

3.3 Role of the Fkh2p and Sep1p transcription factors in regulation of M–G1 specific transcription in *S. pombe*

Various studies have revealed that the encoded products of *fkh2*⁺, *sep1*⁺ and *mbx1*⁺ are involved in regulation of M-G1 transcription in fission yeast (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004).

mbx1⁺ was identified by database searches based on its similarity to genes encoding MADS-box proteins (Treisman and Ammerer, 1992; Buck *et al.*, 2004). It is a non-essential gene, since the *mbx1* Δ mutant is viable and grows both on solid and in liquid media, comparable to wild-type, although it is defective in cytokinesis (Buck *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, *mbx1* Δ cells display aberrant mating as they are able to cross with either h⁻ or h⁺ cells (Appendix V), indicating a role for *mbx1*⁺ in sexual differentiation.

Fission yeast $fkh2^+$ was initially identified in a genetic screen when a truncated version of the gene acted as a multi-copy suppressor of the G2-M cell cycle arrest phenotype of the *mcs3-12 cdc25-22 wee1-50* triple mutant (Molz *et al.*, 1989; Samuel *et al.*, 2000). Although $fkh2^+$ is nonessential, $fkh2\Delta$ cells grow more slowly and are longer relative to wild-type, while a small proportion exhibits unconstricted, multiple or misplaced septa, suggesting a role for Fkh2p in the control of mitotic events and cytokinesis (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, $fkh2\Delta$ cells exhibit conjugation and sporulation defects and are partially sterile (Szilagyi *et al.*, 2005), consistent with the recent finding that Fkh2p in a Cdc2p-dependent manner, regulates transcription of *ste11*⁺, a transcription factor modulating the expression of genes necessary for sexual differentiation (Shimada *et al.*, 2008). Perhaps also of note is the observation that the slow growth and septation phenotype of *fkh2*\Delta cells is only seen upon growth on rich (YE) but not minimal (EMM) solid medium (Appendix VI).

The *sep1*⁺ gene is also not essential for viability, but *sep1* Δ cells are defective in cell separation, forming branched hyphae, showing regulatory functions in late mitotic events, such as septation and cytokinesis (Sipiczki *et al.*, 1993; Gould and Simanis, 1997; Ribàr *et al.*, 1997; Ribàr *et al.*, 1999; Zilahi *et al.*, 2000). Consistent with the phenotype of *sep1* mutants, *sep1*⁺ genetically interacts with a number of genes, including *wee1*⁺, *cdc2*⁺ and *cdc25*⁺, all known regulators of entry into mitosis, as well as *cdc4*⁺, which is necessary for the assembly of the actin-based medial ring (Sipiczki *et al.*, 1993; Grallert *et al.*, 1998). Finally, other studies have shown that *sep1*⁺ is required for periodic transcription of *cdc15*⁺ and that it encodes a protein required for the positioning and assembly of the actin-based medial ring during late mitosis (Simanis, 1995; Zilahi *et al.*, 2000).

As discussed in Section 3.1.2, Fkh2p and Sep1p show peptide similarity to the budding yeast Fkh1p and Fkh2p proteins, which control periodic G2-M specific transcription of the 'CLB2' gene cluster. Fkh2p, similar to its *S. cerevisiae* counterparts, possesses an N-terminal forkhead-binding domain (FHD) and a forkhead associated domain (FHA), whereas Sep1p only possesses the FHD domain (Buck *et al.*, 2004).

Previous work revealed that in the absence of Fkh2p or Sep1p, but not Mbx1p, periodic M-G1 specific transcription of genes, such as $cdc15^+$, is lost in fission yeast (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004). These findings show that $fkh2^+$ and $sep1^+$ are required for periodic transcription during the M-G1 interval in the fission yeast. In parallel, previous work and experiments presented in Figure 3.3 demonstrate that a ~ 100 bp region from the $cdc15^+$ promoter supports M-G1 specific transcription of the *lacZ* reporter and contains among others the PCB sequence (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004). Taken together, these findings suggest that Fkh2p and Sep1p regulate periodic M-G1 transcription of $cdc15^+$, either directly or indirectly, through *cis*-acting element(s), including the PCB sequence, present within the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment.

To determine whether Fkh2p and Sep1p exert their function on transcriptional regulation of $cdc15^+$ through *cis*-acting element(s) within the 100 bp PCB-containing $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment Northern blot analysis was performed to examine the effect of deleting either $fkh2^+$ or $sep1^+$ on cell cycle transcription of both endogenous $cdc15^+$ and also lacZ, the latter expressed ectopically under control of the PCB-containing promoter fragment (Section 3.2).

pSP Δ 178.15UAS was transformed into *fkh2\Delta cdc25-22 ura4-D18 leu1-32* (GG 756) or *sep1\Delta cdc25-22 ura4-D18 leu1-32* (GG 776) cells. For both transformed strains, synchronous cultures were created by transient temperature arrest (Section 3.2.2) and cell samples collected every 15 min. Total RNA was then prepared and resolved by formaldehyde gel electrophoresis (Section 2.2.10.1 and 2.2.10.3). Northern blot analysis was then completed, to monitor the cell cycle mRNA levels of *lacZ* and *cdc15*⁺. Septation indices were counted only for *fkh2\Delta cdc25-22* cells containing pSP Δ 178.15UAS, as the defective septation and cell separation phenotype of *sep1\Delta* cells precluded such analysis in this strain. As shown in Figure 3.6, *fkh2\Delta cdc25-22* cells displayed a slightly delayed septation, which persisted thereafter, when compared to *cdc25-22* cells (Figure 3.3). This reflects the septation defect seen in this strain.

The results from these experiments are shown in Figures 3.6 and 3.7. In the absence of either $fkh2^+$ or $sep1^+$, the mRNA levels of endogenous $cdc15^+$ no longer fluctuate in abundance during the cell cycle in an M-G1 specific manner. Deletion of either $fkh2^+$ or $sep1^+$ also abolishes periodic M-G1 specific transcription of *lacZ*, expressed under control of the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment containing the wild-type PCB sequence GCAACG (Buck *et al.*, 2004). Taken together,

these results suggest that the encoded products of $fkh2^+$ and $sep1^+$ control M-G1 specific transcription of $cdc15^+$ through sequences present within the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment that contains the PCB element. Interestingly however, experiments shown in Figures 3.4 and 3.5 have revealed that the PCB sequence mediates transcription of $cdc15^+$ throughout the cell cycle. Hence, it is likely that promoter elements other than the PCB exist within the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment that are responsible for Fkh2p- and/or Sep1p- mediated transcription at the M-G1 interval, exerting their role either together or in parallel with the PCB.



Figure 3.6: Loss of periodic transcription of *lacZ* in *fkh2* Δ cells. *fkh2* Δ *cdc25-22* cells (GG 756) transformed with pSP Δ 178.15UAS plasmid (GB 194) were synchronised by transient temperature arrest. Samples were collected every 15 min upon release to the permissive temperature and total RNA was prepared for Northern blot analysis. The blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15*⁺ and *lacZ* probes. Ethidium staining of rRNA was used as a loading control. Quantification of mRNA levels against its rRNA is shown. Septation indices were counted microscopically and are plotted to indicate the synchrony of the culture. Northern blot analysis was carried out twice with samples prepared from two individual cultures of synchronous cells. The results obtained from Northern blot analysis of samples from one of the two cultures are shown here and are representative of the results from both experiments.



wild type PCB-lacZ sep1A cdc25-22 transient arrest cell cycle



Figure 3.7: Loss of periodic transcription of *lacZ* in *sep1* Δ cells. *sep1* Δ *cdc25-22* cells (GG 776) transformed with pSP Δ 178.15UAS plasmid (GB 194) were synchronised by transient temperature arrest. Samples were collected every 15 min upon release to the permissive temperature and total RNA was prepared for Northern blot analysis. The blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15*⁺ and *lacZ* probes. Ethidium staining of rRNA was used as a loading control. Quantification of mRNA levels against rRNA is shown. Septation indices were counted microscopically and are plotted to indicate the synchrony of the culture. Northern blot analysis was carried out twice with samples prepared from two individual cultures of synchronous cells. The results obtained from Northern blot analysis of samples from one of the two cultures are shown here and are representative of the results from both experiments.

3.4 Role of the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in M–G1 specific transcription in S. *pombe*

As described in Section 3.1.1, the promoter regions of *S. pombe* M-G1 transcribed genes, regulated by Fkh2p and Sep1p, are enriched for another promoter sequence that is similar to the conserved forkhead motif and found in either orientation (Rustici *et al.*, 2004). Genes from a variety of organisms, ranging from the budding yeast to humans, contain in their promoter conserved forkhead sequences, (RTAAAYA), bound by forkhead transcription factors (Pierrou *et al.*, 1994; Hromas and Costa, 1995; Kaufmann *et al.*, 1995; Kaufmann and Knöchel, 1996; Pic *et al.*, 2000; Zhu *et al.*, 2000; Hollenhorst *et al.*, 2001) (Section 1.4.1.2.4).

In *S. pombe*, database analyses show that the forkhead motif is present in the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes in both orientations, although TRTTTAY is statistically more significant than RTAAAYA (Rustici *et al.*, 2004, Bähler, 2005). Experimental evidence for a role of this forkhead motif in transcriptional regulation of M-G1 transcribed genes in fission yeast comes from work showing that Sep1p-mediated transcription of *ace2*⁺ is dependent on the TGTTTAY sequence, present within the *ace2*⁺ promoter region in multiple copies and in both orientations (Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005). Northern blot analysis showed that the *ace2*⁺ transcript is absent from *ace2* Δ cells transformed with a plasmid carrying the *ace2*⁺ ORF under control of a promoter fragment lacking these forkhead sequences.

Interestingly, a sequence search within the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment that confers M-G1 specific transcription to *lacZ* (Anderson *et al.*, 2002), shows that it contains not only the PCB element but also two forkhead sequences, one TGTTTAC (-87 to -81 relative to *cdc15*⁺ ATG) and one GTAAACA (-98 to -92). This observation implies that these forkhead motifs might have a role in Fkh2p-/Sep1p-mediated cell cycle specific transcription of *cdc15*⁺, as well as of other M-G1 transcribed genes. Figure 3.8 displays a feature map of the PCB and the forkhead motifs found within the promoters of fission yeast M-G1 transcribed genes, created by using the Regulatory Sequence Analysis Tools (**RSAT**) (http://rsat.ulb.ac.be/rsat/) (Van Helden, 2003). A detailed list of the positions of the PCB and forkhead sequences within the promoters of these genes is shown in Appendix VII.



Figure 3.8: Feature map of the positions of the PCB and forkhead motifs within the promoters of *S. pombe* **M-G1 transcribed genes.** The RSAT web resource was used to retrieve *spo12*⁺, *cdc15*⁺, *plo1*⁺, *fkh2*⁺, *slp1*⁺, *ace2*⁺ and *sid2*⁺ promoter sequences (spanning an upstream 800 bp region), which were then searched with the DNA-pattern matching tool for the positions of the PCB (GNAACR) and the forkhead motifs, the latter in both orientations, TGTTTAY and RTAAACA, respectively. Red, blue and green boxes correspond to GNAACR, TGTTTAY and RTAAACA sequence motifs. Scale bar denotes distance every 100 bp for a 800 bp upstream promoter sequence. R stands for G or A, Y for C or T and N for G, C, T or A.

Based on these findings, Northern blot analysis was employed to examine whether the TGTTTAC forkhead-related sequence is involved in cell cycle specific transcription of *cdc15*⁺. To accomplish this, a mutated version of the forkhead sequence (TGTTTAC substituted for GTGGGGT) within the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment (Section 3.2), was monitored, either alone or in combination with a mutated version of the PCB sequence (GCAACG substituted for TTGGTT), for its effect on cell cycle transcription of *lacZ*.

Two pSP Δ 178 plasmids were created, one containing a *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment with the mutated forkhead sequence and the wild-type PCB (pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT3), while the other a fragment with the mutated forkhead sequence and the mutated PCB (pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT4). The plasmids were transformed separately into *cdc25-22* cells, which were then synchronised by transient temperature arrest and allowed to progress through the mitotic cell cycle. Samples were then collected and analysed by Northern blot to monitor the cell cycle transcriptional profile of *lacZ* and that of endogenous *cdc15*⁺.

3.4.1 Construction of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 reporter plasmids

Standard molecular procedures were adopted to make the pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT4 plasmids (Section 3.2.1.2). Two ~100 bp *cdc*15⁺ promoter fragments were generated, forkhead mut3 and PCB/forkhead mut4, the first containing the mutated forkhead sequence alone and the other the mutated forkhead together with the mutated PCB.

To create forkhead mut3 and PCB/forkhead mut4 fragments two single stranded (ssDNA) oligonucleotides were annealed in each case, GO 701 with GO 702 and GO 703 with GO 704, respectively (Section 2.2.9.8) (Appendix I), and cloned into the pSPΔ178 vector (GB 10). PCR analysis was performed on transformants to identify inserts in the correct orientation (Section 3.2.1.2). This analysis identified one isolate of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 (GB 475) and one isolate of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 (GB 471), as shown in Figure 3.9. Finally, both constructs were confirmed by sequencing (MWG Biotech).



Figure 3.9: Verification of pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 reporter constructs. (A-B) PCR analysis was performed to verify cloning of forkhead mut3 and PCB/forkhead mut4 DNA fragments into the *Xhol* site of pSPΔ178, yielding plasmid pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3 (GB 475) and pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 (GB 471). Primers GO 46 and GO 47, flanking the *Xhol* site, were used to PCR amplify a ~180 bp fragment (Lanes A-2 and B-3 corresponding to forkhead mut3 and PCB/forkhead mut4 DNA fragment, respectively) to check for cloning into pSPΔ178, while primer pair GO 46 and GO 398 was used to PCR amplify a ~100 bp fragment (Lanes A-4 and B-6 corresponding to forkhead mut3 and PCB/forkhead mut4 DNA fragment, respectively) to check for cloning into the correct orientation. As a positive control, pSPΔ178.15UAS plasmid (GB 194) was used as a template for PCR amplification with primer pair GO 46 and GO 47 (Lanes A-1 and B-1) or primer pair GO 46 and GO 398 (Lane A-3 and B-4). (B) Lanes B-2 and B-5 show PCR amplification using as a template empty pSPΔ178 plasmid (GB 10) as a negative control with primer pair GO 46 and GO 47 or GO 46 and GO 398, respectively. (A-B) Lane M indicates DNA Molecular Weight Marker X.

3.4.2 Requirement of TGTTTAC sequence for M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15⁺

To determine whether the TGTTTAC sequence motif regulates M-G1 specific transcription of $cdc15^+$, either in the presence or in the absence of the PCB motif, Northern blot analysis was performed to examine the effect of either mutating only this forkhead-related sequence or both the forkhead and the PCB sequence on cell cycle transcription of *lacZ*, expressed ectopically from pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT3 or pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT4, respectively (Section 3.4.1). Initially, each reporter plasmid was transformed into *cdc25-22 ura4-D18 leu1-32* cells. For each transformed strain, a synchronous culture was created by transient temperature arrest (Section 3.2.2), and Northern blot analysis completed on cell samples collected every 15 min, to detect cell cycle mRNA levels of *lacZ* and endogenous *cdc15*⁺ (Sections 2.2.10.1 and 2.2.10.3).

Figures 3.10 and 3.11 display the results from these analyses, showing the cell cycle mRNA levels of *lacZ* and *cdc15*⁺ in *cdc25-22* cells containing the pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT3 or pSPA178.15UAS.MUT4 plasmid, respectively. In the absence of the wild-type forkhead sequence, but in the presence of the PCB sequence, the *lacZ* mRNA levels were still found to oscillate in abundance in a cell cycle manner, their amplitude relatively similar to that of endogenous cdc15⁺. Nonetheless, mutating the TGTTTAC motif compromised M-G1 specific transcription of the reporter gene, since the mRNA levels of *lacZ* peaked 15-30 minutes later than the mRNA levels of endogenous *cdc15*⁺ (Figure 3.10). It is important to note that the loss of the TGTTTAC sequence only delayed but did not abolish periodic transcription of *lacZ* relative to *cdc15*⁺, implying that other promoter elements might also contribute to the control of M-G1, phase-specific, transcription. Interestingly, the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment contains another forkhead motif in the reverse orientation, GTAAACA (Figure 3.8). Hence, it is possible that there is redundancy between the two forkhead motifs in their role in cell cycle specific transcription of *cdc15*⁺, with one substituting for the loss of the other. Overall, the TGTTTAY forkhead-related sequence appears to have a role in maintaining the temporal, M-G1 specific, transcriptional pattern of *cdc15*⁺ and, presumably, of other co-regulated genes. Contrary to the temporal effect on the cell cycle mRNA pattern of lacZ as a result of changing the TGTTTAC sequence, mutating both the TGTTTAC and the PCB sequences dramatically reduced lacZ mRNA levels throughout the cell cycle but did not compromise M-G1 transcription (Figure 3.11), generating a *lacZ* mRNA profile similar to that seen with the mutated PCB alone (Figure 3.5). Taken together, these findings suggest that the TGTTTAY motif and the PCB sequence possibly function in a parallel, but not additive, manner, with the former regulating the timing of phase-specific *cdc15*⁺ transcription and the latter the amplitude of *cdc15*⁺ transcription but in a cell cycle non-specific manner.



Figure 3.10: Effect of mutating the TGTTTAC forkhead sequence on M–G1 specific transcription in fission yeast. cdc25-22 cells (GG 308) transformed with pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT3 plasmid (GB 475) were synchronised by transient temperature arrest. Samples were collected every 15 min upon release to the permissive temperature and total RNA was prepared for Northern blot analysis. The blot was hybridised consecutively with $cdc15^+$ and lacZ probes. Ethidium staining of rRNA was used as a loading control. Quantification of mRNA levels against rRNA is shown. Septation indices were counted microscopically and are plotted to indicate the synchronous cells. The results obtained from Northern blot analysis of samples from one of the two cultures are shown here and are representative of the results from both experiments.





Figure 3.11: Effect of mutating both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequences on M–G1 specific transcription in fission yeast. *cdc25-22* cells (GG 308) transformed with pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4 plasmid (GB 471) were synchronised by transient temperature arrest. Samples were collected every 15 min upon release to the permissive temperature and total RNA was prepared for Northern blot analysis. The blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15*⁺ and *lac2* probes. Ethidium staining of rRNA was used as a loading control. Quantification of mRNA levels against rRNA is shown. Septation indices were counted microscopically and are plotted to indicate the synchrony of the culture. Northern blot analysis was carried out twice with samples prepared from two individual cultures of synchronous cells. The results obtained from Northern blot analysis of samples from one of the two cultures are shown here and are representative of the results from both experiments.

3.4.3 Comparative analysis of lacZ mRNA levels upon mutation of the PCB, the TGTTTAC or both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequence

Experiments presented in Sections 3.2.2 and 3.4.2 analysed the effect of mutations in the PCB and TGTTTAC sequence on cell cycle transcription of $cdc15^+$ in *S. pombe*. To allow a direct comparison between these mutations on the levels of $cdc15^+$ transcription, separate cultures of asynchronous cdc25-22 cells containing either pSP Δ 178.15UAS, pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT, pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT2, pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT3 or pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT4 were prepared and grown to mid-log phase. Once cells were harvested, total RNA extracts were prepared and resolved on the same formaldehyde gel prior to Northern blot analysis with DNA probes to detect *lacZ* and *cdc15*⁺ mRNA levels. The results obtained from this experiment are shown in Figure 3.12.

In confirmation of previous results changing the PCB sequence within the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment to either AAGGTT or TTGGTT resulted in a complete absence or a dramatic reduction of *lacZ* mRNA levels respectively, relative to that under control of the wild-type PCB sequence. Similarly, changing the TGTTTAC forkhead sequence to GTGGGGT reduced but did not abolish *lacZ* mRNA levels, while upon mutation of both promoter motifs (GCAACG to TTGGTT and TGTTTAC to GTGGGGT) *lacZ* mRNA levels were dramatically reduced, similar to when changing the PCB from GCAACG to TTGGTT. These findings are consistent with the results of the cell cycle experiments, showing that mutations in the *cdc15*⁺ PCB sequence more drastically affect the amplitude of transcription relative to mutations in the TGTTTAC forkhead-related sequence. Moreover, changing both the PCB and the forkhead motif almost completely compromises *lacZ* mRNA levels, as is also the case for *lacZ* transcript levels upon changes in the PCB sequence alone (GCAACG replaced by TTGGTT), suggesting that the effects of these two promoter elements on transcription are not additive.



Figure 3.12: Northern blot analysis comparing the effects on *lacZ* transcription of changes in either the PCB sequence, the TGTTTAC forkhead sequence or both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequence. Individual populations of asynchronous *cdc25-22* cells (GG 308) transformed with plasmid pSP Δ 178.15UAS (wt), pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT (PCB mut1), pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT2 (PCB mut2), pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT3 (forkhead mut3) or pSP Δ 178.15UAS.MUT4 (PCB/forkhead mut4) were grown to mid-log phase, harvested and total RNA was prepared for Northern blot analysis. The blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15*+ and *lacZ* probes. Ethidium staining of rRNA was used as a loading control. Quantification of mRNA levels against rRNA is shown. Northern blot analysis of total RNA samples was carried out in triplicate. The results obtained from one of these Northern blot analyses are shown here and are representative of the results obtained in all three instances.

3.5 Summary

Previous studies have shown that a ~100bp DNA fragment from the promoter of $cdc15^+$ is sufficient to confer M-G1 specific transcription to *lacZ*, strongly suggesting that this promoter region contains the *cis*-acting element(s) mediating the cell cycle-dependent pattern of $cdc15^+$ expression. The PCB sequence within the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment is a *cis*-acting element previously implicated in regulation of $cdc15^+$ and many other M-G1 transcribed genes (Anderson *et al.*, 2002). Here, experiments were performed to assess the requirement of the PCB motif for cell cycle specific transcription of $cdc15^+$. For this, changed versions of the $cdc15^+$ PCB sequence (GCAACG substituted for AAGGTT or TTGGTT) were assayed by Northern blot analysis for their effect on *lacZ* cell cycle transcription. Both PCB sequence substitutions, when compared to the wild-type sequence, severely affected the amplitude of *lacZ* transcription throughout the cell cycle with AAGGTT having a stronger effect than TTGGTT and completely abolishing transcription of the reporter gene (Figures 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5).

The stronger effect of the AAGGTT mutation on transcription of *lacZ* relative to TTGGTT suggests that the first two bases of the PCB element are important for binding by the transcription factor(s), associating directly or indirectly with the PCB sequence. In support of this, gel retardation assays have shown that the first two bases of the PCB sequence of spo12+, another M-G1 transcribed gene, are crucial for the interaction with the PBF complex (Anderson et al., 2002). Thus far, the Mbx1p transcription factor has been shown to be necessary for the PCB-mediated interaction of the PBF complex with the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes, including $cdc15^+$ and $spo12^+$. Interestingly, Mbx1p is dispensable for M-G1 specific transcription of *cdc15*⁺ and other co-regulated genes, although it appears to have a role in regulating the amplitude of transcription of these genes. Taking into account that the PCB sequence itself is necessary for transcription of *cdc15*⁺ regardless of the time in the cell cycle (Figures 3.4 and 3.5), it is possible that Mbx1p exerts its effect on transcription of *cdc15*⁺ either directly or indirectly through this promoter element. Overall, these results suggest that the PCB sequence regulates transcription of *cdc15*⁺ in a cell cycle independent manner and indicate that this promoter motif might also modulate the amplitude of transcription of many other similarly co-regulated genes, including plo1+, spo12+, ppb1+, slp1+, ace2+, sid2+ and mid1+/dmf1+ (Buck et al., 2004).

Various studies have shown that Fkh2p and Sep1p are required for periodic, M-G1dependent, transcription in fission yeast. Taking into account that the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment contains all necessary *cis*-acting elements for efficient periodic gene expression (Anderson *et al.,* 2002), experiments were performed here to examine whether these transcription factors function through such sequences (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Section 3.2.2). As shown in Figures 3.6 and 3.7, in the absence of either Fkh2p or Sep1p, M-G1 specific transcription is lost both for endogenous $cdc15^+$ and *lacZ*, expressed ectopically under control of the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment (Buck *et al.*, 2004). This suggests that Fkh2p and Sep1p regulate M-G1 specific transcription through sequences found in the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment, including the PCB motif. Nonetheless, the PCB element mediates transcription of $cdc15^+$ throughout the cell cycle, suggesting that other sequences within the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment might have a role in Fkh2p/Sep1p-mediated transcription during the M-G1 interval.

Apart from the PCB, the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes also contain the forkhead motif (RTAAAYA), which displays sequence similarities with the PCB. Notably, the forkhead motif is present in the promoters of these fission yeast genes in both orientations. Since forkhead motifs are also found within the cdc15⁺ promoter fragment that drives cell cycle-dependent transcription of lacZ (Figure 3.8) and two forkhead transcription factors, Fkh2p and Sep1p, regulate M-G1 transcription, it is tempting to speculate that these sequences also contribute to periodic expression of these genes (Zilahi et al., 2000; Buck et al., 2004; Bulmer et al., 2004; Rustici et al., 2004). Indeed, forkhead sequences appear to be required for expression of ace2+, an M-G1 transcribed gene (Alonso-Nuñez et al., 2005). To determine whether forkhead elements are important for M-G1-dependent transcription, the TGTTTAC sequence within the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment was mutated either alone or in combination with PCB and the effects of these sequence changes were assayed on cell cycle transcription of *lacZ*. Upon TGTTTAC sequence substitution (changed to GTGGGGT), *lacZ* phase-specific transcription remained periodic but was delayed 15-30 minutes relative to wild-type (Figure 3.10). On the contrary, changing both the forkhead and PCB sequences, substituted for GTGGGGT and TTGGTT respectively, significantly reduced the amplitude of *lacZ* mRNA levels at all cell cycle times but did not compromise M-G1 specific transcription per se, similar to when mutating the PCB alone (compare Figures 3.11 with 3.3 and 3.5). Following individual examination of the effects on cell cycle *lacZ* transcription of substitutions in the *cdc15*⁺ PCB, TGTTTAC or both these sequences, comparative Northern blot analysis was performed with asynchronous cell samples to directly contrast the effects of these mutations on *lacZ* mRNA levels.

As shown in Figure 3.12 and consistent with the results from the cell cycle experiments, distinct substitutions in the *cdc15*⁺ PCB sequence, when compared to wild-type, either dramatically reduce or even abolish *lacZ* mRNA levels. Moreover, changing the *cdc15*⁺ TGTTTAC significantly reduces but does not eliminate *lacZ* transcript levels, whereas when TGTTTAC and PCB mutations are combined, *lacZ* mRNA levels are compromised to an extent identical to that observed upon respective changes in the PCB sequence alone.

Overall, the results of this chapter suggest that the PCB sequence is required for transcription of $cdc15^+$ throughout the cell cycle and reveal a role for the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif in regulation of the M-G1 specific transcriptional pattern of $cdc15^+$. Furthermore, these findings imply that the two *cis*-acting elements function in transcriptional control of $cdc15^+$ and, presumably, of other co-regulated genes in a parallel but not additive manner, with each sequence mediating distinct functions. Finally, taking into account that the promoters of many of these genes, including $cdc15^+$, possess the forkhead motif in either orientation, it is possible that forkhead sequences, in either orientation, have redundant roles in M-G1 specific transcription of these genes.

In the next results chapter, analysis of PCB-PBF-dependent transcriptional controls in fission yeast is continued by exploring the interactions between Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p to understand how this may contribute to their mechanism of action.

Chapter 4

In vivo and in vitro analysis of interactions between PBF components Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p

4.1 Introduction

In fission yeast two forkhead transcription factors, Fkh2p and Sep1p, regulate periodic transcription of several genes, such as *cdc15*⁺, *plo1*⁺ and *ace2*⁺, through the PCB and forkhead promoter DNA sequences (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005; Chapter 3). A MADS-box protein Mbx1p is also implicated in M-G1 specific transcription, as it is necessary for PCB-mediated binding of the PBF complex to the genes' promoters *in vitro*, and *mbx1*⁺ shows genetic interactions with *fkh2*⁺ and *sep1*⁺ (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004). Both Mbx1p and Fkh2p appear to negatively influence *ace2*⁺ expression, since deleting either cognate gene leads to an increase in Ace2p protein levels. In contrast, Sep1p has been shown to positively regulate *ace2*⁺ expression (Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005; Petit *et al.*, 2005). Consistent with these findings, genome-wide microarray analysis in *S. pombe* has uncovered a positive role for Sep1p and a negative role for Fkh2p in transcriptional regulation of many genes expressed coincidentally with *ace2*⁺ (Rustici *et al.*, 2004).

mbx1 Δ , *fkh2* Δ and *sep1* Δ cells all display cytokinetic defects. Furthermore, analyses of all the respective double and triple mutants have shown that the cytokinetic defects are aggravated relative to the single mutants (Buck *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, deleting *mbx1* Δ rescues the slow growth phenotype of *fkh2* Δ , since *mbx1* Δ *fkh2* Δ grow at a similar rate to wild type cells. Moreover, strong overexpression of *fkh2*⁺ is lethal in wild-type cells but not in *sep1* Δ cells, indicating that Sep1p is required for Fkh2p function, and this might be explained by Sep1p and Fkh2p interacting with each other as part of their role in regulation of periodic gene expression (Buck *et al.*, 2004). Combined, these genetic observations imply that Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p share both common and distinct functions. To explore further these findings using biochemical methods, co-immunoprecipitation and GST pull-down assays were performed to examine whether Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p interact with each other *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

4.2 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of interactions between Sep1p, Mbx1p and Fkh2p

Co-immunoprecipitation analysis was employed to determine whether Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p associate with each other *in vivo*. For this, soluble protein extracts were prepared from appropriate *S. pombe* strains, either *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc*, *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* or *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc*, which express one protein as an HA fusion and the other as a myc fusion, tagged in each case at the

C- terminus in the endogenous locus and so expressed from the native promoter at normal levels (Section 4.2.1). Immunoprecipitation and Western blotting with HA and myc antibodies then followed (Sections 4.2.2, 4.2.3 and 4.2.4).

It is important to mention that an attempt was made to produce antibodies against native Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p in rabbits (Table 2.1), using as antigens synthetic, gene-specific peptides (Eurogentec). In parallel, efforts also focused on raising an antibody against Mbx1p in sheep (Table 2.1) (NHSScotland), using as antigen bacterially expressed and purified GST-Mbx1p, prepared as described in Sections 4.3.4 and 4.3.6. Following immunisation, first, second (data not shown) and third bleed (Appendix VIII) sheep polyclonal GST-Mbx1p antisera, first, second and third bleed rabbit polyclonal Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p antisera (data not shown) and the respective affinity purified antibodies (third bleed) (Appendix VIII) were tested for their specificity by Western blotting against S. pombe protein extracts and/or bacterially expressed and purified GST-/HIS-fusions of Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p, the latter prepared as described in Sections 4.3.2-4.3.7. Unfortunately, as shown in Appendix VIII, with the exception of the Sep1p affinity purified antibody that detected a specific band of the expected size corresponding to Sep1p only in the bacterially purified GST-/HIS-Sep1p fraction, all antisera and the respective affinity purified antibodies failed to detect a specific band of the expected size corresponding to Mbx1p, Fkh2p or Sep1p in S. pombe protein extracts. Therefore, these antisera were inappropriate for use in co-immunoprecipitation assays with extracts from S. pombe cells, and were not used.

4.2.1 Construction of double tag strains sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc, sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc and fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc

A classical genetic cross between two haploid *S. pombe* strains of opposite mating type, each containing the appropriate HA- or myc- tagged version of *sep1*+, *fkh2*+ or *mbx1*+, was the first step in the construction of the three double tagged strains, *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc*, *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* and *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc*.

The *fkh2-13myc:kanR* (GG 507), *mbx1-13myc:kanR* (GG 504) and *fkh2-3HA:kanR* (GG 558) strains have been described previously (Buck *et al.*, 2004). The *sep1-3HA:kanR* (GG 313), *mbx1-13myc:kanR* pIRT2u:*mbx1*⁺ (GG 527) and *fkh2-3HA:kanR* pUR19:*fkh2*⁺ (GG 539) strains derive from the Glasgow laboratory *S. pombe* collection (Appendix II).

All *sep1*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ or *mbx1*⁺ specific HA and myc tagged strains used for mating (Figure 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3) were generated by the PCR-based gene targeting method of Bähler *et al.* (1998a) and/or Krawchuk and Wahls (1999), which enables the C-terminal tagging of genes in their

chromosomal locus by homologous recombination. Briefly, appropriate primers are used to PCR amplify a DNA fragment with 60-80 bp gene-specific C-terminus sequences, flanking not only the 3HA or 13myc tagging module but also the heterologous selectable marker *KanMX6*, which allows for selection of G418-resistance upon transformation into *S. pombe* cells. G418-resistant transformants are then screened by PCR for integration by homologous recombination of the gene-specific 3HA or 13myc *KanMX6* construct into the correct chromosomal location, replacing the respective genomic fragment between the gene-specific sequences. As a result, the encoded protein of the tagged gene is expressed as a C-terminus 3HA or 13myc fusion under control of the endogenous promoter, a situation closely resembling expression of the untagged wild-type gene.

4.2.1.1 The sep1-3HA fkh2-13 myc double tagged strain

To generate the *sep1-3HA:kanR fkh2-13myc:kanR* double tagged strain, freshly grown h⁺ *sep1-3HA:kanR* (GG 313) and h⁻ *fkh2-13myc:kanR* (GG 507) cells were mixed and allowed to mate for 2-3 days at 25°C on solid ME medium (Section 2.2.13), since nutrient starvation is a prerequisite for conjugation and sporulation in *S. pombe*. Following mating, meiotic progeny were analysed by tetrad dissection (Section 2.2.14). Several four spore-containing zygotic asci were picked with a Singer micromanipulator, orderly placed on solid YE, and incubated at 36°C for 2-4 hours to induce break down of the asci walls. Once cell walls were broken, the four spores were separated with the micromanipulator, placed in a row, and left to grow at 30°C. Upon colony formation, cells were replica plated onto solid YE supplemented with G418 to select for the *Kan^R* marker.

As revealed by G418 selection (Figure 4.1A), all possible types of tetrad were produced, including the parental ditype (*Kan^R* marker segregating at a 1:1:1:1 ratio, no recombination; row A1-4), the tetratype (*Kan^R* marker segregating at a 3:1 ratio, two recombinants/ascus; row B1-4) and the non-parental ditype (*Kan^R* marker segregating at a 2:2 ratio, all recombinants; row C1-4) whose two G418-resistant progeny (C2 and C4) have the desired *sep1-3HA:kanR fkh2-13myc:kanR* genotype. One of the G418-resistant isolates (GG 1030) was then selected and backcrossed to wild-type (GG 217) for confirmation. After tetrad dissection and G418 selection, various tetrads were identified in which the *Kan^R* marker segregated at a 3:1 ratio (row A and B; Figure 4.1B), possible only if the G418-resistant parent in the backcross possesses two *Kan^R* markers.

Following backcross verification, *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc* (GG 1030) soluble protein extracts were prepared and analysed by Western blot together with protein extracts from *sep1-3HA* (GG 313) and *fkh2-13myc* cells (GG 507) used as negative controls. As expected, both Sep1p-3HA and Fkh2p-13myc were detected in protein extracts from *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc* cells with HA and myc

antibodies and resolved at sizes that are consistent with their predicted molecular masses (~72 kDa for Fkh2p and 73 kDa for Sep1p) and the presence of the 3HA and 13myc tag, respectively. On the contrary, Sep1p-3HA was absent from *fkh2-13myc* cells and Fkh2p-13myc from *sep1-3HA* cells (Figure 4.1C). It is important to mention that the 13myc tag resolves at a molecular mass of ~35-40 kDa, instead of the predicted molecular mass of ~20 kDa (data not shown), consistent with previous observations (Jansen *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 4.1: Generation of a *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc* **double tagged strain.** (A) Tetrad analysis following mating of *sep1-3HA:kanR* (GG 313) and *fkh2-13myc:kanR* cells (GG 507) to select for *sep1-3HA:kanR fkh2-13myc:kanR* cells. After mating, ascospores were picked on solid YE medium and once asci walls were broken each ascus was dissected into four individual spores. Upon colony formation, cells were replica plated onto solid YE supplemented with G418 to select for the *Kan^R* marker segregating at a 2:2 ratio. (B) *sep1-3HA:kanR fkh2-13myc:kanR* cells (GG 1030) were backcrossed to wild-type cells (GG 217) for confirmation. (C) Western blot analysis of soluble protein extracts from *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc* cells. *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc* extracts were analysed by Western blot with antibodies against HA and myc to detect Sep1p-3HA and Fkh2p-13myc. *sep1-3HA* (GG 313) and *fkh2-13myc* (GG 507) extracts were used as negative controls. Protein molecular masses are indicated in kDa.

4.2.1.2 The sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc double tagged strain

The *sep1-3HA:kanR mbx1-13myc:kanR* strain was constructed by the same genetic approach as described in Section 4.2.1.1. Briefly, h⁺ *sep1-3HA:kanR* (GG 313) cells were mated with h⁻ *mbx1-13myc:kanR* (GG 504) cells and meiotic progeny were analysed by tetrad dissection. Replica plating onto G418 supplemented solid YE medium allowed selection of the *Kan^R* marker. Figure 4.2A shows all types of dissected tetrads, including the non-parental ditype (*Kan^R* marker segregating at a 2:2 ratio; row A1-4) containing two G418-resistant progeny (A2 and A4) of the desired *sep1-3HA:kanR mbx1-13myc:kanR* genotype. One of the G418-resistant isolates (GG 1032) was backcrossed to wild-type for confirmation (Figure 4.2B; row B, 3:1 *Kan^R* segregation ratio), before Western blot analysis of *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* protein extracts to detect Sep1p-3HA and Mbx1p-13myc using HA and myc antibodies, respectively (Figure 4.2C). As shown, Mbx1p-13myc resolved at a molecular mass of ~100 kDa. Taking into account that the 13myc tag resolves with a molecular mass of ~35-40 kDa, this suggests that Mbx1p resolves at a size slightly larger than the predicted value of ~51 kDa, consistent with results presented in Section 4.3.4.



Figure 4.2: Generation of a *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* **double tagged strain.** (A) Tetrad analysis following mating of *sep1-3HA* (GG 313) and *mbx1-13myc* cells (GG 504) to select for *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* cells. Following mating, ascospores were picked on solid YE medium and once asci walls were broken each ascus was dissected into four individual spores. Upon colony formation the cells were replica plated onto solid YE supplemented with G418 to select for the *Kan^R* marker segregating at a 2:2 ratio. (B) *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* cells (GG 1032) were backcrossed to wild-

type cells (GG 218) for confirmation. (C) Western blot analysis of soluble protein extracts from *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* cells. *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* extracts were analysed by Western blot with antibodies against HA and myc to detect Sep1p-3HA and Mbx1p-13myc. *sep1-3HA* (GG 313) and *mbx1-13myc* (GG 504) extracts were used as negative controls. Protein molecular masses are indicated in kDa.

4.2.1.3 The fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc double tagged strain

To create the *fkh2-3HA:kanR mbx1-13myc:kanR* strain, mating was performed between h⁺ *fkh2-3HA:kanR* pUR19:*fkh2*⁺ (GG 539) and h⁻ *mbx1-13myc:kanR* pIRT2u:*mbx1*⁺ cells (GG 527). For this cross both the *fkh2-3HA* and the *mbx1-13myc* cells carried plasmids with untagged versions of *fkh2*⁺ and *mbx1*⁺, respectively, to improve mating efficiency. Upon mating, tetrad analysis of meiotic progeny and G418-resistance selection followed. Various tetrad types were identified, including the non-parental ditype (Figure 4.3A, row D) with two G418-resistant spores of the desired *fkh2-3HA:kanR mbx1-13myc:kanR* genotype (D3 and D4). One of the G418-resistant spores (GG 1035) was then backcrossed to wild-type for confirmation (Figure 4.3B; row B, 3:1 *Kan^R* segregation ratio), before Western blot analysis of *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc* protein extracts to detect Fkh2p-3HA and Mbx1p-13myc using HA and myc antibodies, respectively (Figure 4.3C).



Figure 4.3: Generation of a *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc* **double tagged strain.** (A) Tetrad analysis following mating of h⁺ *fkh2-3HA:kanR* pUR19:*fkh2*⁺ (GG 539) and h⁻ *mbx1-13myc :kanR* pIRT2u:*mbx1*⁺ cells (GG 527) to select for *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc* cells. Following mating, ascospores were picked on solid YE medium and once asci walls were broken each ascus was dissected into four individual spores. Upon colony formation, the cells were replica plated onto solid YE medium supplemented with G418 to select for the *Kan*^R marker segregating at a 2:2 ratio. (B) *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc* cells (GG 1035) were backcrossed to wild-type cells (GG 218) for confirmation. (C) Western blot analysis of soluble

protein extracts from *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc* cells. *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc* extracts were analysed by Western blot with antibodies against HA and myc to detect Fkh2p-3HA and Mbx1p-13myc. *fkh2-3HA* (GG 558) and *mbx1-13myc* (GG 504) extracts were used as negative controls. Protein molecular masses are indicated in kDa.

4.2.2 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc protein extracts reveals an in vivo interaction between Sep1p and Fkh2p

To determine whether Sep1p and Fkh2p interact with each other *in vivo*, soluble protein extracts (Section 2.2.12.1) were prepared from *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc S. pombe* cells (Section 4.2.1.1) and analysed by co-immunoprecipitation assay (Section 2.2.12.2).

Sep1p-3HA was immunoprecipitated from *sep1-3HA fkh2-13my*c protein extracts with an HA antibody followed by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and Western blotting with HA and myc antibodies to detect Sep1p-3HA and co-immunoprecipitated Fkh2p-13myc. As a negative control, *sep1-3HA* protein extracts were also prepared and subjected to immunoprecipitation with an HA antibody before Western blotting with HA and myc antibodies.

Two milligrammes of protein extract were incubated with an appropriate volume of protein A-Sepharose beads for an hour at 4°C prior to centrifugation to remove all proteins that might bind nonspecifically to the beads. The pre-cleared *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc* and *sep1-3HA* protein extracts were then incubated with 2-3 µg of HA antibody (Table 2.1) for 3 h at 4°C before addition of protein A-Sepharose beads and further incubation for an hour. Pre-cleared *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc* extract was also incubated for an hour with beads alone (no HA antibody). In each case, beads were washed thoroughly (Section 2.2.12.2) before re-suspension and boiling in 2x Laemmli buffer supplemented with DTT to release immunoprecipitated protein material. SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and Western blotting with HA and myc antibodies was then employed to detect Sep1p-3HA and any coimmunoprecipitated Fkh2p-13myc.

As shown in Figure 4.4, Fkh2p-13myc specifically co-immunoprecipitated with Sep1p-3HA in *sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc* protein extracts, a finding indicating an *in vivo* interaction between Fkh2p and Sep1p (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). The weak nature of the interaction between Sep1p and Fkh2p, exemplified by the low amount of Fkh2p-13myc co-immunoprecipitating with Sep1p-3HA, may be explained by these two forkhead-like transcription factors binding to each other transiently during the course of the mitotic cell cycle (see Section 7.1).



Figure 4.4: Fkh2p co-immunoprecipitates with Sep1p from sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc S. pombe protein extracts. Sep1p-3HA was immunoprecipitated with antibody against HA (α -HA) from soluble protein extracts of sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc fission yeast cells, expressing Sep1p-3HA and Fkh2p-13myc, in each case under control of the endogenous promoter. The soluble extract (input) and the immunoprecipitated sample (IP) were analysed by Western blotting with antibodies against HA and myc (the former to detect Sep1p-3HA, while the latter Fkh2p-13myc). As negative controls, immunoprecipitated sample from sep1-3HA fission yeast cells and precipitated sample without HA antibody (beads only) from sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc cells were also included. In each case, the input was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP sample. The arrow indicates co-immunoprecipitated Fkh2p-13myc using a α -myc antibody. Immunoprecipitation assays of sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc and sep1-3HA soluble protein extracts with the HA antibody were carried out twice. The results of Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitated material with HA and myc antibody in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of Western blot analysis of the other assay.

4.2.3 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc protein extracts reveals no in vivo interaction between Mbx1p and Sep1p

Following the discovery that Fkh2p interacts with Sep1p *in vivo*, co-immunoprecipitation assays (Section 2.2.12.2) were employed to examine whether either of these two forkhead proteins also interacts with Mbx1p. Immunoprecipitations were carried out as described in Section 4.2.2.

In the case of Sep1p and Mbx1p, an HA antibody was used to immunoprecipitate Sep1p-3HA from *sep1-3HA mbx1-13my*c (Section 4.2.1.2) and *sep1-3HA* protein extracts, the latter as a negative control. Western blot analysis was then performed to detect Sep1p-3HA and coimmunoprecipitated Mbx1p-13myc, using HA and myc antibodies, respectively. As shown by immunoblotting, no Mbx1p-13myc was co-immunoprecipitated with Sep1p-3HA in *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* protein extracts (Figure 4.5A).

To exclude the possibility that the failure to identify an interaction between Mbx1p and Sep1p is an indirect result of inefficient co-immunoprecipitation of Mbx1p-13myc itself, another co-immunoprecipitation assay was performed to examine whether Sep1p-3HA is detected in co-immunoprecipitates with Mbx1p-13myc. Briefly, Mbx1p-13myc was immunoprecipitated from *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* protein extracts with a myc antibody before Western blotting with an HA antibody to detect any co-immunoprecipitated Sep1p-3HA. As a negative control, Mbx1p-13myc was also immunoprecipitated from *mbx1-13myc* soluble protein extracts prior to Western blot analysis. Immunoprecipitation was carried out as before (Section 4.2.2), except for the use of protein G-instead of protein A-Sepharose beads. Immunoblotting using an HA antibody detected no Sep1p-3HA co-immunoprecipitating with Mbx1p-13myc (Figure 4.5B), consistent with the inability to detect Mbx1p-13myc in co-immunoprecipitates with Sep1p-3HA (Figure 4.5A). Taken together, these findings suggest that Mbx1p and Sep1p do not bind to each other *in vivo*.



Figure 4.5: Mbx1p does not co-immunoprecipitate with Sep1p and vice versa in sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc S. pombe protein extracts. (A) Sep1p-3HA was immunoprecipitated with antibody against HA (α -HA) from S. pombe sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc protein extracts. The soluble extract (input) and the immunoprecipitated sample (IP) were analysed by Western blotting with antibodies against HA and myc (the former to detect Sep1p-3HA, while the latter Mbx1p-13myc). As negative controls, immunoprecipitated sample from sep1-3HA fission yeast cells and precipitated sample without HA antibody (beads only) from sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc cells were also included. (B) Mbx1p-13myc was immunoprecipitated with antibody against myc (α -myc) from soluble protein extracts of sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc fission yeast cells. The soluble extract (input) and the immunoprecipitated sample (IP) were analysed by Western blotting with antibodies against myc (α -myc) from soluble protein extracts of sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc fission yeast cells. The soluble extract (input) and the immunoprecipitated sample (IP) were analysed by Western blotting with antibodies against myc and HA (the former to detect Mbx1p-13myc, while the latter Sep1p-3HA). As negative controls, immunoprecipitated sample from mbx1-13myc fission yeast cells and precipitated sample without myc antibody (beads only) from sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc, while the latter Sep1p-3HA). As negative controls, immunoprecipitated sample from mbx1-13myc fission yeast cells and precipitated sample without myc antibody (beads only) from sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc and sep1-3HA soluble protein extracts with either the HA or myc antibody were carried out twice. In each case, the results of Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitated material with HA and myc antibody in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of Western blot analysis of the other assay.

4.2.4 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc protein extracts reveals no in vivo interaction between Mbx1p and Fkh2p

To investigate a potential interaction between Mbx1p and Fkh2p, soluble protein extracts were prepared from *S. pombe fkh2-3HA mbx1-13my*c cells (Section 4.2.1.3) and analysed by co-immunoprecipitation assays.

As for Mbx1p and Sep1p (Section 4.2.3), immunoprecipitations were carried out with either an HA or a myc antibody to immunoprecipitate Fkh2p-3HA or Mbx1p-13myc, respectively. Western blotting was then performed to detect Fkh2p-3HA and any co-immunoprecipitated Mbx1p-13myc, or Mbx1p-13myc and any co-immunoprecipitated Fkh2p-3HA. As negative controls, *fkh2-3HA* and *mbx1-13my*c protein extracts were prepared and subjected to immunoprecipitation analysis with HA and myc antibodies.

As shown in Figure 4.6A, co-immunoprecipitation analysis of *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc* protein extracts revealed that no Mbx1p-13myc was co-immunoprecipitated with Fkh2p-3HA. The reverse was also true, since no Fkh2p-3HA was detected in co-immunoprecipitates with Mbx1p-13myc (Figure 4.6B). These results show that at least under the current experimental conditions Mbx1p and Fkh2p do not interact with each other *in vivo*.



Figure 4.6: Mbx1p does not co-immunoprecipitate with Fkh2p and vice versa in fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc S. pombe protein extracts. (A) Fkh2p-3HA was immunoprecipitated with antibody against HA (α -HA) from soluble protein extracts of fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc fission yeast cells, expressing Fkh2p-3HA and Mbx1p-13myc, in each case under control of the endogenous promoter. The soluble extract (input) and the immunoprecipitated sample (IP) were analysed by Western blotting with antibodies against HA and myc (the former to detect Fkh2p-3HA, while the latter Mbx1p-13myc). As negative controls, immunoprecipitated sample from fkh2-3HA fission yeast cells and precipitated sample without HA antibody (beads only) from fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc cells were also included. In each case, the input was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP sample. (B) Mbx1p-13myc was immunoprecipitated with antibody against myc (α-myc) from soluble protein extracts of fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc fission yeast cells. The soluble extract (input) and the immunoprecipitated sample (IP) were analysed by Western blotting with antibodies against myc and HA (the former to detect Mbx1p-13myc, while the latter Fkh2p-3HA). As negative controls, immunoprecipitated sample from mbx1-13myc fission yeast cells and precipitated sample without myc antibody (beads only) from fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc cells were also included. In each case, the input was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP sample. (A-B) Immunoprecipitation assays of fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc and fkh2-3HA soluble protein extracts with either the HA or myc antibody were carried out twice. In each case, the results of Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitated material with HA and myc antibody in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of Western blot analysis of the other assay.

4.3 GST pull down analysis of interactions between Sep1p, Mbx1p and Fkh2p

The GST (Glutathione S-Transferase) pull-down assay is an *in vitro* method used routinely to determine whether two proteins interact directly with each other. A bacterially expressed and purified GST-tagged protein, immobilised on a glutathione affinity gel, is tested for its ability to bind and 'pull down' another protein, which can also be bacterially expressed and purified as a fusion with a different tag, such as HIS. The GST-tagged protein serves as a 'bait' to capture a putative binding partner, the so-called 'prey' protein.

As already described, a series of co-immunoprecipitation experiments have shown that Fkh2p and Sep1p bind to each other *in vivo*, whereas under the same experimental conditions no interaction was observed between Mbx1p and either Fkh2p or Sep1p. To analyse further these findings, the GST pull-down method was employed to examine *in vitro* whether Fkh2p and Sep1p interact with each other directly, as well as whether under these conditions an interaction between Mbx1p and either Fkh2p or Sep1p could be detected. The first step in the process involved cloning of *fkh2*⁺, *sep1*⁺ and *mbx1*⁺ into an appropriate expression vector with a fusion tag to allow their bacterial overexpression and purification.

4.3.1 Cloning of sep1+, mbx1+ and fkh2+

The cloning of $fkh2^+$, $sep1^+$ and $mbx1^+$ was accomplished using standard DNA manipulation methods (Section 2.2.9). Genomic ORFs of $fkh2^+$, $sep1^+$ and $mbx1^+$ were obtained from the *S. pombe* database (Wood *et al.*, 2002), showing that while introns are absent from $sep1^+$, $fkh2^+$ contains one intron and $mbx1^+$ three introns. Therefore, in the case of $fkh2^+$ and $mbx1^+$, cDNA was generated and used as a template for PCR amplification to remove the introns to permit expression of these genes in bacteria, which cannot process intervening sequences.

Full-length *sep1*⁺ DNA was amplified by PCR from *S. pombe* genomic DNA using primers GO 570 and GO 571 to introduce *Smal* and *Xhol* restriction sites at the 5' and 3' ends, respectively. PCR amplification was carried out with $Vent_R$ DNA polymerase, which has extensive 3' to 5' exonuclease proofreading activity, to minimise errors in base incorporation. As shown in Figure 4.7A, analysis of the PCR product on a 1% agarose gel revealed a ~2 kb DNA fragment, corresponding to the predicted size of *sep1*⁺ (ORF: 1992 bp).

The PCR product was next cloned into the linearised pCR[®]2.1 vector (~3.9 kb), carrying single 3' deoxythymidine (T) residues. Since Vent_R polymerase does not leave single 3' deoxyadenosine (A) overhangs, the PCR product was incubated at 72°C for 10 min with *Taq* polymerase, which adds single deoxyadenosine (A) to the 3' ends of PCR products in a template independent manner, to facilitate efficient ligation to pCR[®]2.1 vector, followed by transformation into InVαF' cells (Section 2.2.4). To allow for selection of successful transformants, cells were grown overnight at 37°C on solid LB medium supplemented with ampicillin, as well as X-gal. Individual white colonies were picked and cell cultures were set and grown overnight.

Following plasmid purification (Section 2.2.9.1), successful cloning of the *sep1*⁺ PCR product into the pCR[®]2.1 vector was confirmed by a restriction digest with *Eco*RI (Figure 4.7B) and a double digest with *Eco*RI and *Bam*HI (Figure 4.7C). As expected, digestion with *Eco*RI alone yielded a ~2 kb DNA fragment corresponding to full-length *sep1*⁺, since no *Eco*RI site is present within *sep1*⁺, but pCR[®]2.1 contains two *Eco*RI sites flanking the *sep1*⁺ DNA fragment (Figure 4.7B). Digestion with *Eco*RI and *Bam*HI generated two DNA fragments around 1.8 kb and 0.2 kb, consistent with the presence within *sep1*⁺ of a *Bam*HI site at position +1784 (Figure 4.7C). Various isolates of pCR[®]2.1 plasmid constructs carrying *sep1*⁺ were DNA sequenced (MWG Biotech) to search for mutations. One isolate free of mutations was identified (GB 444) and used for further experiments.



Figure 4.7: Cloning of the *S. pombe sep1*⁺ **gene.** (A) Lane 1, PCR amplified full-length *sep1*⁺ DNA using as a template *S. pombe* genomic DNA. Lane M, 1 kb DNA ladder (Promega). (B) Lane 1, *Eco*RI restriction digest of empty pCR[®]2.1 vector. Lane 2, *Eco*RI restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺. Lane M, 1 kb DNA ladder (Promega). (C) Lane 1, *Bam*HI/*Eco*RI restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺. *Bam*HI cuts within the *sep1*⁺ DNA sequence, generating two DNA fragments around 1.8 kb and 0.2 kb, respectively. Lane M, 1 kb DNA ladder (Promega). (A-C) Sizes of DNA fragments are indicated.

The presence of introns within *mbx1*⁺ necessitated the use of *mbx1*⁺ cDNA as a template for PCR amplification. In order to generate *mbx1*⁺ cDNA, mRNA was purified from total *S. pombe* RNA (Section 2.2.10.1-2.2.10.2) and used as a template for gene-specific cDNA synthesis with an *mbx1*⁺ anti-sense primer (GO 573) (Section 2.2.9.13). The *mbx1*⁺-specific cDNA was used as a template for PCR amplification with primers GO 572 and GO 573 to introduce *Smal* and *Xhol* restriction sites at the 5' and 3' ends, respectively. As shown in Figure 4.8A, analysis of the PCR products on a 1%

agarose gel identified two DNA fragments, ~1.4 kb and ~1.6 kb, respectively. As expected, the ~1.4 kb DNA fragment corresponded to the predicted size of $mbx1^+$ cDNA (1437 bp). In contrast, the ~1.6 kb fragment corresponded to the predicted size of $mbx1^+$ genomic DNA (1664 bp), suggesting that this DNA fragment was PCR amplified from contaminating genomic DNA, present in the cDNA sample. Consequently, the ~1.4 kb DNA fragment was excised from the gel and purified (Figure 4.8B), before cloning into the pCR[®]2.1 vector and transformation into InV α F' cells. Once cells were grown overnight on solid LB-ampicillin supplemented with X-gal, white colonies were selected and cell cultures were set and grown overnight.

Following plasmid purification, successful cloning of the $mbx1^+$ PCR product into pCR®2.1 was confirmed by a restriction digest with *Smal* and *Xhol* (Figure 4.9A), as well as with *Eco*RI and *Bam*HI (Figure 4.9B). Restriction digest with *Smal* and *Xhol* yielded an ~1.4 kb DNA fragment corresponding to full-length $mbx1^+$ cDNA, since neither *Smal* nor *Xhol* cut within $mbx1^+$. Digestion with *Eco*RI and *Bam*HI generated three DNA fragments, ~0.9 kb, ~0.5 kb and ~0.04kb, since *Bam*HI cuts within $mbx1^+$ at position +1187, as well as within pCR®2.1. Different isolates of pCR®2.1 plasmid constructs carrying $mbx1^+$ were DNA sequenced (MWG Biotech). One isolate was identified (GB 445) carrying only a silent mutation at position 203 (TCT mutated to TCC; both encode serine) and used for further experiments. Importantly, DNA sequencing revealed that the third intron was shorter than predicted in the *S. pombe* genome database (Wood *et al.*, 2002). Sequencing the cDNA showed that the third intron was present from position +501 to +572 instead of +501 to +635 (Figure 4.10), with this part of the $mbx1^+$ DNA sequence from +573 to +635 comprising part of the final exon. This corrected genomic sequence has now been added to the *S. pombe* genome database (http://www.genedb.org/genedb/pombe/coordChanges.jsp).

Cloning of $fkh2^+$ was performed by a colleague, Dr Szu Shien Ng, using a similar approach to that used for $mbx1^+$, since $fkh2^+$ also contains an intron. Briefly, $fkh2^+$ -specific cDNA was generated and used as a template for PCR amplification with primers GO 568 and GO 569 to introduce *Bam*HI and *XhoI* restriction sites at the 5' and 3' ends, respectively. The resulting PCR product was cloned into pCR[®]2.1 vector and transformed into InV α F' cells. Successful cloning was confirmed by DNA sequencing (MWG Biotech), identifying one isolate (GB 403), carrying a silent mutation at position +903, which was used for further experiments.


Figure 4.8: *S. pombe mbx1*⁺ **cDNA.** (A) Lanes 1 and 2, PCR amplified DNA products using as a template *mbx1*⁺ cDNA. Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (B) Lanes 1 and 2, purified DNA products of *mbx1*⁺ cDNA. Lane M, DNA Molecular Weight marker X (Roche). (A-B) Sizes of DNA fragments are indicated.



Figure 4.9: Cloning of S. *pombe mbx1*⁺ **cDNA.** (A) Lanes 1 and 2, *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *mbx1*⁺. Lane M, DNA Molecular Weight marker X (Roche). (B) Lanes 1, 2 and 3, *Bam*HI/*Eco*RI restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *mbx1*⁺. *Bam*HI cuts within the *mbx1*⁺ DNA sequence, generating two DNA fragments around 0.9 kb and 0.5 kb, respectively. Lane M, 1 kb DNA ladder (NEB). (A-B) Sizes of DNA fragments are indicated.

ATGGATATTA	ATCCTCCTCC	TAGTACTGCT	CCTTCATCTC	CTCGCCGTTC	T [GTATGTGCT
ACATAGTGGT	TTGGTTCCAT	TCATACACCC	CTTTTCTCCT CG	CTAACGTA CCAT	TTAG]*1 AT
ACAGCGTATT	TCCGATGCAA	AAAATAAGGC	TCTTACTTTT	AATCGTCGAC	GACTTGGCTT
GATAAAAAAA	GCACATGAAC	TCC [#] CCGTTTT	f GTGTGATGCT	AAAGTGGTGG	TCATGATTTT
TGATTCTAAA	AATGCTTGTC	ACGTT <mark>[GTAT</mark> (G TTTCATATTI	CCCGTTTTTC	TGATCCTTTT
CTGTCATATC	CTTTCAATGT	AAAGTGAATA	CATTATAGGG	AAGGTGATGA	AGGTCAACAA
CCAGAAAACG	TGGCAATGTT	TTTACAAGTT 1	TTTAATATTA AC	ATACACCT CTTT	AG]*2 TATT
CTTCTGAGGA	ACCGGAAGAG	CAAAGAGATG	CCTTGCTGCA	AAAATTCCTG	AACAAGGACT
TTGTCACGGT	TGACCCTCTG	[GTAAGTCAC	г татсадсаат	CATTATGCTT	GTCCTGTATT
CTGTTTACTA	ACATAATCCC	TTGGGGAGAA A	G]*3 AGAAAC	АТ АААТССТААТ	ATACCATCTG
ATGAATCCCT	TCATAATTGG	AGACCTAAAG	ATAAGCGGAT	TGCTTCTGTT	ACCACATACA
GTGCTCAACC	TTCTAATAAT	TGCTCTTCTG	CTACCGACAG	TGAAAATGAC	TTTCAATCTT
TCACGATCAA	ATCCTCTACC	ACGTACCATA	CTACTCCAAC	TACTGCAAGC	GAGAACAAGA
AAATAGAGTC	GATTACCATA	CCGGACCATG	CGTCGGTTTA	TAATGACCTT	CCTCTTTCTC
CAACAGTCAA	ACATTCTTTT	GTCTCTCCAG	TTTCTGGAGA	TTACTCTGAC	TCACCTTTAG
AACCGTCTTC	TTCATCGTCT	TTTTCTGTTC	CTCCTGAATC	GTTGAATCCT	ACACTGTCTT
TTCAACATAA	TGATGTTCCG	CAAACCGATA	ATTTTATCCC	TTTCCTTACT	CCTAAGCGTC
AAGCATATGG	ACAATCATCT	TCCCGAGCTG	ATCGTAGCTC	TGTTCGTCGC	AGCCAATCTT
TTAAAAATCG	TCGTAATGGA	AAACCGCGAA	TATCCAGGCT	GCATACTTCT	CATGCTTCTA
TTGACGGGCT	AACTGATTTT	ATTCAAAGTC	CTTCTTCTGG	TTATTTGGAT	CCCAGCTCAA
CACCTATAAC	ACCTTTGGAC	TCTGCTATAA	ATCAAATTAC	GCCTCCTTTT	CTTCCCGATA
ATTTGGGTCA	AGAAAACCGT	GGAGAATTAT	ATTCTCACGA	TAATCCTACT	TCTATGGTAT
ATGAACATCC	AAAATTTGAT	GAATTGCCCA	ACGGATTTAT	TGATACTCAT	GAGTTGAACA
TACTAAGTCG	CTCATTTACA	GCATCTCCTA	ACCAAATTCT	TCGCGAATCG	AATATGGTTA
ATCAAGACTC	TTTTACCGAC	AATCCAGTTG	ATGCAACTTG	GGATGCTTTA	ATTGGTACAA
CGCAAATTGA	TTTAGATTTA	GATTATGAGA	GGTCATCAAT	ACCCTCATCC	ACTATTCCTG
CTGATCAACT	GAAAGACGGC	GTCCCCACAA	ATTCGGTATA	TCGAAATAAC	ATGGTTGATC
ATAATTTATA	TCCGTCTTTA A	ATATTGAAC GA	AATGCCCC TTAA		

Figure 4.10: Sequence of *mbx1*⁺ cDNA and inferred genomic structure. DNA sequencing of *mbx1*⁺ cDNA cloned into the pCR[®]2.1 vector. Introns are in red. *1 indicates the position of the 1st intron, *2 the position of the 2nd intron and *3 the position of the 3rd intron. # in yellow denotes T changed to C; silent mutation. This corrected sequence has been added to the Sanger pombe genomic data base (http://www.genedb.org/genedb/pombe/coordChanges.jsp).

4.3.2 Generation of GST-tagged versions of sep1+ and mbx1+

sep1⁺ and *mbx1*⁺ were cloned into pGEX-KG (GB 159), a bacterial expression vector that upon addition of IPTG allows over-expression of the cloned gene as an N-terminal GST-fusion protein (Appendix IV). pCR®2.1 containing *mbx1*⁺ (GB 445) or *sep1*⁺ (GB 444) was digested with *Smal* and *Xhol*, the respective *mbx1*⁺ or *sep1*⁺ DNA fragment was gel extracted, purified and cloned into linearised pGEX-KG vector digested with *Smal* and *Xhol* (Section 2.2.9.6). pGEX-KG containing either *sep1*⁺ or *mbx1*⁺ was then transformed into the *E. coli* BL21 CodonPlus bacterial strain (Section 2.2.4) to allow protein overexpression and purification. Successful cloning was confirmed by a *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pGEX-KG containing either *sep1*⁺ (GB 441) or *mbx1*⁺ (GB 448), revealing an ~2 kb or an ~1.4 kb DNA fragment, respectively (Figure 4.11A and 4.11B). The integrity of the pGEX-KG-*sep1*⁺ construct was also confirmed by DNA sequencing (MWG Biotech).



Figure 4.11: Cloning of the *sep1*⁺ **and** *mbx1*⁺ **genes into the** *p***GEX-KG expression vector.** (A) Lanes 1 and 2, *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of the pGEX-KG expression vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺. Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (B) Lanes 1, 2 and 3, *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of the pGEX-KG expression vector containing full-length *mbx1*⁺. Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (A-B) Sizes of DNA fragments are indicated.

4.3.3 Generation of HIS-tagged versions of sep1+ and fkh2+

pET-28-c (+) and pET-28-a (+) are bacterial expression vectors that carry a N-terminal 6xHIS tag, which, in the presence of IPTG, allows over-expression of the cloned gene as an N-terminal HIS fusion protein (Appendix IV). *fkh2*⁺ and *sep1*⁺ were cloned into appropriate restriction sites of pET-28-c (+) and pET-28-a (+) vector respectively, by Dr Szu Shien Ng, using standard molecular cloning procedures (Section 2.2.9). Briefly, pCR[®]2.1 vector containing *fkh2*⁺ (GB 403) or *sep1*⁺ (GB 444)

was digested with appropriate restriction enzymes, the respective $fkh2^+$ or $sep1^+$ DNA fragment was gel extracted, purified and cloned into linearised pET-28-c (+) and pET-28-a (+) vector digested with the same enzymes. pET-28-a (+)containing $sep1^+$ (GB 425) or pET-28-c (+) containing $fkh2^+$ (GB 417) was then transformed into the *E. coli* BL21 CodonPlus bacterial strain (Section 2.2.4). In each case, successful cloning was confirmed by DNA sequencing (MWG Biotech).

4.3.4 Bacterial overexpression of GST-fusion proteins

Following successful cloning of *mbx1*⁺ and *sep1*⁺ into pGEX-KG, the resulting plasmids were transformed into the BL21 CodonPlus bacterial strain (GB 448 and GB 441). BL21 (DE3) CodonPlus-RIL cells are ideal for the overexpression of proteins from species other than *E. coli*, since they contain extra copies of several tRNA genes that are 'rare' to *E. coli* but more frequent in other species, thus dramatically improving overexpression of heterologous proteins.

Small-scale protein inductions (50 ml) were carried out to examine the overexpression efficiency and solubility of GST-Mbx1p and GST-Sep1p. BL21 CodonPlus cells transformed with empty pGEX-KG vector were also induced for protein overexpression, since GST was required as a control for the subsequent GST pull-down assay.

Optimal conditions of protein overexpression in the BL21 CodonPlus strain were selected to allow the production of GST-Mbx1p, GST-Sep1p and GST. Specifically, a single colony of BL21 CodonPlus cells transformed with empty pGEX-KG (GB 159) or pGEX-KG carrying either mbx1+ (GB 448) or sep1+ (GB 441) was picked from a colony grown overnight on appropriate solid medium and inoculated into 10 ml of NZY⁺ broth supplemented with ampicillin. Following growth for 16 h at 37°C with shaking, 1 ml of culture was added to 50 ml of fresh media. The culture was grown further at 37°C with shaking until the OD_{600nm} reached 0.5 and IPTG was added at a final concentration of 0.5 mM to induce over-expression of GST, GST-Mbx1p or GST-Sep1p for 3-4 h at 30°C. In each case, 1 ml samples were collected from the culture immediately before addition of IPTG (0 h), as well as at hourly intervals after IPTG induction (1 h, 2 h, 3 h and 4 h). Following protein overexpression, cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in PBS and lysed by French pressure disruption. 1 ml of lysate (L) was collected and kept on ice, while 1 ml of lysate was centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). From each sample, 10 µl were taken and resuspended in an equal volume of 2x Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling for 5 min in the presence of 150 mM DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and Coomassie blue staining to examine the overexpression and solubility of GST, GST-Mbx1p and GST-Sep1p (Figures 4.12, 4.13 and 4.14).

The solubility of each protein was determined by comparing the fraction of protein present in the supernatant (soluble fraction) with that in the pellet (insoluble fraction).



Figure 4.12: GST overexpression and solubility. GST overexpression was induced in BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells with 0.5 mM IPTG at 30°C for 4 h. Samples were collected at the point of induction (0 h) and at 4 h following induction. Cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in PBS and lysed by French pressure disruption. The lysate (L) was centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). 1 ml samples were collected at all stages. All samples were resuspended in Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling for 5 min in the presence of DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining. Molecular weight marker is shown (M), with sizes indicated in kDa. The arrow indicates GST.



Figure 4.13: GST-Mbx1p overexpression and solubility. GST-Mbx1p overexpression was induced in BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells with 0.5 mM IPTG at 30°C for 3 h. Samples were collected at the point of induction (0 h) and at hourly intervals thereafter (1 h, 2 h and 3 h). Following 3 h induction, cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in PBS and lysed by French pressure disruption. The lysate (L) was then centrifuged to separate the soluble and insoluble protein material into the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P), respectively. 1 ml samples were collected at all stages. All samples were resuspended in Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling for 5 min in the presence of DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining. Molecular weight marker is shown (M), with sizes indicated in kDa. The arrow indicates full-length GST-Mbx1p.



Figure 4.14: GST-Sep1p overexpression and solubility. GST-Sep1p overexpression was induced in BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells with 0.5 mM IPTG at 30°C for 4 h. Samples were collected at the point of induction (0 h) and every hour thereafter. Following 4 h induction, cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in PBS and lysed by French pressure disruption. The lysate (L) was then centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). 1 ml samples were collected at all stages. All samples were resuspended in Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling for 5 min in the presence of DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining. Molecular weight marker is shown (M), with sizes indicated in kDa. The arrow indicates full-length GST-Sep1p.

As shown in Figures 4.12, 4.13 and 4.14, overexpression of GST, GST-Mbx1p and GST-Sep1p was successful. As expected, GST resolved at ~26 kDa and was present almost exclusively in the supernatant (Figure 4.12). GST-Mbx1p resolved at a size slightly higher than the predicted value of ~77 kDa, while GST-Sep1p resolved at a size close to the predicted value of ~100 kDa. Approximately 100% of GST-Mbx1p was recovered in the soluble fraction (Figure 4.13), whereas in the case of GST-Sep1p a significant proportion of the fusion protein (>70%) was also detected in the supernatant (Figure 4.14).

4.3.5 Bacterial overexpression of HIS-fusion proteins

Overexpression and solubility of 6HIS-Fkh2p and 6HIS-Sep1p was examined by a procedure similar to that followed for overexpression of GST-Mbx1p and GST-Sep1p, but with modifications. In particular, a single colony of BL21 CodonPlus cells transformed with either pET-28-a (+) vector containing *sep1*⁺ (GB 425) or pET-28-c (+) containing *fkh2*⁺ (GB 417) were grown overnight on solid medium before transfer to 10 ml of kanamycin supplemented NZY⁺ broth, which was then grown at 37°C for no more than 16 h. 1ml of culture was removed, added to 50 ml of fresh NZY⁺ plus kanamycin and allowed to grow until an OD₆₀₀ of ~0.5 was reached. IPTG was added to a final concentration of 0.5 mM and the culture was grown at 30°C for 3 h to induce overexpression of 6HIS-Fkh2p or 6HIS-Sep1p. 1 ml samples were removed at the point of induction (0 h) and every

hour onwards for 3 h. Following overexpression, cells were collected by centrifugation, resuspended in Buffer A and lysed by French pressure. 1 ml of lysate (L) was collected and kept on ice, while 1 ml of lysate was centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). From each sample, 10 µl were taken and resuspended in an equal volume of 2x Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling for 5 min in the presence of 150 mM DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and Coomassie blue staining to examine the overexpression and solubility of 6HIS-Fkh2p and 6HIS-Sep1p (Figures 4.15 and 4.16).



Figure 4.15: 6HIS-Fkh2p overexpression and solubility. 6HIS-Fkh2p overexpression was induced in BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells with 0.5 mM IPTG at 30°C for 3 h. Samples were collected at the point of induction (0 h) and 3 h after induction (3 h). Cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in Buffer A and lysed by French pressure disruption. The lysate (L) was centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). 1 ml samples were collected at all stages. All samples were resuspended in Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling in the presence of DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining. Molecular weight marker is shown (M), with sizes indicated in kDa. The arrow indicates full-length 6HIS-Fkh2p.



Figure 4.16: 6HIS-Sep1p overexpression and solubility. (A-B) 6HIS-Sep1p overexpression was induced in BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells with 0.5 mM IPTG at 30°C for 3 h. Samples were collected at the point of induction (0 h) and 3 h after induction (3 h). Cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in Buffer A and lysed by French pressure. The lysate (L) was centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). 1 ml samples were collected at all stages. All samples were resuspended in Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling in the presence of DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining. (C) 6HIS-Sep1p was overexpressed for 16 h at 15°C with 0.15 mM IPTG. Prior to IPTG induction, cells were heat-shocked for 20 min at 42°C. Samples were collected at the point of induction (0 h) and 16 h after induction (16 h). Following induction, cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in Buffer A and lysed by French pressure. The lysate was centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). 1 ml samples were collected at all stages. All samples were collected at the point of induction (0 h) and 16 h after induction (16 h). Following induction, cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in Buffer A and lysed by French pressure. The lysate was centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). 1 ml samples were collected at all stages. All samples were resuspended in Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling in the presence of DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE, followed by Western blotting. To detect 6HIS-Sep1p, the blot was probed with anti-HIS antibody. (A-B) Molecular weight marker is shown (M), with sizes indicated in kDa. (A-D) The arrow indicates full-length 6HIS-Sep1p.

As shown in Figures 4.15 and 4.16, overexpression of 6HIS-Fkh2p and 6HIS-Sep1p was successful with both HIS-tagged proteins resolving at sizes close to their predicted molecular masses, ~72 kDa for 6HIS-Fkh2p and ~73 for 6HIS-Sep1p. Almost 100% of 6HIS-Fkh2p was detected in the soluble fraction (Figure 4.15), whereas in contrast more than 70% of 6HIS-Sep1p was present in the pellet, with only 25-30% of protein recovered in the soluble fraction (Figure 4.16A and B). Therefore, in order to improve 6HIS-Sep1p solubility, alternative overexpression conditions were adopted, including heat-shock at 42°C for 20 min prior to IPTG induction. Heat shock has been shown to improve solubility of heterologous proteins expressed in bacteria due to the synthesis of bacterial heat shock proteins, known to facilitate proper folding of proteins and prevent their aggregation (Chen et al., 2003; Oganesyan et al., 2007). After heat-shock of cells, 6HIS-Sep1p expression was induced with 0.15 mM IPTG for sixteen hours (16 h) at 15°C (Figure 4.16C), since high level 6HIS-Sep1p overexpression, observed upon induction with 0.5 mM IPTG at 30°C over a short three hour period (Figure 4.16A and B), might itself have contributed to protein insolubility. Following 16 h IPTG induction at 15°C, cells were collected, resuspended in Buffer A and lysed by French pressure disruption. The lysate was centrifuged to separate the supernatant (S) and pellet fraction (P). Samples collected at all stages during IPTG induction and lysis were analysed by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and Western blot with an anti-HIS antibody (Table 2.1) to detect 6HIS-Sep1p (Figure 4.16C). As revealed by the Western blot, heat-shock combined with IPTG induction at a low temperature significantly improved 6HIS-Sep1p solubility, since more than 60% of the protein was detected under these conditions in the supernatant (soluble fraction).

4.3.6 Purification of GST-fusion proteins

Once conditions for protein induction of GST-tagged proteins were optimised (Section 4.3.4), large amounts of GST-Mbx1p, GST-Sep1p and GST were overexpressed from 200 ml (GST-Mbx1p and GST) or 500 ml (GST-Sep1p) cultures, and purified in preparation for the GST pull-down assay. Overexpression and column purification of all GST-tagged proteins using Glutathione Sepharose 4B slurry was performed as described in detail in Sections 2.2.11.2-2.2.11.3. For each protein several 0.4 ml (GST-Mbx1p and GST) or 1 ml (GST-Sep1p) elution fractions were collected. 10 µl of each elution fraction were removed and analysed by SDS-PAGE, followed by Coomassie blue staining (Figure 4.17). All elution fractions containing in each case the purified protein (GST, GST-Mbx1p or GST-Sep1p) were combined prior to overnight dialysis in 1x PBS (Section 2.2.11.7) and subsequent concentration (Section 2.2.11.8).



Figure 4.17: Purification of GST-fusion proteins. (A-C) GST-Mbx1p, GST-Sep1p or GST were separately overexpressed in BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells (200-500 ml) for 3-4 h at 30°C with 0.5 mM IPTG. Following induction, cells were harvested, resuspended in PBS and lysed by French pressure disruption. The lysate was centrifuged and the supernatant (soluble protein fraction) was collected and subjected to GST column purification. In each case, various elution fractions were collected and 10 µl samples were taken (Elution lanes). All samples were diluted in an equal volume of Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling in the presence of DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining. (A) The lysate (L), supernatant (S) and pellet (P) samples are also shown. (B-C) Samples taken at the time of induction (0 h) and following induction (3 h) or (4 h) are also shown. Lane M, Molecular weight marker with sizes indicated in kDa. The arrow indicates GST-Mbx1p (A), GST-Sep1p (B) or GST (C).

4.3.7 Purification of HIS-fusion proteins

The most favourable conditions were used to overexpress large quantities of 6HIS-Fkh2p and 6HIS-Sep1p (Section 4.3.5). Following overexpression in 500 ml cultures, 6HIS-Fkh2p and 6HIS-Sep1p were purified for use in the GST pull-down. Overexpression and column purification of HIS-tagged proteins using Chelating Fast Flow slurry was performed as described in detail in Sections 2.2.11.2 and 2.2.11.4. For each protein several 1ml elution fractions were collected. 10 µl of each elution fraction were removed and analysed by SDS-PAGE, followed by Coomassie blue staining. As shown in Figure 4.18, 6HIS-Sep1p and 6HIS-Fkh2p were successfully purified. As in the case of GST-tagged proteins, elution fractions containing either 6HIS-Fkh2p or 6HIS-Sep1p were combined prior to overnight dialysis in 1x PBS (Section 2.2.11.7) and subsequent concentration (Section 2.2.11.8).



Figure 4.18: Purification of HIS-fusion proteins. (A-B) 6HIS-Fkh2p was overexpressed in BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells for 3 h at 30°C with 0.5 mM IPTG, while 6HIS-Sep1p was overexpressed for 16 h at 15°C with 0.15 mM IPTG. In the case of 6HIS-Sep1p, cells were also heat-shocked before IPTG induction. Samples were collected at the point of induction (0 h) and after induction, (3 h) or (16 h). Cells were then harvested, resuspended in Buffer A and Iysed by French pressure disruption. The Iysate was centrifuged and the supernatant was collected and subjected to HIS column purification. Elution fractions were collected and 10 µl samples were taken (Elution lanes). Samples were diluted in an equal volume of Laemmli sample buffer, denatured by boiling in the presence of DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE, followed by staining with Coomassie brilliant blue. (A) Samples taken at the time of induction (0 h) and following induction (3 h) are also shown. Lane M, Molecular weight marker with sizes indicated in kDa. The arrow indicates full-length 6HIS-Fkh2p (A) or 6HIS-Sep1p (B).

4.3.8 GST pull down unravels a direct in vitro interaction between Sep1p and Fkh2p

Following purification, dialysis and concentration of GST- and HIS- tagged proteins, GST pull-down assays were performed to examine whether GST-Sep1p interacts with 6HIS-Fkh2p, as well as whether GST-Mbx1p interacts with 6HIS-Fkh2p or 6HIS-Sep1p. In each case, the GST pull-down was carried out as described in Section 2.2.11.9. Briefly, 3-4 µg of GST-tagged protein (GST-Sep1p or GST-Mbx1p) or GST alone, used as a negative control, were incubated with Glutathione Sepharose beads for one hour to allow binding. In each case, 3-4 µg of the appropriate HIS-tagged protein (6HIS-Fkh2p or 6HIS-Sep1p) were added to the beads suspension and incubated for another hour to enable interaction between the two proteins. As another negative control 6HIS-Fkh2p or 6HIS-Sep1p were incubated for one hour with Glutathione Sepharose beads. After removal of the supernatant and sufficient washes the beads with all bound protein(s) were resuspended in 2x Laemmli buffer supplemented with 150 mM DTT and boiled to release the protein(s) from the beads. Following centrifugation, the supernatant containing all the protein was TCA precipitated. Finally, the pelleted protein material was resuspended in 10 µl Laemmli buffer with 150 mM DTT, boiled and analysed by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis, followed by Western blot using a HIS antibody to detect whether 6HIS-Fkh2p is pulled down by GST-Sep1p or GST-Mbx1p, as well as whether 6HIS-Sep1p is pulled down by GST-Mbx1p. In each case, all samples were also analysed by a Western blot using a GST antibody to confirm the presence of the respective GST protein, GST-Sep1p, GST-Mbx1p or GST itself, in the pull-down fraction (data not shown).

As shown in Figure 4.19A, 6His-Fkh2p was detected in the GST-Sep1p pull-down fraction, whereas no 6His-Fkh2p was found in the GST pull-down fraction or in the Glutathione Sepharose beads fraction, showing that the interaction between GST-Sep1p and 6His-Fkh2p is specific and not the indirect result of 6His-Fkh2p non-specific binding to either the GST moiety or Glutathione Sepharose beads. Thus, the pull-down experiment not only confirmed the physical interaction between Sep1p-3HA and Fkh2p-13myc, observed *in vivo* by co-immunoprecipitation, but also revealed that Sep1p and Fkh2p can bind to each other directly, at least *in vitro* (Papadopoulou *et al.,* 2008). In contrast, neither 6His-Fkh2p nor 6HIS-Sep1p was detected in the GST-Mbx1p pull-down fraction (Figure 4.19B and C). This result is in agreement with the findings of co-immunoprecipitation experiments (Sections 4.2.3 and 4.2.4), showing that at least under these conditions no physical interaction was observed between Mbx1p-13myc and either Sep1p-3HA or Fkh2p-3HA. Taken together, the combination of co-immunoprecipitation and GST pull-down experiments have demonstrated a direct interaction between Sep1p and Fkh2p, whilst no interaction was observed between the MADS box-like protein Mbx1p and either of the two forkhead transcription factors.



Figure 4.19: GST pull-down analysis reveals that Fkh2p and Sep1p directly interact with each other in vitro, while no interaction is detected between Mbx1p and either Fkh2p or Sep1p. (A) 6His-Fkh2p is pulled down by GST-Sep1p in vitro. Bacterially expressed and purified 6HIS-Fkh2p was mixed with purified GST-Sep1p bound to Glutathione Sepharose 4B beads. Following GST pull-down analysis, the GST-Sep1p pull down fraction was resuspended in Laemmli sample buffer supplemented with DTT and analysed by SDS-PAGE, followed by Western blotting. To detect 6HIS-Fkh2p the blot was probed with an antibody against HIS. As negative controls, 6His-Fkh2p was mixed with purified GST bound to beads, as well as with beads alone. Input indicates purified 6His-Fkh2p. The arrow indicates 6His-Fkh2p present in the GST-Sep1p pull down fraction. (B) GST pull-down analysis using purified 6His-Fkh2p and GST-Mbx1p. As in (A), appropriate negative controls were included and Western blot with an antibody against HIS was performed to examine whether 6HIS-Fkh2p is present in the GST-Mbx1p pull-down fraction. (C) GST pull-down analysis using purified 6His-Sep1p and GST-Mbx1p. As negative controls, 6His-Sep1p was mixed with purified GST bound to beads, as well as with beads alone. Input indicates purified 6His-Sep1p. To detect 6HIS-Sep1p the blot was probed with an antibody against HIS. (A-C) GST pull-down assays of 6HIS-Fkh2p with either GST-Sep1p or GST-Mbx1p and of 6His-Sep1p with GST-Mbx1p were carried out three times. In each case, the results of Western blot analysis of pulled-down material with the HIS antibody in one of these assays are shown here and are representative of the results of Western blot analysis of all three assays.

4.4 Summary

In fission yeast Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p are all involved in the co-ordinate expression of several genes during late mitosis and early G1 phase, are components and/or related to the PBF complex and, as suggested by genetic analyses, they exhibit both overlapping and separate functions (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Bähler, 2005; Ng *et al.*, 2006). To examine further the relationship between these transcription factors, co-immunoprecipitation analysis was performed here to determine whether they associate with each other *in vivo*. Due to the unavailability of antibodies against native Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p (Section 4.2), immunoprecipitations were carried out with appropriate double-tagged *S. pombe* strains (*sep1-3HA fkh2-13myc*, *sep1-3HA mbx1-13myc* or *fkh2-3HA mbx1-13myc*), expressing one protein as an HA fusion and the other as a myc fusion, tagged in each case at the C-terminus (Figures 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3). Immunoprecipitation and ensuing Western blot analyses with HA and myc antibodies detected a specific *in vivo* interaction between Sep1p-3HA and Fkh2p-13myc, but not between Mbx1p-13myc and either Sep1p-3HA or Fkh2p-3HA (Figures 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

To confirm the observed interaction between Fkh2p and Sep1p and determine whether these forkhead transcription factors can bind to each other directly, GST pull-down assays were performed with bacterially expressed and purified GST and HIS-fusions of Sep1p and Fkh2p respectively, tagged in each case at their N-terminus. Moreover, GST pull-down assays were carried out with an N-terminal GST-fusion of Mbx1p and HIS-fusions of Sep1p and Fkh2p to examine whether Mbx1p, although not shown to associate *in vivo* with Fkh2p or Sep1p, binds to either of these proteins under these conditions *in vitro*. For this, cDNA or genomic DNA preparations of *mbx1*+, *fkh2*+ and *sep1*+ were cloned into GST- and/or HIS- specific expression vectors as appropriate, followed by bacterial overexpression and purification of the respective fusion proteins (Sections 4.3.1-4.3.7). In agreement with the results of the co-immunoprecipitation assays, GST pull -down analyses showed that GST-Sep1p and 6HIS-Fkh2p bind to each other directly *in vitro*, while no direct interaction was detected, at least under these experimental conditions, between GST-Mbx1p and either 6HIS-Fkh2p or 6HIS-Sep1p (Figure 4.19; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

The detected *in vivo* and *in vitro* interaction between Fkh2p and Sep1p validates previous genetic observations that have established a requirement of Fkh2p for Sep1p function and suggested a potential interaction between the two forkhead proteins. Moreover, the inability to identify here an interaction between Mbx1p and Fkh2p or Sep1p, might imply that this MADS-box protein exerts its role on transcriptional regulation of M-G1 genes, not by direct association with the

forkhead proteins but indirectly as a PBF component, bound to the PCB sequence within the genes' promoters. Consistent with this, Mbx1p has been shown to be necessary for binding of PBF to the PCB sequence, at least in the case of *cdc15*⁺, and most probably binds close to Fkh2p and/or Sep1p on the *cdc15*⁺ promoter (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004). Intriguingly, MADS-box motifs are absent from the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes (Rustici *et al.*, 2004). Presumably, unlike the situation in *S. cerevisiae*, whereby MADS-box and forkhead sequences mediate G2-M specific expression of the 'CLB2' gene cluster, in fission yeast PCB sequences in concert with forkhead sequences accommodate M-G1 specific expression of the PBF-dependent gene cluster (Bähler, 2005).

Apart from Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p, the Plo1p kinase is also involved in control of PBFmediated M-G1 specific transcription. The next chapter examines the relationship between Plo1p and these three transcription factors to determine whether this kinase exerts its role on M-G1specific gene expression via its interaction with PBF components.

Chapter 5

In vivo analysis of interactions between Plo1p kinase and PBF components Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p

5.1 Introduction

Previous studies and research work presented in Chapter 3 have demonstrated that PBF components Mbx1p, Sep1p and Fkh2p regulate M-G1 specific transcription, through the PCB and forkhead promoter sequences (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005; Petit *et al.*, 2005). *fkh2*⁺ is itself periodically transcribed during the M-G1 phase, indicating that it modulates its own expression as part of an autoregulatory loop (Buck *et al.*, 2004, Ng *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, experiments presented in Chapter 4 have shown that Fkh2p associates with Sep1p *in vivo* and *in vitro*, providing further information about the mechanism that regulates cell cycle specific transcription at the M-G1 boundary. Consistent with the M-G1 pattern of late cell cycle expression, most M-G1 transcribed genes encode proteins that are necessary for mitosis and cytokinesis (Ng *et al.*, 2006). Prominent among them is *plo1*⁺, encoding a Ser/Thr Polo-like kinase (Sections 1.3.2.3 and 1.3.2.4.2).

5.1.1 Polo-like kinases

Polo-like kinases (Plks) are found in organisms as diverse as yeast and humans. Well-known members include several human Plks, *Drosophila* Polo, Xenopus Plx1p, S. cerevisiae Cdc5p and S. pombe Plo1p kinase. They all share a common structure with an N-terminal catalytic domain and a C-terminal regulatory domain containing characteristic motifs; the so-called polo-boxes. The Plks regulate a plethora of events during mitosis, including bipolar spindle assembly, chromosome segregation and in some organisms cytokinesis (Sections 1.3.2.3 and 1.3.2.4.2). In humans, Plks are also crucial for centrosome separation and maturation (Barr *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, Plks from various species have been shown to interact with and regulate the activity of the anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome, contributing to degradation of B-type cyclins and mitotic exit (Descombes and Nigg, 1998; Kotani *et al.*, 1998; Shirayama *et al.*, 1998; May *et al.*, 2002).

Plks are also key players in early mitotic events. They are thought to phosphorylate Cdc25p in a p34^{cdc2}/Cdk1p-dependent manner, thus forming part of an amplification loop that further activates the p34^{cdc2}/Cdk1p-cyclin B complex at the G2-M transition and promotes irreversible commitment to mitosis (Barr *et al.*, 2004; Section 1.3.2.3). Consistent with their roles in early and late mitosis, Plks localise to specific substructures of the mitotic apparatus at distinct times during mitosis (Golsteyn *et al.*, 1995; Lee *et al.*, 1995; Shirayama *et al.*, 1998; Bähler *et al.*, 1998b; Mulvihill *et al.*, 1999; Tanaka *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, as shown by studies in mammals and the budding and fission

yeasts, the pattern of Plk activity appears to correlate well with their functions in space and time in the various organisms (Glover *et al.,* 1998).

Research in *S. cerevisiae* and *S. pombe* has also uncovered a role for Plks in the regulation of cell-cycle specific expression of genes that are required for progression through mitosis and cytokinesis (Anderson *et al.*, 2000; Darieva *et al.*, 2006; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). In *S. cerevisiae*, Cdc5p controls G2-M specific transcription of the 'CLB2' gene cluster by phosphorylating the co-activator protein Ndd1p, promoting its recruitment to the genes' promoters in a cell cycle-specific manner. Ndd1p is recruited to the promoters of the 'CLB2' cluster genes via interaction with the FHA domain of Fkh2p, which is found in the promoters as a complex with Mcm1p throughout the cell cycle. Apart from Cdc5p, the Cdc28p-Clb2p and Cdc28p-Clb5p complexes also promote the association between Ndd1p and Fkh2p, phosphorylating the former Ndd1p and the latter Fkh2p (Darieva *et al.*, 2003; Reynolds *et al.*, 2003; Pic-Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Darieva *et al.*, 2006). Markedly, since *CDC5* is a 'CLB2' cluster gene, Cdc5p seems to regulate its own expression as part of a positive feedback loop.

5.1.2 Plo1p: a regulator of mitotic events and M-G1 transcription

Analyses in *S. pombe* of *plo1* disruptants and *plo1* temperature sensitive mutants have demonstrated that Plo1p function is essential for viability and necessary for various mitotic events and cytokinesis, including bipolar spindle assembly, the arrangement of the acto-myosin medial ring and septum formation. As shown by overexpression studies, Plo1p is both necessary and sufficient to induce septum formation from any point in the cell cycle, without prior commitment to mitosis, suggesting that Plo1p acts as a septum promoting factor (Ohkura *et al.*, 1995; Bähler *et al.*, 1998b).

As well as these functions, Plo1p also regulates M-G1 specific transcription. This is shown by the fact that *plo1*⁺ overexpression leads to an increase in the mRNA levels of M-G1 transcribed genes, such as *cdc15*⁺ and *spo12*⁺, while loss of Plo1p function, in the temperature sensitive *plo1ts35* kinase mutant, compromises M-G1 specific transcription of these same genes. Notably, loss of Plo1p function also abolishes PCB-mediated binding of the PBF complex. These findings suggest that Plo1p regulates M-G1 specific transcription by controlling the activity of PBF (Anderson *et al.,* 2002). Since Plo1p is a Polo-like kinase it could modulate PBF activity by binding and phosphorylating one or more of its components, Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p. Interestingly, both Mbx1p and Fkh2p have previously been shown to be phosphorylated specifically during mitosis (Buck *et al.,* 2004; Bulmer *et al.,* 2004).

5.2 Two-Hybrid analysis of interactions between Plo1p and PBF components Mbx1p, Sep1p and Fkh2p

For more than a decade the yeast two-hybrid system has been used extensively as an *in vivo* means to study whether two proteins of interest interact with each other, as well as to identify novel binding partners of a known protein (Fields, 2005). This yeast genetic system, initially developed by Fields and Song (1989), exploits the observation that transcription factors consist of functionally autonomous domains, such as the DNA-binding domain (DBD) that recognises and binds to its cognate promoter sequence, and an activation domain (AD) that activates transcription, via interactions with the RNA polymerase II machinery (Hope and Struhl, 1986). The independency of these domains is exemplified by the ability of the DBDs or ADs of different transcription factors to compensate functionally substitutes for the DBD of Gal4p, an *S. cerevisiae* transcriptional activator, since a chimera resulting from the fusion of the LexAp DBD with the Gal4p AD activates ectopic expression of β -galactosidase in budding yeast, provided that LexAp binding sites are present upstream of the *lacZ* reporter gene (Brent and Ptashne, 1985).

Despite the autonomy of the DBD and AD, transcriptional activation takes place only in the presence of both a DBD and AD. On its own a DNA-binding domain, although able to associate with its cognate DNA, is unable to activate transcription. Similarly, an AD domain without a DBD domain cannot target itself to the promoter region, resulting in no transcription. The inability of the AD to activate transcription in the absence of the DBD and vice versa allows screening for an interaction between two proteins by yeast two-hybrid, outlined in Figure 5.1B. In this system, the cDNA of gene X is cloned into the "bait" vector that expresses protein X as a fusion with a DBD (e.g. LexAp or Gal4p), while the cDNA of gene Y is cloned into the "prey" vector that expresses protein Y as a fusion with the AD of Gal4p. An S. cerevisiae strain containing a reporter gene (the HIS3 or ADE2) auxotrophic marker or *lacZ* colour marker) with multiple upstream DNA-binding sites for the respective DBD, either on a plasmid or integrated into the genome, is then transformed with both the "bait" and "prey" vectors. When proteins X and Y physically interact with each other, the DBD and the AD are brought close enough to reconstitute a functional transcriptional factor that activates transcription and ensuing expression of the reporter gene. Conversely, if proteins X and Y do not associate with each other, no transcriptional activation of the reporter takes place, since the DBD-X fusion protein, although bound to its promoter sequence, lacks a nearby AD, while the AD-Y fusion protein lacks a DBD and is unable to locate itself to the promoter of the reporter gene.

Research has revealed that Fkh2p and Sep1p regulate M-G1 specific transcription, while Mbx1p was shown to be a core component of the PBF complex that binds via the PCB sequence to the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Chapter 3). As discussed above, the Ser/Thr kinase Plo1p controls M-G1 specific expression in fission yeast and is necessary for binding of the PBF complex to PCBs, at least *in vitro* (Anderson *et al.*, 2002). These findings, combined with the fact that *plo1*⁺ genetically interacts with *fkh2*⁺, *sep1*⁺ and *mbx1*⁺, suggest that Plo1p influences M-G1-specific expression by interacting with and phosphorylating one or more PBF components. Consistent with this, the yeast two-hybrid system was employed here to examine whether Plo1p physically associates with either Mbx1p, Fkh2p or Sep1p and if so, determine which Plo1p domain(s), the kinase and/or the polo-box, mediate the interaction. To do this, *fkh2*⁺, *mbx1*⁺ and *sep1*⁺ were cloned separately into the pACT2 prev vector (Appendix IV), allowing expression of each gene as a fusion protein with the Gal4p activation domain (Section 5.2.1). Cloning of *plo1*⁺, as well as of the *plo1.K69R*, *plo1.DHK625AAA* and *plo1.472-684 plo1* mutants, into the pBTM116 bait vector (Appendix IV), expressing a fusion protein with the LexAp DNA-binding domain, was described previously (May *et al.*, 2002; Reynolds and Ohkura, 2003).



Figure 5.1: Model of yeast two hybrid-mediated transcriptional activation. (A) Gal4p-regulated expression of *GAL1* in *S. cerevisiae*. The budding yeast Gal4p transcription factor binds via its DNA binding domain (DBD) to the upstream activation sequence of the *GAL1* promoter (UAS_G) and activates transcription, mediated by its activation domain (AD). (B) The yeast two-hybrid system. In the yeast two hybrid assay, transcription of a reporter gene, e.g. *lacZ*, takes place in *S. cerevisiae* only if protein X, expressed as a fusion with a DNA-binding domain (here the LexAp DBD) from the "bait" vector, interacts with protein Y, expressed as a fusion with the Gal4p activation domain (Gal4p AD) from the "prey" vector. The association between X and Y proteins brings in close proximity the promoter bound LexAp DNA-binding domain with the Gal4p activation domain, enabling transcriptional activation. LexA op denotes the *lexA* operator recognised by the DBD of LexAp.

5.2.1 Cloning of sep1+, fkh2+ and mbx1+ into the pACT2 prey vector

fkh2⁺, *sep1*⁺ or *mbx1*⁺ full-length cDNA was introduced separately into pACT2 (GB 331), a shuttle *E. coli* and *S. cerevisiae* expression vector that facilitates the expression of the cloned gene as an N-terminal GAL4AD-fusion protein from the constitutive *ADH1* promoter (Appendix IV). Cloning of *sep1*⁺ genomic DNA and *fkh2*⁺ and *mbx1*⁺ cDNA into pCR[®]2.1 vector was described in Section 4.3.1. Standard DNA manipulation methods were employed to insert each gene into pACT2 in the correct orientation and reading frame relative to the upstream GAL4AD domain (Section 2.2.9).

pCR[®]2.1 containing *mbx1*⁺ or *sep1*⁺ was digested with *Sma*l and *Xho*l, whereas pCR[®]2.1 containing *fkh2*⁺ was digested with *Bam*HI and *Xho*l. Each DNA fragment was then gel extracted and purified before cloning into linearised pACT2 vector digested with either *Sma*l and *Xho*l (*mbx1*⁺ or *sep1*⁺) or *Bam*HI and *Xho*l (*fkh2*⁺). Transformation of pACT2 containing *sep1*⁺, *mbx1*⁺ or *fkh2*⁺ into *E. coli* DH5α cells followed. Once cells were grown overnight on solid LB supplemented with ampicillin, transformants were selected and grown overnight in liquid selective media. Following plasmid purification, successful cloning of *sep1*⁺, *mbx1*⁺ or *fkh2*⁺ into pACT2 was confirmed by a *Smal/Xho*l or a *Bam*HI/*Xho*I restriction digest as appropriate, revealing a ~2 kb, ~1.4 kb or ~2 kb DNA fragment, respectively (Figures 5.2, 5.3 and 5.4). One isolate of pACT2-*mbx1*⁺ (GB 447), pACT2-*sep1*⁺ (GB 442) and pACT2-*fkh2*⁺ (GB 438) was selected and used for subsequent transformation into the budding yeast strain CTY10-5d (Section 5.2.2). The integrity of the pACT2-*sep1*⁺ and pACT2-*fkh2*⁺ constructs was also confirmed by DNA sequencing (MWG Biotech).



Figure 5.2: Cloning of full-length *sep1*⁺ into pACT2 two-hybrid prey vector. (A) Lanes 1 and 2, *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺. Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (B) Lane 1, purified fragment of *Smal/Xhol* digested pACT2 vector. Lane 2, purified gel excised DNA fragment of full-length *sep1*⁺, following *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺, shown in (A). Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (C) Lane 1, undigested circular pACT2 vector. Lane 2, *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pACT2 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺, shown in (A). Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (C) Lane 1, undigested circular pACT2 vector. Lane 2, *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pACT2 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺. Lane M, DNA Molecular Weight marker X (Roche). (A-C) Sizes of DNA fragments are indicated.



Figure 5.3: Cloning of full-length *mbx1*⁺ **into pACT2 two-hybrid prey vector.** (A) Lanes 1 and 2, *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *mbx1*⁺. Lane M, DNA Molecular Weight marker X (Roche). (B) Lane 1, purified fragment of *Smal/Xhol* digested pACT2 vector. Lane 2, purified gel excised DNA fragment of full-length *sep1*⁺, following *Smal /Xhol* restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *mbx1*⁺. Lanes 3 and 4, purified gel excised DNA fragment of full-length *mbx1*⁺, following *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pCR[®]2.1 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺. Lanes 3 and 4, purified gel excised DNA fragment of full-length *mbx1*⁺, shown in (A). Lane M, DNA Molecular Weight marker X. (C) Lanes 1, 2 and 3, *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pACT2 vector containing full-length *mbx1*⁺. Lane M, DNA Molecular Weight marker X. (A-C) Sizes of DNA fragments are indicated.



Figure 5.4: Cloning of full-length *fkh2*⁺ into pACT2 two-hybrid prey vector. (A) Lane 1, *Bam*HI/Xhol restriction digest of pCR®2.1 vector containing full-length *fkh2*⁺. Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (B) Lane 1, purified fragment of *Smal/Xhol* digested pACT2 vector. Lane 2, purified gel excised DNA fragment of full-length *sep1*⁺, following *Smal/Xhol* restriction digest of pCR®2.1 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺. Lane 3, purified fragment of *Bam*HI/Xhol digested pACT2 vector. Lane 4, purified gel excised DNA fragment of full-length *fkh2*⁺, following *Bam*HI/Xhol restriction digest of pCR®2.1 vector containing full-length *sep1*⁺. Lane 3, purified fragment of *Bam*HI/Xhol restriction digest of pCR®2.1 vector containing full-length *fkh2*⁺, shown in (A). Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (C) Lane 1, *Bam*HI/Xhol restriction digest of pACT2 vector containing full-length *fkh2*⁺. Lane M, 1 kb DNA Ladder (NEB). (A-C) Sizes of DNA fragments are indicated.

5.2.2 Plo1p interacts with Mbx1p but not Fkh2p or Sep1p in the Two-Hybrid assay

After cloning, each of the pACT2-*sep1*⁺, pACT2-*fkh2*⁺ and pACT2-*mbx1*⁺ constructs was cotransformed with pBTM116-*plo1*⁺ (GB 329) into competent *S. cerevisiae* CTY10-5d cells (GGBY 138), which carry the *lacZ* gene integrated into the genome together with multiple upstream binding sites for the LexAp DBD (Section 2.2.7 and 2.2.8). As negative controls to ensure that Sep1p, Fkh2p, Mbx1p, Plo1p or even the LexAp DBD and Gal4p AD can not alone stimulate *lacZ* transcription, pACT2-*sep1*⁺, pACT2-*fkh2*⁺ and pACT2-*mbx1*⁺ were co-transformed into budding yeast with empty pBTM116 vector (GB 332), pBTM116-*plo1*⁺ was co-transformed with empty pACT2 vector and empty pACT2 vector was co-transformed with empty pBTM116 vector. Moreover, as a positive control to confirm the efficiency of the yeast two-hybrid system, pBTM116-*plo1*⁺ was co-transformed into CTY10-5d cells with pGADGH-*sck1*⁺ (GB 520), which expresses a fusion of the Gal4p AD with Sck1p, a known Plo1p-interacting protein (Reynolds and Ohkura, 2003).

After transformation, cells were grown on solid SD medium lacking tryptophan and leucine for 3-4 days at 30°C. Successful transformants were selected in each case and screened for *lacZ* expression by a semi-quantitative X-gal overlay assay, which detects the activity of β -galactosidase, the encoded product of *lacZ* (Section 2.2.16.1). For this, all the transformants were grown on solid media for 2-3 days before covered with an X-gal solution and incubated at 30°C to allow for blue colour development. Cells were checked for blue colour formation at hourly intervals for a 6 hour period and then were left to incubate overnight. The X-gal overlay assay was performed three times for two transformants of each *S. cerevisiae* strain. The results obtained from the X-gal overlay assay in one of these occasions are displayed in Figure 5.5A. As shown, a strong blue colour, representing a high level of β -galactosidase activity, was observed only in cells expressing *plo1*⁺ and either *sck1*⁺ (positive control) or *mbx1*⁺. In the case of *sck1*⁺, blue colour was observed within 2 hours, while for *mbx1*⁺ after 5-6 hours. In contrast, no blue colour was seen in cells expressing *plo1*⁺ and either *sep1*⁺ or *fkh2*⁺, as well as in cells expressing *plo1*⁺, *mbx1*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *sep1*⁺ alone, even after overnight incubation at 30°C. These observations suggest a specific *in vivo* interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p.

Following these results, a quantitative β -galactosidase assay was also performed to measure the interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p relative to the positive and all negative controls (Section 2.2.16.2). Protein interactions were quantified in 1 ml samples from *S. cerevisiae* cells grown in liquid medium using the following formula:

 β -galactosidase activity (Miller Units) = 1000 x OD₄₂₀ / (t x V x OD₆₀₀)

The assay was performed in triplicate for two transformants of each *S. cerevisiae* strain. The results obtained from statistical analysis, shown in Figure 5.5B, confirm the findings of the X-gal overlay assay and, moreover, reveal that the interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p is ~40-60% the strength of that between Plo1p and Sck1p.





Figure 5.5: Yeast two hybrid analysis reveals a specific *in vivo* interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p. (A) The budding yeast-two hybrid system was used to examine whether Plo1p interacts with Mbx1p, Fkh2p or Sep1p. *plo1*⁺ fused to the LexAp DNA binding domain of the pBTM116 bait vector (GB 329) was co-transformed with either *mbx1*⁺ (GB 447), *fkh2*⁺ (GB 438) or *sep1*⁺ (GB 442), fused to the Gal4p activation domain of prey vector pACT2, into budding yeast strain CTY105d (GGBY 138) and transcriptional activation was monitored by an X-gal overlay assay. As a positive control, prey vector with *sck1*⁺ (GB 520), encoding a known Plo1p-interacting protein, was co-transformed into budding yeast with bait vector containing *plo1*⁺. In each case as negative control, the prey vector with *mbx1*⁺, *fkh2*⁺, *sep1*⁺ or *sck1*⁺ was co-transformed into budding yeast with empty bait vector, while bait vector with *plo1*⁺ was co-transformed with empty prey vector. The table indicates combinations of bait and prey vectors co-transformed into budding yeast for two-hybrid analysis. The X-gal overlay assay was performed three times for two transformants of each *S. cerevisiae* strain. The

results obtained from the X-gal overlay assay in one of these occasions are displayed here and are representative of the results of all experiments. (B) Quantitative β -galactosidase assay to quantify protein interactions identified with the X-gal overlay assay. In each case colour reactions were quantified in cells grown in liquid medium for two individual transformants in triplicate. Numbers 1-10 correspond to the combinations of bait and prey vectors co-transformed into budding yeast, shown in Table of upper panel. Error bars indicate two standard errors (SE).

5.2.3 The Two-hybrid interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p requires both the kinase and the polo-box domains

Section 5.2.2 revealed that the Plo1p kinase physically associates with Mbx1p, but not Fkh2p or Sep1p. As described in Section 1.3.2.4.2, Plo1p contains both N-terminal catalytic and C-terminal polo-box domains, the latter a signature polo-kinase region that is necessary and sufficient for various functions, such as subcellular localisation (Lee *et al.*, 1998; Jang *et al.*, 2002; Seong *et al.*, 2002; Reynolds and Ohkura, 2003). Notably, the polo-box domain of human Plk1p has been shown to bind to phospho-serine/-threonine peptides (Elia *et al.*, 2003a; Elia *et al.*, 2003b). In fission yeast, the polo-box domain is also necessary and sufficient for the interaction of Plo1p with several proteins and comprises three polo-box motifs that behave as a single entity (May *et al.*, 2002; Reynolds and Ohkura, 2003). Finally, recent data have demonstrated a dependency of the ability of Plo1p to stimulate M-G1 specific transcription on the kinase domain but not on the polo-box domain (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

Here, the yeast two-hybrid system was employed to determine whether the interaction of Plo1p with Mbx1p requires the kinase domain, the polo-box domain, or both. To accomplish this, each of the pBTM116-*plo1.K69R* (GB 333), pBTM116-*plo1.472-684* (GB 334) and pBTM116-*plo1.DHK625AAA* (GB 335) constructs was co-transformed with pACT2-*mbx1*⁺ into *S. cerevisiae* CTY10-5d cells. The *plo1.K69R* mutant contains a point mutation in the kinase domain (lysine at position 69 changed to arginine), *plo1.DHK625AAA* contains a point mutation in polo-box 3, whereas pBTM116-*plo1.472-684* corresponds to a C-terminal truncated version of *plo1*⁺ (amino acids 472-684), containing only the polo-box domain (Tanaka *et al.,* 2001; Reynolds and Ohkura, 2003). As negative controls, pBTM116-*plo1.K69R*, pBTM116-*plo1.472-684* and pBTM116-*plo1.DHK625AAA* were co-transformed into budding yeast with empty pACT2 vector.

Successful transformants, capable of growing in the absence of leucine and tryptophan, were selected in each case and screened for *lacZ* expression by the X-gal overlay assay, as well as by the quantitative β -galactosidase assay, together with two *S. cerevisiae* strains, the one containing pBTM116-*plo1*⁺ and pACT2-*mbx1*⁺ and the other pBTM116-*plo1*⁺ and pACT2-*sck1*⁺, as positive controls (Section 5.2.2). As before, for the X-gal assay all *S. cerevisiae* strains were grown on solid media for 2-3 days before covered with an X-gal solution, followed by incubation at 30°C to allow for

blue colour development (Section 2.2.16.1). In the case of the quantitative assay, colour reactions were quantified in samples from cells grown in liquid medium (Section 2.2.16.2).

The results obtained from the X-gal overlay and quantitative β -galactosidase assays are displayed in Figure 5.6. As shown, mutations either in the Plo1p kinase domain (*plo1.K69R*) or the polo-box domain (*plo1.DHK625AAA*) abolish the interaction with Mbx1p. Consistent with this, in the absence of the kinase domain the polo-box domain alone (*plo1.472-684*) is unable to associate with Mbx1p. Thus, these findings suggest that the interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p requires both the kinase and the polo-box domain of Plo1p (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).





budding yeast with either $mbx1^+$ or $sck1^+$. In each case as negative control, bait vector with *plo1.K69R*, *plo1.472-684* or *plo1.DHK625AAA* was co-transformed into budding yeast with empty prey vector, while bait vector with *plo1*⁺ was co-transformed with empty prey vector. The table indicates combinations of bait and prey vectors co-transformed into budding yeast cells. The X-gal overlay assay was performed three times for two transformants of each *S. cerevisiae* strain. The results obtained from the X-gal overlay assay in one of these occasions are displayed here and are representative of the results of all experiments. (B) Quantitative β -galactosidase assay. In each case colour reactions were quantified in cells grown in liquid medium for two individual transformants in triplicate. Numbers 1-12 correspond to the combinations of bait and prey vectors co-transformed into budding yeast, shown in Table of upper panel. Error bars indicate two standard errors (SE).

5.3 Co-immunoprecipitation analysis of the interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p

To confirm that the two-hybrid interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p represents the situation in fission yeast, soluble protein extracts from *mbx1-13myc S. pombe* cells, expressing Mbx1p-13myc from its endogenous promoter and thus at normal wild-type levels (Section 4.2.1), were analysed by co-immunoprecipitation assay (Sections 2.2.12.1 and 2.2.12.2). Plo1p was immunoprecipitated from *mbx1-13myc* protein extracts with an antibody against the native protein (Ohkura *et al.*, 1995) before SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and Western blotting with Plo1p and myc antibodies to detect Plo1p and co-immunoprecipitated Mbx1p-13myc. As a negative control, Plo1p was also immunoprecipitated from *mbx1\Delta* S. pombe extracts before Western blotting with Plo1p and myc antibodies.

5.3.1 Mbx1p co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p from mbx1-13myc fission yeast extracts

For immunoprecipitation, pre-cleared *mbx1-13myc* (GG 504) and *mbx1* Δ (GG 513) protein extracts (2 mg of crude lysate/IP reaction) were incubated with 3-4 µl of Plo1p (HO) antibody (Table 2.1) for 3 hours at 4°C before addition of protein A-Sepharose beads and further incubation for an hour. Pre-cleared *mbx1-13myc* extract was also incubated for one hour with beads without Plo1p (HO) antibody, as an additional control. After extensive washes, beads were re-suspended and boiled in 2x Laemmli buffer supplemented with DTT, followed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting with Plo1p and myc antibodies to detect Plo1p and co-immunoprecipitated Mbx1p-13myc.

As shown in Figure 5.7, Mbx1p-13myc (~100 kDa) is present in co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p (~78kDa) from *mbx1-13myc* but not *mbx1* Δ *S. pombe* extracts. Moreover, neither Plo1p nor Mbx1p-13myc is detected in *mbx1-13myc* precipitates that were incubated with beads in the absence of Plo1p (HO) antibody. Thus, Mbx1p-13myc specifically co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p in *mbx1-13myc* protein extracts. These results confirm the two-hybrid interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p (Section 5.2.2) and show that these proteins physically associate with each other in *S. pombe* cells.



Figure 5.7: Mbx1p co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p from fission yeast protein extracts. Plo1p was immunoprecipitated with antibody against the native protein (α -Plo1p) from soluble protein extracts of *mbx1-13myc* fission yeast cells (GG 504), expressing Mbx1p-13myc from its endogenous promoter. The soluble extract (input) and the immunoprecipitated sample (IP) were analysed by Western blotting with antibodies against Plo1p and myc (the latter to detect Mbx1p-13myc). As negative controls, immunoprecipitated sample from *mbx1* Δ (GG 513) fission yeast cells and precipitated sample without antibody (beads only) from *mbx1-13myc* cells were also included. In each case, the input was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP sample. The arrow indicates co-immunoprecipitated Mbx1p-13myc using an α -myc antibody. Immunoprecipitation assays of *mbx1-13myc* and *mbx1* Δ soluble protein extracts with the Plo1p antibody were carried out three times. In each case, the results of Western blot analysis of immunoprecipitated material with Plo1p and myc antibody in one of the three assays are shown here and are representative of the results of Western blot analysis of all three assays.

5.3.2 Mbx1p co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p throughout the mitotic cell cycle

Following the finding that Plo1p not only interacts with Mbx1p *in vivo* within *S. pombe* cells but also phosphorylates this MADS-box transcription factor *in vitro* (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008), a coimmunoprecipitation assay was performed to determine whether Plo1p regulates M-G1 specific transcription by associating with Mbx1p in a cell cycle dependent manner. For this, soluble protein extracts were prepared from synchronous *mbx1-13myc cdc25-22* fission yeast cells (GG 743) and subjected to co-immunoprecipitation analysis with the Plo1p (HO) and myc antibodies.

1.5 I of YE were inoculated with a 10 ml pre-culture of *mbx1-13myc cdc25-22* cells, and grown overnight at 25°C. The cell culture was grown to mid-log phase at 25°C and then transferred to 36°C for 3.5 hours, allowing the cells to arrest at the G2 phase. After this transient temperature arrest, the culture was returned and left to grow at the permissive temperature (25°C), allowing cells to progress through the cell cycle in synchrony. Samples were collected at 20 min intervals and soluble protein extracts were prepared and processed for immunoprecipitation. Moreover, as a measure of cell synchrony, the septation index of each sample was counted microscopically and plotted as a percentage of cell septa against time.

Plo1p was immunoprecipitated from each *mbx1-13myc cdc25-22* extract with the Plo1p (HO) antibody as before (Section 5.3.1). SDS-PAGE electrophoresis and Western blotting with Plo1p and myc antibodies followed to detect Plo1p and co-immunoprecipitated Mbx1p-13myc. As shown in Figure 5.8, Mbx1p-13myc is present in co-immunoprecipitates with Plo1p throughout the cell cycle at similar levels, suggesting that Mbx1p interacts with Plo1p at all times during the mitotic cell cycle.







Figure 5.8: Mbx1p binds to Plo1p throughout the mitotic cell cycle. *cdc25-22 mbx1-13myc* cells (GG 743) were synchronised by transient temperature arrest and samples were taken every 20 min after returning the cells to the permissive temperature. Septation indices were counted microscopically and were plotted to indicate the synchrony of the culture. Soluble protein extracts were prepared from each sample and Plo1p was immunoprecipitated with antibody against the native protein. The immunoprecipitated samples were analysed by Western blotting with antibodies against Plo1p and myc (the latter to detect Mbx1p-13myc). asy, control sample from asynchronous cells prior to synchronisation. Quantification of the amount of co-immunoprecipitated Mbx1p-13myc against immunoprecipitated Plo1p is shown for each time point.

5.4 Summary

Earlier work unravelled a positive role for Plo1p in M-G1 specific transcription and showed that Plo1p function is required for PCB-dependent binding of the PBF complex (Anderson *et al.*, 2002). Plo1p is a Ser/Thr kinase raising the possibility that its effect on PBF-mediated transcription is exerted by association and ensuing phosphorylation of PBF components, Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p. Indeed, both Mbx1p and Fkh2p are periodically phosphorylated during the cell cycle with a timing that coincides with M-G1 specific gene expression (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, recent data show that *plo1*⁺ genetically interacts with *fkh2*⁺, *sep1*⁺ and *mbx1*⁺ and overexpression of a *plo1* kinase mutant (*plo1.K69R*) compromises transcription of genes, such as *cdc15*⁺ and *spo12*⁺ (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

In this study, the budding yeast two-hybrid system was employed to explore whether Plo1p influences M-G1 specific expression by associating with either Mbx1p, Fkh2p or Sep1p and, if so, which domain(s) of the kinase mediate such interaction(s). These analyses revealed a specific, direct, interaction only between Plo1p and Mbx1p and established a requirement for this association for both the kinase and the polo-box domains of Mbx1p (Figures 5.5 and 5.6). Subsequent co-immunoprecipitation experiments with appropriate fission yeast extracts confirmed the findings of the yeast two-hybrid assay and in parallel showed that Plo1p and Mbx1p can associate with each other *in vivo* at all times during the mitotic cell cycle (Figures 5.7 and 5.8; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

In agreement with the observed *in vivo* interaction between Plo1p and Mbx1p, kinase assays have shown that this Plk directly phosphorylates *in vitro* Mbx1p, but not Fkh2p or Sep1p. Notably, this is the first time a Polo-like kinase has been shown to bind and phosphorylate a MADS-box protein in any organism (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

The next chapter explores further how Plo1p, Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p control M-G1 phasespecific gene expression by analysing *in vivo* their interactions with the PCB promoter regions of their co-regulated genes, including *plo1*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ themselves.

Chapter 6

In vivo analysis of Fkh2p, Sep1p, and Plo1p binding to the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes

6.1 Introduction

In fission yeast a group of genes is periodically transcribed during late mitosis and early G1 phase. Since most of the genes encode proteins involved in late mitotic events and cytokinesis it is possible that the transcriptional control of their expression might provide a means of promoting progression through these later cell cycle stages.

Previous studies and experiments in Chapter 3 have shown that expression of M-G1 transcribed genes is regulated by the Sep1p, Fkh2p and Mbx1p transcription factors, the Plo1p kinase and two *cis*-acting DNA promoter motifs, the PCB and forkhead-like sequences (Utzig *et al.*, 2000; Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005; Petit *et al.*, 2005). Sep1p, Fkh2p and Mbx1p are thought to be components of the PBF complex, which has been shown to associate *in vitro* with PCB sequences in the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes. Mbx1p is necessary for the interaction *in vitro* of the PBF complex with the PCB sequence (Buck *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly, Plo1p is also required for PCB-mediated binding of PBF, suggesting that it exerts its function in M-G1 specific gene expression by modulating the properties of PBF, via interaction and phosphorylation of one or more PBF components (Anderson *et al.*, 2002). Indeed, experiments presented in this thesis show that Plo1p interacts *in vivo* with Mbx1p, with two-hybrid assays revealing that binding of Plo1p to Mbx1p relies on both the kinase and polobox domains of Plo1p. Furthemore, Plo1p binds directly and phosphorylates Mbx1p *in vitro*, and Sep1p and Fkh2p associate with each other *in vivo*, possibly directly (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

plo1⁺ not only regulates periodic expression of M-G1 transcribed genes, but is itself transcribed during the M-G1 interval and contains PCB and forkhead sequences in its promoter (Anderson *et al.*, 2002). Similarly, *fkh2*⁺ possesses PCB and forkhead promoter motifs and is transcribed during late M-early G1 phase (Buck *et al.*, 2004). These observations suggest that both Plo1p and Fkh2p regulate their own expression via feedback mechanisms. Indeed, Fkh2p varies in abundance during the cell cycle, both in terms of protein levels and phosphorylation status, with higher and lower protein levels coinciding with un-phosphorylated and phosphorylated forms of Fkh2p, respectively. These findings suggest that regulation of cell-cycle specific *fkh2*⁺ expression might also be important for the functional properties of Fkh2p (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004). In contrast to Fkh2p, however, Plo1p protein levels remain constant during the cell cycle, although its kinase activity varies (Tanaka *et al.*, 2001).

As another way to explore the regulatory mechanisms underlying periodic gene expression at the M-G1 interval in fission yeast, chromatin immunoprecipitation analysis (ChIP) was performed to determine whether Fkh2p, Sep1p, Mbx1p and Plo1p interact with the promoter regions of M-G1 transcribed genes *in vivo*.

6.2 ChIP analysis of interactions of PBF components and Plo1p with the promoters of genes transcribed during M-G1 phase

Chromatin immunoprecipitation analysis (ChIP) is a powerful tool to study the *in vivo* interaction of proteins with chromosomal DNA. A great advantage of this method is that it allows the recovery of protein-DNA complexes in a near-native state via chemical cross-linking of living cells with formaldehyde. Moreover, this initial fixation step stabilises bulky chromatin complexes, and thus enables the detection not only of proteins that directly bind to their cognate DNA, but also of proteins that indirectly associate with chromosomal DNA, via protein-protein interactions (Ekwall and Partridge, 1999; Takahashi *et al.*, 2000).

A schematic outline of the ChIP method is shown in Figure 6.1. Once cells are fixed, cell extracts are prepared and sonicated to fragment the chromatin to appropriate, smaller sizes. The desired DNA-protein complexes are then recovered by immunoprecipitation with a suitable antibody. Finally, cross-linking is reversed to allow purification of precipitated DNA, which is then subjected to PCR amplification to screen for binding of the protein(s) of interest to specific target sequences.

The ChIP method was employed to detect Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p transcription factors and the Plo1p kinase at the promoters of genes transcribed during the M-G1 interval, including $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$. Due to the unavailability of suitable antibodies against native Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p (Section 4.2; Appendix VIII), ChIP analysis was performed with cross-linked chromatin extracts from S. *pombe* cells that express each one of these transcription factors as an HA and/or myc fusion, tagged in each case at the C-terminus of the protein, and so expressed under control of the native promoter at normal levels. In the case of Plo1p, ChIP analysis was performed with extracts from either wild-type cells, cells expressing Plo1p as an HA fusion from the endogenous promoter at normal levels, or in cells mildly over-expressing Plo1p as an HA fusion from the *nmt41* promoter. For the immunoprecipitation step, HA and myc antibodies were used for HA- and myctagged versions of Fkh2p, Sep1p, Mbx1p and Plo1p, whereas for immunoprecipitation of native Plo1p from wild-type *S. pombe* cells two Plo1p antibodies (HO and IH) were utilised (Table 2.1). In each case, following immunoprecipitation and reversal of cross-linking, purified immunoprecipitated DNA was analysed by PCR with primers to amplify a 130-200 bp fragment from the promoter region of $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$ that contains the PCB sequence(s), as well as the TGTTTAC sequence in the case of *plo1*⁺ (Figure 6.2). As a negative control, appropriate primers were also used to PCR amplify a DNA fragment from the coding region of the *act1*⁺ gene, encoding actin, which is not under PCB control and is not expressed at the M-G1 interval.



Figure 6.1: Schematic outline of the ChIP method. Living cells are fixed with formaldehyde followed by sonication of cell extracts to shear the chromatin to a small size. Specific DNA-protein complexes are then recovered by immunoprecipitation with an antibody against the protein of interest. The cross-linking is then reversed and the precipitated DNA purified before PCR amplification to analyse for association of the protein of interest with a specific DNA sequence. The letter x denotes chemical cross-linking of chromatin complexes. Precipitated DNA is shown as a grey line. Black, lavender and dark yellow lines denote non-precipitated DNAs. Antibodies are shown in red.


Figure 6.2: DNA fragments amplified by PCR for ChIP analysis. For $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$, or $plo1^+$, appropriate primers were designed to PCR amplify in each case a 130-200 bp DNA promoter fragment containing the PCB or both the PCB and forkhead-related sequences. As a negative control primers were designed to amplify by PCR a DNA fragment from the coding region of the $act1^+$ gene. Positions of the PCB and TGTTTAC sequences within the promoters of $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ are shown.

6.2.1 Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p bind in vivo to the promoters of genes transcribed during M-G1 phase

ChIP assays were employed to determine whether Fkh2p, Sep1p, Mbx1p and Plo1p associate *in vivo* with the PCB promoter regions of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ (Section 2.2.12.3). ChIP analysis was performed with either *fkh2-13myc* (GG 507) or *fkh2-3HA* (GG 558) cells for Fkh2p, *sep1-13myc* (GG 767) cells for Sep1p, *mbx1-13myc* (GG 504) cells for Mbx1p and either wild-type (GG 217), *plo1-3HA* (GG 1110) or *nmt41:plo1-3HA* (GG 704) cells for Plo1p.

The first step in the ChIP process involved chemical cross-linking of cells. Routinely, a 500 ml culture of complete or selective media was inoculated with 5-10 ml of an overnight pre-culture of an appropriate *S. pombe* strain. This culture was then grown overnight to 5x10⁶ cells/ml before fixation with a final concentration of 1% formaldehyde for 30 min at 25°C with shaking. Following cross-linking, glycine addition and appropriate washes, fixed cells were harvested by centrifugation and processed for preparation of chromatin extracts. As shown in Figure 2.1, optimal cell lysis and sonication conditions were established to generate a high proportion of 300-1000 bp fragments of sheared chromatin (Sections 2.2.12.3.1 and 2.2.12.3.2).

After cell breakage and sonication, the resulting crude lysates were clarified by centrifugation prior to immunoprecipitation (Section 2.2.12.3.3). Briefly, 4 mg of each crude lysate was incubated with either protein A- or protein G- Sepharose beads as appropriate for an hour at 4°C to remove material that binds non-specifically to the beads. Following incubation, the pre-cleared lysate was separated from the beads by centrifugation. 10% of the pre-cleared lysate was removed and used as the control non-immunoprecipitated chromatin sample. An HA, myc or Plo1p (HO or IH) antibody was then added as appropriate to the remainder of the pre-cleared lysate and the suspension was incubated overnight at 4°C before addition of protein A- or protein G- Sepharose beads, and further incubation for 1-2 hours. As a positive control to confirm the efficiency of the ChIP assay, pre-cleared lysates were also incubated overnight with an antibody against histone 3 (H3) (Table 2.1). As negative controls, pre-cleared lysates were incubated overnight without antibody or with normal mouse, rabbit or sheep IgG, since the HA and myc antibodies were raised in mouse, while the Plo1p (HO and IH) antibodies in rabbit and sheep, respectively. Furthermore, pre-cleared lysate prepared for ChIP analysis from wild-type, un-tagged, *S. pombe* strains was also incubated with the HA or myc antibody as another negative control for antibody specificity.

Following incubation, each bead suspension was recovered on a polypropylene column and after successive washes the immunoprecipitated antibody-protein-DNA complexes were eluted. Appropriate treatment followed to reverse the cross-linking and purify the immunoprecipitated (IP) DNA from all associated antibodies and proteins. The non-immunoprecipitated sample was also treated in a similar way to remove all associated proteins from the DNA, termed "whole cell extract" (WCE) (Sections 2.2.12.3.3 and 2.2.12.3.4). Finally, PCR analysis was performed with primer pairs GO 708/GO 709, GO 710/GO 711 and GO 712/GO 713 to amplify a 130-200 bp fragment from the *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ promoters, respectively, while primer pair GO 714/GO 715 was used to amplify a fragment from the coding region of *act1*⁺ (Sections 2.2.9.4 and 2.2.9.4.1). Routinely, PCR amplification of IP DNA (1 μ I) was performed with *Taq* Polymerase under optimal cycling parameters as follows: 95°C for 2 min, 23-26 cycles of 95°C for 1 min, 54°C for 1 min and 72°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 5 min. Moreover, in each case PCR analysis was performed with five-fold serially diluted WCE DNA to ensure that PCR amplification was within a linear range. Following PCR analysis, amplified products were resolved on 2% agarose gels and visualised by ethidium bromide staining. The results obtained from ChIP analysis of the association of Fkh2p, Sep1p, Mbx1p and Plo1p with the *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ promoter regions are shown in Figures 6.3-6.8.

As shown in Figures 6.3 and 6.4, ChIP assays with myc and HA antibodies and fixed cell extracts from *fkh2-13myc* and *fkh2-3HA* cells specifically detected Fkh2p-13myc and Fkh2p-3HA bound to the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *plo1*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺, but not to the coding region of *act1*⁺. As expected, ChIP analysis of *fkh2-13myc* and *fkh2*-*3HA* cells with the H3 antibody also detected histone 3 associated with the *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ promoters and the *act1*⁺ coding region, yielding a strong PCR signal, similar to that following PCR amplification of the WCE DNA, consistent with the fact that histones are abundant chromatin proteins. Furthermore, no PCR signal was retrieved in any of the negative controls, including precipitated samples from *fkh2-13myc* and *fkh2-3HA* cells in the absence of a myc or HA antibody and immunoprecipitated samples from wild-type, un-tagged, cells in the presence of a myc or HA antibody. Finally, the ChIP was shown to be quantitative, since a serial dilution of the WCE DNA resulted in a corresponding reduction of the observed PCR signal.

Similar to Fkh2p, as seen in Figure 6.5, ChIP analysis of *sep1-13myc* cells with the myc antibody to examine the interaction of Sep1p with the promoter regions of M-G1 transcribed genes, could detect specific binding of Sep1p-13myc to the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and *plo1*⁺. Unlike Fkh2p however, Sep1p-13myc could not be detected associated with the promoter of *fkh2*⁺. As before, appropriate positive and negative controls were completed.

To examine the association of Plo1p with the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺, ChIP analysis was performed with a Plo1p antibody and fixed extracts from wild-type cells, or with an HA antibody and extracts from cells expressing Plo1p-3HA from the endogenous promoter at normal levels or cells mildly over-expressing Plo1p-3HA from the medium-strength thiamine-repressible

nmt41 promoter integrated into the genome. As shown in Figure 6.6A, using one Plo1p (HO) antibody and extracts from wild-type cells, Plo1p could not be detected at the promoters of $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$. Similar results were obtained when ChIP assays were performed with wild-type extracts and another Plo1p (IH) antibody (data not shown) or, as observed in Figure 6.6B, with an HA antibody and extracts from plo1-3HA cells, expressing Plo1p-3HA from the native promoter. However, mild over-expression of Plo1p-3HA under control of the *nmt41* promoter drastically improved the sensitivity of the ChIP assay, since under these conditions, and with the use of an HA antibody, Plo1p-3HA was detected at the promoter regions of $cdc15^+$ and $fkh2^+$ (Figure 6.7). As expected, PCR analysis of IP and WCE DNAs with primers specific for the $plo1^+$ promoter region did not yield a PCR signal, since in the *nmt41:plo1-3HA* strain the $plo1^+$ promoter is replaced by *nmt41*.

Finally, Figure 6.8 shows the results obtained from ChIP analysis of mbx1-13myc extracts with a myc antibody to study binding of Mbx1p to the $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$ promoters. As seen, specific binding of Mbx1p-13myc to the promoters of these genes could not be detected. Nonetheless, the inability of the ChIP assay to detect promoter bound Mbx1p is likely due to technical reasons, because previous studies have shown that Mbx1p is a core component of the PBF complex and binds *in vitro* to the PCB promoter region of $cdc15^+$ throughout the cell cycle (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004). Notably, Plo1p has also been shown to both bind to Mbx1p (Figure 5.7) and associate with the promoter regions of $cdc15^+$ and $fkh2^+$, raising the possibility that it is through the interaction with Mbx1p that Plo1p is recruited to the promoters of these genes (Section 7.1). Thus, it is possible that the C-terminal tagging of Mbx1p has interfered with its binding to the promoters of these genes or, alternatively, the myc antibody might have been unable to recognise Mbx1p because the respective epitopes were masked, preventing detection by ChIP.

In summary, a series of ChIP experiments were performed with antibodies against HAand/or myc- tagged versions of Fkh2p, Mbx1p and Sep1p, expressed under the control of their native promoter, or an HA-tagged version of Plo1p, mildly over-expressed from the *nmt41* promoter. Under these conditions, Fkh2p-13myc or Fkh2p-3HA were shown to associate with the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺, Plo1p-3HA was shown to interact with the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺, while Sep1p-13myc was shown to bind to the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ but not *fkh2*⁺ (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 6.3: Fkh2p binds to the promoters of $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ genes *in vivo*. ChIP analysis in fkh2-13myc cells (GG 507) to detect Fkh2p binding the promoters of $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ using an anti-myc antibody. All primers used for PCR amplification following ChIP analysis are shown in Figure 6.2. WCE (whole cell extract) refers to the non-immunoprecipitated sample and IP to the immunoprecipitated samples. The WCE sample was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP samples. As negative controls, precipitates without antibody and precipitates with normal mouse IgG were used. As another control for antibody specificity, ChIP analysis was performed in wild-type untagged cells using the anti-myc antibody. As a positive control, histone 3 antibody was utilised to detect histone 3 on the $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ promoters, as well as on the $act1^+$ coding region. PCR amplification was performed within a linear range, such that a serial dilution of the WCE DNA results in a reduction of the PCR signal. ChIP assays with cross-linked chromatin extracts from fkh2-13myc cells were carried out twice. The results of PCR analysis of immunoprecipitated DNA with the myc and histone 3 antibodies and of precipitated material from the two negative controls in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both assays.



Fkh2p-3HA

wild-type

Figure 6.4: Fkh2p binds to the promoters of $cdc15^+$, fkh2^+ and plo1^+ in vivo. ChIP analysis in fkh2-3HA cells (GG 558) to detect Fkh2p binding to the promoters of $cdc15^+$, fkh2^+ and plo1^+ using an anti-HA antibody. All primers used for PCR amplification following ChIP analysis are shown in Figure 6.2. WCE (whole cell extract) refers to the nonimmunoprecipitated sample and IP to the immunoprecipitated samples. The WCE sample was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP samples. As negative controls, precipitates without antibody and precipitates with normal mouse IgG were used. As another control for antibody specificity, ChIP analysis was performed in wild-type untagged cells using the anti-HA antibody. As a positive control, histone 3 antibody was utilised to detect histone 3 on the $cdc15^+$, fkh2^+ and plo1^+ promoters, as well as on the $act1^+$ coding region. PCR amplification was performed within a linear range, such that a serial dilution of the WCE DNA results in a reduction of the PCR signal. ChIP assays with cross-linked chromatin extracts from *fkh2-3HA* cells were carried out twice. The results of PCR analysis of immunoprecipitated DNA with the HA and histone 3 antibodies and of precipitated material from the two negative controls in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both assays.



Sep1p-13myc

Figure 6.5: Sep1p binds to the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ *in vivo*. ChIP analysis in *sep1-13myc* cells (GG 767) to detect Sep1p binding to the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺, using an anti-myc antibody. As a negative control, primers were used to amplify a DNA fragment from the coding region of the *act1*⁺ gene. All primers used for PCR amplification following ChIP analysis are shown in Figure 6.2. WCE (whole cell extract) refers to the non-immunoprecipitated sample and IP to the immunoprecipitated samples. The WCE sample was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP samples. As negative controls, precipitates without antibody and precipitates with normal mouse IgG were used. As a positive control, histone 3 antibody was utilised to detect histone 3 on the *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ promoters, as well as on the *act1*⁺ coding region. PCR amplification was performed within a linear range, such that a serial dilution of the WCE DNA results in a reduction of the PCR signal. ChIP assays with cross-linked chromatin extracts from *sep1-13myc* cells were carried out twice. The results of PCR analysis of immunoprecipitated DNA with the myc and histone 3 antibodies and of precipitated material from the two negative controls in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both assays.



Figure 6.6: ChIP analysis in (A) wild-type cells (GG 217) and (B) *plo1-3HA* cells (GG 1110) to detect Plo1p on the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺. An anti-Plo1p (A) and an anti-HA antibody (B) were used to immunoprecipitate Plo1p and Plo1p-3HA, respectively. (A-B) For *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ appropriate primers were used to PCR amplify a promoter fragment containing the PCB (*cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺) or both the PCB and forkhead-related sequences (*plo1*⁺) (Figure 6.2). WCE refers to the non-immunoprecipitated sample and IP to the immunoprecipitates. The WCE sample was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP samples. As negative controls, precipitates without antibody and precipitates with (A) normal rabbit IgG and (B) normal mouse IgG were used. Histone 3 antibody was used as a positive control. (B) As a negative control, primers were used to amplify a DNA fragment from the coding region of the *act1*⁺ gene. (A-B) ChIP assays with cross-linked chromatin extracts from either wild-type or *plo1-3HA* cells were carried out twice. In each case, the results of PCR analysis in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both assays.







Figure 6.7: Plo1p binds to the promoters of $cdc15^+$ and $fkh2^+$ in vivo. ChIP analysis in nmt41:plo1-3HA cells (GG 704) to detect Plo1p binding to the promoters of $cdc15^+$ and $fkh2^+$ using an anti-HA antibody. (A) For $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ appropriate primers were used to PCR amplify a promoter fragment containing the PCB. (B) WCE refers to the non-immunoprecipitated sample and IP to the immunoprecipitates. The WCE sample was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP samples. As negative controls, precipitates without antibody and precipitates with normal mouse IgG were used. Histone 3 antibody was used as a positive control. PCR amplification was performed within a linear range, such that a serial dilution of the WCE DNA results in a reduction of the PCR signal. ChIP assays with cross-linked chromatin extracts from nmt41:plo1-3HA cells were carried out twice. The results of PCR analysis of immunoprecipitated DNA with the HA and histone 3 antibodies and of precipitated material from the two negative controls in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both assays.



Figure 6.8: ChIP analysis in *mbx1-13myc* cells (GG 504) to detect Mbx1p on the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺. An anti-myc antibody was used to immunoprecipitate Mbx1p-13myc and appropriate primers were used to PCR amplify a fragment containing the PCB for the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ or both the PCB and forkhead-related sequences for the promoter of *plo1*⁺ (Figure 6.2). As a negative control, primers were used to amplify a DNA fragment from the coding region of the *act1*⁺ gene. WCE refers to the non-immunoprecipitated sample and IP to the immunoprecipitates. The WCE sample was used in a 1:10 ratio relative to the IP samples. As negative controls, precipitates without antibody and precipitates with normal mouse IgG were used. Histone 3 antibody was used as a positive control. ChIP assays with cross-linked chromatin extracts from *mbx1-13myc* cells were carried out twice. The results of PCR analysis of immunoprecipitated DNA with the myc and histone 3 antibodies and of precipitated material from the two negative controls in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both assays.

6.2.2 Requirement of Plo1p, Mbx1p and Sep1p for Fkh2p promoter binding in vivo

In the previous section, Fkh2p was shown to bind *in vivo* to the promoter regions of $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$. Previous work has shown that although deletion of $sep1^+$ is sufficient to rescue the lethal phenotype caused by strong $fkh2^+$ overexpression, deleting $fkh2^+$ does not rescue the lethality of cells strongly overexpressing $sep1^+$ (Buck *et al.*, 2004). These findings suggest that these two forkhead transcription factors have both overlapping and separate functions, and that Sep1p is important for Fkh2p function but itself can function without Fkh2p. Consistent with this proposal, experiments presented in this thesis have revealed that Fkh2p and Sep1p associate with each other both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Figures 4.4 and 4.19). Furthermore, both Mbx1p and Plo1p are necessary for binding of the PBF complex to the PCB sequences *in vitro*, while Plo1p not only interacts with and phosphorylates Mbx1p but also associates *in vivo* with the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes, including $cdc15^+$ and $fkh2^+$. Taken together, these findings imply that Sep1p, Mbx1p and Plo1p, apart from their other functions in transcriptional regulation of M-G1 expressed genes, might also have a role in modulating the binding properties of Fkh2p to the promoters of these genes. Therefore, ChIP assays were performed to determine whether Fkh2p can still bind to the $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$ promoter regions in the absence of either Sep1p, Mbx1p or Plo1p.

To examine whether Plo1p is necessary for promoter binding of Fkh2p, ChIP assays were performed with fixed cell extracts from the temperature-sensitive plo1-ts35 fkh2-3HA (GG 555) mutant either at the permissive (25°C) or the restrictive temperature (36°C), the former used as a positive control. An 800 ml culture of *plo1-ts35 fkh2-3HA* cells was grown overnight to mid-log phase at 25°C before splitting into two 400 ml cultures. One culture was immediately fixed with a final concentration of 1% formaldehyde for 30 min at 25°C, while the other culture was transferred to 36°C for 3 hours to inactivate Plo1p prior to fixation with formaldehyde. Following cross-linking, both plo1ts35 fkh2-3HA chromatin extracts were processed for ChIP analysis with the HA antibody. As another positive control, ChIP assays were also performed with the HA antibody and fixed extracts from *fkh2-3HA* cells, as described in Section 6.2.1. Additional negative and positive controls were included in the ChIP assay to confirm antibody specificity and the efficiency of the ChIP procedure. PCR analysis was then performed to check whether Fkh2p could be detected at the cdc15⁺, plo1⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ promoters in the absence of Plo1p function. PCR-amplified DNAs prepared from *fkh2-3HA* and plo1-ts35 fkh2-3HA cells grown at the permissive and restrictive temperatures were run on the same agarose get to allow a direct comparison of their levels. Finally, PCR analysis was performed with serial dilutions of each WCE DNA to ensure that PCR amplification was within a linear range. Figure 6.9 displays the results from the ChIP analysis. As expected, ChIP assays with the HA

antibody could detect specific binding of Fkh2p-3HA to the *cdc15*⁺, *plo1*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ promoters in *fkh2-3HA* cells. Similarly, Fkh2p-3HA was still detected at these promoters in *plo1-ts35 fkh2-3HA* cells at both the permissive and restrictive temperatures, suggesting that Fkh2p can associate with the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes in the absence of Plo1p.

To investigate the requirement for Mbx1p and Sep1p for promoter binding of Fkh2p, crosslinked chromatin extracts were prepared from $mbx1\Delta$ fkh2-13myc (GG 1047) and $sep1\Delta$ fkh2-3HA (GG 1040) cells and processed for ChIP analysis with a myc and HA antibody, respectively. As before, appropriate negative and positive controls were included in the assay to confirm antibody specificity and the efficiency of the ChIP procedure. PCR analysis then followed to determine whether Fkh2p could be detected at the $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$ promoters in the absence of Mbx1p or Sep1p. PCR analysis was also performed with serial dilutions of each WCE DNA to ensure that PCR amplification was within a linear range. The results obtained from ChIP analysis are shown in Figures 6.10 and 6.11. These analyses revealed that Fkh2p-13myc and Fkh2p-3HA were still detected binding to the promoters of $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$, showing that the absence of Mbx1p or Sep1p had no effect on the ability of Fkh2p to bind to these promoters (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 6.9: Requirement of Plo1p for Fkh2p promoter binding *in vivo.* ChIP analysis to examine whether Fkh2p binds the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ in the absence of Plo1p. Fkh2p-3HA was immunoprecipitated from (a) *fkh2-3HA* (GG 558) cells and *plo1-ts35 fkh2-3HA* cells (GG 555) at (b) permissive and (c) restrictive temperature using an anti-HA antibody. For (a), (b) and (c), Fkh2p binding to PCB and forkhead promoter regions of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ was detected by PCR. As a negative control, primers were used to amplify a DNA fragment from the coding region of the *act1*⁺ gene. WCE refers to non-immunoprecipitated sample and IP to immunoprecipitates. Precipitates without antibody and precipitates with normal mouse IgG were used as negative controls, whereas histone 3 antibody was used as a positive control. (B) In all cases, the PCR signal from amplification of DNA immunoprecipitated with anti-HA (7-9) or histone 3 antibody (10-12) was quantified against the signal from PCR amplification of WCE DNA. (C) PCR amplification was performed within a linear range, such that a serial dilution of the WCE DNA results in a reduction of the PCR signal.



Figure 6.10: Requirement of Mbx1p for Fkh2p promoter binding *in vivo*. (A) ChIP analysis in *mbx1* Δ *fkh2-13myc* (GG 1047) cells to examine whether Fkh2p binds the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ in the absence of Mbx1p. Fkh2p-13myc was immunoprecipitated from cells using an anti-myc antibody and binding to PCB and forkhead promoter regions of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ was detected by PCR. All primers used for PCR amplification following ChIP analysis are shown in Figure 6.2. WCE refers to non-immunoprecipitated sample and IP to immunoprecipitates. As negative controls, precipitates without antibody and precipitates with normal mouse IgG were used, whereas histone 3 antibody was used as a positive control. (B) PCR amplification was performed within a linear range, such that a serial dilution of the WCE DNA results in a reduction of the PCR signal. (a) refers to WCE DNA prepared from *fkh2-13myc* (GG 507) cells and (b) to WCE DNA prepared from *mbx1* Δ *fkh2-13myc* cells. ChIP assays with cross-linked chromatin extracts from *mbx1* Δ *fkh2-13myc* cells were carried out twice. The results of PCR analysis of immunoprecipitated DNA with the myc and histone 3 antibodies and of precipitated material from the two negative controls in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both assays.



Figure 6.11: Requirement of Sep1p for Fkh2p promoter binding *in vivo.* ChIP analysis in *sep1* Δ *fkh2-3HA* (GG 1040) cells to examine whether Fkh2p binds the promoters of cdc15⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ in the absence of Sep1p. Fkh2p-3HA was immunoprecipitated from cells using an anti-HA antibody and binding to PCB and forkhead promoter regions of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ was detected by PCR. As a negative control, primers were used to amplify a DNA fragment from the coding region of the *act1*⁺ gene. All primers used for PCR amplification following ChIP analysis are shown in Figure 6.2. WCE refers to non-immunoprecipitated sample and IP to immunoprecipitates. As negative controls, precipitates without antibody and precipitates with normal mouse IgG were used, whereas histone 3 antibody was used as a positive control. (B) PCR amplification was performed within a linear range, such that a serial dilution of the WCE DNA results in a reduction of the PCR signal. (a) refers to WCE DNA prepared from *fkh2-3HA* (GG 558) cells and (b) to WCE DNA prepared from *sep1* Δ *fkh2-3HA* cells. ChIP assays with cross-linked chromatin extracts from *sep1* Δ *fkh2-3HA* cells were carried out twice. The results of PCR analysis of immunoprecipitated DNA with the HA and histone 3 antibodies and of precipitated material from the two negative controls in one of the two assays are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both assays.

6.2.3 Cell-cycle-specific binding of Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p to the PCB promoter regions of M-G1 transcribed genes

A series of ChIP experiments presented in Section 6.2.1 revealed that Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p associate *in vivo* with the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes, including *cdc15*⁺, as well as *plo1*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺. To explore further how Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p might contribute to the control of M-G1 phase-specific gene expression, ChIP analysis was also employed to study their binding to PCB promoter regions throughout the cell cycle. To accomplish this, fixed cell extracts were prepared from synchronously dividing *cdc25-22 fkh2-3HA* (GG 745), *cdc25-22 nmt41:plo1-3HA* (GG 1097) and *cdc25-22 sep1-13myc* (GG 1118) cells and processed for ChIP analysis with HA and myc antibodies as appropriate. Furthermore, total RNA extracts were also prepared from these synchronous populations of cells and subjected to Northern blot analysis with appropriate DNA probes to determine how binding of Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p to the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *plo1*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ during the cell cycle correlates with the cell cycle mRNA levels of the same genes, which are known to fluctuate during the cell cycle, with peak levels at M-G1 (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004).

For cell cycle ChIP and Northern blot analysis, 2 I of complete or selective media were inoculated with a 10 ml pre-culture of either *cdc25-22 fkh2-3HA*, *cdc25-22 nmt41:plo1-3HA* and *cdc25-22 sep1-13myc* cells and grown overnight at 25°C. Each cell culture was grown to mid-log phase at 25°C and then transferred to 36°C for 3.5 hours, allowing the cells to arrest at the G2 phase. After the transient temperature arrest, the cultures were returned and left to grow at the permissive temperature (25°C), allowing cells to progress through the cell cycle in synchrony. Samples were collected at 20 min intervals and immediately processed for ChIP and Northern blotting. To measure cell synchrony, a small sample was collected at each time point to count microscopically its septation index, which was then plotted as a percentage of cell septa against time.

For the ChIP assay, cross-linked chromatin was prepared from each sample, immunoprecipitated with an HA or myc antibody and the resulting IP DNA was analysed by PCR with primers specific for the $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$ promoter regions. All PCR-amplified DNAs were resolved on the same agarose gel to allow direct comparison of their levels. As a loading control, the respective WCE DNAs were also analysed by PCR and resolved by agarose electrophoresis. For Northern blotting, total RNAs were prepared from successive samples, resolved by formaldehyde gel electrophoresis and subjected to Northern blot analysis with DNA probes to assay the cell cycle mRNA levels of $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$. In all cases, $cdc22^+$, a gene periodically transcribed during

the G1-S interval independent of PBF-PCB controls, was also used as a probe for Northern blotting, to allow comparison between experiments. Finally, as a loading control the rRNA content of each RNA sample was detected by ethidium bromide staining. The results obtained from the three experiments are displayed in Figures 6.12, 6.13 and 6.14.

As seen in Figure 6.12, ChIP assays with the synchronous *cdc25-22 fkh2-3HA* cells revealed that Fkh2p-3HA contacted the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ in a cell cycle dependent manner. As shown by comparison of the ChIP and Northern blot data, detection of Fkh2p-3HA at the promoters of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ coincided with low mRNA levels of these genes during S phase and G2. Notably, maximum Fkh2p-3HA binding was observed when mRNA levels of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ were beginning to decrease, while no detectable binding of Fkh2p-3HA was seen when their mRNA levels reappeared. Residual Fkh2p binding was observed at zero times, corresponding to G2-arrested cells, when some gene expression occurred, but it is possible that this is an artefact of the experimental procedure. Overall, this cell cycle-specific pattern of promoter binding is consistent with a role for Fkh2p as a repressor of M-G1 specific transcription. In agreement with these findings, single gene and genome-wide microarray analyses have previously suggested that Fkh2p negatively regulates transcription of genes expressed during the M-G1 interval (Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Petit *et al.*, 2005).

The results obtained from ChIP assays with the *cdc25-22 nmt41:plo1-3HA* cells are shown in Figure 6.13. Plo1p-3HA was detected at the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ at specific cell cycle times, when the mRNA levels of the genes were low. However, the highest amounts of Plo1p-3HA were observed at the promoter regions of *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ after gene repression has occurred. Notably, when compared to cell cycle promoter binding of Fkh2p-3HA, the highest levels of Plo1p-3HA were found at the promoter regions later than those of Fkh2p-3HA, suggesting that Plo1p binding at the *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ promoters follows that of Fkh2p. Since previous work has shown that Plo1p positively modulates M-G1 specific transcription (Anderson *et al.,* 2002; Papadopoulou *et al.,* 2008), it is possible that the presence of Plo1p at the PCB promoter regions is part of a process that re-activates gene expression, following transcriptional repression by Fkh2p.

Figure 6.14 shows the cell cycle pattern of Sep1p binding to the promoters of $cdc15^+$ and $plo1^+$ in synchronously dividing cdc25-22 sep1-13myc cells. Sep1p-13myc bound to promoter DNA in a cell cycle dependent manner but, in contrast to Fkh2p-3HA, the highest levels of Sep1p-13myc were detected at the promoters of $cdc15^+$ and $plo1^+$ concurrent with maximum mRNA levels of these genes, while the lowest amounts of Sep1p-13myc binding coincided with the lowest $cdc15^+$ and $plo1^+$ mRNA levels. This behaviour is consistent with Sep1p being an activator of M-G1 specific transcription. This suggestion is in agreement with previous studies that have also shown that Sep1p

positively regulates transcription of M-G1 expressed genes (Bulmer *et al.,* 2004; Rustici *et al.,* 2004; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.,* 2005; Petit *et al.,* 2005).

It is important to note that *cdc15*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ transcription, as well as septation, was delayed by 40 minutes in the Sep1p-13myc experiment compared with the cell cycle experiments examining Fkh2p and Plo1p promoter binding (Figures 6.12 and 6.13). This observation implies that C-terminal tagging of Sep1p affects its function, resulting in both delayed transcription and septation (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 6.12: Cell cycle specific binding of Fkh2p to PCB promoter regions of *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺. *cdc25-22 fkh2-3HA* (GG 745) cells were synchronised for cell division by transient temperature arrest. After returning the cells to the permissive temperature, samples were taken every 20 minutes and processed for ChIP and Northern blot analysis. (A) Septation indices were counted microscopically and plotted against time to measure cell synchrony. (B) For ChIP analysis, each cell sample was fixed with FA to cross-link DNA to protein and Fkh2p was immunoprecipitated from sheared cross-linked chromatin using an anti-HA antibody. Binding of Fkh2p-3HA to the *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ promoters was detected by PCR. As a loading control, PCR was performed with 10% WCE DNA (WCE; non-

immunoprecipitated sample), and *plo1*⁺ oligonucleotides. Quantification of each immunoprecipitated sample against its non-immunoprecipitated control at the respective time point is shown. The ChIP assay was carried out twice with duplicate cell samples taken at successive time points from a culture of synchronous *cdc25-22 fkh2-3HA* cells. PCR analysis of DNA material (corresponding to either DNA immunoprecipitated with the HA antibody or WCE DNA) prepared from each set of successive samples was repeated twice and identical results were obtained. The results of PCR analysis of DNA prepared from one of the two sets of cross-linked cell samples, once processed for ChIP analysis, are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both sets of samples. (C) For Northern blot analysis, total RNA was prepared from each cell sample. To detect mRNA, the blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺, *plo1*⁺ and *cdc22*⁺ probes, the latter a known G1-S phase expressed transcript independent of PBF-PCB controls. Quantification of each mRNA sample against its rRNA control at the respective time point is shown. For either ChIP or Northern blot analysis, asy indicates DNA or RNA samples respectively, prepared from asynchronous cells prior to temperature shift to the restrictive temperature.



Figure 6.13: Cell cycle specific binding of Plo1p to PCB promoter regions of *cdc15*⁺ **and** *fkh2*⁺. *cdc25-22 nmt41:plo1-3HA* (GG 1097) cells were synchronised for cell division by transient temperature arrest. After returning the cells to the permissive temperature, samples were taken every 20 minutes and processed for ChIP and Northern blot analysis. (A) Septation indices were counted microscopically and plotted against time to measure cell synchrony. (B) For ChIP analysis, each cell sample was fixed with FA and Plo1p was immunoprecipitated from sheared cross-linked chromatin using an anti-HA antibody. Binding of Plo1p-3HA to the *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ promoters was detected by PCR. As a loading control, PCR was performed with 10% WCE DNA (WCE; non-immunoprecipitated sample), and *cdc15*⁺ oligonucleotides. Quantification of each immunoprecipitated sample against its non-immunoprecipitated control at the respective time point is shown. The ChIP assay was carried out twice with duplicate cell samples taken at successive

time points from a culture of synchronous *cdc25-22 nmt41:plo1-3HA* cells. PCR analysis of DNA material (corresponding to either DNA immunoprecipitated with the HA antibody or WCE DNA) prepared from each set of successive samples was repeated twice and identical results were obtained. The results of PCR analysis of DNA prepared from one of the two sets of cross-linked cell samples, once processed for ChIP analysis, are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both sets of samples. (C) For Northern blot analysis, total RNA was prepared from each cell sample. To detect mRNA, the blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15+*, *fkh2+* and *cdc22+* probes. Quantification of each mRNA sample against its rRNA control at the respective time point is shown. For either ChIP or Northern blot analysis, asy indicates DNA or RNA samples respectively, prepared from asynchronous cells prior to temperature shift to the restrictive temperature.



Figure 6.14: Cell cycle specific binding of Sep1p to PCB promoter regions of *cdc15*⁺ and *plo1*⁺. *cdc25-22 sep1-13myc* (GG 1118) cells were synchronised by transient temperature arrest. After returning the cells to the permissive temperature, samples were taken every 20 minutes and processed for ChIP and Northern blot analysis. (A) Septation indices were counted microscopically and plotted against time to measure cell synchrony. (B) For ChIP analysis, each cell sample was fixed with FA and Sep1p was immunoprecipitated from sheared cross-linked chromatin using an antimyc antibody. Binding of Sep1p-13myc to the *cdc15*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ promoters was detected by PCR. As a loading control, PCR was performed with 10% WCE DNA (WCE; non-immunoprecipitated sample), and *plo1*⁺ oligonucleotides. Quantification of each immunoprecipitated sample against its non-immunoprecipitated control at the respective time point is shown. The ChIP assay was carried out twice with duplicate cell samples taken at successive time points from a

culture of synchronous *cdc25-22 sep1-13myc* cells. PCR analysis of DNA material (corresponding to either DNA immunoprecipitated with the HA antibody or WCE DNA) prepared from each set of successive samples was repeated twice and identical results were obtained. The results of PCR analysis of DNA prepared from one of the two sets of cross-linked cell samples, once processed for ChIP analysis, are shown here and are representative of the results of PCR analysis of both sets of samples. (C) For Northern blot analysis, total RNA was prepared from each cell sample. To detect mRNA, the blot was hybridised consecutively with *cdc15+*, *plo1+* and *cdc22+* probes. Quantification of each mRNA sample against its rRNA control at the respective time point is shown. For either ChIP or Northern blot analysis, asy indicates DNA or RNA samples respectively, prepared from asynchronous cells prior to temperature shift to the restrictive temperature.

6.3 Summary

Previous studies and work presented in this thesis have addressed, via distinct approaches, the regulatory network that drives phase-specific transcription at late mitotic stages in fission yeast. Here, ChIP assays were performed as another way to examine how components of this network, including the Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p transcription factors and the Plo1p kinase, regulate M-G1-dependent transcription in this model organism. Such analyses, using HA and myc antibodies against cross-linked chromatin extracts from strains expressing Sep1p, Fkh2p or Plo1p as HA and/or myc C-terminal fusions, revealed that Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p associate *in vivo* with the promoters of genes transcribed during M-G1 phase. Specifically, either Fkh2p-3HA or Fkh2p-13myc was shown to bind to the promoters of $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$ itself, the latter showing that Fkh2p also regulates its own expression, consistent with previous observations (Buck *et al.*, 2004) (Figures 6.3 and 6.4). Moreover, Fkh2-3HA was detected at these promoters even in the absence of either Mbx1p or Sep1p or after compromising Plo1p function, in the plo1-ts35 mutant at the restrictive temperature, suggesting that neither of these proteins is required for Fkh2p promoter binding (Figures 6.9, 6.10 and 6.11).

As shown in Figure 6.5, Sep1p-13myc bound at the promoters of $cdc15^+$ and $plo1^+$ but not $fkh2^+$, the latter implying that Fkh2p and Sep1p might regulate common but also distinct M-G1 transcribed genes. Finally, Plo1p-3HA was detected at the promoters of $cdc15^+$ and $fkh2^+$, whereas analysis of Plo1p-3HA binding to the $plo1^+$ promoter was precluded due to Plo1p-3HA being expressed under control of the nmt41 and not the $plo1^+$ promoter (Figure 6.7).

 $cdc15^+$, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$ contain PCB sequences in their promoters (Figure 3.8) and it was these PCB-containing regions that were amplified during the ChIP assay (Figure 6.2), in agreement with results in Sections 3.2 and 3.4, suggesting a cell cycle non-specific role for this motif in transcriptional regulation of these genes. However, these results are also consistent with other findings in Sections 3.3 and 3.4, revealing a regulatory role for the TGTTTAC forkhead-like sequence in M-G1 specific, Sep1p/Fkh2p-mediated, transcription of $cdc15^+$ and, presumably, of $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$, since, as shown in Figure 6.2, the promoters of these genes contain this motif in close proximity to the PCB. Overall, the presence, as shown here *in vivo* by ChIP analysis, of Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p at the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes is in concurrence with the previously ascribed roles for these proteins in regulation of the PBF-dependent gene cluster, as well as the proposition that Fkh2p and Plo1p exert their functions in M-G1 specific transcription through feedback mechanisms (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

Unlike Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p, ChIP analysis, at least under the experimental conditions employed here, failed to detect Mbx1p bound at the $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ promoters (Figure 6.8). Nonetheless, other findings support a role for Mbx1p in transcriptional regulation of these genes, including its requirement, at least *in vitro*, for binding of the PBF complex to the PCB sequence within the $cdc15^+$ promoter and its association with Plo1p, the latter implying that this transcription factor might be involved in Plo1p recruitment to the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes, such as $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008; Section 7.1).

Previous work has suggested that Sep1p and Plo1p positively regulate M-G1 specific transcription, while Fkh2p appears to possess also negative modulatory roles (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2002; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005; Petit *et al.*, 2005). In this study, Fkh2p, Sep1p and Plo1p promoter binding through the cell cycle was examined by ChIP to investigate how these proteins contribute to transcriptional control of their target genes, including *cdc15*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺. These studies showed that Fkh2p promoter binding coincides with declining transcript levels during G2 and S phase, suggesting that this forkhead transcription factor negatively influences transcription (Figure 6.12). Unlike Fkh2p, Sep1p binds to promoters when peak mRNA levels of its target genes are present, consistent with it behaving as a transcriptional activator instead (Figure 6.14). Finally, Plo1p contacts promoter DNA when low mRNAs levels of PCB-regulated genes are observed. Notably, however, Plo1p is found at the promoters later than Fkh2p, implying that Plo1p exerts its function after Fkh2p, which represses gene expression (compare Figures 6.12 and 6.13). This implies that Plo1p could participate, presumably in a manner that involves binding and phosphorylation of Mbx1p, in transcriptional reactivation of M-G1 expressed genes, following inhibition by Fkh2p (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

Chapter 7

Discussion

7.1 General discussion

Studies in *S. cerevisiae* and *S. pombe* have advanced current knowledge of the control mechanisms that drive mitotic cell cycle progression, unravelling the existence of exquisite regulatory components, predominantly the Cdks, as well as many other proteins, which are conserved among eukaryotes, a feature that exemplifies their significance for cell cycle controls (Sections 1.2 and 1.3). More recently, a combination of single-gene and global microarray analyses in these yeasts has provided insight into the ways by which discrete transcriptional networks accommodate phase-dependent expression of groups of co-regulated genes, encoding proteins that are required for functions concomitantly with their time of synthesis (Cho *et al.*, 1998; Spellman *et al.*, 1998; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Oliva *et al.*, 2005; Peng *et al.*, 2005; Sections 1.5 and 1.6).

Four major consecutive waves of transcription characterise the mitotic cell cycle in fission yeast, coinciding with the G1, S, G2-M and M-G1 cell cycle stages (Section 1.5.2). This thesis has explored the regulatory network that underlies the expression of genes whose transcript levels peak during the M-G1 interval (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Oliva *et al.*, 2005; Peng *et al.*, 2005). Consistent with their time of expression, many of these genes, including *sid2*⁺, *ace2*⁺, *slp1*⁺, *mid1*⁺, *spo12*⁺, *plo1*⁺, *fin1*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ and *cdc15*⁺, encode proteins required for mitosis, cytokinesis and cell separation (McInerny *et al.*, 2004; Ng *et al.*, 2006; Chapter 1).

Earlier work has identified a transcription factor complex, PBF, which binds *in vitro* to the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes in a manner that requires the 6 bp PCB sequence motif (GNAACR). In parallel, a PCB-containing *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment has been shown to confer M-G1-dependent transcription to *lacZ*, strongly suggesting that it encompasses the necessary element(s), presumably the PCB and other motif(s), for periodic expression of *cdc15*⁺ and other corregulated genes. Plo1p, a conserved kinase with a plethora of functions in mitosis and cytokinesis, has been shown to regulate M-G1-dependent transcription and is also required *in vitro* for PCB-dependent binding of PBF to the promoters of its targeted genes. Notably, *plo1*⁺ is itself transcribed at the M-G1 transition and contains PCB sequences in its promoter suggesting that this kinase regulates periodic expression via feedback mechanisms (Anderson *et al.*, 2002).

Three transcription factors, two forkhead proteins, Fkh2p, and Sep1p, and a MADS-box protein, Mbx1p, have been implicated in M-G1 transcriptional control and are thought to be components of PBF. Similar to *plo1*⁺, *fkh2*⁺ has also been proposed to exert its function via feedback mechanisms, since it is periodically expressed coincidentally with its target genes and contains PCB sequences in its promoter.

Mbx1p, although not required for periodic transcription *per se*, is necessary for binding of PBF to the PCB sequence. Unlike Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p are dispensable, at least *in vitro*, for PCB-dependent binding of the PBF complex but are absolutely required for M-G1 specific transcription. Moreover, given the involvement of Plo1p in M-G1-specific transcriptional control, both Fkh2p and Mbx1p have been shown to be periodically phosphorylated during late mitosis (Zilahi *et al.*, 2000; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004).

Consistent with the requirement of forkhead transcription factors for M-G1-specific gene expression, database searches revealed that forkhead-related sequences are present at the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes in both orientations and have been shown to be required for the expression of ace2⁺, one of these genes (Rustici et al., 2004; Alonso-Nuñez et al., 2005). Nonetheless, although Mbx1p is part of the regulatory network that mediates Sep1p/Fkh2pdependent expression, the promoters of Sep1p/Fkh2p-regulated genes lack DNA-binding sequences for MADS-box transcription factors (Rustici et al., 2004; Bähler, 2005). This situation is dissimilar to the modulatory network that drives G2-M specific expression in budding yeast, whereby the presence of both forkhead- and MADS-box- related sequences in the promoters of 'CLB2' genes accompanies their transcriptional regulation by Fkh2p/Sep1p (Fkh1p/Fkh2p) and Mbx1p (Mcm1p) homologues (Section 1.5.1.4). Therefore, it is assumed that fission yeast employs PCB sequences instead, which, either together or in parallel with forkhead motifs, mediate M-G1 specific transcription. In this study, various approaches have elucidated further how Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p transcription factors operate, in concert with the Plo1p kinase and through the PCB and forkhead-associated sequences, to drive M-G1 specific transcription of genes, including cdc15⁺, as well as *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ themselves.

The PCB sequence has been shown here to be necessary for transcription of $cdc15^+$ in an M-G1 independent manner, since mutating the $cdc15^+$ PCB motif is sufficient to dramatically reduce or even abolish transcription of the *lacZ* reporter throughout the cell cycle (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Section 3.2). Presumably, the PCB has a similar role in transcriptional control of many other genes, co-regulated with $cdc15^+$ and possessing this DNA motif in their promoters (Figure 3.8). Unlike the PCB, the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif appears to regulate the temporal, M-G1 specific, transcriptional pattern of $cdc15^+$, since mutating the $cdc15^+$ TGTTTAC delays periodic transcription of *lacZ* mRNA levels, which no longer peak during late mitosis (Section 3.4). Interestingly, in the absence of the TGTTTAC sequence the cell cycle transcription of *lacZ* remains periodic, suggesting that other promoter elements can also support phase-specific transcription of $cdc15^+$. Consistent with this, the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment contains another forkhead motif in the reverse orientation, GTAAACA, also present in the promoters of many genes transcribed co-incidentally with $cdc15^+$ (Figure 3.8).

Hence, forkhead-related sequences could have redundant roles in M-G1 specific gene expression, although such a hypothesis necessitates further investigation. Finally, mutating both the PCB and the TGTTTAC sequence within the *cdc15*⁺ promoter fragment compromises *lacZ* transcription in a cell cycle independent manner, similar to when mutating the PCB sequence alone, indicating that these promoter elements function in a parallel, but not additive, manner (Section 3.4).

Consistent with the involvement of PCB and forkhead sequences in transcriptional regulation of $cdc15^+$, experiments presented in Section 3.3 demonstrate that in the absence of either Fkh2p or Sep1p, periodic transcription of *lacZ* under control of the PCB- and TGTTTAC- containing $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment is lost. Notably, ChIP assays in Section 6.2.1 reveal that these transcription factors bind *in vivo* to the promoter regions of M-G1 transcribed genes, including $cdc15^+$ and $plo1^+$. Fkh2p also associates with the $fkh2^+$ promoter, thereby confirming the proposal that this factor regulates its own expression, while in parallel implying that it shares both common and distinct gene targets with Sep1p. Intriguingly, the two forkhead transcription factors are shown here to contact promoter DNA in a cell cycle specific manner. Indeed, Fkh2p is detected at the $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ promoters during S and G2 phases when gene expression is minimal, whereas maximal Sep1p binding to the promoters of $cdc15^+$ and $plo1^+$ is observed coincidentally with their transcription at the M-G1 interval (Section 6.2.3). In concert with previous observations, these phase-specific patterns of promoter binding suggest that Fkh2p and Sep1p exert negative and positive roles in M-G1-specific gene expression, respectively (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004).

Fkh2p and Sep1p are shown here to interact with each other *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Sections 4.2.2 and 4.3.8), in agreement with the observations of earlier overexpression studies, suggesting also a requirement of Sep1p for Fkh2p function (Buck *et al.*, 2004). Nonetheless, as shown in Section 6.2.2, Fkh2p is detected at the $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ promoters even in the absence of Sep1p. Hence, at least the promoter binding properties of Fkh2p are not affected by Sep1p, although it is still possible that Sep1p influences the cell cycle pattern of Fkh2p-dependent promoter association and not binding *per se*. Furthermore, Mbx1p and Plo1p are also not required for the interaction of Fkh2p with the $cdc15^+$, $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ promoters (Section 6.2.2).

Protein phosphorylation, mediated by a suitable kinase, is commonly employed by the cell machinery to regulate transcription by affecting the properties of transcription factors, including DNA binding, protein stability, cellular localisation or interactions with co-regulators or components of the basal transcriptional apparatus (Whitmarsh and Davis, 2000). Interestingly, recent work showed that Plo1p phosphorylates Mbx1p *in vitro*, while overexpression of a *plo1* kinase mutant prevents expression of M-G1 transcribed genes, such as *cdc15*⁺ and *spo12*⁺. This is the first time a Polo-like kinase has been shown to bind and phosphorylate a MADS-box protein in any organism. Moreover,

Plo1p is shown here to associate *in vivo* with Mbx1p in a manner that requires both its kinase and polo-box domain and irrespective of cell cycle stage (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008; Chapter 5). Taken together, these findings indicate that Plo1p regulates M-G1-specific gene expression in a manner that involves binding and phosphorylation of Mbx1p.

Consistent with the ability of Plo1p to bind and phosphorylate Mbx1p and regulate M-G1 specific transcription, this kinase is shown in Section 6.2.1 to interact *in vivo* with the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺. Plo1p interacts with the promoters of these genes in a cell cycle-dependent manner with a timing that coincides with low levels of expression, but follows promoter binding by Fkh2p. This implies that Plo1p promoter contact causes a function later than that of Fkh2p, which is thought to negatively affect transcription of their co-regulated genes (Section 6.2.3).

Given that Plo1p can associate directly with Mbx1p and contact the promoters of their coregulated genes, it is possible that this kinase is recruited to these promoters in an Mbx1pdependent manner. Indeed, although ChIP assays described in Section 6.2.1 have been unable to detect Mbx1p at the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes, recent studies reveal that Plo1p is unable to interact *in vivo* with the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ in the absence of Mbx1p (Mead, E. and McInerny, C.J., unpublished data). Since previous experiments have also shown that Mbx1p is necessary for PCB-dependent binding of the PBF complex to the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes, at least *in vitro*, these findings suggest that Mbx1p associates with the promoters of PBFregulated genes and that technical reasons have prevented this to be shown here *in vivo* by ChIP. Furthermore, Mbx1p binds to Plo1p throughout the cell cycle, while Plo1p interacts with PCB promoter DNA in a cell-cycle specific manner, suggesting that a sub-population of Mbx1p is not in contact with gene promoters (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

Taken together, this study has provided further insight into the regulatory network that promotes M-G1 phase-specific transcription in fission yeast. Presumably, additional molecular mechanisms and components await discovery, but work so far shows that Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p transcription factors and the Plo1p kinase control periodic gene expression during late mitosis through the PCB and forkhead promoter sequences, the former modulating the amplitude of transcription throughout the cell cycle and the latter its periodicity during the M-G1 phase (Figure 7.1). Possibly, Mbx1p contacts the PCB promoter regions of M-G1 transcribed genes throughout the cell cycle, while Fkh2p and Sep1p interact with the forkhead-related promoter sequences of these genes in a cell cycle specific manner, consistent with Fkh2p repressing and Sep1p activating gene expression (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). Regulation of transcription probably occurs through one forkhead transcription factor replacing the other in a stepwise manner, with transcriptional activation by Sep1p preceding repression by Fkh2p and *vice versa* (Figure 7.1). The

fact that Fkh2p and Sep1p interact, suggests that this process may occur through the two forkhead factors transiently binding to each other.

In concert with a role for Sep1p as a transcriptional activator, genetic analyses reveal that *sep1*⁺ genetically interacts with *sep15*⁺, itself encoding a component of the Mediator complex (Grallert *et al.*, 1999; Lee *et al.*, 2005a). Thereby, Sep1p could stimulate gene expression via its association with the Mediator, promoting M-G1-specific promoter recruitment of the basal Pol II machinery and ensuing initiation of transcription. By contrast, Fkh2p could repress transcription, perhaps via the recruitment of factors that silence transcription, including histone deacetylases.

It is possible that Fkh2p and Sep1p antagonise each other for binding to the same promoter sequences, while the function of additional proteins, such as Plo1p, might help shift the balance in favour of either one forkhead transcription factor. Indeed, Plo1p contacts the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes in an Mbx1p-dependent manner, with a timing that follows transcriptional repression by Fkh2p.

Presumably, given its positive roles in gene expression, Plo1p invokes a function that involves binding and phosphorylation of Mbx1p and resulting in transcriptional re-activation, mediated by Sep1p, during the ensuing late mitosis-early G1 phase. Interestingly, Plo1p and Fkh2p appear to be self-regulated, thereby controlling their own expression via positive and negative feedback loops, respectively (Figure 7.1) (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, Fkh2p is itself phosphorylated almost coincidentally with Mbx1p, but not by Plo1p (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004). Hence, it is tempting to speculate that a kinase other than Plo1p, mediating changes in the phosphorylation status of Fkh2p, might also be involved in transcriptional regulation during the M-G1 interval. One possible candidate is Cdc2p, though this seems unlikely as it is known that this Cdk must be inactivated to allow cytokinesis to occur in fission yeast (Krapp *et al.*, 2004); hence, another kinase must instead play a role.

Overall, this and earlier studies have explored the transcriptional network that drives M-G1 phase-specific gene expression in fission yeast, encompassing a Plk and members of the MADS-box and forkhead/HNF-3 transcription factor families. Related transcriptional systems operate both in budding yeast and humans and regulate important mitotic regulators, including Plo1p homologues, hence, exemplifying their importance for cell cycle controls (Kumar *et al.*, 2000; Pic *et al.*, 2000; Zhu *et al.*, 2000; Alvarez *et al.*, 2001; Darieva *et al.*, 2006; Fu *et al.*, 2008; Section 1.6).



Figure 7.1: Model of Plo1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p regulation of M-G1 gene expression in fission yeast. Periodic expression of several genes, including $cdc15^+$, during late M-early G1 phase in fission yeast is controlled by at least three transcription factors, Mbx1p, a MADS-box protein, and Fkh2p and Sep1p, both forkhead transcription factors. Fkh2p and Sep1p associate with the promoters of these genes, possibly through forkhead sequences (TGTTTAC and/or GTAAACA), in a cell cycle specific manner, consistent with Fkh2p repressing and Sep1p activating gene expression. Moreover, Mbx1p appears to associate constantly with the promoters of genes, such as $cdc15^+$, in a PCB-dependent manner. Following transcriptional repression by Fkh2p during S and G2 phases, the Plo1p kinase is recruited at the PCB promoter regions and directly binds Mbx1p, thereby invoking a function that re-stimulates transcription. Plo1p itself contacts promoter DNA in a manner that requires Mbx1p, a sub-population of which is not in contact with the promoters of Fkh2p/Sep1p-regulated genes. Finally, $plo1^+$ and $fkh2^+$ appear to regulate their own expression, transcribed co-incidentally with their co-regulated genes and interacting with their own promoters (see Section 7.1 for details) (adapted from Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

7.2 Future Work

7.2.1 Elucidation of the role of the GTAAACA sequence in M-G1 specific transcription of cdc15⁺

In fission yeast, studies so far have implicated two promoter motifs, the PCB and forkhead-like sequences, in M-G1 specific transcription of genes under control of Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p PBF-related components and the Plo1p kinase (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*, 2004; Alonso-Nuñez *et al.*, 2005). Interestingly, computer-based searches reveal that the forkhead motif is present in both orientations, either TRTTTAY or RTAAAYA, with the former being statistically more significant than the latter. Nonetheless, recent data have shown that Fkh2p binds to RTAAAYA-like sequences (also called FLEX) in the promoter of *ste11*⁺, which encodes a transcription factor required for conjugation and meiosis during sexual development, to positively regulate its expression. The involvement of Fkh2p in regulation of *ste11*⁺ explains the partial sterile phenotype of *fkh2Δ* cells (Shimada *et al.*, 2008).

Here, the PCB promoter sequence was shown to be required for transcription of $cdc15^+$ throughout the cell cycle, whereas the TGTTTAC forkhead-related motif appears to play a role in M-G1 specific transcription of $cdc15^+$. Notably, the $cdc15^+$ promoter also contains a GTAAACA forkhead-related sequence, suggesting that it could contribute to phase-specific transcription of $cdc15^+$ and perhaps of other M-G1 transcribed genes. Hence, it would be interesting to evaluate whether, and if so how, mutating the GTAAACA sequence affects M-G1 specific transcription of $cdc15^+$. Similar to experiments performed to assess the role of the $cdc15^+$ PCB and TGTTTAC sequences, the GTAAACA of the $cdc15^+$ promoter fragment driving transcription of lacZ could be mutated and then Northern blot analysis performed to monitor the cell cycle transcriptional profile of the reporter. Moreover, it would be interesting to test by similar Northern blot analyses-based approaches the contribution of PCB, as well as TGTTTAC and/or GTAAACA-like sequences in cell cycle transcription of M-G1 transcribed genes other than $cdc15^+$.

7.2.2 Significance of plo1⁺ and fkh2⁺ M-G1 specific transcription in cell cycle controls

A recurrent theme emerging from earlier work and data presented in this thesis is that *plo1*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ are components of the regulatory network that brings about M-G1 phase-specific gene expression and they are also themselves cell cycle regulated, transcribed coincidentally with the genes under their control (Anderson *et al.*, 2002; Buck *et al.*, 2004; Bulmer *et al.*, 2004; Rustici *et al.*,

2004). The *plo1*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ promoters contain PCB and forkhead motifs (Figure 3.8) while, as shown in Sections 6.2.1 and 6.2.3, Fkh2p binds to its own promoter *in vivo* (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). Although ChIP analysis of Plo1p interactions with its own promoter was not feasible (Section 6.2.1), other findings suggest that Plo1p also regulates its own transcription and that of other PBF-regulated genes via the PCB sequence (Anderson *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, strong *fkh2*⁺ over-expression is not tolerated by fission yeast, suggesting that *fkh2*⁺ expression is significant for cell cycle controls, necessitating the existence of an auto-regulatory feedback mechanism to modulate *fkh2*⁺ expression in a subtle manner (Buck *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly, budding yeast and human homologues of *plo1*⁺ and *fkh2*⁺ are also cell cycle-regulated, suggesting that their phase-specific expression is important in eukaryotic cell cycle controls (Alvarez *et al.*, 2001; Darieva *et al.*, 2006). Hence, it will be interesting to assess the importance of PCB- or TGTTTAC- driven transcription of *fkh2*⁺ and *plo1*⁺ on their own expression, and that of their co-regulated genes.

Appropriate fission yeast strains could be constructed that contain mutations in the PCB or TGTTTAC motif(s) in the native chromosomal $plo1^+$ or $fkh2^+$ promoter regions. Northern blot analyses would then be performed with these strains to initially monitor how mutating either the PCB or TGTTTAC sequence(s) of endogenous $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ influences the cell cycle transcriptional profile of $fkh2^+$ and $plo1^+$ themselves. Experiments presented in Chapter 3 have shown that the PCB and TGTTTAC sequence modulate transcription of $cdc15^+$, either in terms of amplitude or M-G1 specific periodicity respectively, suggesting that manipulating the endogenous $fkh2^+$ or $plo1^+$ PCB or TGTTTAC promoter sequence(s) would also interfere, in each case, with transcription of the cognate gene. Finally, having established the importance of the PCB or TGTTTAC promoter sequence in cell cycle transcriptional patterns on cell cycle expression of all M-G1 transcribed genes by micro-array analysis and also examine other cellular phenotypes in these strains, particularly those related to cytokinesis and septation.

7.2.3 Identification of PIo1p phosphorylation site(s) in Mbx1p

In this thesis, Plo1p was shown to associate *in vivo* with Mbx1p in a manner that requires both an intact kinase and polo-box domain (Chapter 5). Consistent with this, Plo1p can directly phosphorylate Mbx1p *in vitro* (Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). To further explore Plo1p-driven phosphorylation of Mbx1p, it is essential to map the target phosphorylation site(s) of this Plk. The D/E-X-S/T- ϕ -X-D/E sequence has already been identified as the peptide phosphorylation consensus for human Plk1p and has been used successfully in budding yeast to determine the target

phosphorylation site of Cdc5p within the Ndd1p co-activator protein (Nakajima *et al.,* 2003; Darieva *et al,* 2006; Section 1.5.1.4).

Based on the Plk1p phosphorylation consensus, examination of the Mbx1p peptide sequence shows that it contains two potential Plo1p target sites, one serine at position 46 and another at position 106 (Figure 7.2). To determine whether Plo1p phosphorylates serine-46 and/or serine-106, site-directed mutagenesis could be performed to mutate these residues to alanine, express and purify in bacteria the resulting mutant forms of Mbx1p and then test their susceptibility to phosphorylation by Plo1p, expressed and purified in budding yeast, in an *in vitro* kinase assay. It is anticipated that if serine-46 and/or serine-106 of Mbx1p are normally phosphorylated by Plo1p *in vivo*, Mbx1p mutants, containing either alanine-46 or alanine-106, when compared to wild-type Mbx1p, would be inefficiently phosphorylated *in vitro* by Plo1p.

Although serine-46 and serine-106 represent potential Plo1p phosphorylation sites, it is possible that Mbx1p is phosphorylated by this kinase at other sites instead or in parallel with these residues. To explore this possibility, MALDI-TOF analysis could be employed to map Plo1p-dependent phosphorylation sites in Mbx1p. Specifically, the phosphorylated products of an *in vitro* kinase assay with Plo1p and Mbx1p would be resolved by SDS-PAGE, followed by in-gel protein digestion with trypsin and analysis of the respective peptide fragments by MALDI-TOF mass fingerprinting and MALDI-TOF/TOF peptide sequencing. Finally, any identified Mbx1p phosphorylated residues, other than serine-46 and serine-106, would be once again mutated to alanine and the respective Mbx1p mutants tested by *in vitro* kinase assays for their Plo1p-specific phosphorylation efficiency.

MDINPPPSTA PSSPRRSIQR ISDAKNKALT FNRRLGLIK KAH<mark>ELS</mark>VLCD AKVVVMIFDS KNACHVYSSE EPEEQRDALL QKFLNKDFVT VDPLRNINPN IPS<mark>DESLHN</mark>W RPKDKRIASV TTYSAQPSNN CSSATDSEND FQSFTIKSST TYHTTPTTAS ENKKIESITI PDHASVYNDL PLSPTVKHSF VSPVSGDYSD SPLEPSSSSS FSVPPESLNP TLSFQHNDVP QTDNFIPFLT PKRQAYGQSS SRADRSSVRR SQSFKNRRNG KPRISRLHTS HASIDGLTDF IQSPSSGYLD PSSTPITPLD SAINQITPPF LPDNLGQENR GELYSHDNPT SMVYEHPKFD ELPNGFIDTH ELNILSRSFT ASPNQILRES NMVNQDSFTD NPVDATWDAL IGTTQIDLDL DYERSSIPSS

Figure 7.2: Potential Plo1p phosphorylation sites within the Mbx1p amino acid sequence. Two potential Plo1p phosphorylation sites, which resemble the human Plk1p phosphorylation consensus (D/E-X-S/T- ϕ -X-D/E, where X and ϕ are any and hydrophobic amino acids), are present within the Mbx1p amino acid sequence (www.sangercenter.org.uk), highlighted in yellow and flanking the one serine at position 46 and the other serine at position 106. Both putative Plo1p target serine residues are highlighted in red.

7.2.4 Role of Mbx1p phosphorylation by Plo1p in regulation of M-G1 specific transcription

After mapping the Mbx1p serine and/or threonine residues phosphorylated by Plo1p *in vitro*, it would be important to assess their *in vivo* biological significance, predominantly how their phosphorylation affects regulatory aspects of M-G1 specific transcription, including binding of Mbx1p to Plo1p, association of Mbx1p, Plo1p, Sep1p and Fkh2p with the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes and transcription of these genes *per se*. For this, appropriate fission yeast strains could be constructed that express Mbx1p mutant versions, where the relevant serine and/or threonine residues are replaced by either alanine or aspartic acid, thereby mimicking un-phosphorylatable and constitutively phosphorylated protein forms, respectively. Initially, the cellular phenotypes of these strains would be examined, in particular whether they display defects in cytokinesis, similar to *mbx1* Δ cells (Buck *et al.*, 2004; Section 3.3). Co-immunoprecipitation experiments could be performed with these strains to determine how distinct mutations in the Plo1p phosphorylation site(s) of Mbx1p affect the association with Plo1p. In parallel, yeast two-hybrid analysis could be completed with prey constructs expressing the mutant forms of Mbx1p and a previously described bait vector expressing Plo1p (Reynolds and Ohkura, 2003; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008) to test the requirement of individual Plo1p phosphorylation sites of Mbx1p and their status for interaction with this Plk.

Fission yeast strains expressing either un-phosphorylatable or constitutively phosphorylated forms of Mbx1p could also be used in ChIP assays to determine whether and/or how the phosphorylation status of Mbx1p and thus, Plo1p-driven phosphorylation of this PBF component, influences the association of Mbx1p, as well as that of Plo1p, Sep1p and Fkh2p with the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes. In the case of Mbx1p, it would be interesting to elucidate whether, and if so how, changes in its phosphorylation status alter its binding properties to promoter DNA. ChIP experiments so far have failed to detect promoter binding of Mbx1p in vivo (Section 6.2.1; Papadopoulou et al., 2008). Nonetheless, since Mbx1p is absolutely required in vitro for PBF binding to PCB promoters (Anderson et al., 2002), it is reasonable to assume that Mbx1p also binds to the promoters of the respective genes in vivo, and thus that it is due to a technical failure that its promoter binding escapes detection with ChIP. Indeed, as mentioned earlier, recent ChIP experiments establish a dependency of Plo1p promoter association on the presence of Mbx1p (Mead, E. and McInerny, C.J., unpublished data). Hence, it would be interesting to study, either by ChIP and/or gel retardation assays, how mutating distinct Plo1p phosphorylation sites in Mbx1p affects promoter association of Mbx1p itself, as well as of Plo1p. In light of data presented here showing that Plo1p interacts with PCB promoter regions in a cell cycle specific manner (Section
6.2.3) it would also be appealing to investigate whether there are any changes in the cell cycle pattern of Plo1p promoter contact in these Mbx1p mutants.

Apart from Plo1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p also bind to promoters in a cell cycle-dependent manner that is suggestive of Fkh2p repressing and Sep1p activating transcription (Section 6.2.3; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2008). Data presented in Section 6.2.2 show that Fkh2p can bind to promoter DNA in the absence of Mbx1p. Nonetheless, it is still possible that mutating the Plo1p-specific phosphorylation sites, although not affecting FKh2p promoter binding, might have an impact on Fkh2p cell cycle promoter binding *in vivo*. Unlike Fkh2p, it is yet unclear whether Sep1p requires Mbx1p for binding to promoters. Therefore, it would be interesting to examine whether and how the presence of un-phosphorylatable or constantly phosphorylated versions of Mbx1p impacts on the binding of Fkh2p or Sep1p to the promoters of PBF co-regulated genes.

Previous work and data shown here have revealed that Plo1p function mediates M-G1 specific transcription (Anderson *et al.,* 2002; Papadopoulou *et al.,* 2008; Sections 6.2.1 and 6.2.3). Given that Plo1p binds and phosphorylates Mbx1p, it is possible that mutating the respective phosphorylation residues in Mbx1p influences the cell cycle expression pattern of target M-G1 transcribed genes. Therefore, Northern blot analysis could be performed with strains expressing the phosphorylation mutant versions of Mbx1p to assay their effect on cell cycle transcription of these genes.

7.2.5 In vivo analysis of Sep1p and Plo1p promoter association dependencies

Although both Sep1p and Plo1p were shown in this study to interact *in vivo* with the promoters of *cdc15*⁺ and either *plo1*⁺ or *fkh2*⁺, it is yet unclear whether they can associate with promoter DNA in the absence of one another, Fkh2p and, at least for Sep1p, Mbx1p as well. Such ChIP analyses of promoter binding requirements have so far been performed for Fkh2p, which, as shown in Section 6.2.2, can still bind to promoter DNA in the absence of Mbx1p, Sep1p or functional Plo1p. The presence of Plo1p at the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes has recently been shown to depend on Mbx1p (Mead, E. and McInerny, C.J., unpublished data). It would be tempting to examine whether Fkh2p or Sep1p are also required for Plo1p promoter contact.

Sep1p and Fkh2p have been shown here to interact with each other (Sections 4.2.2 and 4.3.8), while both Plo1p and Mbx1p are required for PCB-dependent promoter binding of PBF. Taken together, it would be interesting to study whether the presence of Fkh2p, Plo1p or Mbx1p affects Sep1p binding to the promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes.

7.2.6 Genome-wide analysis of Plo1p, Fkh2p, Sep1p and Mbx1p promoter binding sites

In this study Fkh2p and Sep1p were shown to associate in vivo with the promoters of a limited number of genes, including cdc15⁺, plo1⁺ and/or fkh2⁺ (Chapter 6; Papadopoulou et al., 2008). Nonetheless, global microarray analyses reveal that more than forty M-G1 transcribed genes are positively regulated by Sep1p, whilst these genes also appear to be negatively regulated by Fkh2p (Rustici et al., 2004). Therefore, it would be interesting to assess whether Sep1p and Fkh2p bind to the promoters of all of these genes. Since, Plo1p and Mbx1p are also involved in regulation of M-G1 transcription, it would be tempting to monitor whether they also interact with the promoters of these Sep1p and Fkh2p gene targets. To identify which of the M-G1 transcribed genes are targeted by Sep1p, Fkh2p, Plo1p and Mbx1p, as well as impartially and globally screen the DNA-binding sites targeted by these proteins, ChIP-chip analysis could be employed. ChIP-chip is a novel highthroughput technology that combines chromatin immunoprecipitation with microarrays to unravel the genome-wide targets of transcription factors and/or other proteins (Wu et al., 2006). Here, the exploitation of ChIP-chip technologies could allow the identification of all the Fkh2p, Sep1p, Plo1p and Mbx1p associated promoter DNAs in fission yeast, thereby revealing both common but also perhaps distinct genome-wide promoter targets. Such studies could also provide insight into the intricate interplay between these factors and the Plo1p kinase that drives M-G1 phase specific gene expression. These experiments are currently being undertaken in collaboration with Dr. Jürg Bähler's group (Wellcome Centre, Hinxton).

References

Alexandru, G., Uhlmann, F., Mechtler, K., Poupart, M. and Nasmyth, K. (2001). Phosphorylation of the cohesin subunit scc1 by polo/cdc5 kinase regulates sister chromatid separation in yeast. *Cell* **105**, 459-472.

Alfa, C.E., Ducommum, B., Beach, D. and Hyams, J.S. (1990). Distinct nuclear and spindle pole body populations of cyclin-cdc2 in fission yeast. *Nature* **347**, 680-682.

Aligue, R., Wu, L. and Russell, P. (1997). Regulation of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* Wee1 Tyrosine Kinase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **272**, 13320-13325.

Alonso-Nuñez, M.L., An, H., Martin-Cuadrado, A.B., Mehta, S., Petit, C., Sipiczki, M., del Rey, F., Gould, K.L. and de Aldana, C.R. (2005). Ace2p controls the expression of genes required for cell separation in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **4**, 2003-2017.

Alphey, L., Jimenez, J., White-Cooper, H., Dawson, I., Nurse, P. and Glover, D.M. (1992). *twine*, a *cdc*25 homolog that functions in the male and female germline of *Drosophila*. *Cell* **69**, 977-988.

Althoefer, H., Schleiffer, A., Wassmann, K., Nordheim, A. and Ammerer, G. (1995). Mcm1 is required to coordinate G2-specific transcription in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15**, 5917-5928.

Alvarez, B., Martinez, A., Burgering, B.M. and Carrera, A.C. (2001). Forkhead transcription factors contribute to execution of the mitotic programme in mammals. *Nature* **413**, 744-7.

Amon, A., Irniger, S. and Nasmyth, K. (1994). Closing the Cell Cycle Circle in Yeast: G2 Cyclin Proteolysis Initiated at Mitosis Persists until the Activation of G1 Cyclins in the Next Cycle. *Cell* **77**, 1037-1050.

Amon, A., Tyers, M., Futcher, B. and Nasmyth, K. (1993). Mechanisms that make the yeast cell cycle clock tick: G2 cyclins repress G1 cyclins. *Cell* **74**, 993-1007.

Anderson, M., Ng, S.S., Marchesi, V., Maclver, F.H., Stevens, F.E., Riddell, T., Glover, D.M., Hagan, I.M. and McInerny, C.J. (2002). Plo1(+) regulates gene transcription at the M-G(1) interval during the fission yeast mitotic cell cycle. *The EMBO Journal* **21**, 5745-5755.

Andreishcheva, E.N., Kunkel, J.P., Gemmil, T.R. and Trimble, R.B. (2004). Five Genes Involved in Biosynthesis of the Pyruvylated Gal β 1,3-Epitope in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe N*-Linked Glycans. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**, 35644-35655.

Andrews, B.J. and Herskowitz, I. (1989). The yeast SWI4 protein contains a motif present in developmental regulators and is part of a complex involved in cell-cycle-dependent transcription. *Nature* **342**, 830-833.

Archambault, V., Chen, F. and Glover, D.M. (2008). A Bitter PP1 Fights the Sweet Polo. *Molecular Cell* **30**, 541-542.

Ayte, J., Leis, J.F., Herrera, A., Tang, E., Yang, H. and DeCaprio, J.A. (1995). The *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* MBF complex requires heterodimerisation for entry into S phase. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15**, 2589-2599.

Ayte, J., Schweitzer, C., Zarzov, P., Nurse, P. and DeCaprio, J. A. (2001). Feedback regulation of the MBF transcription factor by cyclin Cig2. *Nature Cell Biology* **3**, 1043-1050.

Baber-Furnari, B. A., Rhind, N., Boddy, M. N., Shanahan, P., Lopez-Girona, A. and Russell, P. (2000). Regulation of Mitotic Inhibitor Mik1 Helps to Enforce the DNA Damage Checkpoint. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **11**, 1-11.

Bahassi, el.M., Conn, C.W., Myer, D.L., Hennigan, R.F., McGowan, C.H., Sanchez, Y., and Stambrook, P.J. (2002). Mammalian Polo- like kinase 3 (Plk3) is a multifunctional protein involved in stress response pathways. *Oncogene* **21**, 6633–6640.

Bähler, J. (2005). Cell-Cycle Control of Gene Expression in Budding and Fission Yeast. Annual Review of Genetics 39, 69-94.

Bähler, J., Steever, A.B., Wheatley, S., Wang, Y., Pringle, J.R., Gould, K.L. and McCollum, D. (1998b). Role of polo kinase and Mid1p in determining the site of cell division in fission yeast. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **143**, 1603-1616.

Bähler, J., Wu, J.Q., Longtine, M.S, Shah, N.G., McKenzie, A. 3rd., Steever, A.B., Wach, A., Philippsen, P. and Pringle, J.R. (1998a). Heterologous modules for efficient and versatile PCR-based gene targeting in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Yeast* **10**, 943-951.

Balasubramanian, M.K. and McCollum, D. (2003). Regulation of Cytokinesis. In *The Molecular Biology of Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (ed. R. Egel). Springer, 243-254.

Balasubramanian, M.K., Bi, E. and Glotzer, M. (2004). Comparative Analysis of Cytokinesis Review in Budding Yeast, Fission Yeast and Animal Cells. *Current Biology* **14**, R806–R818.

Balasubramanian, M.K., McCollum, D. and Surana, U. (2000). Tying the knot: linking cytokinesis to the nuclear cycle. *Journal of Cell Science* **113**, 1503-1513.

Balasubramanian, M.K., McCollum, D., Chang, L., Wong, K.C., Naqvi, N.I., He, X., Sazer, S. and Gould, K.L. (1998). Isolation and characterization of new fission yeast cytokinesis mutants. *Genetics* **149**, 1265-1275.

Bardin, A.J. and Amon, A. (2001). MEN AND SIN: WHAT'S THE DIFFERENCE?. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **4**, 815-826.

Barr, F.A., Silljé, H.H., Nigg. and E.A. (2004). Polo-like kinases and the orchestration of cell division. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **5**, 429-440.

Barral, Y., Mermall, V., Mooseker, M.S. and Snyder, M. (2000). Compartmentalization of the cell cortex by septins is required for maintenance of cell polarity in yeast. *Molecular Cell* **5**, 841-851.

Bartholomew, C.R., Woo, S.H., Chung, Y.S., Jones, C. and Hardy, C.F.J. (2001). Cdc5 Interacts with the Wee1 Kinase in Budding Yeast. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **21**, 4949-4959.

Bassermann, F., Frescas, D., Guardavaccaro, D., Busino, L., Peschiaroli, A. and Pagano, M. (2008). The Cdc14B-Cdh1-Plk1 Axis Controls the G2 DNA-Damage-Response Checkpoint. *Cell* **134**, 256-267.

Baum, B., Nishitani, H., Yanow, S. and Nurse, P. (1998). Cdc18 transcription and proteolysis couple S phase to passage through mitosis. *The EMBO Journal* **17**, 5689-5698.

Beach, D., Durkacz, B. and Nurse, P. (1982). Functionally homologous cell cycle control genes in budding and fission yeast. *Nature* **300**, 706-709.

Bell, S.P. and Dutta, A. (2002). DNA replication in eukaryotic cells. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* **71**, 333-374.

Benito, J., Martin-Castellanos, C. and Moreno, S. (1998). Regulation of the G1 phase of the cell cycle by periodic stabilization and degradation of the p25^{rum1} CDK inhibitor. *The EMBO Journal* **17**, 482-497.

Bischoff, J.R. and Plowman, G.D. (1999). The Aurora/IpI1p kinase family: regulators of Chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. *Trends in Cell Biology* **9**, 454-459.

Blanco, M.A., Sanchez-Diaz, A., De Prada, J.M. and Moreno, S. (2000). APC^{ste9/srw1} promotes degradation of mitotic cyclins in G1 and is inhibited by cdc2 phosphorylation. *The EMBO Journal* **19**, 3945-2955.

Blau, J., Xiao, H., McCracken, S., O'Hare, P., Greenblatt, J. and Bentley, D. (1996). Three functional classes of transcriptional activation domain. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **16**, 2044–55. Blow, J.J. and Hodgson, B. (2002). Replication licensing-defining the proliferative state?. *Trends in Cell Biology* **12**, 72-78.

Booher, R. and Beach, D. (1986). Site-Specific Mutagenesis of *cdc2*⁺, a Cell Cycle Control Gene of the Fission Yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular and Cellular biology* **6**, 3523-3530.

Booher, R. and Beach, D. (1987). Interaction between $cdc13^+$ and $cdc2^+$ in the control of mitosis in fission yeast; dissociation of the G1 and G2 roles of the $cdc2^+$ protein kinase. The EMBO Journal **6**, 3441-3447.

Booher, R.N., Deshaies, R.J. and Kirschner, M.W. (1993). Properties of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* wee1 and its differential regulation of p34^{CDC28} in response to G1 and G2 cyclins. *The EMBO Journal* **12**, 3417-3426.

Booher, R.N., Holman, P.S. and Fattaey, A. (1997). Human Myt1 Is a Cell Cycle-regulated Kinase That Inhibits Cdc2 but Not Cdk2 Activity. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **272**, 22300-22306.

Boros, J., Lim, F.L., Darieva, Z., Pic-Taylor, A., Harman, R., Morgan, B.A and Sharrocks, A.D. (2003). Molecular determinants of the cell-cycle regulated Mcm1p-Fkh2p transcription factor complex. *Nucleic Acids Research* **31**, 2279-2288.

Bradford, M.M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry* **72**, 248-254.

Breeden, L. (1996). Start-specific transcription in yeast. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* **208**, 95-127.

Breeden, L. and Nasmyth, K. (1987). Cell cycle control of the yeast HO gene: cis- and trans-acting regulators. *Cell* **48**, 389-397.

Breeden, L.L. (2003). Periodic Transcription: A Cycle within a Cycle. Current Biology 13, R31-R38.

Breeding, C.S., Hudson, J., Balasubramanian, M.K., Hemmingsen, S.M., Young, P.G. and Gould, K.L. (1998). The *cdr2*⁺ Gene Encodes a Regulator of G2/M Progression and Cytokinesis in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **9**, 3399-3415.

Brent, R. and Ptashne, M. (1985). A Eukaryotic Transcriptional Activator Bearing the DNA Specificity of a Prokaryotic Repressor. *Cell* **43**, 729-736.

Brown, A.J., Jones, T. and Shuttleworth, J. (1994). Expression and activity of p40^{MO15}, the catalytic subunit of cdk-activating kinase, during *Xenopus* oogenesis and embryogenesis. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **5**, 921-932.

Brown, G.W. and Kelly, T.J. (1998). Purification of Hsk1, a Minichromosome Maintenance Protein Kinase from Fission yeast. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **273**, 22083-22090.

Brown, G.W. and Kelly, T.J. (1999). Cell cycle regulation of Dfp1, an activator of the Hsk1 protein kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **96**, 8443-8448.

Buck, V., Ng, S.S., Ruiz-Garcia, A.B., Papadopoulou, K., Bhatti, S., Samuel, J.M., Anderson, M., Millar, J.B. and McInerny, C.J. (2004). Fkh2p and Sep1p regulate mitotic gene transcription in fission yeast. *Journal of Cell Science* **117**, 5623-5632.

Buck, V., Russell, P. and Millar, J. B. A. (1995). Identification of a cdk activating kinase in fission yeast. *The EMBO Journal* **14**, 6173-6183.

Buckingham, M. (1994). Molecular Biology of Muscle Development. Cell 78, 15-21.

Bulmer, R., Pic-Taylor, A., Whitehall, S.K., Martin, K.A., Millar, J.B.A., Quinn, J. and Morgan, B.A. (2004). The Forkhead Transcription Factor Fkh2 Regulates the Cell Division Cycle of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Eukaryotic Cell* **3**, 944-954.

Buratowski, S. (1994). The basics of basal transcription by RNA polymerase II. Cell 77, 1-3.

Carmena, M., Riparbelli, M.G., Minestrini, G., Tavares, Á.M., Adams, R., Callaini, G. and Glover, D.M. (1998). *Drosophila* Polo Kinase Is Required for Cytokinesis. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **143**, 659-671.

Casenghi, M., Meraldi, P., Weinhart, U., Duncan, P.I., Körner, R. and Nigg, E.A. (2003). Polo-like Kinase 1 Regulates NIp, a Centrosome Protein Involved in Microtubule Nucleation. *Developmental Cell* **5**, 113-125.

Chan, E.H.Y., Santamaria, A., Silljé, H.H.W. and Nigg, E.A. (2008). Plk1 regulates mitotic Aurora A function through βTrCP-dependent degradation of hBora. *Chromosoma* **117**, 457-469.

Chang, F. and Nurse, P. (1996). How fission yeast fission in the middle. *Cell* 84, 191–194.

Chang, F., Woollard, A. and Nurse, P. (1996). Isolation and characterization of fission yeast mutants defective in the assembly and placement of the contractile actin ring. *Journal of Cell Science* **109**, 131-142.

Chen, Y., Song, J., Sui, S-F. and Wang, D-N. (2003). DnaK and DnaJ facilitated the folding process and reduced inclusion body formation of magnesium transporter CorA overexpressed in *Escherichia coli*. *Protein Expression and Purification* **32**, 221-231.

Cho, R.J. Campbell, M.J., Winzeler, E.A., Steinmetz, L., Conway, A., Wodicka, L., Wolfsberg, T.G., Gabrielian, A.E., Landsman, D., Lockhart, D.J., Davis, R.W. (1998). A genome wide transcriptional analysis of the mitotic cell cycle. *Molecular Cell* **2**, 65-73.

Cho, R.J., Huang, M., Campbell, M.J., Dong, H., Steinmetz, L., Sapinoso, L., Hampton, G., Elledge, S.J., Davis, R.W. and Lockhart, D.J. (2001). Transcriptional regulation and function during the human cell cycle. *Nature Genetics* **27**, 48-54.

Christensen, P.U., Bentley, N.J., Martinho, R.G., Nielsen, O. and Carr, A. (2000). Mik1 levels accumulate in S phase and may mediate an intrinsic link between S phase and mitosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **97**, 2579-2584.

Chuang, R.Y, Chretien, L., Dai, J. and Kelly, T.J. (2002). Purification and characterization of the Schizosaccharomyces pombe origin recognition complex: interaction with origin DNA and Cdc18 protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **277**, 16920-16927.

Chuang, R.Y. and Kelly, T. J. (1999). The fission yeast homologue of Orc4p binds to replication origin DNA via multiple AT-hooks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **96**, 2656-2661.

Cid, V.J., Jiménez, J., Molina, M., Sánchez, M., Nombela, C. and Thorner, J.W. (2002). Orchestrating the cell cycle in yeast: sequential localization of key mitotic regulators at the spindle pole and the bud neck. *Microbiology* **148**, 2647-2659.

Cismowski, M.J., Laff, G.M., Solomon, M.J. and Reed, S.I. (1995). *KIN28* encodes a C-terminal domain kinase that controls mRNA transcription in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* but lacks cyclin-dependent kinase-activating kinase (CAK) activity. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15**, 2983-2992.

Clark, K.L., Halay, E.D., Lai, E. and Burley, S.K. (1993). Co-crystal structure of the HNF-3/fork head DNA-recognition motif resembles histone H5. *Nature* **364**, 412-420.

Clyne, R.K. and Kelly, T.J. (1995). Genetic analysis of an ARS element from the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. The *EMBO Journal* **14**, 6348-6357.

Coleman, T.R., Tang, Z. and Dunphy, W.G. (1993). Negative Regulation of the Wee1 Protein Kinase by Direct Action of the Nim1/Cdr1 Mitotic Inducer. *Cell* **72**, 919-929.

Conaway, R.C., and J.W. Conaway. (1993). General initiation factors for RNA polymerase II. Annual Review of Biochemistry 62,161-190.

Correa-Bordes, J. and Nurse, P. (1995). p25^{*rum*1} orders S phase and mitosis by acting as an inhibitor of the p34^{*cdc*2} mitotic kinase. *Cell* **83**, 1001-1009.

Correa-Bordes, J., Gulli, M.-P. and Nurse, P. (1997). p25^{rum1} promotes proteolysis of the mitotic B-cyclin p65^{cdc13} during G1 of the fission yeast cell cycle. *The EMBO Journal* **16**, 4657-4664.

Cosma, M.P., Tanaka, T. and Nasmyth K. (1999). Ordered recruitment of transcription and chromatin remodelling factors to a cell cycle–and developmentally-regulated promoter. *Cell* **97**, 299-311.

Costa, R.H. (2005). FoxM1 dances with mitosis. *Nature Cell Biology* 7, 108-110.

Costanzo, M., Nishikawa, J.L., Tang, X., Millman, J.S., Schub, O., Breitkreuz, K., Dewar, D., Rupeš, I., Andrews, B. and Tyers, M. CDK Activity Antagonizes Whi5, an Inhibitor of G1/S Transcription in Yeast. *Cell* **117**, 899-913.

Creanor, J. and Mitchison, J.M. (1996). The kinetics of the B cyclin p56^{cdc13} and the phosphatase p80cdc25 during the cell cycle of the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Journal of Cell Science* **109**, 1647-1653.

Cunliffe, L., White, S. and McInerny, C.J. (2004). DSC1-MCB regulation of meiotic transcription in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* **271**, 60-71.

Daga, R.R. and Jimenez, J. (1999). Translational control of the Cdc25 cell cycle phosphatase: a molecular mechanism coupling mitosis to cell growth. *Journal of Cell Science* **112**, 3137-3146.

Dai, W. and Cogswell, J.P. (2003). Polo-like kinases and the microtubule organization center: targets for cancer therapies. *In Progress in Cell Cycle Research* (ed. L. Meijer, A, Jézéquel and M, Roberge) **5**, 327-335.

Darieva, Z., Bulmer, R., Pic-Taylor, A., Doris, K.S., Geymonat, M., Sedgwick, S.G., Morgan, B.A. and Sharrocks, A.D. (2006). Polo kinase controls cell-cycle-dependent transcription by targeting a coactivator protein. *Nature* **444**, 494-498.

Darieva, Z., Pic-Taylor, A., Boros, J., Spanos, A., Geymonat, M., Reece, R.J., Sedgwick, S.G., Sharrocks, A.D. and Morgan, B.A. (2003). Cell Cycle-Regulated Transcription through the FHA Domain of Fkh2p and the Coactivator Ndd1p. *Current Biology* **13**, 1740-1745.

Davies, B. and Schwarz-Sommer, Z. (1994). Control of floral organ identity by homeotic MADS-box transcription factors. *Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation* **20**, 235-258.

DeBruin, R.A., McDonald, W.H., Kalashnikova, T.I., Yates III, J. and Wittenberg, C. (2004). Cln3 Activates G1-Specific Transcription via Phosphorylation of the SBF Bound Repressor Whi5. *Cell* **117**, 887-898.

Decottignies, A., Zarzov, P. and Nurse, P. (2001). In vivo localisation of fission yeast cyclin-dependent kinase cdc2p and cyclin B cdc13p during mitosis and meiosis. *Journal of Cell Science* **114**, 2627-2641.

Descombes, P. and Nigg, E.A. (1998). The polo-like kinase Plx1 is required for M phase exit and destruction of mitotic regulators in *Xenopus* egg extracts. *The EMBO Journal* **17**, 1328-1335.

Diffley, J.F. (2001). DNA replication: building the perfect switch. Current Biology 11, 367-370.

Diffley, J.F.X. and Labib, K. (2002). The chromosome replication cycle. Journal of Cell Science 115, 869-872.

Ding, R., West, R.R., Morphew, M., Oakley, B.R. and McIntosht, J.R. (1997). The Spindle Pole Body of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* Enters and Leaves the Nuclear Envelope as the Cell Cycle Proceeds. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **8**,1461-1479.

Dirksen, M.L. and Jamrich, M. (1992). A novel, activin-inducible, blastopore lip-specific gene of *Xenopus laevis* contains a fork head DNA-binding domain. *Genes and Development* **6**, 599-608.

Dolan J.W. and Fields, S. (1991). Cell-type-specific transcription in yeast. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **1088**, 155-169.

Donovan, S., Harwood, J., Drury, L.S. and Diffley, J.F. (1997). Cdc6p-dependent loading of Mcm proteins onto pre-replicative chromatin in budding yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **94**, 5611-5616.

Dorée, M. and Hunt, T. From Cdc2 to Cdk1: when did the cell cycle kinase join its cyclin partner?. *Journal of Cell Science* **115**, 2461-2464.

Drury, L.S., Perkins, G. and Diffley, J.F. (2000). The cyclin-dependent kinase Cdc28p regulates distinct modes of Cdc6p proteolysis during the budding yeast cell cycle. *Current Biology* **10**, 231-240.

Dubey, D.D., Kim, S.M., Todorov, I.T. and Huberman, J.A. (1996). Large, complex modular structure of a fission yeast DNA replication origin. *Current Biology* **6**, 467-473.

Dubois, E., Bercy, J. and Messenguy, F. (1987). Characterization of two genes, ARGRI and ARGRIII required for specific regulation of arginine metabolism in yeast. *Molecular and General Genetics* **207**, 142-148.

Dunphy, W.G. and Kumagai, A. (1991). The cdc25 protein contains an intrinsic phosphatase activity. *Cell* **67**, 189-196.

Durocher, D. and Jackson, S.P. (2002). The FHA domain. FEBS Letters 513, 58-66.

Dyson, N. (1998). The regulation of E2F by pRB-family proteins. Genes and Development 12, 2245-2262.

Eckerdt, F. and Maller, J.L. (2008). Kicking off the polo game. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **33**, 511-513.

Eckerdt, F., Yuan, J. and Strebhardt, K. (2005). Polo-like kinases and oncogenesis. Oncogene 24, 267-276.

Egel, R. (1989). Mating-type genes, meiosis, and sporulation. In *Molecular Biology of the Fission Yeast* (ed. A. Nasim, P. Young and B. F. Johnson). Academic Press, San Diego, 31-73.

Egel, R. (2003). Fission Yeast in General Genetics. In *The Molecular Biology of Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (ed. R. Egel). Springer, 1-12.

Ekwall, K. and J.F. Partridge. (1999). Fission yeast chromosome analysis: Fluorescence *in situ* hybridisation (FISH) and chromatin immunoprecipitation (CHIP). In *Chromosome structural analysis, a practical approach* (ed. W.A. Bickmore). Oxford University Press, Oxford, 39-57.

Elia, A.E., Rellos, P., Haire, L.F., Chao, J.W., Ivins, F.J., Hoepker, K., Mohammad, D., Cantley, L.C., Smerdon, S.J. and Yaffe, M.B. (2003b). The molecular basis for phosphodependent substrate targeting and regulation of Plks by the Polo-box domain. *Cell* **115**, 83-95.

Elia, A.E.H., Cantley, L.C. and Yaffe, M.B. (2003a). Proteomic Screen Finds pSer/pThr–Binding Domain Localizing Plk1 to Mitotic Substrates. *Science AAAS* **299**, 1228-1231.

Elowe, S., Hümmer, S., Uldschmid, A., Li, X. and Nigg, E.A. (2007). Tension-sensitive Plk1 phosphorylation on BubR1 regulates the stability of kinetochore-microtubule interactions. *Genes & Development* **21**, 2205-2219.

Espinoza, F.H., Farrell, A., Nourse, J.L., Chamberlin, H.M., Gileadi, O. and Morgan DO. (1998). Cak1 is required for Kin28 phosphorylation and activation in vivo. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **18**, 6365-73.

Fankhauser, C. and Simanis, V. (1994). The cdc7 protein kinase is a dosage dependent regulator of septum formation in fission yeast. *The EMBO Journal* **13**, 3011-3019.

Fankhauser, C., Reymond, A., Cerutti, L., Utzig, S., Hofmann, K. and Simanis, V. (1995). The *S. pombe cdc15* gene is a key element in the reorganization of F-actin at mitosis. *Cell* **82**, 435-444.

Fantes, P. (1979). Epistatic gene interactions in the control of division in fission yeast. *Nature* 279, 428-430.

Fantes, P. (1982). Dependency relations between events in mitosis *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Journal of Cell Science* **55**, 383-402.

Fantes, P. and Nurse, P. (1977). Control of cell size at division in fission yeast by a growth-modulated size control over nuclear division. *Experimental Cell Research* **107**, 377-386.

Fantes, P. and Nurse, P. (1978). Control of the timing of cell division in fission yeast. *Experimental Cell Research* **115**, 317-329.

Feaver, W.J., Svejstrup, J.Q., Henry, N.L. and Kornberg, R.D. (1994). Relationship of CDK-activating kinase and RNA polymerase II CTD kinase TFIIH/TFIIK. *Cell* **79**, 1103-1109.

Feinberg, A.P. and Vogelstein, B. (1983). A technique for radiolabeling DNA restriction endonuclease fragments to high specific activity. *Analytical Biochemistry* 132, 6-13.

Feng, H. Kipreos, E.T. (2003). Preventing DNA Re-Replication. Cell Cycle 2, 431-434.

Fields, S. (2005). High-throughput two-hybrid analysis: The promise and the peril. *FEBS Journal* **272**, 5391-5399.

Fields, S. and Song, O. (1989). A novel genetic system to detect protein-protein interactions. *Nature* **340**, 245-246.

Fisher, D. (2005). Secrets of a double agent: CDK7 in cell-cycle control and transcription. *Journal of Cell Science* **118**, 5171-5180.

Fisher, D. and Nurse, P. (1995). Cyclins of the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Seminars in Cell Biology* **6**, 73-78.

Fisher, D. and Nurse, P. (1996). A single fission yeast mitotic cyclin B p34^{cdc2} kinase promotes both S-phase and mitosis in the absence of G1 cyclins. *The EMBO Journal* **15**, 850-860.

Forsburg, S.L. (1999). The best yeast?. Trends In Genetics 15, 340-344.

Forsburg, S.L. and Nurse, P. (1991). Cell cycle regulation in the yeasts Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Annual Reviews of Cell Biology **7**, 227-256.

Forsburg, S.L. and Nurse, P. (1994). The fission yeast *cdc19*⁺ gene encodes a member of the MCM family of replication proteins. *Journal of Cell Science* **107**, 2779-2788.

Fu, Z., Malureanu, L., Huang, J., Wang, W., Li, H., van Deursen, J.M., Tindall, D.J. and Chen, J. (2008). Plk1dependent phosphorylation of FoxM1 regulates a transcriptional programme required for mitotic progression. *Nature Cell Biology* **10**, 1076-1082.

Furnari, B., Blasina, A., Boddy, M.N., McGowan, C.H. and Russell, P. (1999). Cdc25 Inhibited In Vivo and In Vitro by Checkpoint Kinases Cds1 and Chk1. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **10**, 833-845.

Futcher, B. (2000). Microarrays and cell cycle transcription in yeast. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **12**, 710-715.

Futcher, B. (2002). Transcriptional regulatory networks and the yeast cell cycle. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **14**, 676-683.

Gachet, Y., Mulvihill, D.P. and Hyams, J.S. (2003). The Fission Yeast Actomyosin Cytoskeleton. In *The Molecular Biology of Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (ed. R. Egel). Springer, 225-242.

García-Álvarez, B., de Cárcer, G., Ibañez, S., Bragado-Nilsson, E. and Montoya, G. (2007). Molecular and structural basis of polo-like kinase 1 substrate recognition: Implications in centrosomal localization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **104**, 3107-3112.

Gautier, J., Solomon, M.J., Booher, R.N., Bazan, J.F. and Kirschner, M.W. (1991). cdc25 is a specific tyrosine phosphatase that directly activates p34cdc2. *Cell* **67**, 197-211.

Giet, R. and Glover, D.M. (2001). Drosophila Aurora B is required for histone H3 phosphorylation and condensin recruitment during chromosome condensation and to organize the central spindle during cytokinesis. *Journal of Cell Biology* **152**, 669-681.

Giet, R. and Prigent, C. (1999). Aurora/IpI1p-related kinases, a new oncogenic family of mitotic serine threonine kinases. *Journal of Cell Science* **112**, 3591-3601.

Glotzer, M., Murray, A.W. and Kirschner, M.W. (1991). Cyclin is degraded by the ubiquitin pathway. *Nature* **349**, 438-441.

Glover, D.M. (2005). Polo kinase and progression through M phase in *Drosophila*: a perspective from the spindle poles. *Oncogene* **24**, 230-237.

Glover, D.M., Hagan, I.M. and Tavares, A.A. (1998). Polo-like kinases: a team that plays throughout mitosis. *Genes and Development* **12**, 3777-3787.

Glover, D.M., Leibowitz, M.H., McLean, D.A, and Parry, H. (1995). Mutations in aurora prevent centrosome separation leading to the formation of monopolar spindles. *Cell* **81**, 95-105.

Goffeau, A., Barrell, B.G., Bussey, H., Davis, R.W., Dujon, B., Galibert, F., Hoheisel, J.D., Jacq, C., Johnston, M., Louis, E. J., Mewes, H.W., Murakami, Y., Philippsen, P., Tettelin, H. and Oliver, S.G. (1996). Life with 6000 genes. *Science* **274**, 546-67.

Golan, A., Yudkovsky, Y. and Hershko, A. (2002). The Cyclin-Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of Cyclosome/APC Is Jointly Activated by Protein Kinases Cdk1-Cyclin B and Plk. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **277**, 15552-15557.

Golsteyn, R.M., Mundt, K.E., Fry, A.M. and Nigg, E.A. (1995). Cell cycle regulation of the activity and subcellular localization of Plk1, a human protein kinase implicated in mitotic spindle function. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **129**, 1617-1628.

Gomez-Roman, N., Grandori, C., Eisenman, R.N. and White, R.J. (2003). Direct activation of RNA polymerase III transcription by c-Myc. *Nature* **421**, 290-294.

Goto, H., Yasui, Y., Nigg, E.A. and Inagaki, M. (2002). Aurora-B phosphorylates Histone H3 at serine28 with regard to the mitotic chromosome condensation. *Genes to Cells* **7**, 11-17.

Gould, K.L. (2003). Protein kinases driving the cell cycle. In *The molecular biology of Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (ed. R. Egel). Springer, 27-40.

Gould, K.L. and Nurse, P. (1989). Tyrosine phosphorylation of the fission yeast *cdc2*⁺ protein kinase regulates entry into mitosis. *Nature* **342**, 39-45.

Gould, K.L. and Simanis, V. (1997). The control of septum formation in fission yeast. *Genes and Development* **11**, 1939-2951.

Gould, K.L., Moreno, S., D.J.Owen, D.J., Sazer, S. and Nurse, P. (1991). Phosphorylation at Thr 67 is required for *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* p34^{cdc2} function. *The EMBO Journal* **10**, 3297-3309.

Grallert, A. and Hagan, I.M. (2002). *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* NIMA-related kinase Fin1, regulates spindle formation and an affinity of Polo for the SPB. *The EMBO Journal* **21**, 3096-3107.

Grallert, A. Krapp, A., Bagley, S., Simanis, V. and Hagan, I.M. (2004). Recruitment of NIMA kinase shows that maturation of the *S. pombe* spindle-pole body occurs over consecutive cell cycles and reveals a role for NIMA in modulating SIN activity. *Genes and Development* **18**, 1007-1021.

Grallert, A., Grallert, B., Ribàr, B. and Sipiczki, M. (1998). Coordination of Initiation of Nuclear Division and Initiation of Cell Division in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*: Genetic Interactions of Mutations. *The Journal of Bacteriology* **180**, 892-900.

Grallert, A., Grallert, B., Zilahi, E., Szilagyi, Z. and Sipiczki, M. (1999). Eleven novel *sep* genes of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* required for efficient cell separation and sexual differentiation. *Yeast* **15**, 669-686.

Gregan, J., Lindner, K., Brimage, L., Franklin, R., Namdar, M., Hart, E.A., Aves, S.J. and Kearsey, S.E. (2003). Fission yeast Cdc23/Mcm10 functions after pre-replicative complex formation to promote Cdc45 chromatin binding. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **14**, 3876-87.

Grimm, C. and Kohli, J. (1988). Observations on integrative transformation in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular and General Genetics* **215**, 87-93.

Grimm, C., Kohli, J., Murray, J. and Maundrell, K. (1988). Genetic engineering of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*: a system for gene disruption and replacement using the *ura4* gene as a selectable marker. *Molecular and General Genetics* **215**, 81-86.

Guan, K.-L. and Dixon, J.E. (1991). Eukaryotic Proteins Expressed in *Escherichia coli*: An Improved Thrombin Cleavage and Purification procedure of Fusion Proteins with Glutathione S-Transferase. *Analytical Biochemistry* **192**, 262-267.

Guarente, L. and Mason, T. (1983). Heme regulates transcription of the CYC1 gene of S. cerevisiae via an upstream activation site. Cell **32**, 1279-1286.

Guarente. L. and Ptashne. M. (1981). Fusion of *Escherichia coli lacZ* to the cytochrome c gene of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **78**, 2199-2203.

Guertin, D.A., Trautmann, S., and McCollum, D. (2002). Cytokinesis in eukaryotes. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* **66**, 155-178.

Hagan, I.M. (2003). The Mitotic Spindle and Genome Segregation. In *The Molecular Biology of Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (ed. R. Egel). Springer, 208-223.

Hagan, I.M. and Hyams, J.S. (1988). The use of cell division cycle mutants to investigate the control of microtubule distribution in the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Journal of Cell Science* **89**, 343-357.

Hagan, I.M., Hayles, J. and Nurse, P. (1988). Cloning and sequencing of the cyclin-related *cdc13*⁺ gene and a cytological study of its role in fission yeast mitosis. *Journal of Cell Science* **91**, 587-595.

Hagstrom, K.A. and Meyer, B. (2003). Condensin and cohesin: more than chromosome compactor and glue. *Nature* **4**, 520-534.

Hampsey, M. (1998). Molecular genetics of the RNA polymerase II general transcriptional machinery. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* **62**, 465-503.

Han, T.H. and Prywes, R. (1995). Regulatory role of MEF2D in serum induction of the c-jun promoter. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15**, 2907-2915.

Hansen, D.V., Loktev, A.V., Ban, K.H. and Jackson, P.K. (2004). Plk1 regulates activation of the anaphase promoting complex by phosphorylating and triggering SCFbetaTrCP-dependent destruction of the APC Inhibitor Emi1. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **15**, 5623-5634.

Harper, J.W. and Elledge, S.J. (1998). The role of Cdk7 in CAK function, a retro-retrospective. *Genes and Development* **12**, 285-289.

Hartwell, L.H. (1971). Genetic control of the cell division cycle in yeast. IV. Genes controlling bud emergence and cytokinesis. *Experimental Cell Research* **69**, 265-276.

Hartwell, L.H. (1974). Saccharomyces cerevisiae cell cycle. Bacteriological reviews 38, 164-198.

Hartwell, L.H. (1978). Cell division from a genetic perspective. The Journal of Cell Biology 77, 627-637.

Hartwell, L.H. (1991). Twenty-Five Years of Cell Cycle Genetics. Genetics 129, 975-980.

Hartwell, L.H., Culotti, J., Pringle, J.R. and Reid, B.J. (1974). Genetic control of the cell division cycle in yeast. *Science* **183**, 46-51.

Hayles, J. and P. Nurse. (1992). Genetics of the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Annual Review of Genetics 26, 373-402.

Hayles, J., Fisher, D., Woollard, A. and Nurse, P. (1994). Temporal Order of S Phase and Mitosis in Fission Yeast Is Determined by the State of the p34^{cdc2}-Mitotic B Cyclin Complex. *Cell* **78**, 813-822.

Hermand, D., Pihlak, A., Westerling, T., Damagnez, V., Vandenhaute, J., Cottarel, G. and Mäkelä, T. P. (1998). Fission yeast Csk1 is a CAK activating kinase (CAKAK). *The EMBO Journal* **17**, 7230-7238.

Hershko, A. (1997). Roles of ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis in cell cycle control. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **9**, 788-799.

Hochstrasser, M. (1996). Protein degradation or regulation: Ub the judge. Cell 84, 813-815.

Hoffmann, I., Clarke, P.R., Marcote, M.J., Karsenti, E. and Draetta, G. (1993). Phosphorylation and activation of human cdc25-C by cdc2-cyclin B and its involvement in the self-amplification of MPF at mitosis. *The EMBO Journal* **12**, 53-63.

Hofmann, J.F.X. and Beach, D. (1994). cdt1 is an essential target of the Cdc10/Sct1 transcription factor: requirement for DNA replication and inhibition of mitosis. *The EMBO Journal* **13**, 425-434.

Hollenhorst, P.C., Bose, M.E., Mielke, M.R., Muller, U. and Fox, C. A. (2000). Forkhead genes in transcriptional silencing, cell morphology and the cell cycle. Overlapping and distinct functions for FKH1 and FKH2 in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Genetics* **154**, 1533-1548.

Hollenhorst, P.C., Pietz, G. and Fox, C. A. (2001). Mechanisms controlling differential promoter-occupancy by the yeast forkhead proteins Fkh1p and Fkh2p: implications for regulating the cell cycle and differentiation. *Genes and Development* **15**, 2445-2456.

Honda, R., Tanaka, H., Ohba, Y. and Yasuda, Y. (1995). Mouse p87^{wee1} kinase is regulated by M-phase specific phosphorylation. *Chromosome Research* **3**, 300-308.

Hope, I.A. and Struhl, K. (1986). Functional dissection of a eukaryotic transcriptional activator protein, GCN4 of yeast. *Cell* **46**, 885-894.

Hromas, R. and Costa, R. (1995). The hepatocyte nuclear factor-3/forkhead transcription regulatory family in development, inflammation, and neoplasia. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology* **20**, 129-140.

Hsu, J.Y., Sun, Z.W., Li, X., Reuben, M., Tatchell, K., Bishop, D.K., Grushcow, J.M., Brame, C.J., Caldwell, J. A., Hunt, D.F. Lin, R., Smith, M.M. and Allis, C.D. (2000). Mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 is governed by Ipl1/aurora kinase and Glc7/PP1 phosphatase in budding yeast and nematodes. *Cell* **102**, 279-291.

Hu, F., Wang, Y., Liu, D., Li, Y., Qin, J. and Elledge, S.J. (2001). Regulation of the Bub2/Bfa1 GAP complex by Cdc5 and cell cycle checkpoints. *Cell* **107**, 655-665.

Huang, K., Louis, J.M., Donaldson, L., Lim, F.L., Sharrocks, A.D. and Clore, G.M. (2000). Solution structure of the MEF2A–DNA complex: structural basis for the modulation of DNA bending and specificity by MADS-box transcription factors. *The EMBO Journal* **19**, 2615-2628.

Huberman, J.A. (1996). Cell cycle control of S phase: a comparison of two yeasts Chromosoma 105, 197-203.

Humphrey, T. (2000). DNA damage and cell cycle control in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Mutation Research* **451**, 211-226.

Igarashi, M., Nagata, A., Jinno, S., Suto, K. and Okayama, H. (1991). Wee1(+)-like gene in human cells. *Nature* **353**, 80-83.

Inostroza, J.A., Mermelstein, F.H., Ha, I., Lane, W.S. and Reinberg, D. (1992). Dr1, a TATA-Binding Protein-Associated Phosphoprotein and Inhibitor of Class II Gene Transcription. *Cell* **70**, 477-489.

Ishihama, A., Kimura, M. and Mitsuzawa, H. (1998). Subunits of yeast RNA polymerases: structure and function. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* **1**, 190-196.

Ishimi, Y. (1997). A DNA helicase activity is associated with an MCM4, -6, and -7 protein complex. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **272**, 24508-24513.

Iyer, V.R., Horak, C.E., Scafe, C.S., Botstein, D., Snyder, M. and Brown, P.O. (2001). Genomic binding sites of the yeast cell-cycle transcription factors SBF and MBF. *Nature* **409**, 533-538.

Jackman, M., Lindon, C., Nigg, E.A. and Pines, J. (2003). Active cyclin B1-Cdk1 first appears on centrosomes in prophase. *Nature Cell Biology* **5**, 143-148.

Jallepalli, P.V., Brown, G.W., Muzi-Falconi, M., Tien, D. and Kelly, T.J. (1997). Regulation of the replication initiator protein p65^{cdc18} by CDK phosphorylation. *Genes and Development* **11**, 2767-2779.

Jallepalli, P.V., Tien, D. and Kelly, T.J. (1998). *sud1*⁺ targets cyclin-dependent kinase-phosphorylated Cdc18 and Rum1 proteins for degradation and stops unwanted diploidization in fission yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **95**, 8159-8164.

Jang, Y-J., Lin, C-Y., Ma, S. and Erikson. R.L. (2002). Functional studies on the role of the C-terminal domain of mammalian polo-like kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **99**, 1984-1989.

Jansen, G., Wu, C., Schade, B., Thomas, D.Y. and Whiteway, M. (2005). Drag & Drop cloning in yeast. *Gene* **344**, 43-51.

Jarvis, E.E., Clark, K.L. and Sprague, Jr., G.F. (1989). The yeast transcription activator PRTF, a homolog of the .mammalian serum response factor, is encoded by the *MCM1* gene. *Genes and Development* **3**, 936-945.

Jaspersen, S.L., Charles, J.F. and Morgan, D.O. (1999). Inhibitory phosphorylation of the APC regulator Hct1 is controlled by the kinase Cdc28 and the phosphatase Cdc14. *Current Biology* **9**, 227-236.

Jorgensen, P. and Tyers, M. (2000). The fork'ed path to mitosis. Genome Biology 1, 1022.1-1022.4.

Kadonaga, J.T. (2002). The DPE, a core promoter element for transcription by RNA polymerase II. *Experimental and Molecular Medicine* **34**, 259-264.

Kaestner, K.H., Knochel, W., Martinez, D.E. (2000). Unified nomenclature for the winged helix/forkhead transcription factors. *Genes and Development* **14**, 142-146.

Kaiser, P., Sia, R.A., Bardes, E.G., Lew, D.J. and Reed, S.I. (1998). Cdc34 and the F-box protein Met30 are required for degradation of the Cdk-inhibitory kinase Swe1. *Genes and Development* **12**, 2587-2597.

Kaldis, P., Sutton, A. and Solomon, M. J. (1996). The Cdk-activating kinase (CAK) from budding yeast. *Cell* 86, 553-564.

Kanoh, J. and Russell, P. (1998). The Protein Kinase Cdr2, Related to Nim1/Cdr1 Mitotic Inducer, Regulates the Onset of Mitosis in Fission Yeast. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **9**, 3321-3334.

Karaiskou, A., Jessus, C., Brassac, T. and Ozon, R. (1999). Phosphatase 2A and Polo kinase, two antagonistic regulators of Cdc25 activation and MPF auto-amplification. *Journal of Cell Science* **112**, 3747-3756.

Kato, M., Hata, N., Banerjee, N., Futcher, B. and Zhang, M.Q. (2004). Identifying combinatorial regulation of transcription factors and binding motifs. *Genome Biology* **5**, R56.

Kaufer, N.F., Simanis, V. and Nurse, P. (1985). Fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* correctly excises a mammalian RNA transcript intervening sequence. *Nature* **318**, 78-80.

Kaufmann, E., Müller, D. and Knöchel, W. (1995). DNA Recognition Site Analysis of *Xenopus* Winged Helix Proteins. *The Journal of Molecular Biology* **248**, 239-254.

Kaufmann, E. and Knöchel, W. (1996). Five years on the wings of fork head. *Mechanisms of Development* **57**, 3-20.

Kearsey, S.E. and Cotterill, S. (2003). Enigmatic variations: divergent modes of regulating eukaryotic DNA replication. *Molecular Cell* **12**, 1067-1075.

Kelly, T.J. and Brown, G.W. (2000). Regulation of chromosome replication. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* **69**, 829-880.

Kelly, T.J., Martin, G.S., Forsburg, S.L., Stephen, R.J., Russo, A. and Nurse, P. (1993). The Fission Yeast *cdc18*⁺ Gene Product Couples S Phase to START and Mitosis. *Cell* **74**, 1-20.

Kim, S.H., Lin, D.P., Matsumoto, S., Kitazono, A. and Matsumoto, T. (1998). Fission yeast Slp1: an effector of the Mad2-dependent spindle checkpoint. *Science* **279**, 1045-1047.

Kim, S.M. and Huberman, J.A. (1998). Multiple orientation-dependent, synergistically interacting, similar domains in the ribosomal DNA replication origin of the fission yeast, *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **18**, 7294-7303.

Kim, Y.-J., Bjorklund, S., Li, Y., Sayre, M.H. and Kornberg, R.D. (1994). A multiprotein mediator of transcriptional activation and its interaction with the C-terminal repeat domain of RNA polymerase II. *Cell* **77**, 599-608.

Kimura, M., Mitsuzawa, H. and Ishihama, A. (2003). RNA Polymerases and Accessory Factors. In *The Molecular Biology of Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (ed. R. Egel). Springer, 329-342.

King, R.W., Glotzer, M. and Kirschner, M.W. (1996). Mutagenic analyses of the destruction signal of mitotic cyclins and structural characterisation of ubiquitinated intermediates. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **7**, 1343-1357.

Koch, C. and Nasmyth, K. (1994). Cell cycle regulated transcription in yeast. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **6**, 451-459.

Koch, C., Moll, T., Neuberg, M., Ahorn, H. and Nasmyth, K. (1993). A Role for the Transcription Factors Mbp1 and Swi4 in Progression from G1 to S Phase. *Science* **261**, 1551-1557.

Koepp, D.M., Harper, J.W. and Elledge, S J. (1999). How the Cyclin Became a Cyclin: Regulated Proteolysis in the Cell Cycle. *Cell* **97**, 431-434.

Koleske, A.J. and Young, R.A. (1994). An RNA polymerase II holoenzyme responsive to activators. *Nature* **368**, 466-469.

Kong. D. and DePamphilis, M.L. (2002). Site-specific ORC binding, pre-replication complex assembly and DNA synthesis at *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* replication origins. *The EMBO Journal* **21**, 5567-5576.

Koranda, M., Schleiffer, A., Endler, L. and Ammerer, G. (2000). Forkhead-like transcription factors recruit Ndd1 to the chromatin of G2/M-specific promoters. *Nature* **406**, 94-98.

Kotani, S., Tugendreich, S., Fujii, M., Jorgensen, P-M., Watanabe, N., Hoog, C., Hieter, P. and Todokoro, K. (1998). PKA and MPF-Activated Polo-like Kinase Regulate Anaphase-Promoting Complex Activity and Mitosis Progression. *Molecular Cell* **1**, 371-380.

Kovelman, R. and Russell, P. (1996). Stockpiling of Cdc25 during a DNA Replication Checkpoint Arrest in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **16**, 86-93.

Kramer, K.M., Fesquet, D., Johnson, A.L. and Johnston, L.H. (1998). Budding yeast *RSI1/APC2*, a novel gene necessary for initiation of anaphase, encodes an APC subunit. *The EMBO Journal* **17**, 498-506.

Krapp, A., Gulli M.P. and Simanis, V. (2004). SIN and the Art of Splitting the Fission Yeast Cell. *Current Biology* **14**, R722-R730.

Krawchuk, M.D. and Wahls, W.P. (1999). High-efficiency gene targeting in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* using a modular, PCR-based approach with long tracts of flanking homology. *Yeast* **15**, 1419-1427.

Krien, M.J.E., Bugg, S.J., Palatsides, M., Asouline, G., Morimyo, M. and O'Connell, M.J. (1998). A NIMA homologue promotes chromatin condensation in fission yeast. *Journal of Cell Science* **111**, 967-976.

Krien, M.J.E., West, R.R., John, U.P., Koniaras, K., McIntoch, J.R. and O'Connell, M.J. (2002). The fission yeast NIMA kinase Fin1p is required for spindle function and nuclear envelope integrity. *The EMBO Journal* **21**, 1713-1722.

Kumagai, A. and Dunphy, W.G. (1991). The cdc25 protein controls tyrosine dephosphorylation of the cdc2 protein in a cell-free system. *Cell* **64**, 903-14.

Kumagai, A. and Dunphy, W.G. (1996). Purification and Molecular Cloning of Plx1, a Cdc25-Regulatory Kinase from Xenopus Egg Extracts. *Science* **273**, 1377-1380.

Kumar, R., Reynolds, D.M., Shevchenko, A., Shevchenko, A., Goldstone, S.D. and Dalton, S. (2000). Forkhead transcription factors, Fkh1p and Fkh2p, collaborate with Mcm1p to control transcription required for M-phase. *Current Biology* **10**, 896-906.

Labib, K. and Diffley, J.F.X. (2001). Is the MCM2–7 complex the eukaryotic DNA replication fork helicase?. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* **10**, 64-70.

Labib, K., Moreno, S. and Nurse, P. (1995). Interaction of *cdc2* and *rum1* regulates Start and S-phase in fission yeast. *Journal of Cell Science* **108**, 3285-3294.

Labib, K., Tercero, J.A. and Diffley, J.F.X. (2000). Uninterrupted MCM2–7 function required for DNA replication fork progression. *Science* **288**, 1643-1647.

Laemmli, U.K. (1970). Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature **227**, 675-680.

Lai, E., Clark, K.L., Burley, S.K. and Darnell, Jr., J.E. (1993). Hepatocyte nuclear factor 3/fork head or 'winged helix' proteins: a family of transcription factors of diverse biologic function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **90**, 10421-10423.

Lai, E., Prezioso, V.R., Smith, E., Litvin, O., Costa, R.H. and Darnell, Jr., J.E. (1990). HNF-3A, a hepatocyteenriched transcription factor of novel structure is regulated transcriptionally. *Genes and Development* **4**, 1427-1436.

Lane, H.A. and Nigg, E.A. (1996). Antibody Microinjection Reveals an Essential Role for Human Polo-like Kinase 1 (Plk1) in the Functional Maturation of Mitotic Centrosomes. *The Journal of Ceil Biology* **135**, 1701-1713.

Laoukili, J., Kooistra, M.R.H., Brás, A., Kauw, J., Kerkhoven, R.M., Morrison, A., Clevers, H. and Medema, R.H. (2005). FoxM1 is required for execution of the mitotic programme and chromosome stability. *Nature Cell Biology* **7**, 126-136.

Le Goff, X., Utzig, S. and Simanis, V. (1999). Controlling septation in fission yeast: finding the middle, and timing it right. *Current Genetics* **35**, 571-584.

Leatherwood, J., A. Lopez-Girona. and Russell, P. (1996). Interaction of Cdc2 and Cdc18 with a fission yeast ORC2-like protein. *Nature* **379**, 360-363.

Lee, J-K. and Hurwitz, J. (2000). Isolation and Characterization of Various Complexes of the Minichromosome Maintenance Proteins of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**, 18871-18878.

Lee, K.M., Miklos, I., Du, H., Watt, S., Szilagyi, Z., Saiz, J.E., Madabhushi, R., Penkett, C.J., Sipiczki, M., Bähler, J. and Fisher, R.P. (2005a). Impairment of the TFIIH-associated CDK-activating kinase selectively affects cell cycle-regulated gene expression in fission yeast. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **16**, 2734-2745.

Lee, K.M., Saiz, J.E., Barton, W.A. and Fisher, R.P. (1999). Cdc2 activation in fission yeast depends on Mcs6 and Csk1, two partially redundant Cdk-activating kinases (CAKs). *Current Biology* **9**, 441-444.

Lee, K.S., Grenfell, T.Z., Yarm, F.R. and Erikson, R.L. (1998). Mutation of the polo-box disrupts localization and mitotic functions of the mammalian polo kinase Plk. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **95**, 9301-9306.

Lee, K.S., Oh, D.Y., Kang, Y.H. and Park, J.E. (2008a). Self-regulated mechanism of Plk1 localization to kinetochores: lessons from the Plk1-PBIP1 interaction. *Cell Division* **3:4**. (http://www.celldiv.com/content/3/1/4).

Lee, K.S., Park, J.E., Asano, S. and Park, C.J. (2005b).Yeast polo-like kinases: functionally conserved multitask mitotic regulators. *Oncogene* 24, 217-229.

Lee, K.S., Park, J.E., Kang, Y.H., Zimmerman, W., Soung, N.K., Seong, Y.S., Kwak, S.J. and Erikson, R.L. (2008b). Mechanisms of mammalian polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1) localisation: Self- versus non-self-priming. *Cell Cycle* **7**, 141-145.

Lee, K.S., Yuan, Y.L., Kuriyama, R. and Erikson, R.L.(1995). Plk is an M-phase-specific protein kinase and interacts with a kinesin-like protein, CHO1/MKLP-1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15**, 7143-7151.

Lee, M. and Nurse, P (1987). Complementation used to clone a human homologue of the fission yeast cell cycle control gene *cdc2*. *Nature* **327**, 31-35.

Lee, M.S., Ogg, S., Xu, M., Parker, L.L., Donoghue, D.J., Maller, J.L. and Piwnica-Worms, H. (1992). *cdc*25⁺ encodes a protein phosphatase that dephosphorylates p34^{cdc2}. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **3**, 73-84.

Lee, S.E., Frenz, L.M., Wells, N.J., Johnson, A.L. and Johnston, L.H. (2001). Order of function of the buddingyeast mitotic exit-network proteins Tem1, Cdc15, Mob1, Dbf2, and Cdc5. *Current Biology* **11**, 784-788. Lee, T.I. and Young, R.A. (2000). Transcription of eukaryotic protein-coding genes. *Annual Review of Genetics* **34**, 77-137.

Legouras, I., Xouri, G., Dimopoulos, S., Lygeros, J. and Lygerou, Z. (2006). DNA replication in the fission yeast: robustness in the face of uncertainty. *Yeast* **23**, 951-962.

Lei, M. and Tye, B. K. (2001). Initiating DNA synthesis: from recruiting to activating the MCM complex. *Journal of Cell Science* **114**, 1447-1454.

Lemaire, M., Mondesert, O., Bugler, B. and Ducommun, B. (2004). Ability of human CDC25B phosphatase splice variants to replace the function of the fission yeast Cdc25 cell cycle regulator. *FEMS Yeast Research* **5**, 205-211.

Lénárt, P., Petronczki, M., Steegmaier, M., Di Fiore, B., Lipp, J.J., Hoffmann, M., Rettig, W.J., Kraut, N. and Peters, J.M. (2007). The small-molecule inhibitor BI 2536 reveals novel insights into mitotic roles of polo-like kinase 1. *Current Biology* **17**, 304-315.

Levine, M. and Tjian, R. (2003). Transcription regulation and animal diversity. Nature 424, 147-151.

Lew, D.J. and Kornbluth, S. (1996). Regulatory roles of cyclin dependent kinase phosphorylation in cell cycle control. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **8**, 795-804.

Lew, D.J., Weinert, T. and Pringle, J.R. (1997). Cell Cycle Control in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. In *The Molecular and Cellular Biology of the Yeast Saccharomyces*: *Cell Cycle and Cell Biology* (ed. J. R, Pringle, J. R, Broach, and E. W. Jones). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 607-695.

Lewin, B (2000). *Genes VII*. Oxford University Press, New York.

Lim, H.H., Goh, P.Y. and Surana, U. (1996). Spindle pole body separation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* requires dephosphorylation of the tyrosine 19 residue of Cdc28. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **16**, 6385-6397.

Lindon, C. and Pines, J. (2004). Ordered proteolysis in anaphase inactivates Plk1 to contribute to proper mitotic exit in human cells. *Journal of Cell Biology* **164**, 233-241.

Liu, J. and Kipreos, E.T. (2000). Evolution of Cyclin-Dependent Kinases (CDKs) and CDK-Activating Kinases (CAKs): Differential Conservation of CAKs in Yeast and Metazoa. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **17**, 1061-1074.

Llamazares, A., Moreira, A., Tavares, A., Girdam, C., Spruce, B.A., Gonzalez, C., Karess, R.E., Glover, D.M. and Sunkel, C.E. (1991). polo encodes a protein kinase homolog required for mitosis in *Drosophila*. *Genes and Development* **5**, 2153-2165.

Lodish, H., Berk, A., Matsudaira, P., Kaiser, C.A., Krieger, M., Scott, M.P., Zipursky, L. and Darnell, J. (2003). *Molecular Cell Biology* (5th edition). W.H. Freeman.

Lopez-Girona, A., Furnari, B., Mondesert, O. and Russell, P. (1999). Nuclear localization of Cdc25 is regulated by DNA damage and a 14-3-3 protein. *Nature* **397**, 172-175.

Lörincz, A.T. and Reed, S.I. (1984). Primary structure homology between the product of yeast cell division control gene *CDC28* and vertebrate oncogenes. *Nature* **307**, 183-185.

Lowery, D.M., Lim, D. and Yaffe, M.B. (2005). Structure and function of Polo-like kinases. *Oncogene* 24, 248-259.

Lowndes, N., McInerny, C.J., Johnston, A.L., Fantes, P.A. and Johnston, L.H. (1992). Control of DNA synthesis genes in fission yeast by the cell-cycle gene *cdc10*⁺. *Nature* **355**, 449-453.

Loy, C.J., Lydall, D. and Surana, U. (1999). *NDD1*, a high-dosage suppressor of *cdc28-1N*, is essential for expression of a subset of late-S-phase-specific genes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**, 3312-3327.

Lundgren, K., Walworth, N., Booker, R., Dembski, M., Kirschner, M. and Beach, D. (1991). mik1 and wee1 cooperate in the inhibitory tyrosine phosphorylation of cdc2. *Cell* **64**, 1111-1122.

Lydall, D., Ammerer, G. and Nasmyth, K. (1991). A new role for MCM1 in yeast: Cell cycle regulation of SWI5 transcription. *Genes and Development* **5**, 2405-2419.

Lygerou Z, Nurse P. (2000). Controlling S-phase onset in fission yeast. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology* **65**, 323-332.

Lygerou, Z. and Nurse, P. (1999). The fission yeast origin recognition complex is constitutively associated with chromatin and is differentially modified through the cell cycle. *Journal of Cell Science* **112**, 3703-3712.

Ma, H. (1994). The unfolding drama of flower development: recent results from genetic and molecular analyses. *Genes and Development* **8**, 745-756.

MacIver, F.H., Tanaka, K., Robertson, A.M. and Hagan, I.M. (2003). Physical and functional interactions between polo kinase and the spindle pole component Cut12 regulate mitotic commitment in S. pombe. *Genes and Development* **17**, 1507-1523.

MacKay, V.L., Mai, B., Waters, L., and Breeden, L.L. (2001). Early Cell Cycle Box-Mediated Transcription of CLN3 and SWI4 Contributes to the Proper Timing of the G1-to-S Transition in Budding Yeast. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **21**, 4140-4148.

MacNeill, S.A. and Nurse, P. (1997). Cell Cycle Control in Fission Yeast. In *The Molecular and Cellular Biology of the Yeast Saccharomyces: Cell Cycle and Cell Biology* (ed. J. R, Pringle, J. R, Broach, and E. W. Jones). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 697-763.

Macůrek, L., Lindqvist1, A., Lim, D., Lampson, M.A., Klompmaker, R., Freire, R., Clouin, C., Taylor, S.S., Yaffe, M.B. and Medema, R.H. (2008). Polo-like kinase-1 is activated by Aurora A to promote checkpoint recovery. *Nature* **455**, 119-123.

Madden, K. and Snyder, M. (1998). Cell Polarity and Morphogenesis in Budding Yeast. Annual Review of Microbiology 52, 687-744.

Maher, M., Cong, F., Kindelberger, D., Nasmyth, K. and Dalton, S. (1995). Cell cycle regulated transcription of the *CLB2* gene is dependent on Mcm1 and a ternary complex factor. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15**, 3129-3137.

Mai, B., Miles, S. and Breeden, L.L. (2002). Characterisation of the ECB binding complex responsible for the M/G(1)-specific transcription of *CLN3* and *SWI4*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **2**, 430-441.

Malik, S. and Roeder, R.G. (2000). Transcriptional regulation through Mediator-like coactivators in yeast and metazoan cells. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **25**, 277-283.

Maqbool, Z., Kersey, P.J., Fantes, P.A. and McInerny, C.J. (2003). MCB-mediated regulation of cell cyclespecific *cdc22*⁺ transcription in fission yeast. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* **269**, 765-775. Marahrens, Y. and Stillman, B. (1992). A Yeast Chromosomal Origin of DNA Replication Defined by Multiple Functional Elements. *Science* **255**, 817-823.

Martin, B.T. and Strebhardt, K. (2006). Polo-Like Kinase 1: Target and Regulator of Transcriptional Control. *Cell Cycle* **5**, 2881-2885.

Martin-Castellanos, C., Blanco, M.A., De Prada, J.M. and Moreno, S. (2000). The puc1 Cyclin Regulates the G1 Phase of the Fission Yeast Cell Cycle in Response to Cell Size. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **11**, 543-544.

Martin-Castellanos, C., Labib, K. and Moreno, S. (1996). B-type cyclins regulate G1 progression in fission yeast in opposition to the p25^{rum1} cdk inhibitor. *The EMBO Journal* **15**, 839-849.

Martín-Cuadrado, A.B., Dueñas, E., Sipiczki, M., Vázquez de Aldana, C.R. and Rey, F.d. (2003). The endo-β-1,3-glucanase Eng1p is required for dissolution of the primary septum during cell separation in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Journal of Cell Science* **116**, 1689-1698.

Masukata, H., Huberman, J.A., Frattini, M.G. and Kelly, T.J. (2003). DNA Replication in *S. pombe*. In *The Molecular Biology of Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (ed. R. Egel). Springer, 73-94.

Masumoto, H., Sugino, A. and Araki, H. (2000). Dpb11 controls the association between DNA polymerases alpha and epsilon and the autonomously replicating sequence region of budding yeast. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **20**, 2809-2817.

Mata, J., Curado, S., Ephrussi, A. and Rørth, P. (2000). Tribbles Coordinates Mitosis and Morphogenesis in Drosophila by Regulating String/CDC25 Proteolysis. *Cell* **101**, 511-522.

May, K.M., Reynolds, N., Cullen, C.F., Yanagida, M. and Ohkura, H. (2002). Polo boxes and Cut23 (Apc8) mediate an interaction between polo kinase and the anaphase-promoting complex for fission yeast mitosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **156**, 23-28.

McBride, H.J., Yu, Y. and Stillman, D.J. (1999). Distinct regions of the Swi5 and Ace2 transcription factors are required for specific gene activation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **30**, 21029-21036.

McCollum, D. and Gould, K.L. (2001). Timing is everything: regulation of mitotic exit and cytokinesis by the MEN and SIN. *Trends in Cell Biology* **11**, 89-95.

McCully, E.K. and Robinow, C.F. (1971). Mitosis in the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*: A comparative study with light and electron microscopy. *Journal of Cell Science* **9**, 475-507.

McInerny, C.J. (2004). Cell cycle-regulated transcription in fission yeast. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **32**, 967-972.

McInerny, C.J., Kersey, P.J., Creanor, J. and Fantes, P.A. (1995). Positive and negative roles for cdc10 in cell cycle gene expression. *Nucleic Acids Research* **23**, 4761-4768.

McInerny, C.J., Partridge, J.F., Mikesell, G.E., Creemer, D.P. and Breeden, L.L. (1997). A novel Mcm1dependent element in the *SWI4*, *CLN3*, *CDC6*, and *CDC47* promoters activates M/G1-specific transcription. *Genes and Development* **11**, 1277-1288.

McMillan, J.N., Longtine, M.S., Sia, R.A., Theesfeld, C.L., Bardes, E.S., Pringle, J.R. and Lew, D.J. (1999). The morphogenesis checkpoint in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: cell cycle control of Swe1p degradation by Hsl1p and Hsl7p. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**, 6929-6939.

Menssen, R., Neutzner, A. and Seufert, W. (2001). Asymmetric spindle pole localization of yeast Cdc15p links mitotic exit and cytokinesis. *Current Biology* **11**, 345-350.

Messenguy, F. and Dubois, E. (1993). Genetic evidence for a role for MCM1 in the regulation of arginine metabolism in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **13**, 2586-2592.

Messenguy, F. and Dubois, E. (2003). Role of MADS box proteins and their cofactors in combinatorial control of gene expression and cell development. *Gene* **316**, 1-21.

Millar, J.B. and Russell, P. (1992). The cdc25 M-phase inducer: an unconventional protein phosphatase. *Cell* **68**, 407-410.

Millar, J.B., McGowan, C.H., Lenaers, G., Jones, R. and Russell, P. (1991). p80cdc25 mitotic inducer is the tyrosine phosphatase that activates p34cdc2 kinase in fission yeast. *The EMBO Journal* **10**, 4301-4309.

Miller, J.H. (1992). A short course in bacterial genetics. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York.

Minet, M., Nurse, P., Thuriaux, P. and Mitchison, J.M. (1979). Uncontrolled septation in a cell division cycle mutant of the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *The Journal of Bacteriology* **137**, 440-446.

Miyake, S., Okishio, N., Samejima, I., Hiraoka, Y., Toda, T., Saitoh, I. and Yanagida, M. (1993). Fission yeast genes *nda1*⁺ and *nda4*⁺, mutations of which lead to S-phase block, chromatin alteration and Ca²⁺ suppression, are members of the CDC46/MCM2 family. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **4**, 1003-1015.

Miyamoto, M., Tanaka, K, and Okayama, H. (1994). *res2*⁺, a new member of the *cdc10*⁺/SWI4 family, controls the 'start' of mitotic and meiotic cycles in fission yeast. *The EMBO Journal* **13**, 1873-1880.

Miyata, M., Matsuoka, M. and Inada, T. (1997). Induction of sexual co-flocculation of heterothallic fission yeast (*Schizosaccharomyces pombe*) cells by mating pheromones. *The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology* **43**, 169-174.

Molkentin, J.D. and Olson, E.N. (1996). Combinatorial control of muscle development by basic helix-loop-helix and MADS-box transcription factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **93**, 9366-9373.

Moll, T., Tebb, G., Surana, U., Robitsch, H. and Nasmyth, K. (1991). The role of phosphorylation and the CDC28 protein kinase in the cell cycle-regulated nuclear import of the S. cerevisiae transcription factor SWI5. *Cell* **66**, 743-758.

Molz, L., Booher, R., Young, P. and Beach, D. (1989). *cdc2* and the regulation of mitosis: six interacting *mcs* genes. *Genetics* **122**, 773-782.

Mondesert, O., McGowan, C.H. and Russell, P. (1996). Cig2, a B-Type Cyclin, Promotes the Onset of S Phase in Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **16**, 1527-1533.

Mondesert, O., Moreno, S. and Russell, P. (1994). Low molecular weight protein-tyrosine phosphatases are highly conserved between fission yeast and man. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **269**, 27996-27999.

Moon, K.-Y., Kong, D., Lee, J.-K., Raychaudhuri, S. and Hurwitz, J. (1999). Identification and reconstitution of the origin recognition complex from *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **96**, 12367-12372.

Moreno, S., Klar, A. and Nurse, P. (1991). Molecular genetic analysis of the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Methods in Enzymology* **194**, 795-823.

Moreno, S., Labib, K., Correa, J. and Nurse, P. (1994). Regulation of the cell cycle timing of Start in fission yeast by the *rum1*⁺ gene. *Journal of Cell Science*. *Supplement* **18**, 63-68.

Moreno, S., Nurse, P. and Russell, P. (1990). Regulation of mitosis by cyclic accumulation of p80^{cdc25} mitotic inducer in fission yeast. *Nature* **344**, 549-552.

Morgan, D.O. (1995b). Principles of CDK regulation. Nature 374, 131-134.

Morgan, D.O. (1997). CYCLIN-DEPENDENT KINASES: Engines, Clocks, and Microprocessors. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* **13**, 261-91.

Morgan, D.O. (1999). Regulation of the APC and the exit from mitosis. Nature Cell Biology 1, E47-E53.

Morrell, J.L., Nichols, C.B. and Gould, K.L. (2004). The GIN4 family kinase, Cdr2p, acts independently of septins in fission yeast. *Journal of Cell Science* **117**, 5293-5302.

Morris, N.R. (1975). Mitotic mutants of Aspergillus nidulans. Genetical Research 26, 237-254.

Moser, B.A. and Russell, P. (2000). Cell cycle regulation in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* **3**, 631-636.

Mueller, P.R., Coleman, T.R. and Dunphy, W.G. (1995a). Cell Cycle Regulation of a *Xenopus* Wee1-like Kinase. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **6**, 119-134.

Mueller, P.R., Coleman, T.R., Kumagai, A. and Dunphy, W.G. (1995b). Myt1: a membrane-associated inhibitory kinase that phosphorylates Cdc2 on both threonine-14 and tyrosine-15. *Science* **270**, 86-90.

Mulvihill, D.P., Petersen, J., Ohkura, H., Glover, D.M. and Hagan, I.M. (1999). Plo kinase recruitment to the spindle pole body and its role in cell division in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **10**, 2771-2785.

Munz, P., Wolf, K., Kohli, J. and Leupold, U. (1989). Genetics overview. In *Molecular Biology of the Fission Yeast* (ed. A. Nasim, P. Young and B. F. Johnson). Academic Press, San Diego, 1-30.

Muzi-Falconi, M. and Kelly, T.J. (1995). Orp1, a member of the Cdc18/Cdc6 family of S-phase regulators, is homologous to a component of the origin recognition complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **92**, 12475-12479.

Myers, L.C. and Kornberg, R.D. (2000). Mediator of Transcriptional Regulation. Annual Review of Biochemistry 69, 729-749.

Nabeshima, K., Kurooka, H., Takeuchi, M., Kinoshita, K., Nakaseko, Y.and Yanagida, M. (1995). p93^{dis1}, which is required for sister chromatid separation, is a novel microtubule and spindle pole body associating protein phosphorylated at the Cdc2 target sites. *Genes and Development* **9**, 1572-1585.

Nakajima, R. and Masukata, H. (2002). SpSld3 is required for loading and maintenance of SpCdc45 on chromatin in DNA replication in fission yeast. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **13**, 1462-72.

Nakashima, N., Tanaka, K., Sturm, S. and Okayama, H. (1995). Fission yeast Rep2 is a putative transcriptional activator subunit for the cell cycle 'start' function of Res2-Cdc10. *The EMBO Journal* **14**, 4794-4802.

Nasmyth, K. (1996). At the heart of the budding yeast cell cycle. *Trends in Genetics* **12**, 405-412.

Nasmyth, K. (2001). A Prize for Proliferation. Cell 107, 689-701.

Nasmyth, K. and Nurse, P. (1981). Cell Division Cycle Mutants Altered in DNA Replication and Mitosis in the Fission Yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Molecular Genomics and Genetics* **182**, 119-124.

Nasmyth, K.A. (1979). A control acting over the initiation of DNA replication in the yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Journal of Cell Science* **36**, 155-168.

Neef, R., Gruneberg, U., Kopajtich, R., Li, X., Nigg, E.A., Sillje, H. and Barr, F.A. (2007). Choice of Plk1 docking partners during mitosis and cytokinesis is controlled by the activation state of Cdk1. *Nature Cell Biology* **9**, 436-444.

Ng, S.S., Anderson, M., White, S. and McInerny, C.J. (2001). *mik1*⁺ G1-S transcription regulates mitotic entry in fission yeast. *FEBS Letters* **503**, 131-134.

Ng, S.S., Papadopoulou, K. and McInerny, C.J. (2006). Regulation of gene expression and cell division by Polo-like kinases. *Current Genetics* **50**, 73-80.

Nguyen, V.Q., Co, C. and Li, J.J. (2001). Cyclin-dependent kinases prevent DNA re-replication through multiple mechanisms. *Nature* **411**, 1068-1073.

Nielsen, O. and Løbner-Olesen, A. (2008). Once in a lifetime: strategies for preventing re-replication in prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells. *EMBO reports* **9**, 151-156. Nigg, E.A. (1995). Cyclin-dependent protein kinases: key regulators of the eukaryotic cell cycle. *BioEssays* **17**, 471-480.

Nigg, E.A. (1996). Cyclin-dependent kinase 7: at the cross-roads of transcription, DNA repair and cell cycle control?. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **8**, 312-317.

Nigg, E.A. (1998). Polo-like kinases: positive regulators of cell division from start to finish. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **10**, 776-783.

Nigg, E.A. (2001). Mitotic kinases as regulators of cell division and its checkpoints. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **2**, 21-32.

Nikolov, D.B. and Burley, S.K. (1997). RNA polymerase II transcription initiation: a structural view. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **94**, 15-22.

Nishitani, H. and Lygerou, Z. (2004). DNA Replication licensing. Frontiers in Bioscience 9, 2115-2132.

Nishitani, H. and Nurse, P. (1997). The cdc18 protein initiates DNA replication in fission yeast. *Progress in Cell Cycle Research* **3**, 135-42.

Nishitani, H., Lygerou, Z., Nishimoto, T. and Nurse, P. (2000). The Cdt1 protein is required to license DNA for replication in fission yeast. *Nature* **404**, 625-628.

Noguchi, E., Shanahan, P., Noguchi, C. and Russell, P. (2002). CDK phosphorylation of Drc1 regulates DNA replication in fission yeast. *Current Biology* **12**, 599-605.

Norman, C., Runswick, M., Pollock, R. and Treisman, R. (1988). Isolation and properties of cDNA clones encoding SRF, a transcription factor that binds to the c-fos serum response element. *Cell* **55**, 989-1003.

Nurse, P. (1975). Genetic control of cell size at cell division in yeast. *Nature* **256**, 547-551.

Nurse, P. (1990). Universal control mechanism regulating onset of M-phase. *Nature* **344**, 503-508.

Nurse, P. (2000). A Long Twentieth Century of the Cell Cycle and Beyond. Cell 100, 71-78.

Nurse, P. (2002). Cyclin Dependent Kinases and Cell Cycle Control (Nobel Lecture). ChemBioChem 3, 596-603.

Nurse, P. and Bissett, Y. (1981). Gene required in G1 for commitment to cell cycle and in G2 for control of mitosis in fission yeast. *Nature* **292**, 558-560.

Nurse, P. and Thuriaux, P. (1980). Regulatory genes controlling mitosis in the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Genetics* **96**, 627-637.

Nurse, P., Masui, Y. and Hartwell, L. (1998). Understanding the cell cycle. Nature Medicine 4, 1103-1106.

Nurse, P., Thuriaux, P. and Nasmyth, K. (1976). Genetic control of the cell division cycle in the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *Molecular and General Genetics* **23**, 167-178.

Oganesyan, N., Ankoudinova, I., Kim, S-H. and Kim, R. (2007). Effect of osmotic stress and heat shock in recombinant protein overexpression and crystallization. *Protein Expression and Purification* **52**, 280-285.

Ogas, J., Andrews, B. J. and Herskowitz, I. (1991). Transcriptional Activation of *CLN1*, *CLN2*, and a Putative New G1 Cyclin (*HCS26*) by SWI4, a Positive Regulator of G1-Specific Transcription. *Cell* **66**, 1015-1026.

Ohi, R. and Gould, K.L. (1999). Regulating the onset of mitosis. Current opinion in Cell Biology 11, 267-273.

Ohkura, H., Hagan, I.M. and Glover, D.M. (1995). The conserved *Schizosaccharomyces pombe kinase* Plo1, required to form a bipolar spindle, the actin ring, and septum, can drive septum formation in G1 and G2 cells. *Genes and Development* **9**, 1059-1073.

Okuno, Y., Satoh, H., Sekiguchi, M. and Masukata, H. (1999). Clustered adenine/thymine stretches are essential for function of a fission yeast replication origin. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**, 6699-6709.

Oliva, A., Rosebrock, A., Ferrezuelo, F., Pyne, S., Chen, H., Skiena, S., Futcher, B. and Leatherwood, J. (2005). The cell cycle-regulated genes of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *PLoS Biology* **3**, 1239-1260.

O'Regan, L., Blot, J. and Fry, A.M. (2007). Mitotic regulation by NIMA-related kinases. *Cell Division* **2:25**, doi:10.1186/1747-1028-2-25.

Osley, M.A., Gould, J., Kim, S., Kane, M.Y. and Hereford, L. (1986). Identification of sequences in a yeast histone promoter involved in periodic transcription. *Cell* **45**, 537-544.

Papadopoulou, K., Ng, S.S., Ohkura, H., Geymonat, M., Sedgwick, S.G. and McInerny, C.J. (2008). Regulation of gene expression during M-G1-phase in fission yeast through Plo1p and forkhead transcription factors. *Journal of Cell Science* **121**, 38-47.

Parker, L.L., Walter, S.A., Young, P.G. and Piwnica-Worms, H. (1993). Phosphorylation and inactivation of the mitotic inhibitor Wee1 by the *nim1/cdr1* kinase. *Nature* **363**, 736-738.

Passmore, S., Elble, R. and Tye, B.K. (1989). A protein involved in minichromosome maintenance in yeast binds a transcriptional enhancer conserved in eukaryotes. *Genes and Development* **3**, 921-935.

Paule, M.R. and White. R.J. (2000). Transcription by RNA polymerases I and III. *Nucleic Acids Research* 28, 1283-1298.

Pellegrini, L., Tan, S. and Richmond, T.J. (1995). Structure of serum response factor core bound to DNA. *Nature* **376**, 490-498.

Peng, X., Karuturi, RK., Mille, r L.D., Lin, K., Jia, Y., Kondu, P., Wang, L., Wong, L.S., Liu, E.T., Balasubramanian, M.K. and Liu, J. (2005). Identification of cell cycle-regulated genes in fission yeast. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **16**, 1026-1042.

Pereira, G. and Schiebel, E. (2001). The role of the yeast spindle pole body and the mammalian centrosome in regulating late mitotic events. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **13**, 762-769.

Petersen, J., Paris, J., Willer, M., Philippe, M. and Hagan, I.M. (2001). The *S. pombe* aurora-related kinase Ark1 associates with mitotic structures in a stage dependent manner and is required for chromosome segregation. *Journal of Cell Science* **114**, 4371-4384.

Petit, C.S., Mehta, S., Roberts, R.H. and Gould, K.L. (2005). Ace2p contributes to fission yeast septin ring assembly by regulating *mid2*⁺ expression. *Journal of Cell Science* **118**, 5731-5742.

Petronczki, M., Glotzer, M., Kraut, N. and Peters, J.M. (2007). Polo-like Kinase 1 Triggers the Initiation of Cytokinesis in Human Cells by Promoting Recruitment of the RhoGEF Ect2 to the Central Spindle. *Developmental Cell* **12**, 713-725.

Petronczki, M., Lénárt, P. and Peters, J.M. (2008). Polo on the Rise-from Mitotic Entry to Cytokinesis with Plk1. *Developmental Cell* **14**, 646-659.

Pic, A., Lim, F.L., Ross, S.J., Veal, E.A., Johnson, A.L., Sultan, M.R., West, A.G., Johnston, L.H., Sharrocks, A.D. and Morgan, B.A. (2000). The forkhead protein Fkh2 is a component of the yeast cell cycle transcription factor SFF. *The EMBO Journal* **19**, 3750-3761.

Pic-Taylor, A., Darieva, Z., Morgan, B.A. and Sharrocks, A.D. (2004). Regulation of Cell Cycle Specific Gene Expression through Cyclin-Dependent Kinase-Mediated Phosphorylation of the Forkhead Transcription Factor Fkh2p. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **24**, 10036-10046.

Pierrou, S., Hellqvist, M., Samuelsson, L., Enerback, S. and Carlsson, P. (1994). Cloning and characterization of seven human forkhead proteins: binding site specificity and DNA bending. *The EMBO Journal* **13**, 5002-5012.

Piggott, J.R., Rai, R. and Carter, L.A. (1982). A bifunctional gene product involved in two phases of the yeast cell cycle. *Nature* **298**, 391-393.

Pintard, L. and Peter, M. (2001). Mitotic Exit: Closing the Gap. *Molecular Cell* 8, 1155-1161.

Pollock, R. and Treisman, R. (1991). Human SRF-related proteins: DNA binding properties and potential regulatory targets. *Genes and Development* **5**, 2327-2341.

Pramila, T., Miles, S., GuhaThakurta, D., Jemiolo, D. and Breeden, L.L. (2002). Conserved homeodomain proteins interact with MADS box protein Mcm1 to restrict ECB-dependent transcription to the M/G1 phase of the cell cycle. *Genes and Development* **16**, 3034-3045.

Pringle, J.R. (1978). The use of conditional lethal cell cycle mutants for temporal and functional sequence mapping of cell cycle events. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* **95**, 393-406.

Pringle, J.R. and Hartwell, L.H. (1981). The Saccharomyces cerevisiae cell cycle. In *Molecular biology of the yeast Saccharomyces: Life cycle and inheritance*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York, 97-142.

Pu, R.T. and Osmani, S.A. (1995). Mitotic destruction of the cell cycle regulated NIMA protein kinase of *Aspergillus nidulans* is required for mitotic exit. *The EMBO Journal* **14**, 995-1003.

Qian, Y.W., Erikson, E., Li, C. and Maller, J.L. (1998a). Activated polo-like kinase Plx1 is required at multiple points during mitosis in *Xenopus laevis*. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* **18**, 4262-4271.

Ralph, E., Boye, E. and Kearsey, S.E. (2006). DNA damage induces Cdt1 proteolysis in fission yeast through a pathway dependent on Cdt2 and Ddb1. *EMBO reports* **7**, 1134-1139.

Rao, H., Marahrens, Y. and Stillman, B. (1994). Functional conservation of multiple elements in yeast chromosomal replicators. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **14**, 7643-7651.

Rape, M. (2007). Cell Cycle: On-Time Delivery of Plk1 during Cytokinesis. Current Biology 17, R506-R508.

Ren, B., Cam, H., Takahashi, Y., Volkert, T., Terragni, J., Young, R.A. and Dynlacht, B.D. (2002). E2F integrates cell cycle progression and with DNA repair, replication, and G2/M checkpoints. *Genes and Development* **16**, 245-256.

Reymond, A., Marks, J. and Simanis, V. (1993). The activity of S. *pombe* DSC-1-like factor is cell cycle regulated and dependent on the activity of p34cdc2. *The EMBO Journal* **12**, 4325-4334.

Reynolds, D., Shi, B.J., McLean, C., Katsis, F., Kemp, B. and Dalton, S. (2003). Recruitment of Thr 319phosphorylated Ndd1p to the FHA domain of Fkh2p requires Clb kinase activity: a mechanism for CLB cluster gene activation. *Genes and Development* **17**, 1789-1802.

Reynolds, N. and Ohkura, H. (2003). Polo boxes form a single functional domain that mediate interactions with multiple proteins in fission yeast polo kinase. *Journal of Cell Science* **116**, 1377-1387.

Rhind, N. and Russell, P. (1998). The *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* S-Phase Checkpoint Differentiates Between Different Types of DNA Damage. *Genetics* **149**, 1729-1737.

Rhind, N. and Russell, P. (2000). Chk1 and Cds1: linchpins of the DNA damage and replication checkpoint pathways. *Journal of Cell Science* **113**, 3889-3896.

Rhind, N. and Russell, P. (2001). Roles of the Mitotic Inhibitors Wee1 and Mik1 in the G2 DNA Damage and Replication Checkpoints. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **21**, 1499-1508.

Ribár, B., Bánrévi, A. and Sipiczki, M. (1997). *sep1*⁺ Encodes a transcription-factor homologue of the HNF-3/forkhead DNA-binding-domain family in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Gene* **202**, 1-5.

Ribár, B., Grallert, A., Olah, E. and Szallasi, Z. (1999). Deletion of the *sep1(+)* forkhead transcription factor homologue is not lethal but causes hyphal growth in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **263**, 465-474.

Robinow, C.F. (1977) The number of chromosomes in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*: Light microscopy of stained preparations. *Genetics* **87**, 491-497.

Rupeš, I. (2002). Checking cell size in yeast. Trends in Genetics 18, 479-485.

Russell, P. and Nurse, P. (1986a). *cdc25*⁺ Functions as an Inducer in the Mitotic Control of Fission Yeast. *Cell* **45**, 145-153.

Russell, P. (1998). Checkpoints on the road to mitosis. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 23, 399-402.

Russell, P. and Nurse, P. (1986b). Schizosaccharomyces pombe and Saccharomyces cerevisiae: A Look at Yeasts Divided. Cell **45**, 761-762.

Russell, P. and Nurse, P. (1987). Negative Regulation of Mitosis by *wee1*⁺, a Gene Encoding a Protein Kinase Homolog. *Cell* **49**, 559-567.

Russell, P., Moreno, S. and Reed, S.I. (1989). Conservation of mitotic controls in fission and budding yeasts. *Cell* **57**, 295-303.

Rustici, G., Mata, J., Kivinen, K., Lio, P., Penkett, C.J., Burns, G., Hayles, J., Brazma, A., Nurse, P. and Bähler, J. (2004). Periodic gene expression program of the fission yeast cell cycle. *Nature Genetics* **36**, 809-817.

Saiz, J.E. and Fisher, R.P. (2002). A CDK-activating kinase network is required in cell cycle control and transcription in fission yeast. *Current Biology* **12**, 1100-1105.

Sakchaisri, K., Asano, S., Yu, L.R., Shulewitz, M.J., Park, C.J., Park, J.E., Cho, Y.W., Veenstra, T.D., Thorner, J. and Lee, K.S. (2004). Coupling morphogenesis to mitotic entry. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **101**, 4124-4129.

Sambrook, J. and Russell, D.W. (2001). Molecular cloning: A laboratory manual. *Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor*, New York.

Samuel, J.M., Fournier, N., Simanis, V. and Millar, J.B.A. (2000). *spo12* is a multicopy suppressor of *mcs3* that is periodically expressed in fission yeast mitosis. *Molecular and General Genetics* **264**, 306-316.

Schwob, E., Böhm, T., Mendenhall, M.D. and Nasmyth, K. (1994). The B-type cyclin kinase inhibitor p40^{SIC1} controls the G1 to S transition in *S. cerevisiae*. *Cell* **79**, 233-244.

Seki, A., Coppinger, J.A., Jang, C.Y., Yates III, J.R. and Fang, G. (2008a). Bora and the Kinase Aurora A Cooperatively Activate the Kinase Plk1 and Control Mitotic Entry. *Science* **320**, 1655-1658.

Seki, A., Coppinger, J.A., Du, H., Jang, C.Y., Yates III, J.R. and Fang, G. (2008b). Plk1- and β-TrCP dependent degradation of Bora controls mitotic progression. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **181**, 65-78.

Seong, Y.S., Kamijo, K., Lee, J.S., Fernandez, E., Kuriyama, R., Miki, T. and Lee, K.S. (2002). A spindle checkpoint arrest and a cytokinesis failure by the dominant-negative polo-box domain of Plk1 in U-2 OS cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **277**, 32282-32293.

Sharrocks, A.D. (2002). Complexities in ETS-domain transcription factor function and regulation: lessons from the TCF (Ternary Complex Factor) subfamily. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **30**, 1-9.

Sherr, C.J. (1996). Cancer Cell Cycles. Science 274, 1672-1677.

Sherr, C.J. and Roberts, J.M. (2004). Living with or without cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases. *Genes and Development* **18**, 2699-2711.

Sherwood, P.W., Tsang, S.V. and Osley, M.A. (1993). Characterisation of HIR1 and HIR2, two genes required for regulation of histone gene transcription in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **13**, 28-38.

Shimada, M., Yamada-Namikawa, C., Murakami-Tonami, Y., Yoshida, T., Nakanishi, M., Urano, T. and Murakami, H. (2008). Cdc2p controls the forkhead transcription factor Fkh2p by phosphorylation during sexual differentiation in fission yeast. *The EMBO Journal* **27**, 132-142.

Shirayama, M., Zachariae, W., Ciosk, R. and Nasmyth, K. (1998). The Polo-like kinase Cdc5p and the WD-repeat protein Cdc20p/fizzy are regulators and substrates of the anaphase promoting complex in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *The EMBO Journal* **17**, 1336-1349.

Shore, P. and Sharrocks, A.D. (1995). The MADS-box family of transcription factors. *European Journal of Biochemistry* **229**, 1-13.

Shulewitz, M.J., Inouye, C.J. and Thorner, J. (1999). Hsl7 localizes to a septin ring and serves as an adapter in a regulatory pathway that relieves tyrosine phosphorylation of Cdc28 protein kinase in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**, 7123-7137.

Simanis, V. (1995). The control of septum formation and cytokinesis in fission yeast. *Seminars in Cell Biology* **6**, 79-87.

Simanis, V. (2003). Events at the end of mitosis in the budding and fission yeasts. *Journal of Cell Science* **116**, 4263-4275.

Simon, I., Barnett, J., Hannett, N., Harbison, C.T., Rinaldi, N.J., Volkert, T.L., Wyrick, J.J., Zeitlinger, J., Gifford, D.K., Jaakkola, T.S. and Young, R.A. (2001). Serial regulation of transcriptional regulators in the yeast cell cycle. *Cell* **106**, 697-708.

Sipiczki, M. (2000). Where does fission yeast sit on the tree of life?. Genome Biology 1, reviews1011.1-1011.4.

Sipiczki, M., Grallert, B. and Miklos, I. (1993). Mycelial and syncytial growth in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* induced by novel septation mutations. *Journal of Cell Science* **104**, 485-493.

Smale, S.T. and Kadonaga, J.T. (2003). The RNA polymerase II core promoter. Annual Review of Biochemistry 72, 449-479.

Snell, V. and Nurse, P. (1994). Genetic analysis of cell morphogenesis in fission yeast-a role for casein kinase II in the establishment of polarized growth. *The EMBO Journal* **13**, 2066-2074.

Sohrmann, M., Fankhauser, C., Brodbeck, C. and Simanis, V. (1996). The dmf1/ mid1 gene is essential for correct positioning of the division septum in fission yeast. *Genes and Development* **10**, 2707-2719.

Sommer, H., Beltran, J.P., Huijser, P., Pape, H., Lonnig, W.E., Saedler, H. and Schwarz-Sommer, Z. (1990). Deficiens, a homeotic gene involved in the control of flower morphogenesis in *Antirrhinum majus*: the protein shows homology to transcription factors. *The EMBO Journal* **9**, 605-613.

Song, K., Mach, K.E., Chen, C.Y., Reynolds, T. and Albright, C.F. (1996). A novel suppressor of ras1 in fission yeast, byr4, is a dosage- dependent inhibitor of cytokinesis. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **133**, 1307-1319.

Song, S., Grenfell, T.Z., Garfield, S., Erikson, R.L. and Lee, K.S. (2000). Essential function of the polo box of Cdc5 in subcellular localization and induction of cytokinetic structures. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **20**, 286-298.

Spellman, P.T., Sherlock, G., Zhang, M.Q., Iyer, V.R., Anders, K., Eisen, M.B., Brown, P.O., Botstein, D. and Futcher, B. (1998). *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **9**, 3273-3297.

Stegmeier, F., Visintin, R. and Amon, A. (2002). Separase, polo kinase, the kinetochore protein Slk19, and Spo12 function in a network that controls Cdc14 localization during early anaphase. *Cell* **108**, 207-220.

Stevens, C. and LaThangue, N.B. (2003). E2F and cell cycle control: a double-edged sword. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics **412**, 157-169.

Strausfeld, U., Labbé, J.C., Fesquet, D., Cavadore, J.C., Picard, A., Sadhu, K., Russell, P. and Dorée, M. (1991). Dephosphorylation and activation of a p34^{cdc2}/cyclin B complex in vitro by human CDC25 protein. *Nature* **351**, 242-245.

Struhl, K. (1999). Fundamentally Different Logic of Gene Regulation in Eukaryotes and Prokaryotes. *Cell* **98**, 1-4.

Su, S.S.Y. and Yanagida, M. (1997). Mitosis and Cytokinesis in the Fission Yeast, *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. In *The Molecular and Cellular Biology of the Yeast Saccharomyces: Cell Cycle and Cell Biology* (ed. J. R, Pringle, J. R, Broach, and E. W. Jones). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 765-825.

Sudakin, V., Ganoth, D., Dahan, A., Heller, H., Hershko, J., Luca, F.C., Ruderman, J.V. and Hershko, A. (1995). The cyclosome, a large complex containing cyclin-selective ubiquitin ligase activity, targets cyclins for destruction at the end of mitosis. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **6**, 185-97.

Sugiyama, A., Tanaka, K., Okazaki, K., Nojima, H. and Okayama, H. (1994). A zinc finger protein controls the onset of premeiotic DNA synthesis of fission yeast in a Mei2-independent cascade. *The EMBO Journal* **13**, 1881-1887.

Sullivan, M. and Morgan, D.O. (2007). Finishing mitosis, one step at a time. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **8**, 894-903.

Sumara, I., Vorlaufer, E., Stukenberg, P.T., Kelm, O., Redemann, N., Nigg, E.A. and Peters, J-M. (2002). The Dissociation of Cohesin from Chromosomes in Prophase Is Regulated by Polo-like Kinase. *Molecular Cell* **9**, 515-525.

Sumara, I., Gimenez-Abian, J.F., Gerlich, D., Hirota, T., Kraft, C., de la Torre, C., Ellenberg, J. and Peters, J.M. (2004). Roles of polo-like kinase 1 in the assembly of functional mitotic spindles. *Current Biology* **14**, 1712-1722.

Sunkel, C.E. and Glover, D.M. (1988). *polo*, a mitotic mutant of *Drosophila* displaying abnormal spindle poles. *Journal of Cell Science* **89**, 25-38.

Surana, U., Robitsch, H., Price, C., Schuster, T., Fitch, I., Futcher, A.B. and Nasmyth, K. (1991). The role of CDC28 and cyclins during mitosis in the budding yeast *S. cerevisiae*. *Cell* **65**, 145-161.

Sutani, T., Yuasa, T., Tomonaga, T., Dohmae, N., Takio, K. and Yanagida, M. (1999). Fission yeast condensin complex: essential roles of non-SMC subunits for condensation and Cdc2 phosphorylation of Cut3/SMC4. *Genes and Development* **13**, 2271-2283.

Szilagyi, Z., Batta, G., Enczi, K. and Sipiczki, M. (2005). Characterisation of two novel fork-head gene homologues of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*: Their involvement in cell cycle and sexual differentiation. *Gene* **348**, 101-109.

Takahashi, K. and Yanagida, M. (2003). Chromosome cohesion and segregation. In *The Molecular Biology of Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (ed. R. Egel). Springer, 171-189.

Takahashi, K., Saitoh, S. and Yanagida, M. (2000). Application of the Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Method to Identify in Vivo Protein-DNA Associations in Fission Yeast. *Science STKE* **56**, 1-11.

Takaki, T., Trenz, K., Costanzo, V. and Petronczki, M. (2008). Polo-like kinase 1 reaches beyond mitosiscytokinesis, DNA damage response, and development. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **20**, 650-660.

Takisawa, H., Mimura, S. and Kubota, Y. (2000). Eukaryotic DNA replication: from pre-replication complex to initiation complex. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **12**, 690-696.

Tan, S. and Richmond, T.J. (1998). Crystal structure of the yeast MATalpha2/MCM1/DNA ternary complex. *Nature* **391**, 660-666.

Tanaka, K., Peterson, J., Maclver, F., Mulvihill, D.P., Glover, D.M. and Hagan, I.M. (2001). The role of Plo1 kinase in mitotic commitment and septation in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *The EMBO Journal* **20**, 1269-1270.

Tang, Z., Coleman, T.R. and Dunphy, W.G. (1993). Two distinct mechanisms for negative regulation of the Wee1 protein kinase. *The EMBO Journal* **12**, 3427-3436.

Taniguchi, E., Toyoshima-Morimoto, F. and Nishida, E. (2002). Nuclear translocation of plk1 mediated by its bipartite nuclear localization signal. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **277**, 48884-48888.

Tassan, J.-P., Schultz, S.J., Bartek, J. and Nigg, E.A. (1994). Cell cycle analysis of the activity, subcellular localization and subunit composition of human CAK (CDK-activating kinase). *The Journal of Cell Biology* **127**, 467-478.

Tasto, J.J., Morrell, J.L. and Gould, K.L. (2003). An anillin homologue, Mid2p, acts during fission yeast cytokinesis to organize the septin ring and promote cell separation. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **160**, 1093-1103.

Tirode, F., Busso, D., Coin, F. and Egly, J.M. (1999). Reconstitution of the transcription factor TFIIH: assignment of functions for the three enzymatic subunits, XPB, XPD, and cdk7. *Molecular Cell* **3**, 87-95.

Towbin, H., Staehelin, T. and Gordon, J. (1979). Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Biotechnology* **24**, 145-149.

Toyn, J.H., Johnson, A.L., Donovan, J.D., Toone, W.M. and Johnston, L.H. (1997). The Swi5 transcription factor of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* has a role in exit from mitosis through induction of the cdk-inhibitor Sic1 in telophase. *Genetics* **145**, 85-96.

Toyoshima-Morimoto, F., Taniguchi, E. and Nishida, E. (2002). Plk1 promotes nuclear translocation of human Cdc25C during prophase. *EMBO Reports* **3**, 341-348.

Toyoshima-Morimoto, F., Taniguchi, E., Shinya, N., Iwamatsu, A. and Nishida, E. (2001). Polo-like kinase 1 phosphorylates cyclin B1 and targets it to the nucleus during prophase. *Nature* **410**, 215-220.

Trautmann, S., Wolfe, B.A., Jorgensen, P., Tyers, M., Gould, K.L. and McCollum, D. (2001). Fission yeast Clp1p phosphatase regulates G2/M transition and coordination of cytokinesis with cell cycle progression. *Current Biology* **11**, 931-940.

Treisman, R. (1994). Ternary complex factors: growth regulated transcriptional activators. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* **4**, 96-101.

Treisman, R. and Ammerer, G. (1992). The SRF and MCM1 transcription factors. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* **2**, 221-226.

Tye, B.K. and Sawyer S. (2000). The hexameric eukaryotic MCM helicase: building symmetry from nonidentical parts. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**, 34833-34836.

Uchiyama, M., Griffiths, D., Arai, K. And Masai, H. (2001). Essential role of Sna41/Cdc45 in loading of DNA polymerase a onto minichromosome maintenance proteins in fission yeast. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**, 26189-26196.

Utzig, S., Fankhauser, C. and Simanis, V. (2000). Periodic Accumulation of *cdc15* mRNA is not Necessary for Septation in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **302**, 751-759.

Valay, J.-G., Simon, M., Dubois, M.-F., Bensaude, O., Facca, C. and Faye, G. (1995). The *KIN28* gene is required both for RNA polymerase II mediated transcription and phosphorylation of the Rpb1p CTD. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **249**, 535-544.

van de Weerdt, B.C. and Medema, R.H. (2006). Polo-like kinases: a team in control of the division. *Cell Cycle* **5**, 853-864.

Van Helden, J. (2003). Regulatory Sequence Analysis Tools. Nucleic Acids Research 31, 3593-3596.

van Vugt, M.A.T.M. and Medema, R.H. (2005). Getting in and out of mitosis with Polo-like kinase-1. *Oncogene* 24, 2844-2859.

Vas, A., Mok, W. and Leatherwood, L. (2001). Control of DNA Rereplication via Cdc2 Phosphorylation Sites in the Origin Recognition Complex. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **21**, 5767-5777.

Verma, R., Annan, R.S., Huddleston, M.J., Carr, S.A., Reynard, G. and Deshaies, R.J. (1997). Phosphorylation of Sic1p by G1 Cdk Required for Its Degradation and Entry into S Phase. *Science* **278**, 455-460.

Watanabe, N., Arai, H., Nishihara, Y., Taniguchi, M., Watanabe, N., Hunter, T. and Osada, H. (2004). Mphase kinases induce phospho-dependent ubiquitination of somatic Wee1 by SCFbeta-TrCP. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **101**, 4419-4424.

Weigel, D. and Jackle, H. (1990). The fork head domain: a novel DNA binding motif of eukaryotic transcription factors? *Cell* **63**, 455-456.

Weigel, D., Jtirgens, G., Kiittner, F., Seifert, E. and Jackie, H. (1989). The homeotic gene fork head encodes a nuclear protein and is expressed in the terminal regions of the *Drosophila* embryo. *Cell* **57**, 645-658.

Winkles, J.A. and Alberts, G.F. (2005).Differential regulation of polo-like kinase 1, 2, 3, and 4 gene expression in mammalian cells and tissues. *Oncogene* **24**, 260-266.

White, R.J. (2001). Gene Transcription: Mechanisms and Control. Wiley-Blackwell.

White, S., Khaliq, F., Sotiriou, S. and McInerny, C.J. (2001). The role of DSCI components *cdc10*⁺, *rep1*⁺ and *rep2*⁺ in MCB gene transcription at the mitotic G1-S boundary in fission yeast. *Current Genetics* **40**, 251-259.

Whitehall, S., Stacey, P., Dawson, K. and Jones, N. (1999). Cell Cycle-regulated Transcription in Fission Yeast: Cdc10-Res Protein Interactions during the Cell Cycle and Domains Required for Regulated Transcription. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **10**, 3705-3714.

Whitmarsh, A.J. and Davis, R.J. (2000). Regulation of transcription factor function by phosphorylation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **57**, 1172-1183.

Wijnen, H., Landmann, A., and Futcher, B. (2002). The G1 Cyclin Cln3 Promotes Cell Cycle Entry via the Transcription Factor Swi6. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **22**, 4402-4418.

Wittenberg, C. and Reed, S.I. (2005). Cell cycle-dependent transcription in yeast: promoters, transcription factors, and transcriptomes. *Oncogene* **24**, 2746-2755.

Wolfe, B.A. and Gould, K.L. (2004a). Fission yeast Clp1p phosphatase affects G2/M transition and mitotic exit through Cdc25p inactivation. *The EMBO Journal* **23**, 919-929.

Wolfe, B.A. and Gould, K.L. (2004b). Inactivating Cdc25, Mitotic Style. Cell Cycle 3, 601-603.

Wolfe, B.A. and Gould, K.L. (2005). Split decisions: coordinating cytokinesis in yeast. *Trends in Cell Biology* **15**, 10-18.

Wood, V., Gwilliam, R., Rajandream, MA., Lyne, M., Lyne, R., Stewart, A., Sgouros, J., Peat, N., Hayles, J., Baker, S., Basham, D., Bowman, S., Brooks, K., Brown, D., Brown, S., Chillingworth, T., Churcher, C., Collins, M., Connor, R., Cronin, A., Davis, P., Feltwell, T., Fraser, A., Gentles, S., Goble, A., Hamlin, N., Harris, D., Hidalgo, J., Hodgson, G., Holroyd, S., Hornsby, T., Howarth, S., Huckle, E.J., Hunt, S., Jagels, K., James, K., Jones, L., Jones, M., Leather, S., McDonald, S., McLean, J., Moonev, P., Moule, S., Mungall, K., Murphy, L., Niblett, D., Odell, C., Oliver, K., O'Neil, S., Pearson, D., Quail, M.A., Rabbinowitsch, E., Rutherford, K., Rutter, S., Saunders, D., Seeger, K., Sharp, S., Skelton, J., Simmonds, M., Squares, R., Squares, S., Stevens, K., Taylor, K., Taylor, R.G., Tivey, A., Walsh, S., Warren, T., Whitehead, S., Woodward, J., Volckaert, G., Aert, R., Robben, J., Grymonprez, B., Weltjens, I., Vanstreels, E., Rieger, M., Schäfer, M., Müller-Auer, S., Gabel, C., Fuchs, M., Düsterhöft, A., Fritzc, C., Holzer, E., Moestl, D., Hilbert, H., Borzym, K., Langer, I., Beck, A., Lehrach, H., Reinhardt, R., Pohl, T.M., Eger, P., Zimmermann, W., Wedler, H., Wambutt, R., Purnelle, B., Goffeau, A., Cadieu, E., Dréano, S., Gloux, S., Lelaure, V., Mottier, S., Galibert, F., Aves, S.J., Xiang, Z., Hunt, C., Moore, K., Hurst, S.M., Lucas, M., Rochet, M., Gaillardin, C., Tallada, V.A., Garzon, A., Thode, G., Daga, R.R., Cruzado, L., Jimenez, J., Sánchez, M., del Rey, F., Benito, J., Domínguez, A., Revuelta, J.L., Moreno, S., Armstrong, J., Forsburg, S.L., Cerutti, L., Lowe, T., McCombie, W.R., Paulsen, I., Potashkin, J., Shpakovski, G.V., Ussery, D., Barrell, B.G. and Nurse, P. (2002). The genome sequence of Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Nature 415, 871-880.

Woychik, N.A. and Hampsey, M. (2002). The RNA Polymerase II Machinery: Structure Illuminates Function. *Cell* **108**, 453-463.

Wu, J.J., Smith, L.T., Plass, C. and Huang, T.H-M. (2006). ChIP-chip Comes of Age for Genome-wide Functional Analysis. *Cancer Research* 66, 6899-6902.

Wu, J.Q., Kuhn, J.R., Kovar, D.R. and Pollard, T.D. (2003). Spatial and temporal pathway for assembly and constriction of the contractile ring in fission yeast cytokinesis. *Developmental Cell* **5**, 723-734.

Wu, L. and Russell, P. (1993). Nim1 kinase promotes mitosis by inactivating Wee1 tyrosine kinase. *Nature* **363**, 738-741.

Wuarin, J. and Nurse, P. (1996). Regulating S Phase: CDKs, Licensing and Proteolysis. Cell 85, 785-787.

Wuarin, J., Buck, V., Nurse, P. and Millar, J.B.A. (2002). Stable Association of Mitotic Cyclin B/Cdc2 to Replication Origins Prevents Endoreduplication. *Cell* **111**, 419-431.

Xie, S., Xie, B., Lee, M.Y. and Dai, W. (2005). Regulation of cell cycle checkpoints by polo-like kinases *Oncogene* **24**, 277-286.

Yabana, N. and Yamamoto, M. (1996). *Schizosaccharomyces pombe map1*⁺ encodes a MADS-box-family protein required for cell-type-specific gene expression. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **16**, 3420-3428.

Yamada, H.Y., Matsumoto, S. and Matsumoto, T. (2000). High dosage expression of a zinc finger protein, Grt1, suppresses a mutant of fission yeast *slp1*⁺, a homolog of CDC20/p55CDC/Fizzy. *Journal of Cell Science* **113**, 3989-3999.

Yamano, H., Gannon, J. and Hunt, T. (1996). The role of proteolysis in cell cycle progression in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe. The EMBO Journal* **15**, 5268-5279.

Yamano, H., Ishii, O. and Yanagida, M. (1994). Phosphorylation of dis2 protein phosphatase at the C-terminal cdc2 consensus and its potential role in cell cycle regulation. *The EMBO Journal* **13**, 5310-5318.

Yamano, H., Kitamura, K., Kominami, K., Lehmann, A., Katayama, S., Hunt, T. and Toda, T. (2000). The Spike of S Phase Cyclin Cig2 Expression at the G1–S Border in Fission Yeast Requires Both APC and SCF Ubiquitin Ligases. *Molecular Cell* **6**, 1377-1387.

Yamashiro, S., Yamakita, Y., Totsukawa, G., Goto, H., Kaibuchi, K., Ito, M., Hartshorne, D.J. and Fumio, M. (2008). Myosin Phosphatase-Targeting Subunit 1 Regulates Mitosis by Antagonizing Polo-like Kinase 1. *Developmental Cell* **14**, 787-797.

Yanagida, M. (2000). Cell cycle mechanisms of sister chromatid separation; roles of Cut1/separin and Cut2/securin. *Genes to Cells* **5**, 1-8.

Yanagida, M. (2002). The model unicellular eukaryote, *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Genome Biology* **3**, comment2003.1-2003.4.

Yang, Q., Bassel-Duby, R. and Williams, R.S. (1997). Transient expression of a Winged-Helix Protein, MNF-β, during myogenesis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **17**, 5236-5243.

Yanofsky, M.F., Ma, H., Bowman, J.L., Drews, G.N., Feldmann, K.A. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1990). The protein encoded by the *Arabidopsis* homeotic gene agamous resembles transcription factors. *Nature* **346**, 35-39.

Ye, X.S., Xu, G., Pu, R.T., Fincher, R.R., McGuire, S.L., Osmani, A.H. and Osmani, S.A. (1995). The NIMA protein kinase is hyperphosphorylated and activated downstream of p34cdc2/cyclin B: coordination of two mitosis promoting kinases. *The EMBO Journal* **14**, 986-994.

Yoshida, S. and Toh-e, A. (2002). Budding yeast Cdc5 phosphorylates Net1 and assists Cdc14 release from the nucleolus. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **294**, 687-691.

Yoshida, S., Asakawa, K. and Toh-e, A. (2002). Mitotic exit network controls the localization of Cdc14 to the spindle pole body in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Current Biology* **12**, 944-950.

Zaborowska, D., Bilinski, T., Swietlinska, Z. and Zuk, J. (1975). Ultrastructural changes in zygote formation and autoradiographic study of DNA replication during conjugation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Acta Microbiologica Polonica* **8**, 161-167.

Zachariae, W. and Nasmyth, K. (1999). Whose end is destruction: cell division and the anaphase-promoting complex. *Genes and Development* **13**, 2039-2058.

Zachariae, W. (1999). Progression into and out of mitosis. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **11**, 708-716.

Zheng, N., Fraenkel, E., Pabo, C.O. and Pavletich, N.P. (1999). Structural basis of DNA recognition by the heterodimeric cell cycle transcription factor E2F-DP. *Genes and Development* **13**, 666-674.

Zhu, G., Spellman, P. T., Volpe, T., Brown, P. O., Botstein, D., Davis, T. N. and Futcher, B. (2000). Two yeast forkhead genes regulate the cell cycle and pseudohyphal growth. *Nature* **406**, 90-94.

Zhu, Y., Takeda, T., Whitehall, S.K., Peat, N. and Jones, N. (1997). Functional characterization of the fission yeast Start-specific transcription factor Res2. *The EMBO Journal* **16**, 1023-1034.

Zilahi, E., Salimova, E., Simanis, V., Sipiczki M. (2000). The S. *pombe sep1* gene encodes a nuclear protein that is required for periodic expression of the *cdc15* gene. *FEBS Letters* **481**, 105-108.

Appendix I: Oligonucleotides

Lab number

GO 46	5'- CAC GCC TGG CGG ATC TG-3'
GO 47	5'- CTA AAC TCA CAA ATT AGA GC-3'
GO 398	5'- GCA ACG GTT GCT AGG GAC-3'
GO 400	5'- GTT GCT AGG GAC GGT TGT C-3'
GO 568	5'- GGG GGA TCC GAA TGA CTG TTC GCA GAC TC-3'
GO 569	5'- GGG CTC TCG AGC ACT ACT TTT AAC ATT-3'
GO 570	5'- CCG CCC CGG GGA TGA ATT TTA ATT CTA CTA ACC CT-3'
GO 571	5'- CCCTCTCGAG CTTAGAATAG TGTTGAAGTTTGA CG-3'
GO 572	5'- GCG CCC CGG GGA TGG ATA TTA ATC CTC CTC CT-3'
GO 573	5'- GGGCT CTCGAG CTTAAGGGG CATTTCG TTCAAT-3'
GO 588	5'- TCG AGT TCC TGG TAG TCG ATT TCA GGA AAA GAG TAA ACA TGT TTG TTT
	ACT GCG ACT ACT GCG GTG ACA ACC GTC CCT AGC AAC AAC CAA CTA
	TCT GAG TGC ACA ATA C-3'
GO 589	5'- TCG AGT ATT GTG CAC TCA GAT AGT TGG TTG TTG CTA GGG ACG GTT GTC
	ACC GCA GTA GTC GCA GTA AAC AAA CAT GTT TAC TCT TTT CCT GAA ATC
	GAC TAC CAG GAA C-3'
GO 590	5'- TCG AGT ATT GTG CAC TCA GAT AGA AGG TTG TTG CTA GGG ACG GTT GTC
	ACC GCA GTA GTC GCA GTA AAC AAA CAT GTT TAC TCT TTT CCT GAA ATC
	GAC TAC CAG GAA C-3'
GO 591	5'- TCG AGT TCC TGG TAG TCG ATT TCA GGA AAA GAG TAA ACA TGT TTG TTT
	ACT GCG ACT ACT GCG GTG ACA ACC GTC CCT AGC AAC AAC CTT CTA TCT
	GAG TGC ACA ATA C-3'
GO 701	5'- TCG AGT ATT GTG CAC TCA GAT AGG CAA CGG TTG CTA GGG ACG GTT GTC
	ACC GCA GTA GTC GCA GTA AAC AAA CAG TGG GGT TCT TTT CCT GAA ATC
	GAC TAC CAG GAA C-3'

GO 702 5'- TCG AGT TCC TGG TAG TCG ATT TCA GGA AAA GAA CCC CAC TGT TTG TTT ACT GCG ACT ACT GCG GTG ACA ACC GTC CCT AGC AAC CGT TGC CTA TCT GAG TGC ACA ATA C-3'

- GO 703 5'- TCG AGT ATT GTG CAC TCA GAT AGT TGG TTG TTG CTA GGG ACG GTT GTC ACC GCA GTA GTC GCA GTA AAC AAA CAG TGG GGT TCT TTT CCT GAA ATC GAC TAC CAG GAA C-3'
- GO 704 5'- TCG AGT TCC TGG TAG TCG ATT TCA GGA AAA GAA CCC CAC TGT TTG TTT ACT GCG ACT ACT GCG GTG ACA ACC GTC CCT AGC AAC AAC CAA CTA TCT GAG TGC ACA ATA C-3'
- GO 708 5'- GGCAGTCTAAGAAAGGATCGAA-3'
- GO 709 5'- TACTGCGACTACTGCGGTGA-3'
- GO 710 5'- CAACGATAACAAAGACGCATT-3'
- GO 711 5'- AGCAATTGTGCTGTTGGTGT-3'
- GO 712 5'- CGAATTTACTGAAATTTTTGCAC-3'
- GO 713 5'- CACTCGCCATTTGGTATTTG-3'
- GO 714 5'- TGCCGATCGTATGCAAAAGG-3'
- GO 715 5'- CCGCTCTCATCATACTCTTG-3'

Appendix II: Strains

Schizosaccharomyces pombe strains*

Lab number

GG 217	h-	972		
GG 218	h⁺	975		
GG 308	h⁻	cdc25-22		
GG 313	h⁺	sep1-3HA:kanR		
GG 504	h⁻	mbx1-13myc:kanR ade6-M210 his7-366		
GG 507	h-	fkh2-13myc:kanR ade6-M210		
GG 511	h-	fkh2::kanR		
GG 513	h-	mbx1::kanR_ade6-M210_his7-366		
GG 515	h-	sep1::ura4+		
GG 527	h-	mbx1-13myc:kanR ade6-M210 his7-366	pIRT2u: <i>mbx1</i> +	
GG 539	h⁺	fkh2-3HA:kanR pUR19:fkh2+		
GG 555	h-	fkh2-3HA:kanR plo1-ts35		
GG 558	h⁺	fkh2-3HA:kanR		
GG 704	h⁺	leu1:nmt41:plo1-3HA plo1::his3+ his3-D1	1 ade6-	
GG 743	h⁺	mbx1-13myc:kanR_cdc25-22		
GG 745	h⁺	fkh2-3HA:kanR cdc25-22		
GG 756	h-	fkh2::kanR cdc25-22	Buck et al (2004) JCS 117: 5623	
GG 767	h-	sep1-13myc:kanR		
GG 776	h⁺	sep1::kanR_cdc25-22	Buck et al (2004) JCS 117: 5623	
GG 1030	h⁺	sep1-3HA:kanR fkh2-13myc:kanR ade6	S-M210	
GG 1032	h-	sep1-3HA:kanR mbx1-13myc:kanR his7-366		
GG 1035	h-	mbx1-13myc:kanR fkh2-3HA:kanR his7-366		
GG 1040	h-	sep1::ura4+ fkh2-3HA:kanR		
GG 1044	h⁺	fkh2::kanR sep1-3HA:kanR		
GG 1045	h⁺	fkh2::kanR_sep1-3HA:kanR		
GG 1047	h-/+	mbx1::kanR fkh2-13myc:kanR ade6-M210		
GG 1051	h⁻	fkh2::kanR sep1-3HA:kanR		
GG 1052	h-	fkh2::kanR sep1-3HA:kanR		
GG 1055	h-	fkh2::kanR sep1-3HA:kanR		
GG 1060	h-	fkh2::kanR_sep1-3HA:kanR		
GG 1069	h-/+	mbx1::kanR_his7-366		
GG 1097	h⁺	leu1:nmt41:plo1-HA plo1::his3+ cdc25-2	2 his3-D1	
GG 1110	h-	plo1-3HA:kanR		
GG 1118	h⁺	sep1-13myc:kanR cdc25-22		

*All were *leu1-32 ura4-D18* unless otherwise stated. *ade6-* is either *ade6–M210* or *ade6–M216*
Bacterial strains

Lab number

GB 4	DH5a
	F ⁻ omp ThsdS (r _B - m _B -) dcm⁺Tet ^r ga λ (DE3) endAHte [argUileWleuWCam ^r]
GB 455	BL21 DE3 codon (+)-RIL
	supE44∆ lacU169 (φ80lacZ∆M15) hsdR17recA1endA1 byrA96thi1relA1

Bacterial vectors

Lab number

GB 10	pSPΔ178	Lowndes et al (1992) Nature 355: 449
GB 12	pET-28-a(+)	
GB 159	pGEX-KG	Guan and Dixon (1991) Anal. Biochem. 192: 262
GB 194	pSPΔ178.15UAS	Anderson <i>et al</i> (2002) <i>EMBO J</i> 21 : 5745
GB 329	pBTM116- <i>plo1</i> +	Reynolds and Ohkura (2002) J. Cell Sci. 116: 1377
GB 331	pACT2	•
GB 332	pBTM116	
GB 333	pBTM116- <i>plo1.K69R</i>	Reynolds and Ohkura (2002) J. Cell Sci. 116: 1377
GB 334	pBTM116-plo1.472-684	Reynolds and Ohkura (2002) J. Cell Sci. 116: 1377
GB 335	pBTM116-plo1.DHK625AAA	Reynolds and Ohkura (2002) J. Cell Sci. 116: 1377
GB 344	pSPA178.15UAS.MUT Buck et	al (2004) J. Cell Sci. 117 : 5623
GB 403	pCR2.1-fkh2+	
GB 417	pET-28-c (+)-fkh2+	
GB 425	pET-28-a (+)- <i>sep1</i> +	
GB 438	pACT2-fkh2+	
GB 441	pGEX-KG-sep1+	
GB 442	pACT2-sep1+	
GB 444	pCR2.1-sep1+	
GB 445	pCR2.1- <i>mbx1</i> +	
GB 447	pACT2-mbx1+	
GB 448	pGEX-KG- <i>mbx1</i> +	
GB 469	pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT2	
GB 471	pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT4	
GB 475	pSPΔ178.15UAS.MUT3	
GB 520	pGAD GH-sck1+	Reynolds and Ohkura (2002) J. Cell Sci. 116: 1377

Saccharomyces cerevisiae strains

Lab number

GGBY 138 CTY105d (lexA) MATa URA3::lexA-lacZ met- his3 ade2 trp1 leu2 gal4-D gal80-D J. Cell Sci. **116**: 1377

Reynolds and Ohkura (2002)

Appendix III: Media

Fission yeast media

ЕММ	g/litre
D-Glucose	20
Ammonium chloride	5
Magnesium chloride-6-hydrate	1
Sodium sulphate	0.1
Calcium chloride	0.015
Potassium hydrogen phthlate	3
Di-sodium hydrogen orthophosphate anhydrous	1.8
Vitamins	ml/EMM litre
Vitamins	1
Trace	0.1
Vitamins	g/500 ml
Inositol	5
Nicotinic acid	5
Calcium pantothenate	0.5
Diotin	0.005

Aliquot into 5 ml in 15 ml centrifuge tubes and store at -20°C. Microwave to defrost.

Trace	g/200 ml
Boric acid	1
Manganese sulphate	1.04
Zinc sulphate	0.8
Ferric chloride	0.4
Molybdic acid	0.288
Copper sulphate	0.08
Citric acid	2
Potassium iodide	0.02
Aliquot into 5 ml in 15 ml centrifuge tubes and	store in the fridge.

Adenine	225 μg/ml in EMM
Uracil	225 μg/ml in EMM

Amino acids

Leucine	150 μg/ml in EMM
Histidine	150 µg/ml in EMM

For uracil and adenine prepare a 7.5 g/l stock solution in dH_2O , while for leucine and histidine prepare a 3.75 g/l stock solution in dH_2O . Autoclave stock solutions to sterilise.

YE	g/litre
D-Glucose	30
Bacto-yeast extract	5
Adenosine	0.225
Uracil	0.225

To make solid media, add 8 g of Bacto agar in every 400 ml of YE.

ME media	g/300 ml
Malt extract	9
Bacto agar	6

Prepare fresh plate for mating each time. An autoclaved bottle of ME can be stored on the bench for months.

Budding yeast media

SD-Trp-Leu-His-Ura	g/litre	
Yeast Nitrogen base w/o amino acids	6.7	
CSM-Trp-Leu-His-Ura	0.61	
D-Glucose	20	

pH to 5.8 and autoclave. To make solid media, add 8 g of Bacto agar in every 400 ml of SD-Trp-Leu-His-Ura.

Uracil	35 µg/ml

Amino acids

Tryptophan	80 µg/ml
Leucine	80 µg/ml
Histidine	20 µg/ml

Whenever necessary, SD-Trp-Leu-His-Ura media was supplemented with one or more amino acids and/or uracil from 7.5 g/l or 3.75 g/l stock solutions.

Appendix IV: Vectors



Plasmid map of the pGEX-KG cloning and expression vector

The pGEX-KG vector carries an N-terminal GST-tag sequence followed by a thrombin cleavage site and unique restriction sites are shown on the circle map. The single-letter symbols of amino acids inframe with the GST-tag are indicated above the nucleotide sequence together with unique restriction sites within the multiple cloning site. The locations of genes for ampicillin resistance (Amp^R) and Lac repressor (Lacl^q) are indicated (adapted from Guan and Dixon, 1991).



Plasmid map of the pET-28a-c (+) cloning and expression vector system

The pET-28a-c (+) vectors carry an N-terminal His-Tag®/thrombin/T7-Tag® configuration plus an optional C-terminal His-Tag sequence. Unique restriction sites are shown on the circle map. The cloning/expression region of the coding strand transcribed by T7 RNA polymerase is shown in more detail in the box (adapted from www.novagen.com).



Plasmid map of the pACT2 AD cloning and expression vector

pACT2 is a shuttle vector that propagates in both *E. coli* and *S. cerevisiae* and carries the *bla* gene as an *E. coli* ampicillin resistant marker and the *LEU2* gene as a budding yeast nutritional marker. pACT2 contains DNA sequence encoding the GAL4 AD (amino acids 768–881), an HA epitope tag and a downstream <u>multiple cloning site</u> (MCS), allowing expression of the gene of interest as a GAL4 AD-fusion protein from the constitutive *ADH1* promoter (P); transcription is terminated at the *ADH1* transcription termination signal (T) (adapted from www.clontech.com). The cloning/expression region containing the MCS is shown below the map; unique restriction sites are in **bold**. * denotes that the *Bgl* II site is not unique.



Plasmid map of the pBTM116 cloning and expression vector

pBTM116 is a shuttle vector that propagates in both *E. coli* and *S. cerevisiae* and carries an *E. coli* ampicillin resistant marker and the *TRP1* gene as a budding yeast nutritional marker. pBTM116 contains the complete *lexA* sequence under the control of the *ADH1* promoter. Fusion proteins are constructed following cloning within the following sequence (Paul Bartel and Stanley Fields, State University of New York):

GAA TTC CCG GGG ATC CGT CGA CCT GCA GCC* EcoRI Smal BamHI Sall Pstl

* triplets represent the reading frame relative to lexA

Appendix V: Aberrant mating of mbx1Δ cells



mbx1 Δ cells are able to mate with either h⁻ or h⁺ cells, and themselves. *mbx1* Δ cells alone or mixed with either h⁺ (GG 218) or h⁻ (GG 217) wild-type *S. pombe* cells were plated on solid ME medium and incubated for 2-3 days at 25°C to allow mating to take place. Four spore zygotic asci were observed in all cases, showing that *mbx1* Δ cells are able to cross with h⁻ or h⁺ cells, as well as with themselves. The annotation GG refers to the Glasgow laboratory fission yeast collection number. Black arrows denote zygotic asci.

mbx1∆

GG 1069

Appendix VI: Differential growth of fkh2Δ cells on rich and minimal media



fkh2 Δ cells display slow growth and septation defects upon growth on rich (YE) but not on minimal (EMM) solid medium. Various isolates of *fkh2* Δ or *fkh2* Δ sep1-HA cells were grown on either rich (YE) or minimal (EMM) solid media at 25°C. *fkh2* Δ or *fkh2* Δ sep1-HA cells grew more slowly on solid YE than on solid EMM. In addition, these cells formed abnormal colonies and displayed septation defects only when grown on solid YE. The annotation GG refers to the Glasgow laboratory fission yeast collection number.

Appendix VII: Positions of PCB and forkhead sequences in promoters of M-G1 transcribed genes

Motif	Gene	Position	sequence
GNAACR	spo12+	-341 : -336	ggcgGTAACAgtaa
GNAACR	spo12⁺	-29 : -24	tttaGCAACAtttg
RTAAACA	spo12⁺	-311 : -305	gaatATAAACAcagt
TGTTTAY	spo12⁺	-497 : -491	aatgTGTTTACtagt
TGTTTAY	spo12⁺	-147 : -141	ttttTGTTTATttac
GNAACR	cdc15⁺	-138 : -133	atagGCAACGgttg
RTAAACA	cdc15⁺	-98 : -92	cgcaGTAAACAaaca
TGTTTAY	cdc15+	-87 : -81	aacaTGTTTACtctt
GNAACR	plo1+	-14 : -9	gttaGAAACAaata
TGTTTAY	plo1+	-50 : -44	acttTGTTTACcctc
GNAACR	fkh2+	-208 : -203	aataGCAACGataa
GNAACR	fkh2⁺	-85 : -80	gctgGCAACGgaag
RTAAACA	fkh2⁺	-604 : -598	gtgaGTAAACAgttg
RTAAACA	fkh2⁺	-41 : -35	gtaaATAAACAcaca
TGTTTAY	fkh2⁺	-228 : -222	tgatTGTTTACaaaa
GNAACR	sid2+	-408 : -403	tataGAAACAtctc
RTAAACA	sid2+	-98 : -92	tgccGTAAACAaaac
TGTTTAY	sid2+	-32 : -26	tggaTGTTTACgata
GNAACR	slp1+	-289 : -284	aaca <mark>GCAACA</mark> acaa
RTAAACA	slp1+	-693 : -687	tattGTAAACAaatc
TGTTTAY	slp1+	-780 : -774	ctctTGTTTATttac
TGTTTAY	slp1+	-353 : -347	gattTGTTTACgaaa
GNAACR	ace2+	-389 : -384	tttgGCAACAaaag
GNAACR	ace2+	-241 : -236	cataGCAACGgagt
GNAACR	ace2+	-188 : -183	tgctGTAACAaaca
RTAAACA	ace2+	-375 : -369	gtaaATAAACAatcc
RTAAACA	ace2+	-304 : -298	caatGTAAACAaata
RTAAACA	ace2+	-220 : -214	tgatATAAACAaata
RTAAACA	ace2+	-12 : -6	ctaaGTAAACAagac
TGTTTAY	ace2+	-464 : -458	atccTGTTTATtagt
TGTTTAY	ace2+	-355 : -349	tctgTGTTTACactt

Positions of the PCB and forkhead sequences found within the promoters of S. *pombe* M-G1 transcribed genes. The RSAT web resource was used to search for PCB and forkhead sequences within *spo12*⁺, *cdc15*⁺, *plo1*⁺, *fkh2*⁺, *slp1*⁺, *ace2*⁺ and *sid2*⁺ promoter regions. Red denotes PCB sequences (GNAACR consensus). Forkhead sequences are shown in blue for TGTTTAY and green for RTAAACA. In each case, numbers denote the position of each motif relative to the initiating ATG. R stands for G or A, Y for C or T and N for G, C, T or A.

Appendix VIII: Antibodies



Western blot analysis of (A-D) soluble protein extracts from wild-type S. pombe cells and (D-E) bacterially expressed and purified GST-/HIS-fusions of Sep1p to test the specificity of custom made Mbx1p, Fkh2p and Sep1p antibodies. (A-D) S. pombe wild-type (GG 217) extracts were analysed by SDS-PAGE, followed by Western blotting, with affinity purified rabbit polyclonal Mbx1p (A), Fkh2p (C), Sep1p (D) antibodies and 3rd bleed sheep polyclonal GST-Mbx1p antisera (B) to detect the respective proteins. $mbx1\Delta$ (GG 513), $fkh2\Delta$ (GG 511) and $sep1\Delta$ (GG 515) fission yeast extracts were used as negative controls. (D-E) Overexpressed and purified GST-/6HIS-Sep1p prepared from BL21 CodonPlus (DE3)-RIL cells transformed with pGEX-KG- $sep1^+$ (GB 441)/pET-28-a (+)- $sep1^+$ (GB 425) was analysed by Western blotting with rabbit polyclonal Sep1p antibody. Overexpressed protein fractions prepared from bacterial cells transformed with empty pET-28-a (+) vector (GB 12) were used as negative control. Protein molecular masses are indicated in kDa. Black arrows indicate full-length GST-Sep1p and 6HIS-Sep1p.